SHASTA COUNTY PERSONNEL RULES



Completely Updated March 2009

NOTE REGARDING CHANGES TO PAGES

Occasionally, pages in the Rules must be replaced when typographical errors are discovered or other grammatical/format changes need to be made. These changes are minor in nature and do not alter anyrule that would be subject to bargaining and/or approval by the Board of Supervisors. From time to time, the Board may act to add, delete, or modify a rule which causes pages to be replaced. To keep track of page and rule changes and to ensure that individuals using the Rules are referencing the mostcurrent version, a Version Date will be noted at the bottom of any page where the contents have been changed (other than where the sole change is a page number due to reformatting). Also, a log of page changes will be listed after the index and the Version Date will be listed at the bottom of pages thathave been changed. The Rules posted on Personnel's website will be kept up to date with version changes, and department liaisons will be given hard copies of revised cover pages, change log pages, and other pages that have been revised to copy and distribute to employees who have been issued a manual containing the Personnel Rules.

The County of Shasta enacts the following

revised personnel rules with the purpose of encouraging and maintaining a workplace environment of mutual respect and dignity for its employees engaged in furtherance of the mission of the county and service to its constituents.

Regular employees whose classifications are included in a bargaining unit should refer to their Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the specifics about their benefits, rights, and responsibilities. Many policies in the Rules also apply to all County employees and are not modified by the terms and conditions of an MOU, such as Chapter 35 - the Personnel Files Policy. If your MOU is silent on a topic, then the Rules will normally apply. If you have any questions about which resource to consult, please contact Personnel or your union representative.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1.	DEFINITIONS	1
CHAPTER 2.	EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY	5
CHAPTER 3.	COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND PLAN	7
CHAPTER 4.	SALARY PAYMENT PROCEDURE	9
CHAPTER 5.	CLASSIFICATION PLAN	13
CHAPTER 6.	RECRUITMENTS AND APPOINTMENTS	17
CHAPTER 7.	DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS	29
CHAPTER 8.	APPEALS	35
CHAPTER 9.	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	37
CHAPTER 10.	WORKING HOURS, WORKWEEK, AND OVERTIME	41
CHAPTER 11.	HOLIDAYS	
CHAPTER 12.	VACATIONS	47
CHAPTER 13.	SICK LEAVE AND BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	51
CHAPTER 14.	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
CHAPTER 15.	MANAGEMENT BENEFITS	84
CHAPTER 16.	CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES	95
CHAPTER 17.	LAYOFF	
CHAPTER 18.	SALARY PLAN	.108
CHAPTER 19.	REGULAR PART-TIME AND EXTRA HELP	
CHAPTER 20.	TRAVEL AND OTHER EXPENSES-COUNTY CHARGES	.118
CHAPTER 21.	RETIREMENT SYSTEM	
CHAPTER 22.	POLICY AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT	.131
CHAPTER 23.	POLICY AGAINST VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE	
CHAPTER 24.	VOLUNTARY TIME OFF WITHOUT PAY PROGRAM	.141
CHAPTER 25.	DISABILITIES NONDISCRIMINATION & ACCOMMODATION POLICY AND	
	COMPLIANCE PROGRAM	
CHAPTER 26.	ELECTRONIC ASSETS AND INFORMATION SECURITY	153
CHAPTER 27.	USE OF AND ACCESS TO COUNTY PROPERTY, AND	
	EXPECTATIONS OF PRIVACY	
CHAPTER 28.	OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CORPORATE AFFILIATION POLICY	-
CHAPTER 29.	VACATION DONATION POLICY	.183
CHAPTER 30.	SHASTA COUNTY PRE-EMPLOYMENT DRUG ANDALCOHOL	
CHAPTER 31.	ALCOHOL-FREE AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE POLICY	.190
CHAPTER 32.	DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY FOR POSITIONS	400
	REQUIRING A COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE	
CHAPTER 33.	VEHICLE OPERATIONS POLICY	
CHAPTER 34.	PERFORMANCE EVALUATION POLICY	
CHAPTER 35.	PERSONNEL FILES POLICY	
CHAPTER 36.	EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAM	
CHAPTER 37.	EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM POLICY	
CHAPTER 38.	CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES ELECTED DEPARTMENT HEAD AND BOARD OFSUPERVISOR	237
CHAPTER 39.		000
	BENEFITS	
APPENDIX A.		
APPENDIX B APPENDIX C	POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS	
		.31Z

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 1. DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1. <u>WORDS DEFINED</u>. When used in these Personnel Rules, any amendment, and any other ordinance classifying and fixing the salaries and compensation or authorizing the employment of personnel in any department, agency, or office of the County of Shasta, the terms set forth in this Chapter shall have the following meanings unless it shall be clearly apparent from the context that they are used in a different sense.

SECTION 1.2. "<u>ALLOCATION</u>": assignment of an individual position to an appropriate class within a department, as determined in the position allocation list which is adopted by resolution by the Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 1.3. "<u>APPOINTING AUTHORITY</u>": a Department Head, his/her designee, or group of persons having the power by law or ordinance to make an appointment to any position in a specified department for the County of Shasta.

SECTION 1.4. "<u>BOARD</u>": when used alone means the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta.

SECTION 1.5. "CALENDAR MONTH": any of the twelve months starting on the first day thereof and terminating at the close of the last day thereof.

SECTION 1.6. "CALENDAR YEAR": a year starting on January 1 and terminating the close of the following December 31.

SECTION 1.7. "<u>CLASSIFICATION (CLASS</u>)": designation of duties and responsibilities sufficiently similar so that the same descriptive title may be used, the same requirements as to education, experience, knowledge, ability, and tests of fitness may be demanded of incumbents, and so that the same schedule of compensation will apply.

SECTION 1.8. "<u>CLASSIFICATION PLAN</u>": an orderly arrangement of positions under separate and distinct classes so that each class will contain all those positions which are sufficiently similar in respect to duties and responsibilities.

SECTION 1.9. "<u>COMPENSATION</u>": the salary, wages, any applicable allowances and all other forms of valuable consideration earned by, or paid to, any employee as authorized in the Salary Plan and Memorandum of Understanding.

SECTION 1.10. "<u>CLASSIFIED SERVICE</u>": a regular position that the Board of Supervisors has designated as classified in the salary plan in which an employee serves an initial probationary period ("at-will" status) upon appointment.

SECTION 1.11. "<u>CONTINUOUS SERVICE</u>": service uninterrupted from date of appointment except for authorized absence.

SECTION 1.12. "<u>COUNTY</u>": the County of Shasta in the State of California.

SECTION 1.13. <u>"COUNTY SERVICE OR SERVICE OF THE COUNTY</u>": all positions in all departments, and offices as herein defined, that are subject to control and regulation by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta.

SECTION 1.14. "<u>DAY</u>": calendar day unless otherwise specified.

SECTION 1.15. "<u>DEPARTMENT</u>": includes office, agency, or department as established by law or the Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 1.16. "<u>DEPARTMENT HEAD</u>": the head of an office, agency, or department, having supervision of such department and office or agency. Department Head also includes all elected officers.

SECTION 1.17. "<u>EMPLOYEE</u>": a person legally occupying a position in County service, including a position recognized as constituting an office under state law.

SECTION 1.18. "EXTRA HELP EMPLOYEE": a person appointed to a classification in the salary plan on a schedule of less than one-half the hours of a regular full-time employee or less than a year around basis to cover peak workloads, emergency extra workloads of limited duration, necessary vacation relief and other situations involving a fluctuating staff or work schedules which do not meet the requirements of regular part-time employment as set forth in Section 1.28 of this Chapter. An extra-help employee shall not work more than 900 hours in a fiscal year for Shasta County. Fiscal year when used in this context is July 1 to June 30. Extra help employees, who also may be referred to as casual workers, or employees in seasonal or temporary appointments, serve at the will and pleasure of the appointing authority. Such employees are part of the unclassified service and are not subject to any article or provision of the Rules which may appear to confer a property right or permanent status to any extra help employee or position occupied by any extra help employee.

SECTION 1.19. "<u>LIMITED TERM EMPLOYMENT</u>": effective November 26, 1996, employees who are appointed to certain positions which are wholly dependent upon limited term funding (e.g., grants or contracts) shall not receive credit toward permanent status in County employment for service in such positions. This condition shall be noted in the job offer. Time spent in such positions shall, however, count toward eligibility for leave accruals and benefits as if the employee were in a regularly funded position. These positions are at-will, and the incumbents' employment may be terminated without cause or whenever funding for the positions decreases. Employees in grant or contract-funded positions who hold permanent status shall retain and continue to accrue the benefits of permanent status while serving in such positions.

SECTION 1.20. "<u>LOCAL AGENCY MERIT SYSTEM</u>": regulations administered by the State of California Personnel Board (SPB), covering employees of the County Social Services and Child Support Services Departments who are subject to the Merit System. Those employees shall have such rights and privileges and shall be subject to such regulations and limitations established by the SPB to the extent that such regulations and limitations supersede County MOU's and these Personnel Rules.

SECTION 1.21. "<u>MONTH</u>": a period from a particular calendar date in a month to and including the immediately preceding date of the following month.

SECTION 1.22. "<u>NON-EXEMPT EMPLOYEE</u>": a person in a position covered under the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

SECTION 1.23. "<u>PERSONNEL</u>": the Personnel Division (Human Resources) of the Department of Support Services.

SECTION 1.24. "<u>PERSONNEL DIRECTOR</u>": refers to the Director of Support Services.

SECTION 1.25. "<u>POSITION</u>": a collection of duties and responsibilities which require the full- or part-time services and employment of one person.

SECTION 1.26. "<u>REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE</u>": an employee in an allocation established on a permanent year around basis requiring the total number of hours prescribed for normal full-time employment.

SECTION 1.27 "<u>REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE</u>": an employee in an allocation established on a permanent year around basis with less than a full-time schedule of hours and not less than half the total number of hours prescribed for normal full-time employment.

SECTION 1.28. "<u>SALARY PLAN</u>": Board-adopted resolution that identifies class, salary range assignments, and other provisions.

SECTION 1.29. <u>"UNCLASSIFIED SERVICE</u>": as designated on the salary plan, includes appointive County officers and department heads, all persons employed to render professional, scientific, technical or expert service of an occasional or exceptional character; those positions involving such unusual or special employment conditions that the Board deems it necessary to compensate them on a special flat rate or fee basis, and all persons appointed under temporary or part-time extra help appointments. Unclassified employees serve at the will and pleasure of the appointing authority and are not subject to any article or provision of the Rules or MOUs which may appear to confer a property right or permanent status to any unclassified position.

SECTION 1.30. "<u>YEAR</u>": unless otherwise specified, a period from a particular calendar month and date of a year to and including the immediately preceding date of the same month in the following year.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 2. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY

SECTION 2.1. Shasta County is an equal opportunity employer and recognizes its legal obligation (per state and federal law) not to refuse to hire or employ a person; or refuse to select a person for a training program leading to employment; or to bar or discharge a person from employment or from a training program leading to employment; or to discriminate against a person in compensation or terms, conditions or privileges of employment because of theperson's race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, age (over 40), marital status, sex, or any other characteristic protected by state or federal law, unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification.

SECTION 2.2. It is the policy of Shasta County to abide by all required federal and state statutespertaining to nondiscrimination in employment practices and to apply this policy in matters of personnel administration including, but not limited to, recruitment, selection, transfer, compensation, training, layoff and recall from layoff. All employment related decisions shall be based upon the qualifications, merit, or performance of an individual, and not on unlawful criteria.

SECTION 2.3. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, is responsible for overseeing the implementation of this policy and for coordinating the investigation of complaints regarding policy violations. This policy will be incorporated into the County Personnel Rules and a copy will be provided to every new employee. It is the duty of all employees to abide by the policy andto promote a workplace free from illegal discrimination or harassment. It is expected that managers and supervisors be particularly aware of the policy and spirit of equal employment opportunity.

SECTION 2.4. County recruitment, advertising, bulletins and related materials, and employment contracts will state that Shasta County is an equal opportunity employer.

SECTION 2.5. In addition to the foregoing, Shasta County maintains a commitment to respect and follow all of its responsibilities in regards to matters of employment.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 3. COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND PLAN

SECTION 3.1. <u>PLAN</u>. Except as otherwise provided by law or this division, officers and employees shall receive the compensation provided in the basic salary schedule set forth by Resolution of the Board of Supervisors for the classification of position in which they are employed, in accordance with the allocation of such classifications to ranges of the basic salary schedule and in accordance with the terms of employment hereinafter set forth. The salary of each class shall be consistent with the duties, responsibilities and difficulty of the work involved and is and shall be based on the principle that like salaries shall be paid for comparable duties and responsibilities, and that County salary schedules shall bear a reasonable relationship to prevailing rates of pay in other public jurisdictions and in local private employment.

SECTION 3.2. <u>ELECTIVE, CLASSIFIED, AND UNCLASSIFIED SERVICES – SALARY</u> <u>RANGE ASSIGNMENTS</u>. The salary ranges for the Elective (except for Supervisors), Classified, and Unclassified Services shall be established by resolution of the Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 3.3. <u>SUPERVISOR SALARY ASSIGNMENTS</u>. The salaries for Supervisor positions shall be set by ordinance.

This page intentionallyleft blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 4. SALARY PAYMENT PROCEDURE

SECTION 4.1. <u>PAYMENT ON BIWEEKLY BASIS</u>. Unless otherwise provided by law or ordinance, all salaries and wages shall be paid on a biweekly basis not later than the second Tuesday following the end of the pay period for the preceding two weeks' earnings. The payroll shall be approved by the appointing authority after it has been examined to determine that the employees listed have been appointed, employed, promoted, demoted or their salaries increased or decreased in accordance with the provisions of these Personnel Rules or the Salary Plan, and then approved by the Auditor-Controller before any such payments are made.

SECTION 4.2. <u>DIRECT DEPOSIT</u>. All employees hired after August 10, 2002, will be required to receive their pay as direct deposit, unless waived by the Personnel Director or his/her designee, for extraordinary circumstances, under procedures established by the Auditor-Controller. Those procedures may include an initial test of the electronic transfer to the employee's financial institution, causing the employee to receive an initial paycheck. All terminating employees will receive their last compensation through direct deposit unless the department determines it is necessary to issue final compensation as a paycheck in order to have final contact with the employee and assure appropriate exit procedures and notifications have been completed.

SECTION 4.3. ALLOCATION AND ASSIGNMENT OF POSITIONS.

- A. The number and classes of positions specified in the County budget shall not be exceeded or otherwise modified by any County department except as authorized elsewhere bythe Board.
- B. Upon notification to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, a regular full- time vacancy may be filled on a regular part-time basis if, in the judgment of the appointing authority, a full-time employee is not needed, in which case the salary for such regular part-time positions shall be determined in accordance with Section 19.1 of this manual. (See also, PolicyResolution No. 2010-2, in appendix.)
- C. Upon authorization by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, a regular full- time or regular part-time vacancy may be filled temporarily on a provisional basis, if in the judgment of the appointing authority, it is necessary to staff the position, and there are insufficient eligibles on an appropriate list from which to appoint. No provisional appointment shall continuefor more than 13 pay periods (six months) or beyond two pay periods after the establishment of eligible list, whichever comes first, except that the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may extend the provisional appointment in a collateral appointment if there is a vacancy due toan employee's approved medical or military leave. The period of provisional appointment shall not serve toward a salary range step increase unless extended beyond six months as provided in this section. The period of provisional appointment shall not constitute a part of the probationary period nor time served toward a salary range step increase.
- D. A regular full-time or regular part-time position not specifically designated in the County position allocation list with an alternative lower classification may be filled for a period not exceeding 12 months by an appointment to an appropriate lower classification if requested by the appointing authority and authorized by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. Such under filling of positions will be reviewed on an annual basis during the budget

process to determine if continuation is appropriate. (See also, Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, in appendix.)

SECTION 4.4. WORK OUT OF CLASSIFICATION.

- A. When an employee is temporarily assigned work which is normally assigned to a vacant higher level position, the employee shall receive pay for performing such work at a rate equivalent to that provided for under County promotional rules after meeting the following requirements (at which time the pay increase will be effective the first day the employee startedworking out of class):
 - 1. Be assigned in writing by Department Head, or his/her designee, with the approval of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, who will assess among other factors whether the employee meets the minimum qualifications;
 - 2. Be assigned for other than training purposes;
 - 3. Perform the full regular duties of the higher position;
 - 4. Perform the duties of the higher position for a period of at least 80 work hours, except with an approved interruption. (Holidays shall be treated like weekends or comparable regularly scheduled days off.)
 - a. An approved interruption shall be the use of approved leave balances not to exceed an accumulation of 16 hours during the 80 hour qualification period.
 - b. Returning to the employee's regularly assigned position for more than 16 accumulated work hours will cause the 80 hour requirement to begin again if full duties of the higher position are resumed.
- B. An employee who has qualified for the higher rate shall receive such a rate on an hourly basis only for hours worked while so assigned.
- C. If the work temporarily assigned is normally assigned to a position at or below the employee's salary rate, he/she shall continue to receive his/her regularly established rate.
- D. A vacant higher level position, as referred to herein, shall include absences by the incumbent of the higher position of more than 10 workdays including vacation, sick or other forms of leave.
- E. Working out of class to a vacant higher level position, for a period of more than six months may be approved by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, on a case by case basis.
- F. A vacant higher level position may also include a portion of a position in which the incumbent is temporarily unable to perform all of the essential functions of the job due to a documented health condition. In this case, an employee may be assigned to temporarily work out of class to perform the full duties associated with the essential function(s) the incumbent cannot perform providing that this work accounts for at least 25% of the job. The higher rate of pay will apply only to those hours in which the employee working out

of class performs duties specific to the essential functions the incumbent cannot perform. The employee assigned to work out of class must work in this capacity for more than two regularly scheduled work weeks, after which out of class pay will apply to the hours worked performing assigned higher level duties effective the first day such work was performed. Additionally, a Department Head, or his/her designee, must obtain approval from the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, prior to assigning an employee to work out of class in a position subject to the conditions described in this paragraph.

Note: This provision is limited to cases where an employee's doctor releases the employee to work in a limited capacity (including full-time work doing limited duties, and part-time work doing full or limited duties) and the County determines it can accommodate the employee with a temporary, modified duty assignment and another employee can reasonably be called upon to perform those essential functions of the job that the employee with limitationscannot perform.

This page intentionallyleft blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 5. CLASSIFICATION PLAN

SECTION 5.1. <u>CLASSES OF POSITIONS</u>. All positions in County service shall be designated as Classified, Unclassified or Elective by resolution of the Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 5.2. LIMITS OF UNCLASSIFIED SERVICE.

- A. The unclassified service may include, in addition to appointive County Officers and Department Heads, only those classifications and positions which are determined by the Board of Supervisors to:
 - 1. Function at the first level of management responsibility immediately below the appointing authority, or
 - 2. Have primary duties as a first assistant to an elective official, or
 - 3. Be of a uniquely professional or highly sensitive nature, or
 - 4. Be of an extra help or temporary nature, or on a regular part-time basis with a schedule of hours of less than one-half normal full-time schedule, or
 - 5. Include other unique or specialized assignments.
- B. Any permanent classified employee who is transferred or promoted to a position within the same department into the unclassified service shall retain the right to return to the former class in the event of layoff. Service in the unclassified position shall not count toward seniority credits in the employee's former class in the event of layoff. Nothing in this subsection is intended to render any employee in an unclassified position eligible for the provisions of Chapter 7, et seq., dealing with disciplinary procedures for classified employees.

SECTION 5.3. <u>AMENDMENT AND MAINTENANCE</u>.

- A. Whenever one or more new classes are requested, or whenever because of any change in organization or method, a significant change in the duties or responsibilities of any existing position is to be made which requires the amendment of the classification plan, such revision and amendment of the classification plan shall be made in the manner provided herein. (See also, Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, in appendix. The provisions of this section shall serve to supplement the provisions of Policy Resolution No. 2010-2. Should there be a conflict between the terms of this policy and Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, Policy Resolution 2010-02 shall control). Position Classification Questionnaire and Appeal forms shall be developed by the Personnel Director and made available in the manner prescribed by the Personnel Director to effectuate this section and Policy Resolution No. 2010-02.
 - 1. Whenever the appointing authority of any department proposes that a newclass be established or identifies that a significant change has occurred in the duties and responsibilities of an existing position, such appointing authority shall report the significant facts, in writing, to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. The

Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall make a study of the duties and responsibilities of any such positions and of the qualifications required for filling the same, and of the relationship of such positions in the classification plan. The results of the study may be presented by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, with a recommendation for any appropriate amendment to the salary schedule, classification plan and/or position allocations to the Board of Supervisors for adoption.

- 2. A department head or any employee may request that the Personnel Director study a position(s) for possible reclassification by submitting a Position Classification Questionnaire form to the Personnel Director in the manner prescribed by the Personnel Director. Additionally, the Personnel Director in consultation with a Department Head may initiate the review of a position to determine its appropriate classification. When considering reclassifying a position the primary focus is on determining whether the scope and functions of the job have undergone such significant changes that the duties and level of responsibilities, and requisite qualifications on the part of an incumbent are more appropriately described by another classification within the County's classification plan. If such a defined classification does not exist within the classification plan, the Personnel Director may recommend that an appropriate new classification bedeveloped and added to the plan. When reviewing a position for possible reclassification, the study is not concerned with how well an employee performs on the job, whether the amount of work assigned is appropriate, or whether the particular function or organization is properly staffed. Also, the study does not address the appropriateness of the salary range associated with a position, and positions are not reclassified based upon comparisons of the compensation other employees working within or outside of county service receive. The results of the study will be sent to the employee and the Department Head with a recommendation of finding. The final results may be presented by the PersonnelDirector, or his/her designee, with a recommendation for any appropriate amendment to the salary schedule, classification plan and/or position allocations to the Board of Supervisors for adoption.
- 3. The employee or his/her Department Head may file an appeal of the recommendation of finding by submitting the Position Classification Appeal form, made available in a manner prescribed by the Personnel Director, within ten business days of receipt of the recommendation of finding, to the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, shall review the Position Classification Appeal form in conjunction with any additional information submitted and issue a final recommendation. Except as otherwise provided by Policy Resolution 2010-02; such response shall be final.
- B. The Board of Supervisors upon recommendation of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, or CEO, or his/her designee, at any regular meeting, may create new classes, divide, combine, alter or abolish existing classes, or allocate new positions to appropriate classes or reallocate existing positions to other classes by resolution or by amending this Chapter. (See also, Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, in appendix.)

SECTION 5.4. <u>CLASS SPECIFICATIONS</u>. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall prepare and maintain the official written specification for each classification.

SECTION 5.5. <u>INTERPRETATIONS OF CLASS SPECIFICATIONS</u>. The class specifications are descriptive and explanatory and not restrictive. They are intended to indicate the kind of positional located to various classes and shall not be construed as declaring to any extent or in any way what the duties and responsibilities of any position should be. The use of a particular expressionor illustration as to duties should not be interpreted to exclude others not mentioned that are of similar kind or quality. The classification specification presents a picture of the kind of employment that the class is intended to embrace. Qualifications commonly required of all incumbents of positions of the various classes such as appropriate physical condition, honesty, sobriety and industry should be deemed to be implied as qualification requirements even though they are notspecifically mentioned in the specifications.

SECTION 5.6. <u>USE OF CLASS TITLE OF POSITIONS</u>. The title of the class to which any position allocated shall be used in all official personnel records and in all official personnel transactions of the County of Shasta; provided, however, that use of class titles shall not preclude deputization employees, or their designation as officers in accordance with law. The provisions of this section do not preclude departments from using separate duty statement descriptions and working titles within their department so long as the duties remain within the scope of the classification.

SECTION 5.7. <u>ROSTER OF EMPLOYEES AND POSITIONS.</u> A central record of employees andpositions is to be maintained and shall include a record of the appointment and subsequent changes in classification or compensation of each employee in the classified and unclassified service and shall include dates of services, positions held, salaries received, and such other related information as the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may consider appropriate.

This page intentionallyleft blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 6. RECRUITMENTS AND APPOINTMENTS

SECTION 6.1. <u>RECRUITMENT PROCEDURES</u>. The following procedures based on the six federalmerit system principles (see appendix) must be followed in the recruitment of classified employeesfor Shasta County. The only exceptions or modifications to these procedures are those outlined in Policy Resolution No. 2010-02 (see appendix).

- A. The appointing authority begins recruitment by forwarding a Request to FillPosition Form or, if necessary, a REQUEST FOR CONTROLLED HIRING EXEMPTION/EXCEPTION Form, to Personnel. Personnel then determines, after consulting with the appointing authority, the type of recruitment to conduct. The three types of recruitment are: County Promotional - open only to regular Shasta County employees; Departmental Promotional - open only to regular employees within the department where the vacancy exists; and Open - which is a general recruitment open to anyone. Promotional and Departmental Promotionalrecruitments will not normally be allowed if a current eligible list exists for the classification. Exceptions may apply with approval from the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee.
- Β. If no eligible list exists, the job description for the position and any previous bulletin(s) will be reviewed with the appointing authority for accuracy and updated if appropriate. Personnel will update the job description under authority granted by the Board of Supervisors. However, if there are proposed changes to the title or pay of the classification, or significant proposed changes in duties, such proposals require approval of the Board of Supervisors prior to proceeding. After the job description and bulletin are approved by Personnel in consultation with the department, Personnel will decide which newspapers, job websites, professional journals or other job recruiting resources to utilize. Departments may only place additional ads after consulting with Personnel. Departments may only do large- scale mailings of the job bulletin after reviewing its content with Personnel. Personnel may initiate the process to create a new eligible list if the recruitment for the current eligible list commenced a year or more before the current request to fill. A new list may also be created for compelling reasons (based on agreement between the Department Head, or his/her designee, and the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee) if the list was created less than one (1) year before the current request to fill. Notices of recruitments are posted on bulletin boards invarious county offices and sent to other local agencies and distributed consistent with equal employment opportunity laws. Notices are updated and distributed by Personnel. Current open recruitments shall also be announced on the Shasta County Website (www.co.shasta.ca.us).
- C. If an existing eligible list is less than one year old, the top ten (10) names shall becertified to the appointing authority. Additionally, where possible, employees on recall lists will be referred first or in conjunction with the certified list. If the eligible list is older than one year or consists of five (5) or fewer viable names, the appointing authority, in consultation with Personnel, may either select someone from the existing list or reject the list and request the development of a new list. If the department provides valid justification for the rejection of one or more applicants from the certified list, causing five (5) or fewer viable names to remain for the department to consider, the appointing authority, in consultation with Personnel, may reject the list and request the development of a new eligible list. The eligible list must be abolished if it is older than two years. If a Departmental Promotional

eligible list exists and a County Promotional or Open list is subsequently developed, the department must use the departmental list until it expires.

If a unique, special-duty assignment exists within a broadly defined classification, Personnel may approve a request from an appointing authority for a specialized recruitment even if a current (general) eligible list exists, or to develop a new eligible list specific to the special assignment from the existing eligible list.

- D. A filing period will be established by Personnel, during which time applications willbe accepted. If a small number of applications are received during the recruiting period, the recruitment may be extended. Only County application forms received for current recruitments will be accepted. Applications must be received by Personnel no later than 5 p.m. Pacific Standard Time (PST) on the final filing date, unless otherwise specified on the job bulletin. Supplemental questions, typing certificates, or additional required information, must be submitted by 5 p.m. (PST)on the final filing date, unless otherwise specified on the job bulletin.
- E. Department Heads are encouraged to promote employees from within their own departments, if those employees' qualifications meet the job specifications and if they successfully pass the appropriate written and/or oral examinations. Employees are encouraged to apply during Open or County Promotional Recruitments for classifications in the department where potential openings may occur because County Promotional and Departmental Promotional recruitments will not normally be allowed if a current eligible list exists for the classification.
- F. All County employees shall be entitled to take such written and/or oral examinations as are scheduled to fill position vacancies in the various County departments, without loss of regular pay, subject to the determination of Personnel that those employees meet the requirements of the position as set forth in the classspecifications.

SECTION 6.2. <u>SCREENING OF APPLICATIONS</u>. Applications shall be screened by Personnel andothers designated by Personnel to minimum qualifications as outlined in the job specifications. If an excessive number of applications meets minimum qualifications, or if the opening is for a specialized assignment, additional work related criteria such as skills, experience, education, and training may be applied to limit the number of written and/or oral exams.

SECTION 6.3. WRITTEN AND ORAL EXAMINATIONS.

- A. Eligible lists shall be compiled by Personnel based on ratings earned by applicantsduring oral and/or written examinations. Personnel will determine the appropriate exam process for the recruitment. Personnel may require written exams in addition to oral exams (interviews) for individuals applying for certain positions.
 - 1. The appointing authority may opt to allow applicants the ability to transferpassing written exam scores to a current recruitment. The appointing authority is responsible for determining any restrictions related to transferring passing written exam scores, such as length of time that hastranspired since passing the written exam, and notifying Personnel of thedetermination.

- B. If ten (10) or fewer applicants are determined to be qualified as a result of the application screening process, all shall be referred to the appointing authority for interviews, thereby by passing the initial oral exam. When written and/or oral exams are scheduled, candidates will be notified by mail, email, or telephone of the date, time and place of the exam. Departments may, upon consultation with Personnel, make the initial contact with applicants via phone to set up a time for the oral exam. If initial contact is made via phone, a confirmation letter will be sent.
- C. Each oral exam panel member will be given an interview packet in order to review the materials before the interviews. An oral exam panel will ordinarily consist of three individuals selected by Personnel and the appointing authority for their knowledge and expertise regarding the position. When possible, candidates will be notified of the names of the panel members prior to being interviewed. If a candidate has a concern regarding a particular panel member, those concerns areto be made known to the Chairperson of the oral board. Additionally, a candidate may request Personnel to remove one panel member. Personnel will determine the appropriateness of the request.
- D. Candidates will be notified of the results of their exam, typically within two weeks following the exam. Upon request by the candidate, composite exam scores maybe provided; the scores of the individual panel members or from individualcategories will not be made available to the candidate. Specific written exam scores will not be provided to candidates for Pass/Fail tests.
- E. The oral exam panel may fail a candidate as a result of the interview based upon objective criteria that indicate that the individual is not qualified for the position. Forexample, the interview may reveal that the individual lacks essential knowledge, job-specific skills, necessary communication skills, a basic understanding of the job functions, or other key qualifications typically required of the position. The board panel must document such information and review it with Personnel. This may be done on panel scoring sheets instead of separate documents. Each category must have a score, and the panel members must be able to support eachscore. If Personnel concurs that the individual lacks sufficient qualifications to be placed on the eligible list, the individual must be notified in writing that it was the consensus of the oral board panel that he/she did not present qualifications sufficient to be placed on the eligible list.
- F. Veterans' Preference.
 - 1. An applicant who has received a passing score on all components of an examination (up to and including oral examinations) and who is a veteranshall receive credit for an additional five points to be added to the final examination score.
 - 2. For the purposes of this section, a veteran has the same meaning as in Government Code § 18973, as now enacted and as may hereafter be amended. As currently written, Government Code § 18973 defines a "veteran" as any person who has served full time for 30 days or more in the armed forces in time of war or in time of peace in a campaign or expedition for service in which a medal has been authorized by the government of the United States, or during the period September 16, 1940 to January 31, 1955, or who has served at least 181 consecutive days since January 31, 1955, and who has been discharged or released underconditions

other than dishonorable, but does not include any person whoserved only in auxiliary or reserve components of the armed forces whoseservice therein did not exempt him or her from the operation of the Selective Training and Service Act of 1940.

- (a) An applicant who wishes to be considered for veterans' preference credit must submit a copy of his or her discharge document (DD-214 or equivalent) and information as to the type of discharge (honorable, dishonorable, etc.) with the application on or before the final filing date for the recruitment and;
 - (b) Failure to submit the required credentials on or before the final filing date of the recruitment shall be deemed a waiver of the veterans' preference.
- 4. Veterans' preference shall apply only to examination scores used to create eligible lists from Open Recruitments and shall not affect recall lists, eligible lists created from County or Departmental PromotionalRecruitments or by any other means, or any other employment decision. Should an applicant claiming a veterans' preference be hired to a regularCounty employment position, his or her veteran's preference shall not be applied to any subsequent County recruitment, reclassification, transfer or other employment decision during the time he or she remains employedin a regular County employment position.
- 5. Veterans' preference shall apply only to the examination scores forclassified employment positions with Shasta County.

SECTION 6.4. ELIGIBLE LISTS.

- A. An eligible list will be established upon the compilation of final exam scores. The top ten (10) candidates (or more if the candidates are tied with others) on the list shall be certified to the appointing authority for final consideration and interview(s)as approved vacancies occur. Should the list include eligible employees from the hiring department, Personnel will also certify the top five (5) regular full time or regular part-time if not already included in the top ten (10) candidates (or more if scores are tied). For each additional vacancy, the department will be provided one additional candidate (or more if scores are tied). The appointing authority should interview all of those certified eligible prior to making a hiring selection.
- B. Current Shasta County employees wishing to transfer from their current departments to different departments within the same classification shall beconsidered for such transfer by submitting an application to Personnel at any time. Assuming they are otherwise eligible, their names will be referred in addition to the top ten (10) names on an eligible list. The appointing authority may consider a transfer request by a county employee without first establishing an eligible list or using the existing eligible list. These principles also apply to employees wishing todemote into classifications in which they previously held permanent status.
- C. Before being provided names of additional candidates, the department must reasonably justify the rejection of the original candidates certified. Valid justifications for rejecting certified applicants may include, but are not limited to: the applicant did not return

department's phone call after two efforts; phone disconnected, no forwarding number; scheduled interview but did not attend interview; failed a background investigation that was conducted in accordance withCounty procedures (i.e., something was revealed in the reference check orbackground investigation that caused grave concern to the Department Head regarding the applicant's work ethic, attention to duty, skills, cooperation with management or coworkers, poor performance evaluations, etc.); criminalconviction of a job related nature; or other similar substantial reasons. Personnel will determine if the justification is sufficient to bypass the applicant's name in future certifications of the eligible list.

D. Employees on a recall list shall be certified in accordance with the County's lay off policy.

SECTION 6.5. CONTINUOUS RECRUITMENT.

A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may authorize an open, continuous recruitment for specific classifications when such classifications have a history of multiple recruitments occurring within a year's period or the positions frequently remain vacant or underfilled.

- B. The process for continuous recruitments shall be as follows:
 - 1. An appointing authority may request a continuous recruitment, (reference Section 6.1), or the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may initiate such recruitment.
 - 2. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, will only authorize continuous recruitments if one of the criteria referenced in paragraph A is met.
 - 3. The position will be posted as open for continuous recruitment (reference Section 6.1.B).
 - 4. Applications will be screened on a monthly basis or more frequently as necessary (reference Section 6.2).
 - 5. Applicants who do not meet the established qualifications will be notified by mail or email.
 - 6. Qualified applicants will be scheduled for the examination(s) typically used to establish eligible lists for the class (reference Section 6.3).
 - 7. Applicants completing the examination process will be informed by mail or email that they passed or failed the examination(s) and, if passed, of their ranking on the eligible list (reference Section 6.3).
 - 8. Rankings will be based on examination(s) scores and how these scores compare to others already ranked on an established list. When individuals are notified of their ranking on the list, they will also be informed that their ranking may change in the future as new names are added or deleted from the list.

- 9. Candidates on the list may not participate in future examinations for the same job classification within six months of their initial placement on the list unless the list is being abolished and replaced with a new one.
- 10. Candidates' names will be removed from the list after one year from the date of their last placement on the list.
- 11. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may discontinue a continuous recruitment for a classification at any time.

SECTION 6.6. <u>MULTIPLE EMPLOYMENT</u>. No employee, whether full time, part-time, or extra help,shall hold more than one employment with the County without prior concurrence of the appointing authorities for whom the employee will work and the approval of the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. This provision shall not apply to employees represented by the Deputy SheriffsAssociation, who, if employed in a full-time position, shall not be permitted to work for compensationfor the County in any capacity other than his/her regular position.

SECTION 6.7. <u>REINSTATEMENT</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Chapter and without complying with the foregoing requirements for appointment, an appointing authority may appoint to a vacant position a former employee who separated from the County's employment in good standing within three years of separation, if the employee held permanent status in the classification to which appointment is being made. Salary step placement upon reinstatement may be to the same salary step to which the former employee was assigned at the time of separation. Upon reinstatement, the employee's vacation accrual rate, maximum vacation accumulation (per Section 12.2), and seniority in the event of a layoff will be based on prior service excluding absences from County employment. In all other respects, benefits and terms of employment will be as in thecase of new employment.

SECTION 6.8. OFFERS OF EMPLOYMENT AND REFERENCE CHECKING.

- Α. Except as stated in Section 6.8.C.1. below, after extending a verbal or written preliminary conditional offer of County employment, the appointing authority shall conduct a background investigation (based on County policies regarding background investigations) on a prospective employee. The County must extend a conditional offer of employment prior to initiating a background investigation on the prospective employee unless a conviction history check for the job classification is required by a state, federal or local law, or the position is with a criminal justice agency within the District Attorney's Office, Sheriff's Office, or the Probation Department. Such a background investigation includes, but is not limited to, performing reference checks, obtaining the prospective employee's fingerprintsfor the purpose of conducting a criminal history check, and collecting other job related information. The appointing authority has the discretion to only conduct background investigations on certain applicants that the appointing authority has decided to move forward in the hiring process. A background investigation is not required of every applicant referred to the appointing authority, unless otherwise required by state, federal, or local law.
 - 1. The appointing authority shall not consider, distribute or disseminate any of the following while conducting a conviction background check in connection with any application for employment:
 - a. An arrest not followed by a conviction.

- b. Referral to or participation in a pretrial or post trial diversion program.
- c. Convictions that have been sealed, dismissed, expunged or statutorily eradicated pursuant to law.
- 2. If the appointing authority intends to deny an applicant a position of employment solely or in part because of the applicant's conviction history, the appointing authority must make an individualized assessment of whether the applicant's conviction history has a direct and adverse relationship with the specific duties of the job that justify denying the applicant the position, including an assessment that considers all of the following:
 - a. The nature and gravity of the offense or conduct.
 - b. The time that has passed since the offense or conduct, as well as completion of a sentence.
 - c. The nature of the job held or sought.
- 3. If the appointing authority makes a preliminary decision that the applicant's conviction history disqualifies the applicant from employment, the applicant must be notified in writing of all of the following:
 - a. Notice of the disqualifying conviction(s) that are the basis for the preliminary decision to rescind the job offer.
 - b. A copy of the conviction report, if any.
 - c. An explanation of the applicant's right to respond to the notice of the preliminary decision before the decision becomes final and the deadline by which to respond. The response may include submission of evidence challenging the accuracy of the conviction history report, evidence of rehabilitation or mitigating circumstances, or both.
- 4. The applicant must be provided at least five business days to respond to the notice before the appointing authority can make a final decision.
 - a. If the applicant notifies the County in writing that the applicant is disputing the accuracy of the conviction history report and taking steps to obtain supporting evidence, the applicant must be given an additional five business days to respond to the notice before the appointing authority can make a final decision.
- 5. Any information provided by the applicant must be considered prior to making a final decision regarding employment.
- 6. If a final decision is made to deny the application for employment due to the applicant's conviction history (solely or in part), the applicant must be informed in writing of all of the following:

- a. The final denial or disqualification.
- b. Information and any existing procedure the County has for how the applicant may challenge the decision or request reconsideration.
- c. The right to file a complaint with the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH).
- 7. Certain positions are not subject to the procedures outlined in Sections 6.8.A.1. through 6.8.A.6. including:
 - a. Positions with a criminal justice agency, such as the District Attorney's Office, Sheriff's Office, or Probation Department.
 - b. Positions for which the County is required by any local, state or federal law to conduct a conviction history background check for employment purposes or to restrict employment based on criminal history.
 - c. Positions which fall under the provisions of Section 6.8.A.7.a. and 6.8.A.7.b. remain subject to other state and federal laws concerning use of criminal information. Applicants for those positions must be provided a copy of the criminal history information and the opportunity to complete, or challenge theaccuracy if, the criminal history information prior to revocation of a conditional offer, denying employment, or otherwisetaking an adverse action.
- B. All prospective employees shall sign an Authorization and Release of Information form or other releases authorizing the County to investigate and verify the information contained on their application. Failure to sign such release(s) shall disqualify the applicant. References shall be provided by the applicant. Referencesshall be checked only after a written release has been provided to the County.
- C. Following completion of the background investigation, which includes fingerprinting for the purpose of conducting a criminal history check, the appointing authority may extend an offer of employment conditioned on the results of a medical examination.
 - 1. The appointing authority must first complete the background investigation and evaluate all non-medical information that it reasonably could have obtained prior to extending a job offer conditioned on the results of a medical examination. The collection of non-medical information afterextending a job offer conditioned on the results of a medical examination on the results of a medical examination afterextending a job offer conditioned on the results of a medical examination on the results of a medical examination only allowed if the appointing authority can demonstrate that theinformation could not reasonably have been collected prior to the offer.
 - 2. It is the department's responsibility to verify that the applicant has passed the background investigation before extending an offer conditioned on theresults of a medical examination. This may be done by contacting Personnel. (See also Chapter 30, Pre-employment Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy.)
- D. The appointing authority shall notify all applicants on the certified eligible list as to their selection or rejection for employment.

E. Employees who have access to Federal Tax Information (FTI) are subject to a background investigation prior to access to FTI data and periodically thereafter, as required by Internal Revenue Service Publication 1075 and State Policy implementing Internal Revenue Service Publication 1075. See Administrative Policy 8-520 for the County's Background Investigation Policy under Internal Revenue Service Publication 1075.

SECTION 6.9. <u>COLLATERAL ALLOCATION FOR THE TRAINING OF A NEW</u> <u>EMPLOYEE</u>. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may create a temporary collateral allocation to provide a time period for an employee their current position to train a new employee. The Department Head, or his/her designee, must make the request for a collateral allocation in writing. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may grant a collateral allocation for up to four weeks for a non-management position, and up to eight weeks for a management position. With the approval of the Director of Support Services, the collateral allocation may be extended up to a maximum of six months. The department request must provide to Personnel the signed resignation or notice of retirement from the employee, or confirmation if hire from the employee's new Department Head, or his/her designee, and provide written assurance that there is funding available for the additional expense.

SECTION 6.10. <u>APPOINTMENTS TO CLASSIFIED SERVICE</u>. All new and promotional appointments to a position in the classified service shall be made by the appropriate appointing authority. All appointing authorities shall appoint to positions in the classified service only from among those who are certified to them by Personnel as being eligible for the particular classification of employment. Insofar as it conforms to other County regulations or policies, each Department Head, or his/her designee, shall be permitted to choose from the top ten (10) applicants in accordance with section 6.4.A.

SECTION 6.11. <u>DEPARTMENT HEADS</u>.

- A. The persons lawfully holding the positions listed in this section, and such other persons as maybe designated from time to time by state law, shall be regarded as Department Heads and shall be part of the executive management of Shasta County government. The manner of their appointment is set forth in the following subsections.
- B. The following department head is appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors and may be employed by contract: County Executive Officer.
- C. The following department head is appointed to a four-year term of office by the Board of Supervisors and may be removed for cause pursuant to Government Code section 27641: County Counsel.
- D. The following Department Head is appointed to a four-year term of office by the Board of Supervisors from a list of eligible candidates prepared by the Director of Agriculture, and may be removed for cause pursuant to Food and Agricultural Code sections 2181 et seq. and Business & Professions Code section 12214: Agricultural Commissioner/Sealer of Weights & Measures.
- E. The following Department Heads are appointed by the Board of Supervisors upon the recommendation of the County Executive Officer and serve at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors:

- 1. Public Works Director
- 2. Director of Resource Management
- 3. Director of Child Support Services
- 4. Public Defender
- 5. Health and Human Services Agency Director
- 6. Chief Probation Officer
- F. The following Department Heads are appointed by the County Executive Officer and serve at his/her pleasure:
 - 1. Director of Support Services
 - 2. Chief Information Officer
 - 3. Director of Housing and Community Action Programs
- G. The following Department Heads are appointed by authorities other than the Board of Supervisors, as indicated, and serve at the pleasure of their appointing authorities:
 - 1. Fire Warden (appointed by the California Department of Forestry -receives no county pay)
 - 2. Farm Advisor (appointed by the University of California receives no county pay)
- H. The following Department Heads make up the elective service:
 - 1. Assessor/Recorder
 - 2. Auditor-Controller
 - 3. County Clerk
 - 4. District Attorney
 - 5. Sheriff-Coroner
 - 6. Treasurer-Tax Collector/Public Administrator
- I. The Department Heads listed in subsections B through G shall be subject to termination upon 30 days prior written notice, except where another method of removal is required by contract, ordinance or state law. Upon such Department Heads giving notice of resignation, the County Executive Officer may, for good cause and upon a determination

that the best interests of the County would be served, authorize a maximum of 30 days leave with pay pending the effective dateof that resignation.

SECTION 6.12. <u>MERIT PRINCIPLES APPLY</u>. It is the policy of the Board that appointments to positions listed in section 6.11, will be made in accordance with the federal merit principles (see appendix) and that the services of Personnel will be utilized in recruiting and in determining the qualifications of candidates for these positions.

SECTION 6.13. <u>USE OF FORMS</u>. All appointments to positions in the classified and unclassified service shall be made in writing using the methods prescribed by Personnel. A copy of the appointment signed by the appointing authority or his/her authorized designee shall be delivered toPersonnel for approval before the proposed appointee begins work or the proposed promotion takeseffect. The appointment must be processed by Personnel before payment can be made to the appointee by the County Auditor.

SECTION 6.14. <u>APPOINTMENT OF RELATIVES</u>

- A. Appointing authorities are prohibited from appointing relatives to positions in County service. An appointing authority shall insure that within his/her department, a supervisory person shall not have a relative under his/her supervision, regardless of the departmental budget unit to which the position occupied by suchrelative is allocated. Such supervision may be direct, i.e., immediate supervision, or indirect by any number of organizational levels within the department.
- B. For the purposes of this section, relative shall include brother, sister, child, parent, uncle, aunt, niece, nephew, spouse, Registered Domestic Partner, or spouse's or Registered Domestic Partner's' brother, sister, parent, uncle, aunt, niece or nephew. Step-relatives of the same relationships are also included.

SECTION 6.15. <u>INITIAL PROBATION</u>. Upon initial appointment in classified service, all employees (except those otherwise specified in memoranda of understanding) shall serve the equivalent of 12 months of full-time service as a probationary period, during which time the employee may be dismissed without cause or right of appeal. While on initial probation, an employee may not promote to another classification (except in an unusual circumstance after approval by the Director of SupportServices, or his/her designee).

SECTION 6.16. <u>PROMOTIONAL PROBATION</u>. Upon promotion to a classification in classified service with a higher salary schedule, an employee (except those otherwise restricted by specific memoranda of understanding) shall serve the equivalent of 12 months of full-time service as a probationary period, during which time the employee may be returned to his/her previous classification without cause or right of appeal, provided the employee had successfully attained permanent status in the previous class.

SECTION 6.17. <u>PROBATION ON TRANSFER OR DEMOTION</u>. For good cause shown, a Department Head, or his/her designee, may require a 12 month probationary period (full-time equivalent) as a condition of appointment in cases of lateral transfer or demotion, voluntary or otherwise, from another department. During such probationary period, the employee may be dismissed without cause or right of appeal. The employee has no right to return to his/her previousposition.

SECTION 6.18. <u>EXTENSION OF PROBATIONARY PERIOD</u>. Any accumulated time absent during the probationary period for a period of more than five working days shall serve to extend the employee's probationary period for the total period of absence. Probation shall not be extended for any other reason.

SECTION 6.19. <u>REJECTION FROM PROBATION</u>. Rejection during a probation period is not a disciplinary action.

SECTION 6.20. <u>LEAVE OF ABSENCE WHILE ON PROBATION</u>. An employee in the initial probationary period may be granted a leave of absence without pay, but the period of leave shall not exceed four months unless otherwise required by law. An employee in any probationary status shall have his/her probationary period extended an amount of time equal to the period of leave.

SECTION 6.21. <u>PROBATION ON RECLASSIFICATION</u>. An appointing authority may require a probationary period of six months on reclassification when the incumbent employee has been performing the assigned duties for less than six months. Should a reclassified position be filled by recruitment, promotional probationary rules shall apply.

CHAPTER 7. DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS

SECTION 7.1. <u>GENERAL</u>.

- A. The tenure and status of every classified employee is conditioned on reasonable standards of personal conduct and satisfactory job performance. Failure to meet such standards shall be grounds for appropriate disciplinary action.
- B. The procedures set forth in this Chapter shall not apply to probationary employees who are rejected during probation, to extra help employees or employees in the unclassified service of the County. These procedures shall not apply to a reduction inforce, or a reduction in pay which is part of a reclassification action or reorganization approved by the County Board of Supervisors.
- C. Any appointing authority may initiate disciplinary action for cause. As used in this section, appointing authority shall mean an elected or appointed Department Head, or his/her designee, who initiates the disciplinary action.
- D. The procedures set forth in this Chapter shall not preclude an employee from entering into a written agreement with the County to settle a pending disciplinary matter, and further shall not preclude an employee from waiving any of the notice provisions herein provided for, as part of that written settlement agreement.
- E. Time limits and formal steps may be waived by mutual written consent of the parties.

SECTION 7.2. <u>BASIS FOR DISCIPLINARY ACTION</u>. Disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment may be taken against any employee for unsatisfactory performance or for misconduct including, but not limited to, the following:

- A. Absence without leave.
- B. Misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance or neglect of duty.
- C. Incompetence.
- D. Inefficiency.
- E. Violation of any lawful or reasonable regulation or order made or given by a superior officer.
- F. Negligent or willful damage to public property.
- G. Waste or misuse of public supplies or equipment.
- H. Discourteous treatment of members of the public or public officers or employees while on duty.
- I. The unlawful manufacture, unlawful distribution, unlawful dispensing, unlawful possession or unlawful use of a controlled substance or alcohol intoxication while on duty, while

operating a county vehicle or while in uniform. "Controlled substance" includes any substance described in sections 11054 et seq. of the Health and Safety Code.

- J. Use of alcohol or controlled substances which interferes with the employee's ability to perform his/her duties.
- K. Conviction of any criminal act involving moral turpitude.
- L. Disorderly conduct while on duty, while attending any event related to employment, while using a County vehicle, while on County-owned or leased property, or while in uniform.
- M. Conduct unbecoming a County employee which indicates the employee is unfit toperform the employee's job functions while on duty, while attending any event related to employment, while using a County vehicle, while on County-owned or leased property, or while in uniform.
- N. Conduct unbecoming a County employee while off duty which by its inherent nature brings disrepute to the County or impairs its credibility with the public or other public agencies. This provision is not intended to limit an employee's constitutionally protected speech.
- O. Dishonesty, including but not limited to falsifying official records, embezzlementor theft.
- P. Fraud in obtaining County employment.
- Q. Violation of any of the provisions of these Personnel Rules, policy, or law.
- R. Violation of the County's Policy Against Discrimination and Harassment.

SECTION 7.3. <u>BASIS FOR OTHER TERMINATION FOR CAUSE</u>. Any employee covered by this article can be terminated from County employment because of mental or physical inability toperform the essential functions of the employee's job, as determined by a medical or mental examination. Likewise, an employee who voluntarily quits employment through unauthorized absence of three work days or more shall be considered to have abandoned his/her position. Employees terminated under this section shall have the availability of subsections 7.5.A, B, and the introductory paragraph of C only. (Not disciplinary in nature.)

SECTION 7.4 <u>TYPES OF DISCIPLINE</u>. The types of discipline recognized for purposes of applying one of the appeal procedures under this chapter are:

- A. Written Reprimand. A reprimand, the details of which are committed to writing and placed in the employee's personnel file. An employee receiving a written reprimandmay, within five working days, appeal such action to the Department Head, or his/herdesignee. Within five working days thereafter, the Department Head, or his/herdesignee, shall respond to the employee in writing by either granting in whole or part, ordenying the appeal. Such response shall be final.
- B. Intermediate Disciplinary Action: Suspension Without Pay, Demotion, or Reduction In Base Pay. An employee receiving a suspension without pay, demotion, or reduction in base pay shall be afforded the opportunity to clear him/herself through the notice and response provisions of Section 7.5.A. and B. below. Following a review of the proposed disciplinary action, the appointing authority or designee shall issue a decision based upon

the facts presented and the employee's response. If any proposed disciplinary action is to be implemented, the decision shall include the specific findings made against the employee, the effective date of the action, and reference to this article regarding possible further appeal of the decision.

If requested within five working days following receipt of the management representative's decision, further appeal shall include: review by the County Personnel Director, or his/her designee; referral to a Mediator from State Mediation and Conciliation Service if mutually agreed by the County and the employee's representative; and/or final presentation of the matter to the Board of Employee Appeals.

C. Severe Disciplinary Action. Discharge. An employee whose employment is proposed to be terminated or termination for cause pursuant to Section 7.2 above shall be afforded the procedural protections of Section 7.5 below.

SECTION 7.5. <u>APPEAL PROCEDURES</u>. Except as otherwise required by the State Merit System for employees covered thereby, the following procedures shall be the exclusive means of appeal available to a disciplined employee, depending on the severity of discipline proposed. Disciplinary action may be implemented prior to the completion of any of the listed appeals procedures.

- A. Notice. The employee shall be advised in writing of the proposed disciplinary action when such action is to result in demotion, suspension without pay, or discharge. The written statement shall contain:
 - 1. A description of the events which necessitated the proposed disciplinary action;
 - 2. A statement of the charges;
 - 3. A statement of the proposed disciplinary action;
 - 4. A copy of the materials, if any, upon which the proposed personnel action is based and notification that the employee may review or make copies of available materials, if any, which are too numerous to supply with the notice;
 - 5. A statement of the employee's right to representation; and
 - 6. Notification of the right of the employee to meet with the appointing authority or designee or to submit in writing his/her response to the proposed action, and the date by which the meeting must be requested or the written response submitted.

No notice shall be served upon an employee unless first reviewed and approved by the County Counsel. A copy of every notice shall be sent to the Personnel Director or his/her designee. Upon mutual written agreement the response meeting may be delayed beyond the date set in Section 6 above.

- B. Employee's Response.
 - 1. Since the purpose of the response meeting is to enable the County to avoid error in taking disciplinary action, any evidence within the knowledge of the employee or his/her representative or which is accessible to them which is not presented in

this response meeting or otherwise presented to the appointing authority or his/her designee prior to the taking of final action cannot be presented in any subsequent proceeding.

- 2. An employee's opportunity to respond to the designated management representative is not intended to be an adversary hearing. However, the employee may present the names of witnesses in support of his/her opposition to the proposed demotion, suspension, reduction in pay or discharge. The limited nature of this response does not obviate the appointing authority or his/her designee to initiate further investigation if the employee's version of the facts raises doubts as to the accuracy of the initial information leading to the proposed discipline. The employee may be accompanied and represented by a person of the employee's choice during the meeting.
- C. Appointing Authority's Decision. Following a review of a proposed disciplinary action by the appointing authority or his/her designee, he/she shall cause to be served on the employee, by certified mail or personal delivery, a statement signed by him/her indicating, if applicable, the appointing authority's decision based on the employee's response and, if the proposed or lesser action is to be implemented, the specific findingsmade against the employee and the effective date of the action. Service by certified mail is effective upon the Postal Service's final attempt to deliver the statement.
 - 1. This statement shall clearly inform the employee that the employee has the right, within five working days after receipt of the statement, to request in writing an appeal to the Board of Employee Appeals pursuant to these PersonnelRules, to contest the action of the appointing authority or his/her designee. The request must be filed by the employee with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.
 - 2. If, within the five working day appeal period the employee does not file anappeal, the action of the appointing authority or his/her designee shall be considered conclusive.

SECTION 7.6. <u>SUMMARY SUSPENSION</u>. Prior to any disciplinary proceedings under thissection, the appointing authority may summarily place any County employee on an immediate suspended status without pay. Such suspensions shall be made only in cases where the employee's continued active duty status might, in the sole opinion of the appointing authority, constitute a hazard to the employee or others, tend to bring the County service into discredit, or prolong acts or omissions of improper employee conduct. If the disciplinary action or suspension is not subsequently ordered and/or affirmed, the employee shall be reinstated in status and restored all pay and fringe benefits lost during the summary suspension.

SECTION 7.7. <u>RIGHT TO REPRESENTATION</u>. An employee subject to a meeting or an investigation that may result in disciplinary action, a pre-disciplinary conference or an appeal hearing has the right to be represented by a representative of his/her choice or an attorney retained by the employee at the employee's expense.

SECTION 7.8. <u>APPLICABILITY OF CHAPTER</u>. For the purpose of this Chapter, discipline includes only dismissal, suspension, reduction in rank, reduction in base pay, and written reprimand, and does not include any managerial or supervisory actions that are subject to any grievance procedure established by the Board of Supervisors. It is the intention of the Board of Supervisors in enacting this section to allow each officer or employee of Shasta County with managerial or supervisorial responsibilities the maximum flexibility to insure the prompt and efficient performance of public duties or delivery of public services, subject to the paramount authority of the Board of Supervisors over County government and the provisions of any applicable memorandum of understanding.

This page intentionallyleft blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 8. APPEALS

SECTION 8.1. <u>APPEALS BOARD</u>.

A. There is hereby created the Board of Employee Appeals for the County of Shasta. The Appeal Board shall be empowered to hear all appeals from employees against whom action is taken under the foregoing Chapter 7. The board shall be composed of three members of the community appointed by the Board of Supervisors to serve terms ending at 12:00 noon on the first Monday after January 1 of the odd- numbered year following their appointment. Members may be removed at any time by a four-fifths vote of the Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors may appoint up to six alternate members of the community to serve on a rotational basis when regular members are unable to attend. The terms of these alternate members shall be the same as regular members. Such members shall not be County employees or relatives of County employees.

The composition of the Appeals Board shall include a representative of law enforcement during any hearing at which the appellant is a sworn peace officer.

- B. The Board of Supervisors shall retain counsel for the Appeals Board.
- C. The Appeals Board shall adopt rules for the conduct of its hearings. The Appeals board shall elect one of its members as chairman, and shall keep records and minutes of its proceedings.
- D. The Clerk of the Board shall be ex officio secretary to the Appeals Board.

SECTION 8.2. <u>SUBPOENA POWER</u>. The Appeals Board shall have the authority to subpoena and swear witnesses and may employ a competent reporter to record the proceedings of the hearing if, in its opinion, such a record is necessary. Any person failing to obey a subpoena, or subpoena duces tecum, or to be sworn and testify, shall be deemed to be in contempt of the Appeals Board, and the Appeals Board shall have the power to take such proceedings and refer the contempt to the court to order the witness's compliance, as may be taken by a board of supervisors pursuant to Title 3, Division 2, Part 2, Chapter 1, Article 9 (sections 25170-25176) of the Government Code.

SECTION 8.3. <u>REQUEST FOR HEARING</u>. The employee acted against may, within five working days after service on or mailing to him/her of the order as provided in the foregoing Chapter 7, appeal such an order in writing through the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, to the Appeals Board. An employee appealing an order of dismissal shall within 10 working days from the date of the order present to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, an answer, in writing, to the charges set forth in the order of dismissal. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall as soon as practicable transmit the order, appeal and answer to the Clerk of the Board. The Clerk of the Board will schedule the hearing on the appeal and transmit the order, appeal and answer to the Appeals Board for hearing. The Appeals Board shall, as soon as practicable after the filing of the appeal, commence the hearing at least five working days in advance of the actual date of such a hearing.

SECTION 8.4. <u>HEARING</u>. Upon such hearing, both the appealing employee and the appointing authority whose action is reviewed shall be given an opportunity to present their cases

by oral orwritten testimony either in person or by representative. The hearing shall be informal and the Appeals Board shall not be bound by any of the rules of evidence governing trial procedures in proceedings before State Boards. The Appeals Board shall, within 10 working days and by written order supported by findings, either affirm, modify or revoke the order. A copy of the orderand findings shall be transmitted forthwith to the appointing authority, appealing employee and the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.

SECTION 8.5. <u>EXTENSIONS OF TIME</u>. The Appeals Board, for good cause shown, may extendany of the time limits for actions authorized in this chapter for an additional period not to exceed 10 calendar days.

SECTION 8.6. <u>FINALITY OF DECISION AND FURTHER APPEAL</u>. Decisions of the Appeals Board other than those providing for the employee's termination shall be final. Those decisions providing for termination shall be final upon the expiration of time allowed for requesting review by the Board of Supervisors, if such review is not requested, or upon Board denial of review, as appropriate.

SECTION 8.7. <u>APPEAL TO THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS</u>. If the decision of the Board of Appeals provides for the employee's dismissal, within 10 days after service of such decision upon the appealing employee either by personal service or by registered mail, the employee may file with the Clerk of the Board written request for review by the Board of Supervisors setting out in detail the reasons why such Board should accept such review. Appeal shall not bea matter of right, but shall be granted or denied as deemed appropriate by the Board of Supervisors. It is anticipated that the Board will accept for review only those unusual decisions which, in the Board's opinion, may constitute a gross miscarriage of justice either to theemployee or to the people of the County. The Board of Supervisors may, in its discretion, reviewthe matter on the record or may require a full or partial hearing de novo and may reverse, affirm or modify the decision of the Board of Employee Appeals. The decision of the Board of Supervisors shall be final.

SECTION 8.8. <u>REVOCATION OF DISCIPLINARY ORDER</u>. If a final decision of the Appeals Board or Board of Supervisors revokes an order of discharge, suspension or reduction in rank, the appealing employee must be restored forthwith to his/her position prior to the order with all rights and privileges pertaining thereto, including those accruing since the order, and full back pay for the time lost, unless otherwise provided in the order.

CHAPTER 9. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

SECTION 9.1. DEFINITIONS.

- A. Grievance. A grievance is a claimed violation, misapplication or misinterpretation of a specific provision of an MOU or one of the following provisions of these Personnel Rules which adversely affects the grievant.
 - 1. Voluntary Time Off Without Pay
 - 2. Leaves of Absence
 - 3. Drug/Alcohol Testing Policy
 - 4. Salary administration provisions dealing with merit steps; salary onpromotion; reclassification; transfer and demotion; and anniversary dates
 - 5. Layoff Provisions

Disciplinary actions, performance evaluations, preambles, purpose clauses and the exercise or lack of exercise of County Rights shall not be grievable, nor shall any complaint be grievable for which a separate appeal process is established.

B. Grievant. A grievant is an employee covered by this article who is filing a grievance as defined above. Individual grievances with alleged violations, misapplication, or misinterpretations affecting more than one employee in a substantiallysimilar manner may be consolidated at the discretion of management as a group grievance and shall thereafter be represented by a single grievant.

SECTION 9.2. <u>GENERAL PROVISIONS.</u>

- A. If a grievant fails to carry his/her grievance forward to the next level within the prescribed time period, the grievance shall be considered settled based upon the decision rendered at the most recent step utilized.
- B. If a manager fails to respond with an answer within the given time period, the grievant may appeal the grievance to the next higher level as if a negative response had been received on the final day for the decision.
- C. The grievant may be represented by a person of his/her choice at any formal level of this procedure.
- D. Prior to or during the steps of the grievance procedure, the grievant or his/her representative, supervisor(s), or Department Head, or his/her designee, may consult with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.
- E. Time limits and formal steps may be waived by mutual written consent of the parties.
- F. Service shall be accomplished by certified mail or personal service and a record of such service shall be maintained.

G. Personnel shall issue all grievances a tracking number and serve as the repository for all grievances filed, regardless of the step in the procedure at which eachis resolved. A copy of all grievances, written replies, appeals, decisions and other supportive material shall be submitted to Personnel.

SECTION 9.3. <u>INFORMAL RESOLUTION</u>. Within 20 days from the event giving rise to a grievance or from the date the employee could reasonably have been expected to have had knowledge of such event, the grievant shall orally discuss his/her complaint with his/her immediate supervisor. The supervisor shall have seven days within which to respond. If the employee is dissatisfied with the response to the complaint, or if he/she receives no response, the complaint may, within 14 days after the supervisor's response was due, the employee may submit the complaint as a grievance in accordance with the following procedure.

SECTION 9.4. FORMAL PROCESS.

- A. Step 1: If a grievant is not satisfied with the resolution proposed at the informal level, he/she may, within 14 days after the supervisor's response was due, file a formal written grievance to his/her manager on a form provided by Personnel containing a statement describing the grievance, the section of the applicable MOU or Personnel Rules allegedly violated, and the remedy requested. The manager (or his/her designee) shall, within seven days have a meeting with the grievant and within seven days thereafter give a written answer to the grievant.
- B. Step 2: If the grievant is not satisfied with the answer, the grievant may, within seven days from the receipt of such answer, file a written appeal to the Department Head, or his/her designee. Within 14 days of receipt of the written appeal, the Department Head, or his/her designee, shall investigate the grievance, which may include a meeting with the concerned parties, and thereafter give a written decision to the grievant within seven days.
- C. Step 3: If the grievant is not satisfied with the written decision from the Department Head, or his/her designee, the grievant may, within seven days from the receipt of the decision, file a written appeal to the Grievance Board. The Grievance Board shall review, investigate and hear the grievance, and render its written decision within 21 days of receipt of the employee's appeal. The majority decision of the Grievance Board shall be final and binding, subject to review by the Board of Supervisors only if the decision mandates a capital expenditure or significant, unbudgeted expenditure. In those instances, the Board of Supervisors may ratify, modifyor reverse the decision of the Grievance Board. In addition to appealing to the GrievanceBoard, the County and the employee or employee's union representative may jointly agree to schedule the matter for mediation with a Mediator from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service (or another jointly agreed upon source). Such mediation would be scheduled prior to a hearing before the Grievance Board with the goal of resolving the issue prior to the formal hearing before the Grievance Board.

SECTION 9.5. <u>GRIEVANCE BOARD</u>.

A. The Grievance Board which shall act as neutrals shall consist of three members as follows:

- 1. A Department Head, or his/her designee, of a County department other than that, in which the aggrieved employee is assigned, to be appointed by the County Executive Officer,
- 2. A County employee represented and designated by the grievant's exclusively recognized employee organization or, if the grievant is not part of a bargaining unit represented by an exclusively recognized employee organization, a County employee in the same unrepresented group as the grievant and designated by the grievant, and
- 3. The County Personnel Director, or his/her designee, who shall serve as chairperson.
- B. The County employee serving on the Board shall be granted release time toparticipate in the activities of the Grievance Board.

SECTION 9.6. <u>COMPLAINT PROCEDURE</u>. An employee may bring non-grievable items to the attention of the Department Head by memo through the department's chain of command. Should the employee feel the issue is unresolved at that level he/she may bring it to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, for consideration and final decision.

This page intentionallyleft blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 10. WORKING HOURS, WORKWEEK, AND OVERTIME

SECTION 10.1. <u>DAYS AND HOURS</u>. Except as may be otherwise authorized by the Board of Supervisors by ordinance or resolution, the official work period shall be as follows:

A. Five working days of eight hours each from and including Sunday through the following Saturday. The first shift of the work period shall be the first shift wherein the majority of its working hours follow 12:01 a.m. Sunday, except as provided in paragraph B below.

Where alternate work schedules are established in accordance with provisions outlined below, alternative beginning and ending work weeks may be established by the Department Head, or his/her designee, usually on either Monday or Friday, for the purpose of minimizing overtime liability.

- B. An alternate work schedule is defined as a variation of the standard workweek, which for most employees is five eight-hour days between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Alternate schedules include 4-10 schedules, 9-80 schedules, hours from 7:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., and other schedules, but in each case the schedule will result in employees working a fixed schedule.
- C. *Flexible Work Hours Plan*: Flexible Work Hours Plan is an alternative work schedule. Once approved, by the process described in Section D below, this plan allows an employee to voluntarily set a flex schedule each week, with the supervisor's approval. The schedule provides for working 40 hours in a week but provides time for personal or medical appointments, to participate in children's school activities, or for other reasons that would not normally be available in a regular five days per week, eight hours per day schedule unless the employee utilized leave balances. Details regarding implementation of this program may be located in the Forms section of the Personnel Rules.
- D. The establishment of alternate work schedules shall be subject to the following:
 - 1. An alternate schedule shall be established and approved in writing by the Department Head, or his/her designee, and the County Executive Officer, with the notice to the employee, Personnel, and the employee's representative, if any.
 - 2. The Department Head, or his/her designee, may, at any time, cause any employee or group of employees to change a work schedule permanently or temporarily. Except in case of an emergency, the Department Head, or his/her designee, shall provide an employee with 14 days advance notice of a permanent schedule change and/or 12 hours notice of a temporary change.
 - 3. During payroll periods which contain a holiday, employees may be required to revert to a standard work schedule. However, in no event shall an employee receive more than eight hours of holiday pay or holiday credit for any holiday.
 - 4. The usage of accrued leave balances such as vacation, sick leave, and other paid time off, shall be on an hour-for-hour basis (e.g., an employee on a 4/10 schedule who misses a day because of illness shall be charged 10 hours sick leave for that day).

- E. Job sharing shall be subject to the following:
 - 1. Job sharing is defined as the assignment of a full-time workload and set of duties to two employees. The employees who are sharing the workload of the full-time position must be equally familiar with and involved in the duties and responsibilities of the job. Employees who are job sharing assume the added responsibility of coordinating their workloads and schedules so as to maintain efficiency and productivity.
 - 2. The establishment of job sharing arrangements shall be subject to the following:
 - a. A job sharing arrangement shall be established and approved in writing by the Department Head, or his/her designee, and the County Executive Officer, with notice to Personnel and the employee's representative, if any.
 - b. The Department Head, or his/her designee, may, at any time, cause an employee who is job sharing to revert to a standard full-time work schedule permanently or temporarily to cover the workload.
 - c. The accrual of leave balances, such as vacation, sick leave and holiday credit, shall be based on the actual hours worked of the reduced work schedule. Employees in a job sharing assignment shall be treated as regular full-time employees for the purposes of determining insurance benefit eligibility.

SECTION 10.2. <u>REST PERIODS</u>. When practical, employees shall be granted a 15 minute paid rest period during shifts of at least four hours. Employees whose shift is six hours or longer shall be granted a 15 minute paid rest period in each half of the employee's work shift. Unless otherwise approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee, such breaks shall not be taken within one hour of the employee's starting time, quitting time, or meal break and shall not be accumulated or used to supplement meal breaks, arrive at work late, or leave work early.

SECTION 10.3. <u>ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE EMPLOYEES</u>. An exempt employee in a regular full-time management position designated by the Board as an administrative leave classification shall be entitled to 80 hours of compensated administrative leave per calendar year, which shall be credited on the first payday on or after January 1. An employee first appointed during a calendar year shall be credited upon appointment with a number of hours equal to 6.66 hours for each full calendar month remaining in the calendar year. No employee in an administrative leave position shall be compensated for overtime work. Unused administrative leave shall be lost if not used by the end of each calendar year and upon termination. However, in lieu of paid time off under this benefit plan, a management employee may elect to receive payment for up to a maximum of 80 hours of unused administrative leave following the conditions outlined in Section 15.6.C. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall maintain a current list of administrative leave classifications.

SECTION 10.4. <u>OVERTIME</u>. All regular employees who are entitled to overtime shall be compensated for overtime in accordance with the following provisions:

A. Work beyond the assigned work period described in Section 10.1. must be expressly approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee, in advance. Unless specifically

authorized in advance, employees may not begin work more than 15 minutes prior to the regular starting time, take work home, or otherwise engage in overtime work.

- B. Except as indicated in Sections C below, all eligible employees shall be entitled to overtime compensation at a rate of 1-1/2 times each hour worked in excess of 40 hours in a seven day work period.
- C. Overtime will be computed on actual minutes worked, adjusted to the nearest increment of six minutes. Only those hours actually worked, vacation or holiday credit hours taken, jury duty hours served and paid travel time may be used to qualify for overtime compensation. All time lost as a result of a job related injury or illness will be considered as hours worked for purposes of overtime compensation.
- D. Eligible employees shall be entitled to compensatory time off or cash payment as overtime compensation. The Department Head, or his/her designee, shall determine the form of overtime compensation based on operational needs. Cash payments shall be made in the pay period in which the overtime is earned. Compensatory time off shall accrue and may be used upon approval of the Department Head, or his/her designee. Compensatory time off may be accrued up to 60 (40 hours at time-and-one-half). The Department Head, or his/her designee, may, upon the request of an employee and with the concurrence of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, extend the limit on accrued compensatory time off in excess of 60 hours. Hours accrued in excess of the maximum accruals shall be paid in cash at the appropriate overtime rate.
- E. Accrued compensatory time off shall be scheduled and used prior to the use of accrued vacation or holiday time unless the employee is within 12 pay periods of incurring a loss of accrued leave.
- F. Upon separation from County employment or transfer to a management classification, employees shall be paid in cash for accrued compensatory time off at the appropriate rate.
- G. Unless otherwise provided, the workweek on which overtime calculations will be based shall begin each Sunday at midnight (12:01 a.m.) and each workday shall begin daily at midnight (12:01 a.m.).

SECTION 10.5. <u>MINIMUM REPORTING TIME AND CALLBACK</u>. An employee who is called back to work shall be credited with two hours work time in the event actual time worked is less than two hours. Should callback time become contiguous with regular work hours, time worked shall not be credited as callback and the two hour minimum shall not apply.

SECTION 10.6. <u>REMOTE WORK</u>. For the purposes of this Section, Remote Work means work conducted by an employee at an approved alternative work location, which may be Fixed or Flexible, depending on the arrangement. An Alternative Work Location is any approved location where an employee conducts work during regularly scheduled hours other than the employee's designated standard work location, which is typically an onsite County location, building, or office. Remote Work typically includes the use of County and/or department resources and equipment to perform all or some of their job functions. Remote Work may also be referred to as telework, telecommuting, working from home, working remotely, etc.

Shasta County's Remote Work Program is for selected employees and positions that meet specific work standards and expectations described in the Remote Work Policy and Procedure (included as an Appendix of the Shasta County Personnel Rules).

Remote Work is a voluntary work arrangement, not an employee entitlement or right. Remote Work is also an optional management strategy for meeting the business and operational needs of the department.

CHAPTER 11. HOLIDAYS

SECTION 11.1. <u>OFFICIAL HOLIDAYS</u>. The following are official holidays for appointed County Officers, Department Heads, regular full-time, and regular part-time employees:

- A. January 1, New Year's Day
- B. The third Monday in January, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
- C. February 12, Lincoln's Birthday
- D. The third Monday in February, Presidents' Day
- E. The last Monday in May, Memorial Day
- F. July 4, Independence Day
- G. The first Monday in September, Labor Day
- H. November 11, Veterans' Day
- I. The fourth Thursday in November, Thanksgiving Day
- J. The day following Thanksgiving Day.
- K. December 24
- L. December 25

SECTION 11.2. OBSERVED HOLIDAYS.

- A. When a holiday listed above falls on Sunday, Monday will be observed as the paid holiday in lieu thereof. When a holiday listed above falls on a Saturday, theimmediately preceding Friday shall be observed as the paid holiday in lieu thereof.
- B. In those years in which December 24 falls on a Friday, December 23 shall be observed as the paid holiday in lieu thereof.
- C. In those years in which December 25 falls on a Monday, December 26 shall be observed as the paid holiday in lieu thereof.

SECTION 11.3. <u>ANNUAL HOLIDAY SCHEDULE</u>. The annual holiday schedule shall be announced by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, in January of each year, but such announcement shall not alter any provision of this chapter.

SECTION 11.4. EQUIVALENT TIME OFF OR PAY FOR HOLIDAYS.

- A. Holiday Pay and Accrual
 - 1. <u>Regular Full-Time Employees</u>
 - a. An employee shall receive holiday pay equal to the number of full- time hours normally worked, not to exceed eight hours, when a holiday falls on a scheduled workday.
 - b. An employee shall receive eight hours of holiday credit when the holiday falls on a scheduled day off.
 - c. An employee whose shift overlaps part of a holiday shall receive holiday pay for the number of hours the shift falls on the holiday.

2. <u>Regular Part-Time Employees</u>

- a. An employee working on a holiday shall receive holiday pay in proportion to the number of part-time hours worked during that pay periodif the holiday falls on a scheduled day off.
- b. An employee shall receive holiday credit in proportion to the number of part-time hours scheduled during that pay period if the holiday falls on a scheduled day off.
- 3. Maximum Accrual. No more than 60 hours of holiday credit may beaccrued. An employee shall receive cash payment at the equivalent rate accruedin excess of 60 hours. However the Department Head, or his/her designee, may, upon the request of the employee and with the concurrence of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, extend the limit on accrued holiday time.
- B. Work on a Holiday. A regular non-management employee who works on an official holiday shall earn overtime compensation at a rate of 1 1/2 times the hours worked, not to exceed eight hours. An employee who does not work on the holiday must be in a paid status the working day before and the working day after the holiday to be eligible to receive credit for the holiday. An employee who is hired and commences working on the holiday shall receive holiday compensation.

C. <u>Time Off or Pay for Holiday</u>

- 1. An employee shall be entitled to choose to receive either equivalent time off for hours worked on a holiday or cash payment, subject to departmental budgetary limitations.
- 2. An employee on a ten-hour shift schedule whose normal schedule includes a holiday shall receive eight hours Holiday pay (at regular rate X eight hours or Credit Holiday Earned [CHE]) plus 1 1/2 times the employee's regular hourly rate for eight hours. All other hours actually worked on the holiday will be straight time pay unless the employee otherwise qualifies for time and one half pay.
- 3. An employee who works a 10 hour shift schedule and whose scheduled day off falls on a paid holiday shall receive eight hours of holiday credit.

CHAPTER 12. VACATIONS

SECTION 12.1. <u>ACCRUAL SCHEDULE</u>. Regular full-time and regular part-time employees, excluding elected officials, shall accrue the following hours vacation time for each paid regularly scheduled working hour not to exceed 80 regularly scheduled working hours in any one pay period. An employee with a minimum of six months of County service shall become eligible for vacation up to the maximum time accrued as of the date such vacation is taken unless otherwise specified by applicable Memorandum of Understanding or Chapter 15, *Management Benefits*, Chapter 16, *Confidential Employees*, or Chapter 39, *Elected Department Head or Board of Supervisor Benefits*, of the Personnel Rules, or other provisions of these Personnel Rules.

Years of Continuous Service	Vacation Hours Accrued Per Hour	<u>Equivalent Days Per Year</u>
0 through 3	.0385	10
4 through 9	.0577	15
10 through 15	.0654	17
16 and thereafter	.0769	20

The following provisions concern employees hired to management positions (as defined in Section 15.2 of the Personnel Rules).

- A. Subject to Section 12.1(C) of the Personnel Rules, for any employee initially hired after March 9, 2014 to a management position (as defined in Section 15.2 of the Personnel Rules), the "years of continuous service" calculation may include years of continuous service with a county or public entity that the employee earned prior to regular full-time or regular part-time employment with the County of Shasta.
- B. Subject to Section 12.1(C) of the Personnel Rules, for any employee initially hired after May 26, 2019, to a management position (as defined in Section 15.2 of the Personnel Rules), the "years of continuous service" calculation may also be utilized to determine, at time of hire, an amount of vacation time immediately available for use at the time of hire that is equal to the "equivalent days per year" based upon the employee's years of continuous service with a county or public entity that the employee earned prior to regular full-time or regular part-time employment with the County of Shasta.
- C. For both the calculation of years of continuous service under Section 12.1(A) of the Personnel Rules and the availability of an immediate amount of vacation time under Section 12.1(B) of the Personnel Rules, the following factors must be met to the satisfaction and approval of the County Executive Officer and the Director of Support Services:
 - 1. The time period from the date the employee left his or her prior employmentwith a county or public entity to the date the employee is employed as a regular full- time or regular part-time employee with Shasta County does not exceed 180 days.

- 2. The employee's duties with Shasta County as a regular full-time or regular parttime employee are similar in nature to the employee's duties in the lastposition held with his or her prior employment with a county or other public entity.
- 3. It will serve Shasta County's interest in being able to recruit and hire highly qualified candidates by including the aforementioned time in the "years of continuous service" calculation and/or calculation of an amount of vacation time immediately available for use upon the date of hire.

SECTION 12.2. TIMES AND CONDITIONS OF TAKING VACATION.

- A. It is County policy that employees use their annual vacation accruals each year atsuch time or times as may be approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee. However, for reasons deemed sufficient by the Department Head, or his/her designee, anemployee may take less than their annual vacation accruals one year and a correspondingly longer vacation the following year. No employee shall be allowed paid vacation time off in excess of that accrued.
- B. The maximum vacation accumulation which may be accrued by a regular full- timeor regular part-time non-management employee without losing additional credit shall be 52 times the bi-weekly rate of accumulation of a regular full-time or regular part- time employee. The maximum time limits for vacation accrual shall be extended by the appointing authority as follows:
 - 1. For up to 13 pay periods if the department cancelled a previously scheduled employee vacation or rejected a timely employee vacation request if the Department Head, or his/her designee, determines that circumstances so warrant.
 - 2. For a period of any paid leave of absence due to illness or injury, plus, at the discretion of the Department Head, or his/her designee, up to 13 pay periods, if an employee attains maximum accumulation during such leave.
 - 3. Additional time accrued by an employee under paragraphs 1. or 2. above shall not be lost at the end of the extension; provided, the employee takes time offto reduce his/her maximum accumulation to that provided under B. above within the 13 pay periods immediately following the extension. Such an extension shall not be approved more than once in each calendar year.
- C. The maximum vacation accumulation which may be accrued by a management employee without losing additional credit shall be 78 times the employee's biweekly accrualrate. The maximum vacation accumulation for managers may be extended under the provisions of subsection B. above. Maximum time limits for vacation accrual of appointed Department Heads may be extended for up to 13 biweekly pay periods, upon approval of the CEO, or his/her designee.
- D. Beginning in 2017 for the 2018 calendar year and going forward with each subsequent calendar year, and except as otherwise modified by these Personnel Rules and applicable Memorandum of Understanding, a non-management employee may elect to receive payment forup to 20 hours in five (5) whole hour increments- of accrued vacation leave or compensatory time so long as the following criteria are satisfied:

Any employee utilizing this provision will be required to submit an irrevocable election through Employee Online by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the accrued vacation leave or compensatory time is to be cashed out.

Where an employee has properly elected an intent to cash out accrued vacation or compensatory time in the applicable calendar year as noted above, the employee can choose any pay period(s) during the year to receive the elected cash out. All requests for cash out must be made through Employee Online by the due date listed for each pay period. All requests must be submitted in five (5) whole hour increments. All requests for a cash out will be limited to the number of hours elected the preceding calendar year less any cash outs already approved, and the actual current year accrued hours available at the time of the cash out.

If an employee who has elected cash out fails to request the elected cash out in the applicable year, the County will automatically cash out the designated amount up to the hours available to be paid on the final payday of that calendar year in the following order:

- 1. Compensatory time off
- 2. Vacation

All annual cash out payments shall be at the base hourly rate only with no other add-on compensation included.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cashout and have remaining cashout balances available.

If an employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar yearprior to the calendar year in which the accrued vacation or compensatory time would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waived their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

E. Beginning in 2017 for the 2018 calendar year and going forward with each subsequent calendar year, and except as otherwise modified by these Personnel Rules and applicable Memorandum of Understanding, a management employee may elect to receive payment for upto 80 hours of unused administrative leave so long as the following criteria are met.

Any employee utilizing this provision will be required to submit an irrevocable election through Employee Online by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the administrative leave is to be cashed out.

Where an employee has properly elected an intent to cash out administrative leave in the applicable calendar year as noted above, the employee can choose any pay period(s) during the year to receive the elected cash out. All requests for cash out must be made through Employee Online by the due date listed for each pay period. All requests must be submitted five (5) whole hour increments. All requests for a cash out will be limited to the number ofhours elected the preceding calendar year less any cash outs already approved, and the actual current year hours available at the time of the cash out.

If an employee who has elected cash out fails to request the elected cash out in the applicable year, the County will automatically cash out the designated amount up to the hours available to be paid on the final payday of that calendar year. All annual cash out payments shall be at the base hourly rate only with no other add-on compensation included.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cash out and have remaining cash out balances available.

If an employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar yearprior to the calendar year in which the administrative leave would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waived their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

F. Vacation requests of over five days for appointedDepartment Heads shall be forwarded in writing to the CEO, or his/her designee, for approval. In order to assure the best continued service of each department, an appointed Department Head shall, where practical, arrange his/her vacation in such a manner that the employee normally in charge in the Department Head's absence is on duty during the periodof such vacation.

SECTION 12.3. PAYMENT IN LIEU.

- A. Any person terminating County employment, or who is laid off under the provisions of Chapter 17 of this manual, or who is granted military leave of absence, other than temporary military leave for a period not exceeding six months, shall be entitled to payment in lieu of earned vacation not taken at the equivalent hourly rate of salary.
- B. Persons retiring under the provisions of the Public Employees' Retirement System may remain on the payroll on vacation status until such accumulated vacation time for which they are eligible has been exhausted. An appointing authority may fill such a position immediately following the last day actually worked, provided funds are available.
- C. Employees shall not accrue additional paid leave benefits while running out accumulated vacation time.

SECTION 12.4 <u>NO COUNTY COMPENSATED WORK DURING PAID VACATION</u>. No person shall be compensated for work for the County in any capacity during the time of his/her paid vacation, except as may be authorized in Section 6.6.

CHAPTER 13. SICK LEAVE AND BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

SECTION 13.1. <u>EARNED ACCRUAL RATE</u>. Regular full-time and regular part-time employees, excluding elected officials shall accrue .0462 hours of sick leave for each regularly scheduled hour not to exceed 80 regularly scheduled working hours in any one pay period.

- A. Usage. Paid sick leave can only be granted upon the recommendation of the Department Head in cases of bona fide illness, treatment by an approved licensed medicalpractitioner, or in the event of illness/medical appointments in the employee's immediate family as referenced in B. below. Non paid sick leave may be taken prior to the completion of three months of continuous service unless otherwise specified by applicable Memorandum of Understanding or Chapter 15, *Management Benefits*, Chapter 16, *Confidential Employees*, or Chapter 39, *Elected Department Head or Board of Supervisor Benefits*, or the Personnel Rules, or other provisions of these Personnel Rules.
- B. Family Illness/Medical Appointments. Sick leave granted because of illness in the immediate family or because of scheduled doctor/dentist appointments for members of the immediate family shall normally be limited to 56 working hours per calendar year for all incidents. Additional accrued sick leave can be authorized to be used for reasons held to be sufficient by the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee. Immediate family means father, mother, spouse, registered domestic partner, son, daughter, sister or brother, grandparents, grandchildren, step grandparents, step parents, step children, step sisters, step brothers, step grandchildren, foster children, foster parents, or others as stipulated by law.
- C. Verification of Illness. Written verification by an approved licensed medical practitioner or other satisfactory proof of illness or family illness may be required at the discretion of the Department Head, or his/her designee.

SECTION 13.2. INDUSTRIAL LEAVE.

- A. To receive industrial leave, an employee must apply for workers' compensation benefits and supply supportive medical evidence that there was an industrial injury or disease contracted in the course and scope of employment which prevents the employeefrom performing his/her duties.
- B. Industrial leave compensation shall be applied to wage loss for the date of injury and subsequent workdays lost during the <u>30 days immediately following the date of injury</u>. In no event shall compensation exceed 32 hours.
- C. On the fourth consecutive calendar day following the date of injury or illness, provided the employee remains off work, temporary disability benefits will then be paid inaccordance with Labor Code 4653.
- D. Beginning with the date temporary disability benefits are applicable (Labor Code 4653) and every day of covered absence thereafter, in the following order, an employee'ssick leave, compensatory time off, administrative leave, and vacation may be charged to assure that, when added to temporary disability benefits paid under workers' compensation, the employee will receive as near to but not exceeding his/her full salary

or wage. <u>The employee, at his/her option, may elect any order of application of sick leave, compensatory time, administrative leave, vacation, or none of the preceding benefits if he/she notifies Risk Management in writing within 14 days of the date of injury.</u>(See County of Shasta Administrative Manual 3-130.)

SECTION 13.3. <u>EXCEPTIONS</u>. No County employee shall be entitled to sick leave while absent from duty on account of any of the following causes:

- A. Sickness or disability sustained while on leave of absence other than his/her regular vacation.
- B. An employee who becomes ill while on vacation leave and wishes to be placed onsick leave shall make such request to the Department Head, or his/her designee, as soonas possible. The Department Head, or his/her designee, shall then make a determination whether to approve such request based on the criteria normally utilized in approving sick leave.

SECTION 13.4. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE.

- A. Regular full-time and regular part-time employees shall be entitled to bereavementleave without loss of pay or charge against sick leave up to a maximum of 24 working hours for each nonconcurrent death in the immediate family. Employees may elect to use an additional 16 hours of accrual leave balances in addition to the 24 hours provided, for a total of 40 hours of bereavement time off per occurrence. Such additional hours do not require approval by the Department Head or his/her designee.
- B. Immediate family means spouse, registered domestic partner, father, mother, son, daughter, sister, brother, grandparent, grandchild, step grandparents, step parents, step children, step sisters, step brothers, step grandchildren, and other such persons as may be identified in California Government Code section 12945.7 concerning bereavement leave. Immediate family includes the immediate family of the spouse or registered domestic partner as well as foster parent, foster child, foster grandparent, foster grandchild, foster brother and foster sister.
- B. Verification of Bereavement Leave. Satisfactory proof of death may be required at the discretion of the Department Head, or his/her designee, for any use of bereavement leave.

SECTION 13.5. <u>SICK LEAVE RETENTION INCENTIVE PAYMENT</u>. Upon separation or termination, other than discharge for cause, any regular full-time or regular part-time employee shall become entitled to payment for accumulated sick leave in accordance with the tablebelow. % of Accumulation

	% of Accumulation	
Years of	Eligible for	Maximum
<u>Continuous Service</u>	Cash Payment	<u>Payment</u>
5 through 9	10.00%	\$3,500
10 through 14	25.00%	\$4,500
15 through 19	37.50%	\$6,000
20 or more	50.00%	\$6,000

SECTION 13.6. <u>SICK LEAVE - CaIPERS SERVICE CREDIT CONVERSION</u>. An employee may convert some or all of his/her accumulated but unused sick leave to CaIPERS service credit upon retirement. Any sick leave utilized for cash payment as provided in the abovesection shall not be available for conversion.

SECTION 13.7. <u>STATE DISABILITY/PAID FAMILY LEAVE BENEFITS</u>. Disability insurance benefits shall be extended to employees in accordance with the terms and conditions of the State Disability Insurance Program. Each employee shall contribute to the plan through payroll deductions. Accrued sick leave shall be used to supplement the disability benefit and must be exhausted prior to the use of other accrued leave balances. An employee may elect, in advance, to use accrued vacation, compensatory time off or holiday time to supplement the disability benefit. The total compensation from accrued leaves and disability benefits shall not exceed the employee's base salary at the time of disability. Disability benefits will be considered the primary benefit and leave accruals will be used and treated as secondary to supplement the employee's earnings. Paid Family Leave insurance will be administered as described above, except employees will be required to use other leave balances after Family Sick Leave (if appropriate) has been exhausted.

SECTION 13.8. <u>IMMEDIATE AVAILABILITY OF SICK LEAVE FOR NEW MANAGEMENT</u> <u>HIRES.</u> For any employee initially hired after May 26, 2019, to a management position (as defined in Section 15.2 of the Personnel Rules) and who was previously employed with a county or public entity, he or she may receive up to five (5) days of sick leave to be available for use immediately upon the date of hire. In order to receive these immediately available sick days, the following factors must be met to the satisfaction and approval of the County Executive Officer and the Director of Support Services:

- A. The time period from the date the employee left his or her prior employment with a county or public entity to the date the employee is employed as a regular full-time or regular part-time employee with Shasta County does not exceed 180 days.
- B. The employee's duties with Shasta County as a regular full-time or regular part-time employee are similar in nature to the employee's duties in the last position held with his orher prior employment with a county or other public entity.
- C. It will serve Shasta County's interest in being able to recruit and hire highly qualified candidates by making the aforementioned sick leave immediately available for use upon the date of hire.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 14. LEAVES OF ABSENCE

SECTION 14.1. LEAVES OF ABSENCE.

- A. A permanent employee may request a leave of absence of up to one year by submitting a written request for consideration to the appointing authority. Leaves of up to one year require approval of the appointing authority and the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may grant or deny the requested leave of absence for some or all of the requested period. Requests for leaves of absence shall not be unreasonably denied.
- B. With regard to an employee holding a position deemed by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, to be a position that must be filled for legitimate business reasons, the absent employee's position may be filled if the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, creates a collateral position and the absent employee is moved into that collateral position. During the period of leave granted to the absent employee, the employee moved to the collateral position shall retain the right to return to an existing position in the employee's department in the class he occupied at the time the leave was granted in a manner otherwise consistent with the procedures set forth in Chapter 17.
- C. Such an appointment is either a provisional appointment or a probationary appointment as described in Chapter 6, depending on whether a complete eligible list exists.
- D. The appointing authority may require the returning employee to submit to a medical examination, if the leave of absence was due to health reasons, in order to demonstrate the employee's fitness to return to duty.

SECTION 14.2. <u>INDUSTRIAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE</u>. The County shall continue making its portion of Health Plan payments, including dependent premiums, for employees who are on medical leave without pay due to on-the-job disability for a maximum of 26 pay periods. If applicable, this benefit shall run concurrently with the provisions of the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act, the California Pregnancy Disability Leave Act, and the California Family Rights Act. Workers' Compensation benefits shall not be considered as pay when applied to this section.

SECTION 14.3. RELEASE FROM DUTY.

A. When the best interest of the County requires the immediate removal of the employee from his position, any employee may be released from regularly assigned duties with pay and benefits by the appointing authority for a period not to exceed 80 working hours upon the approval of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. Upon showing of good cause by the appointing authority, such release from duty may be extended up to a maximum of twelve (12) months upon

approval by the Personnel Director or his/her designee.

B. When an employee who voluntarily participated in a smallpox vaccination or other bioterrorism response or preparedness program is unable to work for up to 24 hours or three work days as a result of the vaccination, the Public Health Director may recommend, subject to the approval of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, that the employee be released from duty with pay for that period of time. Additional release from duty, up to a maximum of twelve (12) months, may be approved by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, for other compelling reasons related to bioterrorism preparedness or response.

SECTION 14.4. <u>LEAVE AFFORDED UNDER THE FEDERAL FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE</u> ACT (FMLA) AND THE CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT (CFRA).

- A. Notices. Shasta County provides eligible employees with the leaves of absence identified in the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the California Family Rights Act (CFRA), including Servicemember Leave. The rights and responsibilities for employers and employees in connection with these leaves are described in the following documents located online at the Shasta County Support Services, Personnel internet (www.co.shasta.ca.us) and intranet (<u>http://intranet/shasta-county</u>) websites: Employee Rights and Responsibilities Under the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act; Employee Rights and Responsibilities Under the California Family Rights Act and/or Pregnancy Disability Leave Law.
- B. The Leave Policy. Under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), employees may take up to 12 weeks of unpaid Family and Medical Leave within a calendar year and, subject to any defense allowed under the law, be restored to the same or an equivalent position upon the employee's return from leave provided: (1) the employee has worked for the County for at least 12 months, and for at least 1,250 hours in the 12 months immediately preceding the commencement of the leave; and (2) the employee is employed at a worksite that has 50 or more employees within a 75-mile radius. Under the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) employees may take up to 12 weeks of unpaid Family and Medical Leave within a calendar year and, subject to any defense allowed under the law, be restored to the same or an equivalent position upon the employee's return from leave provided the employee has worked for the County for at least 12 months, and for at least 1,250 hours in the 1,250 hours in the 12 months immediately preceding the counter the law, be restored to the same or an equivalent position upon the employee's return from leave provided the employee has worked for the County for at least 12 months, and for at least 1,250 hours in the 12 months immediately preceding the commencement of the leave.
- C. Reasons for Leave.
 - 1. FMLA: An employee may take FMLA for any of the following reasons:

- a. The birth of a child and to care for or bond with such child;
- b. The placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care and to care for or bond with the newly-placed child;
- c. To care for a spouse, registered domestic partner, child, or parent ("covered relation") with a serious health condition;
- d. Because of the employee's own serious health condition that renders the employee unable to perform an essential function of his/her position;
- e. Leave because of a qualifying exigency related to the covered active duty or call to covered active duty of an employee's spouse, child, or parent in the United States Armed Forces; or
- f. Leave to care for an employee's spouse, parent, child or next of kin who is an ill or injured covered servicemember.

Leave because of reasons "a" or "b" must be completed within the 12month period beginning on the date of birth, adoption, or placement. In addition, spouses employed by the County who request leave because of reasons "a" or "b" only, may take a combined total of 12 weeks leave during any 12-month period.

- 2. CFRA: An employee may take CFRA for any of the following reasons:
 - a. The birth of a child and to care for or bond with such child;
 - b. The placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care and to care for or bond with the newly-placed child;
 - c. To care for a spouse, registered domestic partner, child (including an adult child over 18 years of age), or parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling ("covered relation") with a serious health condition;
 - d. Because of the employee's own serious health condition that renders the employee unable to perform an essential function of his/her position; or
 - e. Leave because of a qualifying exigency related to the covered active duty or call to covered active duty of an employee's spouse,

registered domestic partner, child, or parent in the United States Armed Forces.

Leave because of reasons "a" or "b" must be completed within the 12month period beginning on the date of birth, adoption, or placement. In addition, spouses employed by the County who request leave because of reasons "a" or "b" only, may each take 12 weeks of CFRA leave.

- 3. Except where prohibited by law, FMLA leave and CFRA leave will run concurrently.
 - a. Where CFRA does not run concurrently with FMLA, a qualified employee may be eligible to receive up to 12 weeks of CFRA leave and a separate 12 weeks of FMLA leave for a total of 24 weeks of protected leave in a 12 month period. For example, if a qualified employee takes 12 weeks of CFRA leave to care for a grandchild with a serious medical condition (something that is not covered under FMLA), then that employee would still have 12 weeks of FMLA available in the relevant 12-month period.
- D. Notice of Leave. If an employee's need for Family and Medical Leave is foreseeable, he/she must give the County at least 30 days' prior notice of the need for leave, preferably in writing. If this is not possible or the need for leave is unforeseeable, the employee must at least give notice as soon as practicable (generally either the same day or the next business day after learning of the need for leave). Failure to provide such notice may be grounds for delay of leave. Additionally, if the employee is planning a medical treatment, he/she must consult with the County first regarding the dates of such treatment.
- E. Medical Certification and Recertification. If an employee is requesting leave because of his/her own or a covered relation's serious health condition, the employee must provide appropriate medical certification from the relevant health care provider within 15 calendar days after the request for leave, if practicable. Medical certification forms are located online at the Shasta County Support Services. Personnel internet (www.co.shasta.ca.us) and intranet (http://intranet/shasta-county) websites. If the employee provides at least 30 days' notice before the commencement of the leave, he/she should provide the medical certification before leave begins. Failure to timely provide a complete and clear medical certification may be grounds for delay or denial of leave, or for non- designation of the leave as either FMLA or CFRA leave.

The County, at its expense, may require an examination by a second health care provider designated by the County, if it reasonably doubts the medical certification the employee initially provides for his or her own serious health condition. If the second health care provider's opinion conflicts with the original medical certification, the County, at its expense, may, but is not required to, retain a third, mutually agreeable, health care provider to conduct an examination and provide a final and binding opinion.

The County may require a new medical certification annually if a serious health condition continues beyond one calendar year. The County may also require recertification under certain circumstances, such as when a current certification expires, upon request for an extension of the leave, after the expiration of the anticipated minimum duration of the serious health condition, if circumstances have changed, at six (6) month intervals for certain conditions, or as the law may otherwise allow or require. Failure to timely provide (within 15 days if practicable) a complete and clear medical certification may be grounds for delay or denial of leave, or for non- designation of the leave as either FMLA or CFRA leave.

- F. Reporting While on Leave. If an employee takes leave because of his/her own serious health condition or to care for a covered family relation, the employee must contact the County as directed regarding the status of the condition and his/her intention to return to work. In addition, the employee must give reasonable notice (within two (2) business days if feasible) if the dates of leave change or are extended or initially were unknown.
- G. Pay Status. Family and Medical Leave is unpaid leave unless an employee has accrued leave balances (including compensatory time off, administrative leave, holiday credit, vacation, and sick leave). Where the employee has accrued leave balances, the following will apply:
 - Where the leave is for Reasons (a) or (b) in Sections 14.4.C.1 and C.
 the employee must use accrued vacation, administrative leave, holiday credit, and/or compensatory time off prior to unpaid leave.
 - 2. Where the leave is for Reason (d) in Sections 14.4.C.1 and C. 2, the employee must use accrued personal sick leave, vacation, administrative leave, holiday credit, and/or compensatory time off prior to unpaid leave.
 - 3. Where the leave is for Reason (c) in Sections 14.4.C.1 and C. 2, the employee must use accrued vacation, administrative leave, holiday credit, and/or compensatory time off prior to unpaid leave. The employee also has the option, but is not required, to use accrued family sick leave.
 - 4. However, if an employee is receiving wage replacement benefits including, but not limited to, State Disability Insurance (SDI), Paid Family Leave (PFL) insurance, or workers' compensation payments,

while taking FMLA/CFRA leave, the employee will not be required to coordinate accrued leave balances with these benefits unless he/she so chooses. An employee must notify Payroll immediately if/when he/she receives wage replacement benefits and if he/she wishes accrued leave to be coordinated with these benefits.

The substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave does not extend the maximum 12-week leave period. Further, in no case may the substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave, or coordinating leave balances with wage replacement benefits, result in the employee receiving more than 100% of his/her salary. If the employee is not eligible to substitute paid leave, he/she may still be eligible for unpaid Family and Medical Leave. An employee will not earn any additional paid time off during the unpaid portion of his/her leave.

- H. Medical and Other Benefits. The County will continue to make its normal premium contribution towards an employee's group health plan while he/she is on FMLA or CFRA leave for up to 12 weeks in a 12 month period.
 - The employee must pay his/her normal share of the premium, for himself/herself and his/her dependents, in order to maintain health benefits. If the employee is in a pay status, his/her portion of the premium will be deducted from his/her paycheck. If the employee is not in a pay status, his/her premium payment must reach the Payroll Division of the Auditor's Office by the first of the month.
 - 2. After twelve weeks, if the employee is not in a pay status but has been granted additional leave, he/she may continue to participate in the group health plan, without interruption, by paying the full premium amount by the first of the month. The employee is responsible to contact the Auditor's Office to determine if payment must be paid directly to the Auditor's Office and/or directly to the insurance provider. An employee has a minimum 30-day grace period in which to make premium payments.
 - 3. If payment is not made timely, the employee's group health insurance may be canceled, provided the employee is notified in writing at least 15 days before the date that his/her health coverage will lapse.
 - 4. If an employee does not return to work following his/her leave for a reason other than the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition which would entitle him/her to FMLA or CFRA leave, or other circumstances beyond the employee's control, he/she may be required to reimburse the County for its share of health insurance

premiums paid on the employee's behalf during his/her FMLA/CFRA leave.

- a. With respect to CFRA leave, an employee is deemed to have failed to return from leave if he/she works less than 30 days after returning from CFRA leave. An employee who retires during CFRA leave or during the first 30 days after returning is deemed to have returned from leave.
- I. Intermittent and Reduced Schedule Leave. Leave because of a serious health condition may be taken intermittently (in separate blocks of time due to a single health condition) or on a reduced-leave schedule (reducing the usual number of hours an employee works per workweek or workday) if there is a medical need for the leave, and if that need can be best accommodated through an intermittent or reduced leave schedule. Employees also may be eligible for certain intermittent leave or reduced schedule leave for birth or placement of a child if the County agrees to such leave.

For salaried employees the County may reduce an employee's salary based on the amount of time actually worked. An employee may use accrued leave balances to make up the difference.

In addition, if the employee needs leave intermittently or on a reduced schedule for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the County's operations.

If an employee needs intermittent leave or leave on a reduced leave schedule that is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment for the employee, a family member, or a covered servicemember, or if the County agrees to permit intermittent or reduced schedule leave for the birth or placement of a child, the County may temporarily transfer him/her to an available alternative position for which the employee is qualified that better accommodates his/her recurring leave and has equivalent pay and benefits.

- J. Returning from Leave.
 - Return to Work Certification. If an employee takes leave because of his/her own serious health condition (except if the employee is taking intermittent or reduced schedule leave), he/she cannot return to work until the employee provides the County with a return-to-work medical certification form from his/her health care provider that states he/she is fit to return to work (and listing any limitations or restrictions on his/her ability to perform the essential functions of his/her former position). No employee will be permitted to resume work until a return-to-work

medical certification is provided.

- 2. Return to Work Certification In Connection With Intermittent Leave or Reduced Schedule Leave. The County is entitled to a certification of fitness to return to duty for absences taken on an intermittent or reduced leave schedule once every 30 days if reasonable safety concerns exist regarding the employee's ability to perform his or her duties, based on the serious health condition for which the employee took such leave. The term "reasonable safety concerns" means a reasonable belief of significant risk of harm to the individual employee or others.
- 3. Reinstatement. Under most circumstances, an employee who returns from a Family and Medical Leave will be reinstated to his or her original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other employment terms and conditions. However, an employee has no greater right to reinstatement than if he/she had been continuously employed rather than on leave.
- K. Servicemember Leave.
 - FMLA: The Federal Family and Medical Leave Act provides eligible employees time off from work for a covered family member's service in the Armed Forces ("Servicemember FMLA"). This policy supplements the County's current FMLA policy and provides general notice of an employee's rights to Servicemember FMLA. Except as mentioned below, an employee's rights and obligations with respect to Servicemember FMLA are governed by the existing FMLA policy (as previously described) to the extent it is applicable.
 - a. Leave Entitlement. Servicemember FMLA provides eligible employees with unpaid leave for either of the following reasons:
 - i. Qualifying Exigency. A "qualifying exigency" arising out of the fact that a spouse, parent or child of the employee is on covered active duty or has been notified of an impending call or order to covered active duty.
 - (1) The term "covered active duty" means either of the following:
 - The spouse, parent or child is a member of the regular component of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of the

member with the Armed Forces to a foreign country;

- The spouse, parent, or child is a member of a reserve component of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of the member with the Armed Forces to a foreign country under a call or order to active duty.
- (2) An eligible employee may take FMLA leave for any of the following "qualifying exigencies:"
 - Short notice deployment (fewer than seven (7) days' notice),
 - Military events and related activities,
 - Childcare and school activities,
 - Financial and legal arrangements,
 - Counseling,
 - Rest and recuperation,
 - Post-deployment activities, and
 - Other additional activities to address events that arise out of the covered military member's covered active duty or call to covered active duty.
- ii. To Care for a Covered Servicemember. To care for an employee's spouse, parent, child or next of kin who is an ill or injured covered servicemember.
 - (1) The term "ill or injured covered servicemember" means either of the following:
 - A member of the Armed Forces (including a member of the National Guard or Reserves) who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability

retired list, for an injury or illness that was incurred in the line of duty while on active duty in the Armed Forces (or existed before the beginning of active duty and was aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces), and that may render the family member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member's office, grade, rank or rating.

- A veteran who:
 - a. Is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, for a qualifying (as determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor) injury or illness that was incurred in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (or existed before the beginning of active duty and was aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) and that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran; and
 - b. Was a member of the Armed Forces (including a member of the National Guard or Reserves) at any time during the period of five years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy
- 2. CFRA: Effective January 1, 2021, the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) provides eligible employees time off from work for a covered family member's service in the Armed Forces ("Servicemember CFRA").
 - a. Leave Entitlement: CFRA
 - i. Leave Entitlement. Servicemember CFRA provides eligible employees with unpaid leave because of a Qualifying Exigency related to the covered active duty or

call to covered active duty of an employee's spouse, domestic partner, child or parent in the Armed Forces of the United States.

- ii. An eligible employee may take CFRA leave for any of the following "qualifying exigencies:"
 - 1. Short notice deployment (fewer than seven (7) days' notice),
 - 2. Military events and related activities,
 - Childcare and school activities for a child under 18 of the covered servicemember (also applies to children over 18 for whom the servicemember stands in loco parentis)
 - 4. Financial and legal arrangements,
 - 5. Counseling,
 - 6. Accompanying the covered servicemember while that individual is on rest and recuperation leave during the deployment in a foreign country (not to exceed 15 calendar days beginning on the date of commencement of the rest and recuperation leave),
 - 7. Post-deployment activities,
 - 8. Addressing issues that arise from the death of the covered servicemember while on covered active duty status, including meeting and recovering the body of the spouse, domestic partner, child or parent, making funeral arrangements, and attending funeral services, and
 - 9. Any other activities to address other events that arise out of the covered active duty or call to covered active duty of the spouse, domestic partner, child, or parent in the Armed Forces of the United States, provided that the employer and employee agree that this leave shall qualify as an exigency, and agree to both the timing and

duration of this leave.

- 3. Duration of Servicemember Leave: FMLA
 - a. Qualifying Exigency When leave is due to a "qualifying exigency," an eligible employee may take up to 12 workweeks of leave during a calendar year. However, unless another covered reason applies, leave because of "short-notice" deployment may not exceed seven (7) calendar days, beginning on the date a covered military member is notified of an impending call or order to active duty in support of a contingency operation.
 - b. To Care for a Covered Servicemember. When leave is to care for an injured or ill servicemember, an eligible employee may take up to 26 workweeks of leave during a single 12-month period for that purpose. The 12-month period is measured forward from the first day of leave.

Any portion of the 26 workweeks of leave remaining at the end of the single 12- month period is forfeited.

An eligible employee may be entitled to take more than one period of 26 workweeks of leave if the leave is to care for different covered servicemembers or to care for the same servicemember with a subsequent serious injury or illness, except that no more than 26 workweeks of leave may be taken within any single 12-month period.

When an eligible employee takes leave to care for more than one covered servicemember or for a subsequent serious injury or illness of the same covered servicemember, and the "single 12-month periods" corresponding to the different leave entitlements overlap, the employee is limited to taking no more than 26 workweeks of leave in each "single 12-month period."

An eligible employee may take leave to care for an injured or ill servicemember and may also take other Family and Medicalqualifying leave during a single 12- month period. However, the leave for other Family and Medical qualifying reasons cannot exceed 12 work weeks and the total amount of all leaves may not exceed 26 workweeks in a single 12-month period.

If an employee and his/her spouse both work for the County, their combined leave can be limited to 26 weeks in a single 12-month

period if the leave is taken for (1) birth of the employee's son or daughter or to care for the child after birth; (2) for placement of a son or daughter with the employee for adoption or foster care, or to care for the child after placement; (3) to care for the employee's parent with a serious health condition; or (4) to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness.

Servicemember FMLA runs concurrent with other leave entitlements provided under federal, state and local law, including, but not limited to, CFRA leave and the leave described in Section 14.7 (Leave for Spouses and Registered Domestic Partners of Persons Serving in the Military).

If leave to care for a covered servicemember is taken concurrently with leave for another FMLA-qualifying reason, the leave will first be designated as servicemember leave. Leave that qualifies under the FMLA as both (1) leave to care for a covered servicemember and (2) leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition during the single 12-month period will not be designated and counted as both FMLA leave to care for a covered servicemember and FMLA leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition. It will be designated as FMLA leave to care for a covered servicemember.

- 4. Duration of Servicemember Leave: CFRA
 - a. An eligible employee may take up to 12 weeks of Servicemember CFRA in a 12 month period.
- 5. Notice of Need for Servicemember FMLA/CFRA. An employee must provide as much advance notice as practicable of his/her need for Servicemember FMLA/CFRA. If the leave is for the planned medical treatment of a covered servicemember, the employee must provide 30 days' advance notice, unless such notice is not practicable. If 30 days' notice is not practicable, the employee must provide notice as soon as is practicable.
- 6. Certification. If an employee is requesting leave for a "qualifying exigency," the County may require him/her to provide a copy of the covered servicemember's active duty orders or other documentation verifying the covered servicemember is on active duty or has been called to active duty to support a contingency operation, and the dates of active service. The County may also require the employee to provide a certification verifying eligibility for leave.

If an employee is requesting FMLA leave to care for a covered servicemember, the County may require him/her to provide a medical certification from an authorized health care provider verifying certain information regarding the covered servicemember and his or her injury or illness. For purposes of this certification, the term "health care provider" includes: (a) a United States Department of Defense health care provider; (b) a United States Department of Veterans Affairs health care provider; (c) a United States Department of Defense TRICARE network authorized private health care provider; or (d) a United States Department of Defense TRICARE network authorized private health care provider; or (d) a United States Department of Defense TRICARE network authorized private health care provider; or (d) a United States Department of Defense TRICARE network authorized private health care provider; or (d) a United States Department of Defense non-network TRICARE authorized health care provider.

- 7. Verification. If an employee requests leave because of a "qualifying exigency," the County may contact the Department of Defense to verify the covered servicemember is on or has been called to duty. Additionally, if the employee is taking leave to meet with a third party, the County may contact the third party to verify the meeting and its purpose.
- Pay Status. Servicemember FMLA/CFRA is unpaid leave unless an employee has accrued leave balances (including compensatory time off, administrative leave, holiday credit, vacation, and sick leave). Where the employee has accrued leave balances, the following will apply:
 - a. Where the leave is for a qualifying exigency, the employee must use accrued vacation, administrative leave, holiday credit, and/or compensatory time off prior to unpaid leave.
 - b. Where the leave is to care for a covered servicemember, the employee must use accrued vacation, administrative leave, holiday credit, and/or compensatory time off prior to unpaid leave. The employee also has the option, but is not required, to use accrued family sick leave.
 - c. However, if an employee is receiving wage replacement benefits including, but not limited to, State Disability Insurance (SDI), Paid Family Leave (PFL) insurance, or workers' compensation payments, while taking Servicemember FMLA/CFRA, the employee will not be required to coordinate accrued leave balances with these benefits unless he/she so chooses. An employee must notify Payroll immediately if/when he/she receives wage replacement benefits and if he/she wishes accrued leave to be

coordinated with these benefits.

The substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave does not extend the maximum leave period. Further, in no case may the substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave, or coordinating leave balances with wage replacement benefits, result in the employee receiving more than 100% of his/her salary. If the employee is not eligible to substitute paid leave, he/she may still be eligible for unpaid Servicemember FMLA/CFRA. An employee will not earn any additional paid time off during the unpaid portion of his/her leave.

- 9. Medical and Other Benefits. The County will continue to make its normal premium contribution towards an employee's group health plan while he/she is on Servicemember FMLA/CFRA.
 - a. The employee must pay his/her normal share of the premium, for himself/herself and his/her dependents, in order to maintain health benefits. If the employee is in a pay status, his/her portion of the premium will be deducted from his/her paycheck. If the employee is not in a pay status, his/her premium payment must reach the Payroll Division of the Auditor's Office by the first of the month.
 - b. After expiration of the FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement, if the employee is not in a pay status but has been granted additional leave, he/she may continue to participate in the group health plan, without interruption, by paying the full premium amount by the first of the month. The employee is responsible to contact the Auditor's Office to determine if payment must be paid directly to the Auditor's Office and/or directly to the insurance provider. An employee has a minimum 30-day grace period in which to make premium payments.
 - c. If payment is not made timely, the employee's group health insurance may be canceled, provided the employee is notified in writing at least 15 days before the date that his/her health coverage will lapse.
 - d. If an employee does not return to work following his/her Servicemember FMLA/CFRA leave for a reason other than the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition which would entitle him/her to FMLA/CFRA leave, or other circumstances beyond the employee's control, he/she may be required to reimburse the County for its share of health insurance premiums paid on the employee's behalf during his/her Servicemember FMLA/CFRA leave.

SECTION 14.5 PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE/REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION.

- A. Notice. Shasta County complies with the Pregnancy Disability Leave (PDL) and reasonable accommodation provisions of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA). The rights and responsibilities for employers and employees in connection with PDL are described in the following document located online at the Shasta County Support Services, Personnel internet (www.co.shasta.ca.us) and intranet (<u>http://intranet/shasta-county</u>) websites: Employee Rights and Responsibilities Under the California Family Rights Act, and/or Pregnancy Disability Leave Law.
- B. Pregnancy Disability Transfer & Reasonable Accommodations. The County will provide reasonable accommodations for a female employee for conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions, if she so requests, with the advice of her health care provider. This includes, but is not limited to, temporarily transferring a pregnant female employee to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less strenuous or hazardous duties for the duration of her pregnancy, if she so requests, with the advice of her physician, where that transfer can be reasonably accommodated.
- C. Pregnancy Disability Leave. If a female employee is disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, or needs to take time off for prenatal care, she is entitled to take an unpaid pregnancy disability leave of up to four months for the period of time she is actually disabled.
 - 1. A "four month leave" means the number of days the employee would normally work within four months. For a full time employee who works five eight- hour days per week, "four months" means 88 eight-hour days of leave entitlement. For employees who work more or less than five days a week, or who work on alternative work schedules, the number of working days which constitutes "four months" is calculated on a pro rata or proportional basis.
 - 2. Leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced work schedule when medically advisable, as determined by the employee's health care provider.
 - 3. A pregnancy disability leave contains a guarantee of reinstatement to the same or to a comparable position at the end of the leave, subject to any defense allowed under the law.
- D. Notice. If an employee's need for a pregnancy disability leave or transfer is foreseeable, she must give the County at least 30 days' prior notice of the need

for leave or transfer, preferably in writing. If this is not practicable or the need for leave is unforeseeable, the employee must at least give notice as soon as practicable (generally either the same day or the next business day after learning of the need for leave). Failure to provide such notice may be grounds for delay of leave. Additionally, the employee must consult with the county and make a reasonable effort to schedule any planned medical treatment or supervision so as to minimize disruption to County operations. Any such scheduling will be subject to the approval of the employee's health care provider.

- E. Medical Certification & Recertification. In connection with a request for a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the employee must provide appropriate medical certification from the relevant health care provider within 15 calendar days after the request for leave, if practicable. A medical certification form is located online at the Shasta County Support Services, Personnel internet (www.co.shasta.ca.us) and intranet (http://intranet/shasta-county) websites. If the employee provides at least 30 days' notice before the commencement of the leave, he/she should provide the medical certification before leave begins. Failure to timely provide a complete and clear medical certification may be grounds for delay or denial of the leave or transfer, or for non-designation of the leave as Pregnancy Disability Leave.
 - 1. The certification indicating disability necessitating a leave should contain:
 - a. The date on which the woman became disabled due to pregnancy.
 - b. The probable duration of the period or periods of disability, and
 - c. An explanatory statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to work at all or is unable to perform any one or more of the essential functions of her position without undue risk to herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons.
 - 2. The certification indicating the medical advisability of a transfer should contain:
 - a. The date on which the need to transfer became medically advisable,
 - b. The probable duration of the period or periods of the need to transfer, and
 - c. An explanatory statement that, due to the woman's pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable.

Upon the expiration of the time period which the health care provider originally estimated that the employee needed, the County may require the employee to obtain recertification if additional time is requested by the employee.

- F. Pay Status. Pregnancy Disability Leave is unpaid leave unless an employee has accrued leave balances (including compensatory time off, administrative leave, holiday credit, vacation, and sick leave). Where the employee has accrued leave balances, the following will apply:
 - 1. The employee must use accrued sick leave. The employee also has the option, but is not required, to use vacation and other accrued leave balances.
 - 2. However, if an employee is receiving wage replacement benefits including, but not limited to, State Disability Insurance (SDI), Paid Family Leave (PFL) insurance, or workers' compensation payments, while taking Pregnancy Disability Leave, the employee will not be required to coordinate accrued leave balances with these benefits unless he/she so chooses. An employee must notify Payroll immediately if/when she receives wage replacement benefits and if she wishes accrued leave to be coordinated with these benefits.

The substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave does not extend the maximum leave period. Further, in no case may the substitution of paid leave for unpaid leave, or coordinating leave balances with wage replacement benefits, result in the employee receiving more than 100% of his/her salary. If the employee is not eligible to substitute paid leave, she may still be eligible for unpaid Pregnancy Disability Leave. An employee will not earn any additional paid time off during the unpaid portion of his/her leave.

G. Relationship with CFRA Leave. If an employee is eligible for a Pregnancy Disability Leave and for a CFRA leave, the County will not run Pregnancy Disability Leave concurrently with a CFRA leave. An eligible employee may be able to take both a Pregnancy Disability Leave and a subsequent CFRA leave for the reason of the birth of her child.

However, if the employee is eligible for a Pregnancy Disability Leave and for an FMLA leave, the County will run the Pregnancy Disability Leave concurrently with the FMLA leave.

- H. Medical and Other Benefits. The County will maintain and pay for group health coverage for an employee on approved Pregnancy Disability Leave for up to four (4) months over the course of a 12-month period per pregnancy, beginning on the date that the leave begins and at the same level and under the same conditions as if the employee had not taken leave. To the maximum extent and period of time allowable by law, such Pregnancy Disability Leave shall be simultaneously designated as FMLA leave. The employee may receive up to an additional twelve weeks of this health insurance benefit during a subsequent CFRA leave for the reason of the birth of her child.
 - 1. The employee must pay her normal share of the premium, for herself and her dependents, in order to maintain health benefits.
 - a. If the employee is in a pay status, her portion of the premium will be deducted from her paycheck.
 - b. If the employee is not in a pay status, the employee is responsible to contact the Auditor Controller's office to determine if payment must be made directly to the Auditor's Office by the first of the month and/or directly to the insurance provider per the provider's timeliness requirements.
 - 2. After all eligible protected FMLA, Pregnancy Disability Leave, and CFRA leave has been exhausted, if the employee is not in a pay status, she may continue to participate in the group health plan, without interruption, by paying the full premium amount by the first of the month. The employee is responsible to contact the Auditor's Office to determine if payment must be paid directly to the Auditor's Office and/or directly to the insurance provider. An employee has a minimum 30-day grace period in which to make premium payments.
 - 3. If payment is not made timely, the employee's group health insurance may be canceled, provided the employee is notified in writing at least 15 days before the date that his/her health coverage will lapse.
 - 4. If an employee does not return to work following her leave for a reason other than the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition which would entitle her to FMLA, CFRA, or Pregnancy Disability Leave, or other circumstances beyond the employee's control, she may be required to reimburse the County for its share of health insurance premiums paid on the employee's behalf during her FMLA, CFRA, or Pregnancy Disability Leave.
 - a. With respect to CFRA leave, an employee is deemed to have failed to return from leave if he/she works less than 30 days after returning

from CFRA leave. An employee who retires during CFRA leave or during the first 30 days after returning is deemed to have returned from leave.

SECTION 14.6. <u>MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE POLICY</u>. This policy is a restatement of the provisions of the federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) and the California Military and Veterans Code as they relate to leaves of absence for military duty. This policy is intended to describe in lay terms the conditions and benefits of military leaves of absence as prescribed by federal and state law. There is no intention to create any rights or benefits in addition to those in the law except as described in Section 14.6.1. There is also no intention to deprive the County of any defenses as allowed by state or federal law. Where there may be a conflict or question of interpretation or change, the actual language of the law applies.

- A. Definition of "Military Duty Leave of Absence": Except as otherwise noted in this section, the term "military duty leave of absence" is defined as a leave of absence from County employment to engage in the performance of duty on a voluntary or involuntary basis in a uniformed service under competent authority and includes active duty, active duty for training, initial active duty for training, inactive duty training, full-time National Guard duty, a period for which a person is absent from employment for the purpose of an examination to determine the fitness of the person to perform any such duty, and a period for which a person is absent from employment for the purpose of performing funeral honors duty as authorized by federal law.
- B. Right of Reemployment from Military Duty Leave of Absence. An employee returning from a military duty leave of absence who is otherwise entitled to reemployment under state and federal law, shall be promptly reemployed as follows:
 - 1. Service of less than 91 days in the uniformed services:
 - a. Employee shall be reemployed in the position that he would have attained if he had been continuously employed, so long as he is qualified for the position or can become qualified after reasonable efforts by the County to qualify the person.
 - b. If the employee is not qualified for the position mentioned in subsection 14.6.B.1.a above, the employee shall be reemployed in the position of employment in which the employee was employed on the date of the commencement of the service in the uniformed services.

- 2. Service for more than 90 days in the uniformed services:
 - a. Employee shall be reemployed in the position that he would have attained if he had been continuously employed, or a position of like seniority, status and pay, so long as he is qualified for the position or can become qualified after reasonable efforts by the County to qualify the person.
 - b. If the employee is not qualified for the position(s) mentioned in subsection 14.6.B.2.a above, the employee shall be reemployed in the position of employment in which the employee was employed, or, if such position has ceased to exist, a position of like seniority, status, and pay, the duties of which the employee is qualified to perform.
- 3. Employees With Disabilities

In the case of an employee who has a disability incurred in, or aggravated during service in the uniformed services and who (after reasonable efforts by the County to accommodate the disability) is not qualified due to such disability to be employed in the position that he or should would have attained if he had remained continuously employed:

- a. The employee shall be reemployed in any other position which is equivalent in seniority, status, and pay, the duties of which the person is qualified to perform or would become qualified to perform with reasonable efforts by the County; or
- b. If not employed under subsection 14.6.B.3.a above, in a position which is the nearest approximation to a position referred to in subsection 14.6.B.3.a above, in terms of seniority, status, and pay consistent with the circumstances of each person's case.
- 4. Employees No Longer Qualified for Reemployment Positions

In the case of an employee who is not qualified for the employment positions stated under subsection 14.6.B.1 or subsection 14.6.B.2 above, and cannot become qualified with reasonable efforts by the County for such employment positions:

a. The employee shall be reemployed in any other position which is the nearest approximation to, first, the position of employment that he would have attained if he had remained continuously employed, and then, to the position that he held at the time he commenced service in the uniformed services, which such employee is qualified to perform, with full seniority.

5. Temporary or Seasonal Positions

As a general rule, the County is not required to reemploy an employee if the employment he left to serve in the uniformed services was for a brief, nonrecurrent period and there is no reasonable expectation that the employment would have continued indefinitely or for a significant period.

- C. Health Insurance Benefits
 - 1. An employee on a military duty leave of absence for less than 31 days shall have his health insurance benefits continue with the County paying its regular share and the employee paying his regular share for such coverage.
 - 2. An employee on a military duty leave of absence for 31 days or more may elect to continue coverage, including coverage for any dependents, for up to a 24 month period and may not be required to pay more than 102% of the full premium.
- D. Pension Benefits

An employee reemployed from a military duty leave of absence shall be credited with time spent on a military duty leave of absence for purposes of retirement (in accordance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System laws and policies.)

- E. Accrual of Leaves and Use of Accrued Leaves
 - 1. Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, an employee shall not accrue vacation, sick leave, or other paid leaves, during the period he is on a military duty leave of absence.
 - 2. An employee is permitted to use appropriate accrued leave balances while on a military duty leave of absence. However, the County does not require an employee to use accrued leave balances while on a military duty leave of absence.
- F. Salary or Compensation While On a Military Duty Leave of Absence

Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, the County shall not pay the

employee his regular salary or compensation while on a military duty leave of absence.

- G. Benefits and Obligations Upon Reemployment
 - 1. An employee who is reemployed from a military duty leave of absence is entitled to the seniority and other rights and benefits determined by seniority that the employee had on the date he commenced service in the uniformed services, plus the additional seniority and rights and benefits that such person would have attained if the person had remained continuously employed.
 - 2. An employee who is reemployed from a military duty leave of absence is entitled to such other rights and benefits not determined by seniority as are generally provided by the County to employees having similar seniority, status, and pay who are on a comparable leave of absence under a County Personnel Rule or applicable provision of an MOU in effect at the commencement of such service in the uniformed services or established while such person performs such service. An employee shall not be entitled to any benefits under this subsection to which the employee would not otherwise be entitled if the employee had remained continuously employed.
 - a. To the extent required by state and federal law, an employee shall be credited with time spent on a military duty leave of absence for purposes of promotion and merit salary increases.
 - b. To the extent required by state and federal law, the employee shall be placed on the step in the salary range that would have been attained had the employee not entered into military service.
 - 3. If an employee is serving a probationary period at the time he commences a military duty leave of absence, the employee's probationary period shall be extended by the length of the absence.
 - 4. USERRA provides that an employee who is reemployed from a military duty leave of absence shall not be discharged from such employment except for cause:
 - a. Within one year after the date of such reemployment, if the person's period of uniformed service before the reemployment was more than 180 days; or
 - b. Within 180 days after the date of such reemployment, if the person's

period of uniformed service before the reemployment was more than 30 days but less than 181 days.

- 5. Subsection 14.6.G.4 above serves only to provide notice of the USERRA provisions and does not confer any substantive rights on employees beyond what is provided for in USERRA. It does not create a "property interest" in employment and it does not confer any "due process" rights or appeal rights on employees.
- H. Paid Temporary Military Duty Leave of Absence This is defined as a leave of absence from County employment to engage in ordered military duty (exclusive of inactive duty training, such as drills or regularly scheduled weekend meetings) for a period not to exceed 180 calendar days, including travel time, for purposes of active military training, encampment, naval cruises, special exercises, or like activity as a member of the reserve corps or Armed Forces of the United States, or the National Guard, or the Naval Militia.
 - 1. The following shall apply to any Paid Temporary Military Duty Leave of Absence:
 - a. Eligibility-To be eligible for a Paid Temporary Military Duty leave of absence, employees must meet the following requirements:
 - i. Be a regular employee, occupying a regularly budgeted position and working a minimum of 20 hours per week (extra help employees are not eligible for such leave).
 - ii. Have been employed by the County for not less than one year immediately prior to the date upon which leave begins (time previously spent by the employee in recognized military service shall be used in computing the one year of employment).
 - b. Effect on Compensation/Benefits During an approved Paid Temporary Military Duty Leave of Absence, employees shall:
 - i. Be entitled to receive their regular salary and compensation as County employees for the first 30 calendar days of such leave in any one fiscal year.
 - ii. Accrue the same vacation, sick leave and holiday privileges they would have enjoyed had they not been absent. The right to accrue vacation, sick leave, and holiday privileges will also apply to a period of ordered

inactive duty training that does not exceed 180 calendar days.

- Inactive Duty Training Such as Weekend Drills or Regularly Scheduled Meetings

 Employees who are required to attend inactive duty training, such as monthly weekend drills and/or regularly scheduled meetings, that coincide with their regular working days, shall have the option of using any previously earned vacation or compensatory time, or being placed on voluntary time off without pay for such periods of time.
- J. Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave This is defined as a leave of absence for full-time military service as a result of being ordered into active duty as a member of the Reserves, National Guard or Naval Militia or as a result of induction, enlistment or otherwise being ordered or called into active duty as a member of the Armed Forces of the United States. The following shall apply to any Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave:
 - 1. Eligibility To be eligible for a Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave of Absence, an employee must:
 - a. Have been employed by the County for not less than one year immediately prior to the date upon which the leave begins (National Guard members called into service during a state of extreme emergency proclaimed by the Governor are not required to meet the one year service requirement).
 - 2. Effect on Compensation/Benefits During an approved Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave, employees shall:
 - a. Be entitled to receive their regular salary and compensation as County employees for the first 30 calendar days of such leave in any one fiscal year. However, National Guard members called into service during a state of extreme emergency proclaimed by the Governor may receive their regular salary and compensation for the first 30 calendar days of any declared emergency in the state regardless of the number of emergencies declared during a fiscal year.
 - b. Not be entitled to sick leave, vacation or other salary and compensation during the period of active military service. However, National Guard members called into service during a state of extreme emergency proclaimed by the Governor shall be entitled to accrue vacation and holiday privileges, but not sick leave, for the first 30 calendar days of such leave.

K. Maximum Salary or Compensation Allowance

Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, no more than the pay for a period of 30 calendar days shall be allowed under the provisions of subsections 14.6.H (Paid Temporary Military Duty Leave of Absence) and 14.6.J (Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave) for any one military leave of absence or during any one fiscal year. However, National Guard members called into service during a state of extreme emergency proclaimed by the Governor may receive their regular salary and compensation for the first 30 calendar days of any declared emergency in the state regardless of the number of emergencies declared during a fiscal year.

L. Military Duty Orders - It shall be the responsibility of the employee concerned to provide his immediate supervisor with a copy of the orders specifying a tour of military duty for the employee. These orders shall be presented in sufficient time, if possible, prior to the start of the military duty tour, to permit review for the eligibility, obtaining required approvals, and the processing of paperwork for a leave of absence. (See Jury Duty/Military Leave form online at the Shasta County Support Services, Personnel internet (<u>www.co.shasta.ca.us</u>) and intranet (<u>http://intranet/shasta-county</u>) websites.)

SECTION 14.6.1. <u>TEMPORARY AMENDMENT TO SECTION 14.6.</u>, <u>MILITARY LEAVE OF</u> <u>ABSENCE POLICY</u>.

On November 13, 2001, the Shasta County Board of Supervisors temporarily amended Section 14.6, MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE POLICY, of the Shasta County Personnel Rules as follows:

For regular County employees called to temporary or regular active military duty on or after September 11, 2001 in response to the acts of terrorism that were inflicted upon the United States that day or the war on global terrorism that have been proclaimed by the President of the United States, the requirement for one year of County service as referenced in 14.6 A 1 a (2) [Paid Temporary Military Duty Leave (See Now subsection 14.6.H.1.a.(2)] and 14.6 B 1 b [Paid Regular Active Military Duty Leave (See Now subsection 14.6.J.1.b] is waived, and said employees will receive supplemental compensation equivalent to the difference between their regular County and military pay for up to 365 calendar days for qualified military service in addition to the 30 days of regular salary referenced in 14.6 A 1 b (1) [See Now subsection 14.6.H.1.b.(1)] and 14.6 B 2 a [See Now subsection 14.6.J.2.a].

This amendment does not bestow any additional benefits to qualified employees other than supplemental compensation as described herein. This supplemental compensation is not intended to be paid leave time, but rather a special stipend attached to military pay. PERS does not accept this supplemental compensation to be considered for contributions toward the PERS retirement plan. Payroll will develop procedures for employees to follow so they will receive special compensation concurrently with military pay. This temporary amendment does not affect any other benefits provided for under the Military Leave of Absence Policy or any requirements for receiving such benefits.

This temporary amendment (Section 14.6.1) will sunset as of July 1, 2003 unless the Board of Supervisors acts to suspend it earlier than that date or to extend it beyond that date. Employees on military leave subject to this amendment on or before June 30, 2003 will continue to receive supplemental compensation until their qualified military service ceases or they exhaust their 365 calendar days of supplemental compensation, whichever comes first.

On May 13, 2003, the Shasta County Board of Supervisors extended the term of this temporary amendment to July 1, 2004. On June 22, 2004, the Shasta County Board of Supervisors extended the term of this temporary amendment to July 1, 2007. On December 18, 2007, the Shasta County Board of Supervisors approved the continuation of this benefit retroactive to July 1, 2007, and extended the term of this temporary amendment to July 1, 2010. On November 9, 2010, the Board reauthorized this temporary amendment for the period July 1, 2010 up to July 1, 2012.

SECTION 14.7. LEAVE FOR SPOUSES AND REGISTERED DOMESTIC PARTNERS OF PERSONS SERVING IN THE MILITARY.

This policy is designed to implement California law providing that spouses and registered domestic partners of members of the Armed Forces, National Guard, or Reserves, be allowed to take up to 10 days of unpaid leave when their respective spouses and registered domestic partners are on leave from deployment during a period of military conflict.

- A. Employees Qualified for Leave. To be qualified for leave, an employee must meet the following criteria:
 - 1. The employee must be the spouse or a registered domestic partner of a person who is any of the following:
 - a. A member of the Armed Forces of the United States who has been deployed during a period of military conflict in an area designated as a combat theater or combat zone by the President of the United States.
 - b. A member of the National Guard who has been deployed during a period of military conflict.
 - c. A member of the Reserves who has been deployed during a period of military conflict.
 - 2. The employee must perform service for the County for an average of

20 or more hours per week.

- 3. The employee must provide his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, with notice, within two business days of receiving official notice that his spouse or registered domestic partners will be on leave from deployment, of his intention to take the leave provided for in this section.
- 4. The employee must submit written documentation to his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, certifying that his spouse or registered domestic partner will be on leave from deployment during the time off provided for in this section is requested.
- B. Amount of Leave
 - 1. A qualified employee shall be allowed to take up to ten days of unpaid leave during a period when his spouse or registered domestic partner is on leave from deployment during a period of military conflict.
 - 2. This section shall not affect or prevent a qualified employee from taking a leave that he is otherwise entitled to take.
 - 3. The employee may use appropriate accrued leave balances concurrently with the leave provided for in this section. The County may also require the employee to use appropriate accrued leave balances concurrently with the leave provided for in this section.
- C. No Retaliation

A qualified employee shall not be subject to retaliation for requesting or taking the leave provided for in this section.

SECTION 14.8. <u>RETURN FROM LEAVE</u>. An employee shall notify the Department Head, or his/her designee, as soon as possible in advance of an anticipated early return from leave. No employee shall be permitted to return from leave due to illness or injury without proper medical clearance. Written notification shall be made to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, by the Department Head, or his/her designee, of return from leave or failure to return.

CHAPTER 15. MANAGEMENT BENEFITS

SECTION 15.1. The Board of Supervisors recognizes the greater responsibilities inherentin a management position.

SECTION 15.2. There are three levels of management:

- A. Executive Management: comprised of appointed Department Heads. (See Section 6.11 of the Personnel Rules.) For an appointed Department Head who serves a term of office fixed by law or contract, his or her appointment and subsequent reappointments to that office shall not be construed as a break in service from existing County service as a County appointed officer or employee.
- B. Senior Management: includes those positions, usually titled "assistant" or "deputy," which assist Executive Managers in the formulation and administration of agencyor departmental policies and procedures. In the absence of the Executive Manager, a Senior Manager may take charge of all or part of a department, with full program accountability normally associated with Executive Management.
- C. Management: includes those positions which are accountable to Executive Managers, whether or not organizationally through a Senior Manager, for the performanceof major agency or departmental activities. Managers are responsible for the execution ofCounty policies, attainment of specific County goals or objectives, administration of Countywide programs or services, and representation of the agency or department before official bodies.
- D. Managers: The term manager referenced throughout this chapter includesDepartment Heads, Assistant and/or Deputy Department Heads, and Managers. This chapter excludes Elected Department Heads and Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 15.3. SICK LEAVE RETENTION INCENTIVE.

- A. Upon retiring under the provisions of CalPERS, or upon death, unused sick leaveaccrued by a County management employee shall be paid in accordance with the table below. Upon resignation, the employee shall be entitled to either a) a maximum payment 50% of that provided for under retirement or death, or b) the maximum provided non-management employees by the appropriate formula, whichever is greater.
- B. These provisions are applicable for retirement or death whether or not a portion of the accrual was earned in a position other than that from which the employee is terminating.

Years of	Percentage of Accrual
Continuous Service	Subject to Compensation
5 through 9	20% of first 30 days, 10% of accrual balance
10 through 14	40% of first 60 days, 15% of accrual balance
15 through 19	60% of first 60 days, 30% of accrual balance
20 or more	80% of first 60 days, 45% of accrual balance

- C. As an option to the above payoff provisions, a retiring employee may request inwriting for pre-retirement time off, in lieu of equivalent direct compensation. Such time offis to be computed on the basis of dividing the total eligible payoff by the employee's dailyrate as of when the requested time would be used by the employee. It shall be taken as full-time off immediately prior to his/her stated retirement date to the extent of thecomputed number of days of eligibility. Employees shall not accrue any additional leave benefits while running out accrued sick leave prior to retiring. This option, once requested and granted, is binding on the County and the employee.
- D. An employee retiring may convert some or all of his/her accumulated but unusedsick leave to CalPERS service credit upon retirement. Any sick leave utilized for cash payment as provided in the above section shall not be available for such conversion.
- E. Employees who are depleting leave balances (including vacation, sick leave or administrative leave) immediately prior to retirement shall not be eligible for holiday pay or accrual, which might otherwise accrue during the leave period.

SECTION 15.4 <u>SICK LEAVE USAGE.</u> Unrepresented Management employees shall not be required to wait for the completion of three months of continuous services before utilizing accrued sick leave. If not already provided for in this chapter, all other sick leave provisions in Chapter 13 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules apply.

SECTION 15.5. <u>LIFE INSURANCE</u>. The County shall provide a group life and accidental death and dismemberment policy at County expense equal to each management employee's actual base salary. In no event shall such amount be less than \$50,000, nor more than \$80,000. Management employees shall be allowed to purchase additional insurance in an amount up to three times annual salary at the employee's own expense. The purchase of additional insurance shall be subject to maximum insured amount of \$300,000. The purchase of additional insurance shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the County's policy with the insurance carrier.

SECTION 15.6. <u>SALARIED STATUS</u>. Employees occupying positions designated by County resolution as management positions are salaried employees and are exempt from the overtime provisions of FLSA. For payroll purposes, such employees are compensated on a biweekly salary basis, and need not submit documented time reports. The provisions of such salaried status are as follows:

- A. For the performance of prescribed duties, a management employee receives a salary and is expected to work the necessary hours required to fulfill the responsibilities of the position.
- B. For absences of one full workday or more, a management employee will submit an exception document that deducts such time from the employee's applicable vacation, sick leave or administrative leave accrual.
- C. Subject to approval by the Department Head, or his/her designee, reasonable time off of amounts of less than one full workday is authorized for a management employee for personal use during normal work hours, without loss of salary. The County may utilize the exception to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) created by the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) to dock an employee's salary or leave balances for ongoing partial-day absences taken as authorized under the FMLA without affecting the exempt status of the employee (29U.S.C. 2612(c)).

D. In addition to Section 15.6 C above, when an employee is medically required towork part time on a temporary basis (of at least ten work days or more) or who otherwiserequests a part time schedule on a temporary basis (of at least ten work days or more), and the employee's request is approved by the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, the employee's partial day absences during that time will be deducted from theemployee's leave balances and the employee will receive his/her full salary. However, if the employee is medically required to work part time on a permanent basis, or the employee otherwise requests a part time schedule on a permanent basis, and the employee's request is approved by the employee's Department Head, or his/her department will reduce the employee's allocation to reflect the expected reduced work schedule (for example .5 FTE for half time work instead of 1.00 FTE) and the employee will receive a salary commensurate with the reduced permanent allocation.

SECTION 15.7. <u>ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE</u>. A management employee is entitled to 80 hours of administrative leave per calendar year, which shall be lost if not used by the end of the year. This time will be credited on the first payday on or after January 1 and is neither accumulative from year to year nor to be considered part of earned vacation accrual.

- A. A new eligible employee will receive a portion of the time, in advance, on a prorated basis consistent with his/her date of appointment.
- B. Pre-retirement Leave. Unit members who are depleting leave balances immediately prior to retirement shall not be eligible for additional administrative leave credit which might otherwise accrue during the leave period.
- C. A management employee separating from County employment will not receive payment for unused administrative leave.

SECTION 15.8 ANNUAL LEAVE BUYOUT.

A. Beginning in 2017 for the 2018 calendar year and going forward with eachsubsequent calendar year, a represented managementemployee may elect to receive payment for up to 80 hours of unused administrative leave so long as the following criteria are met.

Any employee utilizing this provision will be required to submit an irrevocable election through Employee Online by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the administrative leave is to be cashed out.

Where a management employee has properly elected an intent to cash out administrative leave in the applicable calendar year as noted above, the employeecan choose any pay period(s) during the year to receive the elected cash out. All requests for cash out must be made through Employee Online by the due date listed for each pay period. All requests must be submitted in five (5) whole hour increments. All requests for a cash out will be limited to the number of hours elected the preceding calendar year less any cash outs already approved, and theactual current year hours available at the time of the cash out.

If an employee who has elected cash out fails to request the elected cash out in the applicable year, the County will automatically cash out the designated amount up to the hours available to be paid on the final payday of that calendar year. All annual cash out payments shall be at the base hourly rate only with no other add- on compensation included.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cash out and have remaining cash out balances available.

If an employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which theadministrative leave would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waived their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

B. Beginning in 2023 for the 2024 calendar year and going forward with each subsequent calendar year, an unrepresented management employee may elect to receive payment for up to 120 hours of unused administrative leave, vacation leave, or a combination thereof so long as the following criteria are met.

Any employee utilizing this provision will be required to submit an irrevocable election through Employee Online by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the administrative leave is to be cashed out.

Where an employee has properly elected an intent to cash out administrative leave, vacation, or a combination thereof in the applicable calendar year as noted above, the employee can choose any pay period(s) during the year to receive the elected cash out. All requests for cash out must be made through Employee Online by the due date listed for each pay period. All requests must be submitted in five (5) whole hour increments. All requests for a cash out will be limited to the number of hours elected the preceding calendar year less any cash outs already approved, and the actual current year hours available at the time of the cash out.

If an employee who has elected cash out fails to request the elected cash out in the applicable year, the County will automatically cash out the designated amount up to the hours available to be paid on the final payday of that calendar year in the following order:

- 1. Administrative Leave
- 2. Vacation

All annual cash out payments shall be at the base hourly rate only with no other add-on compensation included.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cash out and have remaining cash out balances available.

If an employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the leave would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waived their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

SECTION 15.9. <u>MANAGEMENT EDUCATIONAL FUND</u>. An annual, non-accumulative amount of \$5,000 will be allocated to cover expenses relating to such generic management training components as seminars and workshops. This fund will be administered by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and will be used for Countywide training purposes.

SECTION 15.10. <u>EXPENSE ALLOWANCE</u>. Each management employee shall receive an allowance for legitimate business expenses based upon the following:

- A. Each appointed Department Head shall receive an additional \$50.00 biweeklystipend for reimbursement of business expenses within the County which are not otherwise claimable under current County policy.
- B. Each senior manager and manager shall receive a lump sum allowance onor near each January 1, of \$200.00 and \$100.00 respectively, for unreimbursed expenses incurred in the conduct or promotion of county business.

SECTION 15.11. <u>VACATION ACCRUAL</u>. The maximum vacation accumulation which may be accrued by a management employee shall be 78 times the employee's biweekly accrual rate, as determined by the schedule.

SECTION 15.12. <u>VACATION LEAVE USAGE.</u> Unrepresented Management employees with a minimum of three months of County service shall become eligible for vacation up to the maximum time accrued as of the date such vacation is taken. If not already provided for in this chapter, all other vacation leave provisions in Chapter 12 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules apply.

SECTION 15.13. <u>HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS</u>.

- A. Managers: Eligibility for medical and dental insurance shall begin the first of the month following employment unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s). The County maximum health contribution to the medical, dental, and vision plans shall be the same as for employees represented by the Mid- Management Bargaining Unit (MMBU), including the spouse accommodation benefit provided to other bargaining units (if an employee and his/her spouse or registered domestic partner both work for the County and both are eligible for County provided health insurance and contributions), unless set otherwise by resolution of the Board or otherwise stated in these Personnel Rules. County contributions towards medical insurance shall commence upon employment. County contributions towards dental shall commence the first of the month following six months of employees recalled from layoff who were receiving the County contribution at the time of layoff.
 - 1. Beginning in December 2020 for premiums applied to January 2021 coverage, the County will pay the full premium cost for the Employee Only medical premium cost category of PERSChoice (or equivalent plan). For the Employee plus One and Employee plus Family plans, the County will calculate its contributions using the following two-step contribution formula:
 - a. Step One: The County will calculate its Step One health contributions based upon sixty-five percent (65%) of the Employee plus One and Employee plus Family medical premium cost categories of the PERS Choice plan using the current year rates. The Step One employee contributions are calculated based on thirty-five percent (35%) of the Employee plus One and Employee plus Family medical premium cost categories of the PERS Choice plan using the current using the current year rates.

b. Step Two: The County will subtract the following 2019 PERS Choice baseline premium amounts from the corresponding current year premium amounts for the Employee plus One and Employee plus Family cost categories of the PERS Choice plan.

PERS Choice Plan	2019 Monthly Premium Amount	
Employee + 1	\$1,733.90	
Employee + Family	\$2,254.07	

The employee will then take 50% of the difference in costs, whether an increase or decrease from the 2019 PERS Choice baseline premium amounts, and apply that towards the Step One employee contribution amount. If the cost increases, that amount will be added to the employeeportion of the premium determined in Step One as applied to all Employee plus one and Employee plus family plans. If the cost decreases, that amount will be subtracted from the employee portion of the contribution as determined in Step One as applied to all Employee plus one and Employee plus family plans up to a \$0 contribution.

The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution.

Those percentages shall be converted to monthly maximums which dollar amounts shall not be exceeded without specifically being changedby resolution of the Board of Supervisors. The employee will pay that portion of the premium not contributed by the County.

- 2. Beginning in December 2021 for premiums applied to January 2022, the County will calculate its contributions based upon one hundred percent (100%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost and ninety percent (90%) of the Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family medical premium cost categories of the PERS Gold plan. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution. The employee is responsible for any medical premium costs exceeding the County contribution amount.
- 3. Beginning in December 2022 for premiums applied to January 2023 coverage, and in each subsequent year:
 - a. <u>Employee Only plans for employees hired or promoted into management</u> <u>position before January 1, 2013:</u> The County will pay the full premium cost for the Employee Only premium based upon the PERS Gold plan as applied to all plans. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution.
 - b. <u>Employee Only plan for employees hired or promoted into management</u> <u>positions on or after January 1, 2013, and for all Employee Plus One and</u> <u>Employee Plus Family plans</u>: The County will calculate the difference in costs between the previous year's total medical premium costs and the current year's total medical premium costs for Employee Only, Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family categories based upon the PERS Gold plan. The County and the employee will split the difference in costs

(50%/50%), whether an increase or decrease, and apply that toward their respective employer contribution and employee contribution amounts for all health plans from the previous year to determine the current year's contribution, up to a \$0 contribution. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution.

- 4. The County shall continue to contribute an amount equal to at least four percent (4%) of gross salaries to reduce either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded liability. In addition, beginning in 2023, the Auditor-Controller agrees to apply a cumulative amount equal to the 50% increase of the PERS Gold premium amount from the year before, to either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded liability.
- B. Retired Managers.
 - 1. The County shall provide the same County contribution towards each retired manager's premium for the CalPERS medical plan as made for currentlyemployed managers in accordance with CalPERS enrollment and premium contribution regulations.
 - 2. For persons hired or promoted to management positions on or after January 1, 2013, in accordance with the California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), and unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s) or contractual obligation, the County shall provide payment towardeach retired manager's medical/dental premiums, provided such manager retires from active Shasta County service, and remains uninterrupted in the medical plan provided by the County. Such payment shall equal ten (10) percent of such premium and only apply to retirees having a minimum of ten (10) years of County service. Such County service need not be continuous.
 - 3. For persons hired or promoted to management positions prior to January 1, 2013, and unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s), the County shall provide payment toward each retired manager's medical/dental benefit premiums, provided such manager retires from active Shasta County service and remains uninterrupted in the Shasta County medical/dental plan. The percentage amount of County payment shall be based on the following formula.

10 years of County service	25% County payment of premium
15 years of County service	50% County payment of premium
20 years of County service	100% County payment of premium

- 4. County service for the purposes of sections 15.10.B.2 and 15.10.B. above is defined as total time spent in the employment of the County, and neednot be continuous. Such time will be totaled as qualifying for this benefit, and will include non-management service time, if any.
- C. For covered employees hired prior to January 1, 2017 who retire from active County service and have not elected to be covered under Section 15.10.F; the retiree medical premium will be paid as follows:

- 1. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS;
- 2. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment; and County will reimburse the retiree the County's contribution amount based upon the PERS Gold(or equivalent plan) rates for the coverage in which the employee is enrolled (i.e., EmployeeOnly, Employee plus One, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS.
- D. For covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2017 who retire from activeCounty service; the retiree medical premium will be paid as follows:
 - 1. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS; and
 - 2. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment.
- E. If the legal requirements of the Affordable Care Act have an impact on County rights and obligations regarding health benefits for County management employees, the County retains the right to make any necessary modifications under this section.
- F. <u>401(A) PLAN.</u> Any covered employee hired on or after January 1, 2017, shall notbe eligible to earn or receive the County contribution to retiree medical benefit asdescribed in Section 15.10.B, but shall receive only the County's minimum contribution amounts required under Government Code section 22892 if they elect to continue CalPERS healthcare after retirement.

Any covered employee who was hired prior to January 1, 2017, may voluntarily elect to participate in the Section 401(a) Plan in lieu of the benefit provided in Section 15.10.B. If the employee voluntarily elects to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 15.10.B, the County will contribute the minimum contribution required under Government Code section 22892. The employee will receive contributions into the 401(a) Plan as set forth below. The decision to elect to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 15.10.B shall be irrevocable.

The 401(a) Plan will be administered as follows:

1. The County shall continue to provide an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) Plan consistent with this section. The County shall continue tocontribute into the 401(a) Plan an amount on behalf of each covered employeeelecting to participate under this section equal to the amount contributed by that employee from his or her own pre-tax salary into one of the County's Section 457 deferred compensation plans, but not to exceed 3% of the employee's pre-tax salary. Accordingly, if an employee contributed a total of 1-3% of his or her pre-tax salary to a 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would fully match the employee's 457 contribution; if an employee contributed more than 3% of his or her pretax salary to a County 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would only be equal to 3% (and not more) of the employee's pretax salary and would not fully match the employee's 457 contribution. The employee may direct the investment of said contributions in accordance with the options or limitations provided by the 401(a) Plan. Each such employee shall vest (that is, earn the right to withdraw) the County's contributions into the401(a) Plan on their behalf based on years of County service, as set forth below, subject to any of the plan's requirements.

2. The 401(a) Plan implementing this section shall provide the followingschedule of vesting requirements for any participating employee to earn and be eligible to withdraw or otherwise receive a portion (or in some cases all) ofhis or her total account value at the time of termination:

Years of COUNTY Service	Portion of Account Value <u>Vested</u>
Less than 1 year	0%
1 year plus 1 day to 2 years	10%
2 years plus 1 day to 3 years	20%
3 years plus 1 day to 4 years	30%
4 years plus 1 day to 5 years	40%
5 years plus 1 day to 6 years	50%
6 years plus 1 day to 7 years	60%
7 years plus 1 day to 8 years	70%
8 years plus 1 day to 9 years	80%
9 years plus 1 day but less than 10 years	90%
10 years	100%

3. In addition to and notwithstanding the foregoing, employee's options for withdrawing, "rolling over," and otherwise using account money (and the tax consequences of such withdrawals and use), shall be subject to any legal requirements or limitations of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) and any other applicable laws with which the County and the Plan must comply.

SECTION 15.14. <u>VISION CARE</u>. The County shall provide management employees with County-approved vision insurance. Employees may enroll their dependents in the vision plan provided the employee pays any additional cost associated with such enrollment.

SECTION 15.15. <u>BAR DUES</u>. The County shall provide payment of the total dues required in order to continue membership in the California Bar Association, providing bar membership is a requirement of the position.

SECTION 15.16. <u>LONG-TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM</u>. The County provides a long-term disability program for management employees, which will include a 120 day elimination period, a 66.67% of earnings benefit, and a monthly maximum of \$2,500.00.

SECTION 15.17. <u>IRC SECTION 125 BENEFIT PLAN</u>. Employees shall sign appropriate authorization forms to establish or decline participation in payroll deductions of pre-tax earnings for payment by the County of employees medical and dental insurance premiums and flexible spending accounts (including child and dependent care expenses and unreimbursed medical expenses) in accordance with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code and Board action of November 3, 1998 and subsequent updates. Beginning January 1, 2017, with respect to any full-time covered employee and any part time covered employee hired prior to January 1, 2017 who

is enrolled in CalPERS medical insurance, the County will continue to contribute into the 125 Benefit Plan the percentage amount based upon the PERS Gold (or equivalent plan) rates forthe coverage in which the employee is enrolled (i.e., Employee Only, Employee plus One, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS on behalf of that employee and minus the requiredamount contributed by the employee.

A. In no event will the County's contribution under Government Code section 22892 and the resulting premium payment of this chapter exceed the actual cost of the benefit. The covered employee must authorize a payroll deduction for theirrequired contribution. If no authorization is made, the County will not make a contribution to the 125 Benefit Plan.

SECTION 15.18. <u>RETIREMENT.</u> CalPERS retirement will continue as adopted in the County's contract with CalPERS.

- A. Beginning with the pay period that includes January 1, 2012, appointed Department Heads and Unrepresented Managers are responsible to pay 100% of the employees'share of retirement.
- B. Effective the pay period following such time that the CalPERS retirement contract canbe amended pursuant to Government Code section 20516(a), Unrepresented Managers will pay an additional 1% of reportable compensation towards the CalPERS Employer Contribution to the PERS pension, in addition to the employee's contributionshare, through payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis.
- C. Effective for new employees after May 8, 2011, the County will provide the retirement formula calculation of the last 3 consecutive years for Miscellaneous 2% @ 60 retirement. Those hired prior to May 8, 2011, are covered under the 2% @ 55 formula, based on highest 12 months.

SECTION 15.19. <u>DEFERRED COMPENSATION</u>. The County will match appointed Department Heads' contributions to a qualified deferred compensation plan on a dollar-for-dollar basis up to 50% of the normal base contribution for the calendar year.

SECTION 15.20. MANAGEMENT PAY DIFFERENTIAL.

- A. <u>Principles of a Management Pay Differential</u>. The salary of an employee in a management classification should be set at a range that is at least 5% more (F step toF step comparison including subordinates' pay stipends, if appropriate) than the subordinate classifications the manager is required to supervise. This concept includes as a principle that the manager be responsible for performance evaluations, direction of the work performed, and input into the hiring and discipline process. In order to qualify for pay differential, a person directing and evaluating the work of a subordinate would have to be of the same profession. That means for example that an accountant who supervises a licensed social worker would not qualify because, even if the manager did performance evaluations and assigned work, he/she could notjudge the professional aspects of the subordinate's work.
- B. <u>Process for Management Pay Differential</u>. A Department Head, or his/her designee, may apply in writing, through the Department Head, or his/her designee, to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, for consideration of a pay class stipend if a subordinate classification is at a salary range that is not at least 5% less than the manager's classification. Such stipends will be granted in one-half percent (.5%) increments. When

applied, the effect of this stipend will be that the manager's salary range will be 5% above the subordinate's salary range (based on F step comparisonsincluding subordinates pay stipends, if appropriate), without regard to the salary step of the current subordinate. The pay stipend will be processed as a salary earnings type on a Personnel Action Form. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, will review the stipend periodically for continued appropriateness or when classifications are changed due to reclass, MOU salary and benefit changes, or other such changes.

C. The decision of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, to grant or not grant a pay stipend is final unless the Department Head, or his/her designee, appealsto the CEO. The findings of the CEO are final. This process is not subject to the grievance process.

SECTION 15.21. <u>EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)</u>. Unrepresented managers shall be entitled to utilize the services contained in the EAP plan offered and paid for by the County.

SECTION 15.22. LONGEVITY STIPENDS.

A. Effective January 15, 2023, unrepresented managers with at least ten years of continuous County service are eligible to an additional three percent (3%) of base pay provided the overall performance rating on their most recent performance evaluation is meets or exceeds standards. To remain eligible for this stipend, the employee must maintain an overall rating of meets or exceeds standards on their annual employee evaluation.

1. The three percent (3%) longevity stipend in this section is non-cumulative. Employees who qualify for the five percent (5%) longevity stipend in section 15.22.B are not eligible for the three percent (3%) longevity stipend in this section.

- 2. Elected Department Heads and Members of the Boards of Supervisors are not eligible for any longevity stipend provided in this section.
- B. Effective October 27, 2007, the County will implement a 5% (five percent) longevity stipend for non-executive unrepresented managers who have at least 20 years of cumulative service with Shasta County, of which at least two years shall serve in a management position. Effective, January 4, 2009, the County will implement a 5% longevity stipend for executive unrepresented managers (Department Heads) who have at least 20 years of cumulative service with Shasta County, of which at least two years shall be service ina management position. Those executive managers hired before January 4, 2009, will be eligible consider up to a maximum of 5 years of service with another county or public entity (based on how many years were previously served) towards the 20 year requirement. Beginning at 12:00 noon on January 7, 2019, elected Department Heads shall not be eligible for any longevity stipend provided by this section. Members of the Board of Supervisors have not been and continue to notbe eligible for any longevity stipend provided by this section.

SECTION 15.23 <u>FLOATING HOLIDAY HOURS.</u> With Department Head or his/her designee approval, unrepresented management employees may elect to use up to eight hours of non-worked holiday pay per calendar year. Floating holiday hours must be used within the calendar year provided, do not carry over into the next calendar year, and cannot be cashed out.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes

CHAPTER 16. CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES

SECTION 16.1. <u>DEFINITION</u>. A non-management employee who, in the course of his/her duties, is regularly privy to management planning or decision-making regarding the County's administration of employer-employee relations as determined by the Board of Supervisors.

SECTION 16.2. <u>MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.</u> Other benefits and working conditions for Confidential employees not specified in this section shall be construed to be equivalent to benefits available to employees in the general bargaining unit as defined in the general bargaining unit MOU unless otherwise set by Board resolution.

SECTION 16.3. <u>CONFIDENTIAL DIFFERENTIAL</u>. The salary range for Confidential classifications will be at least 5% in base salary above the salary range for the same non-confidential classification unless otherwise set by Board resolution.

SECTION 16.4. <u>MEDICAL PLAN</u>. Employees and their eligible dependents may select medical insurance coverage from the available options under any authorized County medical plan. Eligibility, participation, and enrollment shall be in accordance with the requirements set forth by the plans unless otherwise set by Board resolution.

- A. For covered employees hired prior to January 1, 2017 who retire from active County service and have not elected to be covered under Section 16.4.D; the retiree medical premium will be paid as follows:
 - 1. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS;
 - 2. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment; and
 - 3. The County will reimburse the retiree the County's contribution amount based upon the PERS Gold (or equivalent plan) rates for the coverage in whichthe employee is enrolled (i.e., Employee Only, Employee plus One, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS.
- B. For covered employees hired on or after January 1, 2017 who retire from activeCounty service; the retiree medical premium will be paid as follows:
 - 1. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS; and
 - 2. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment.
- C. If the legal requirements of the Affordable Care Act have an impact on County rights and obligations regarding health benefits for County management employees, the County retains the right to make any necessary modifications under this section.

D. <u>401(A) PLAN.</u> Any covered employee hired on or after January 1, 2017, shall not be eligible to earn or receive the County contribution to retiree medical benefit as described in Section 16.4.A, but shall receive only the County's minimum contribution amounts required under Government Code section 22892 if they elect to continue CalPERS healthcare after retirement.

Any covered employee who was hired prior to January 1, 2017, may voluntarily elect to participate in the Section 401(a) Plan in lieu of the benefit provided in Section 16.4.A. If the employee voluntarily elects to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 16.4.A, the County will contribute the minimum contribution required under Government Code section 22892. The employee will receive contributions into the 401(a) Plan as set forth below. The decision to elect to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 16.4.A shall be irrevocable.

The 401(a) Plan will be administered as follows:

The County shall continue to provide an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) Plan consistent with this section. The County shall continue to contribute into the 401(a) Plan an amount on behalf of each covered employee electing to participate under this section equal to the amount contributed by that employee from his or her own pre-tax salary into one of the County's Section 457 deferred compensation plans, but not to exceed 3% of the employee's pre-tax salary. Accordingly, if an employee contributed a total of 1-3% of his or her pre-tax salary to a 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would fully match the employee's 457 contribution; if an employee contributed more than 3% of his or her pretax salary to a County 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would only be equal to 3% (and not more) of the employee is pretax salary and would not fully match the employee's 457 contribution. The employee may direct the investment of said contributions in accordance with the options or limitations provided by the 401(a) Plan. Each such employee shall vest (that is, earn the right to withdraw) the County's contributions into the 401(a) Plan on their behalf based on years of County service, as set forth below, subject to any of the plan's requirements

1. The 401(a) Plan implementing this section shall provide the following schedule of vesting requirements for any participating employee to earn and be eligible to withdraw or otherwise receive a portion (or in some cases all) of his or her total account value at the time of termination:

<u>Years of COUNTY Service</u>	Portion of Account Value Vested
Less than 1 year	0%
1 year plus 1 day to 2 years	10%
2 years plus 1 day to 3 years	20%
3 years plus 1 day to 4 years	30%
4 years plus 1 day to 5 years	40%
5 years plus 1 day to 6 years	50%
6 years plus 1 day to 7 years	60%
7 years plus 1 day to 8 years	70%
8 years plus 1 day to 9 years	80%
9 years plus 1 day but less than 10 years	90%
10 years	100%

2. In addition to and notwithstanding the foregoing, employee's options for withdrawing, "rolling over," and otherwise using account money (and the tax consequences of such withdrawals and use), shall be subject to any legal requirements or limitations of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) and any other applicable laws with which the County and the Plan must comply.

SECTION 16.5. <u>COUNTY CONTRIBUTION TO MEDICAL PLANS</u>. The County maximum contributions to the medical plan shall be the same as for employees represented by the General Bargaining Unit unless otherwise set by Board resolution or otherwise stated in thesePersonnel Rules.

- A. For the 2021 calendar year, the County will calculate its health contributions based on eighty five percent (85%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost category and the employeecontributions shall be calculated based on fifteen percent (15%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost category of PERS Choice (or equivalent plan). For the Employee plus One and Employee plus Family plans, the County will calculate its contributions using the following two-step contribution formula:
 - Step One: The County will calculate its initial health contributions based uponsixtyfive percent (65%) of the Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Familymedical premium cost categories of the PERS Choice plan using the current year rates. The Step One employee contributions are calculated based on thirty-five percent (35%) of the Employee plus One and Employee plus Familymedical premium cost categories of the PERS Choice plan using the current year rates.
 - 2. Step Two: The County will subtract the following 2019 PERS Choice baseline premium amounts from the corresponding current year premium amounts for the Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family cost categories of the PERS Choice Plan.

PERS Choice Plan	2019 Monthly Premium
	<u>Amount</u>
Employee + 1	\$1,733.90
Employee + Family	\$2,254.07

The employee will then take 50% of the difference in costs, whether an increase or decrease from the 2019 PERS Choice baseline premium amounts, and apply that towards the Step One employee contribution amount. If the costincreases, that amount will be added to the employee portion of the premium determined in Step One as applied to all health plans. If the cost decreases, that amount will be subtracted from the employee portion of the contribution asdetermined in Step One as applied to all health plans up to a \$0 contribution.

The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution. Those percentages shall be converted to monthly maximums which dollar amounts shall not be exceeded without specifically being changed by resolution of the Board of Supervisors. The employee will pay that portion of the premium not contributed by the County.

- B. For the 2022 calendar year: Beginning in December 2021 for premiums applied to January 2022, the County will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost and ninety percent (90%) of the Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family medical premium cost categories of the PERS Gold plan. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution. The employee is responsible for any medical premium costs exceeding the County contribution amount.
- C. Beginning in December 2022 for premiums applied to January 2023 and going forward, the County will calculate the difference in costs between the previous year's total medical premium costs and the current year's total medical premium costs for Employee Only, Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family categories of PERS Gold. The County and the employee will split the difference in costs (50%/50%), whether an increase or decrease, and apply that toward their respective employer contribution and employee contribution amounts for all health plans from the previous year to determine the current year's contribution, up to a \$0 contribution. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution.

The County shall continue to contribute an amount equal to at least four percent (4%) of gross salaries to reduce either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded liability. In addition, beginning in 2023, the Auditor-Controller agrees to apply a cumulative amount equal to the 50% increase of PERS Gold premium amount from the year before, to either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded Section 2015.

SECTION 16.6. <u>CalPERS RETIREE ADMINISTRATIVE FEE</u>. The County and employee contributions to the PERS retiree administrative fee maximum shall be the same as for employees represented by the General Bargaining Unit unless otherwise set by Board resolution.

SECTION 16.7. <u>COUNTY CONTRIBUTION TO DENTAL PLAN</u>. Premium and County maximum contributions to the dental plan shall be the same as for employees represented by the General Bargaining Unit unless otherwise set by Board resolution.

SECTION 16.8. <u>BENEFIT AND CONTRIBUTION WAITING PERIOD</u>. Eligibility for medical and dental insurance shall be the same as those for employees represented by the General Bargaining Unit unless otherwise set by Board Resolution.

SECTION 16.9. <u>VISION PLAN</u>. The County shall provide a vision plan for all confidential employees using the plan approved for the County as the minimum standard. The County shall pay for the premiums for all confidential employees. Confidential employees may enroll their eligible dependents in the vision care program and pay the premiums through payroll deductions unless otherwise set by Board Resolution.

SECTION 16.10. <u>LIFE INSURANCE AND ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT</u> <u>POLICY</u>. A group life and accidental death and dismemberment policy shallbe provided at County expense to confidential employees equal to each such employee's actualannual base salary. In no event shall such amount be less than \$50,000 or more than \$70,000.

A. Effective the pay period following such time that the group life insurance policy can be amended, confidential employees may purchase additional insurance in an amount up to three times their annual salary, subject to a maximum insured amount of \$300,000, at the

employee's own expense. Purchase of additional life insurance shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the County's policy with the insurance carrier.

SECTION 16.11. <u>STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE/PAID FAMILY LEAVE</u>. Disability insurance benefits shall be extended to employees in accordance with the terms and conditions of the State Disability Insurance Program. Each employee shall contribute to the plan through payroll deductions. Accrued sick leave shall be used to supplement the disability benefit and must be exhausted prior to the use of other accrued leave balances. An employee may elect, in advance, to use accrued vacation, compensatory time off or holiday time to supplement the disability benefit. The total compensation from accrued leaves and disability benefits shall not exceed the employee's base salary at the time of disability. Disability benefits will be considered the primary benefit and used leave accruals will be treated as secondary to supplement the employee's earnings.

Paid Family Leave insurance will be administered as described above, except employees will be required to use other leave balances after Family Sick Leave (if appropriate) has been exhausted.

SECTION 16.12. <u>IRS SECTION 125 BENEFIT PLAN</u>. Employees shall sign appropriate authorization forms to establish or decline participation in payroll deductions of pre-tax earnings for payment by the County of employee's medical and dental insurance premiums and flexible spending accounts (including child and dependent care expenses and unreimbursed medical expenses) in accordance with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code and Board action of November 3, 1998 and subsequent changes.

Beginning January 1, 2017, with respect to any full-time covered employee and any part time covered employee hired prior to January 1, 2017 who is enrolled in CalPERS medical insurance, the County will continue to contribute into the 125 Benefit Plan the percentage amount based upon the PERS Gold (or equivalent plan) rates for the coverage in which the employee is enrolled (i.e., Employee Only, Employee plusOne, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS on behalf of that employeeand minus the required amount contributed by the employee.

A. In no event will the County's contribution under Government Code section 22892and the resulting premium payment of this chapter exceed the actual cost of the benefit. The covered employee must authorize a payroll deduction for their required contribution. If no authorization is made, the County will not make a contribution to the 125 Benefit Plan.

SECTION 16.13. <u>RETIREMENT</u>. All Confidential employees newly hired during and after the pay period that includes July 1, 2010 shall pay the full employee contribution toward PERS pension benefits through payroll deductions. All Confidential employees working prior to that pay period who are paying the full employee share of contributions for PERS pension benefits shall continue to do so on a permanent basis. All Confidential employees working prior to that pay period for which the County is paying the full employee portion of contributions for PERS pension benefits on the employees' behalf shall start paying half (currently 3.5% of salary) of the employees' share of PERS pension contributions (currently 7% of salary) effective the pay period that includes July 1, 2010. Effective the pay period that includes January 2, 2011, the employees will pay the full employee share (100%) of PERS pension contributions.

Effective the pay period following such time that the CalPERS retirement contract can be amended pursuant to Government Code section 20516(a), in addition to the employee's share, Confidential employees will pay an additional 1% of reportable compensation towards the

CalPERS Employer Contribution to the PERS pension through payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis.

Additionally, employees hired after May 8, 2011, will be covered under the PERS 2% @ 60 miscellaneous formula and the retirement formula will be based upon the last 3 consecutive years of service.

Employees hired prior to May 8, 2011, are covered under a 2% @ 55 miscellaneous formula, calculated on highest average salary over a period of twelve consecutive months of service.

SECTION 16.14. <u>EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM</u>. Employees covered under this chapter will be eligible for the services contained in the plan as offered and paid for by the County.

SECTION 16.15. <u>LONGEVITY STIPEND.</u> Effective January 15, 2023, confidential employees are eligible to receive an additional three percent (3%) of base pay if they have at least ten years of continuous service with Shasta County and have a rating of meets or exceeds standards on the most recent performance evaluation. To remain eligible for this stipend, the confidential employee must maintain an overall performance rating of meets or exceeds standards on their annual performance evaluation.

SECTION 16.6 <u>FLOATING HOLIDAY HOURS.</u> With Department Head or his/her designee approval, confidential employees may elect to use up to eight hours of non-worked holiday pay per calendar year. Floating holiday hours must be used within the calendar year provided, do not carry over into the next calendar year, and cannot be cashed out.

SECTION 16.7 ANNUAL LEAVE BUYOUT.

- A. Beginning in 2023 for the 2024 calendar year and going forward with each subsequent calendar year, a confidential employee may elect to receive payment for up to 80 hours in five (5) whole hour increments of accrued vacation leave or compensatory time so long as the following criteria are satisfied:
 - Any employee utilizing this provision will be required to submit an irrevocable election through Employee Online by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the accrued vacation leave or compensatory time is to be cashed out.

Where an employee has properly elected an intent to cash out accrued vacation or compensatory time in the applicable calendar year as noted above, the employee can choose any pay period(s) during the year to receive the elected cash out. All requests for cash out must be made through Employee Online by the due date listed for each pay period. All requests must be submitted in five (5) whole hour increments. All requests for a cash out will be limited to the number of hours elected the preceding calendar year less any cash outs already approved, and the actual current year accrued hours available at the time of the cash out.

If an employee who has elected cash out fails to request the elected cash out in the applicable year, the County will automatically cash out the designated amount up to the hours available to be paid on the final payday of that calendar year in the following order:

- 1. Compensatory time off
- 2. Vacation

All annual cash out payments shall be at the base hourly rate only with no other add-on compensation included.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cash out and have remaining cash out balances available. If an employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the accrued vacation or compensatory time would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waivered their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

By November 15 of each calendar year, the County shall issue a notice to those employees who have elected cash out and have a remaining cash out balance available.

If a confidential employee fails to submit an irrevocable election by December 31st of the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which the accrued vacation or compensatory time would be cashed out, the employee will be deemed to have waived their right and will not be eligible to cash out any such leave in the following calendar year.

SECTION 16.18. <u>SICK LEAVE USAGE.</u> Confidential employees may utilize sick leave as it is accrued and shall not be required to wait for the completion of three months of continuous services before utilization. All other sick leave provisions in Chapter 13 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules apply.

SECTION 16.19. <u>VACATION LEAVE USAGE.</u> Confidential employees with a minimum of three months of County service shall become eligible to utilize vacation leave up to the maximum time accrued as of the date such vacation leave is taken. All other vacation leave provisions in Chapter 12 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules apply.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 17. LAYOFF

SECTION 17.1. LAYOFF PROCEDURES.

- A. These procedures are applicable to all employees in the Classified Service. These procedures are also applicable to employees in the Unclassified Service to the extent as provided in Section 5.2.B. of these Personnel Rules.
- B. Within a department, in the event of layoff of employees in the classified service, the appointing authority, in consultation with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall make a determination of the number of employees by class to be laid off in accordance with the criteria specified in this Chapter.
- C. Positions covered by the Merit Systems Service shall be governed by these procedures except where they are in conflict with Merit Systems' rules. In such cases, Merit Systems' rules shall prevail.

SECTION 17.2. <u>LAYOFF DEFINED</u>. Layoff is defined as an involuntary separation of an employee or a reduction in hours from regular full-time to regular part-time due to lack of work or funds, reorganization, or economic or other reasons as deemed necessary by the Board of Supervisors or appointing authority. Layoff does not include separation for cause as defined by Chapter 7.

SECTION 17.3. <u>VOLUNTARY LAYOFF</u>. Layoff may be voluntary in the event an employee having more seniority, as defined below, elects, with Department Head, or his/her designee, approval, to accept layoff in lieu of the layoff of a less senior employee. The effect of such action may be separation of the employee, displacement of another affected employee, or transfer or demotion of the employee to a vacant position, depending in part on the manner by which the employee's rights are exercised.

SECTION 17.4. ORDER OF LAYOFF BY STATUS.

- A. The sequence to be used in determining the order of layoff by status shall be:
 - 1. First, provisional employees in inverse order of seniority;
 - 2. Next, probationary employees in inverse order of seniority;
 - 3. Next, permanent employees in inverse order of seniority.
- B. Extra help employees shall not be retained to the extent that laid-off employees in the same class or higher class in the same class series may desire to accept such extra help employment.

SECTION 17.5. <u>SENIORITY DEFINED</u>. Except as provided in Section 17.6 below, seniority for the purpose of layoff is defined as length of continuous employment within a class in the classified County service. Seniority for the purpose of displacement is defined in Section 17.7.

SECTION 17.6. <u>COMPUTATION OF SENIORITY</u>.

- A. Seniority within a class of affected full-time employees shall be determined by the allocation of one employment service point for each month of continuous employment in that class. Seniority of affected part-time employees within a class shall be determined by the allocation of 3/4 of one employment service point for each month of continuous employment in that class. A full-time or part-time employee shall be allocated 1/2 of one point when employed 15 to 29 days in a month, and shall be allocated zero points when employed less than 15 days in a month. For the purpose of this section, the computation of each month of continuous employment begins on the date of the employee's appointment to that class. Seniority shall be retained, but shall not accrue, during any period of leave without pay except that employees who are on leave without pay due to an on the job injury or illness shall continue to accrue employment service points.
- B. In the event both affected full-time and affected part-time employees occupy positions in the same class, a single layoff list for that class shall be developed based on the above method of computation.

SECTION 17.7. TOTAL SENIORITY- MORE THAN ONE CLASS.

- A. For the purpose of computing total seniority in two or more non-alternatelystaffed classes, an employee shall receive service points for time served in the class which the employee is occupying plus any time previously served in a higher class orany directly related class at the same level. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall review such circumstances on a case-by-case basis to assure full seniority credit is given to such employee.
- B. A class at the same level is one in which the maximum base salary is the sameas the maximum base salary of another class.
- C. A higher level class is one in which the maximum base salary is greater than the maximum base salary of another class.

SECTION 17.8. <u>ALTERNATELY STAFFED POSITIONS</u>. If a position is allocated to an alternately staffed class series, time served by an employee in each such class shall be added together for seniority computation purposes. In all other respects, provisions of this Chapter shall apply to alternately staffed positions in the same manner as non-alternately staffed positions. Nothing in this section shall prohibit an appointing authority from designating aspecified class for layoff within the alternatively staffed class series.

SECTION 17.9. <u>COMPUTATION OF SENIORITY ON COUNTY SERVICE BASIS</u>. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 17.7, an employee who, prior to August 28, 1984, laterally transferred or promoted from one County department to another with continuous employment and who assumed a position in a class series different than the series from which having laterally transferred or promoted, will be allowed to have seniority computed as length of total continuous County classified service. Such computation will only be allowed when the class series from which the employee laterally transferred or promoted does not exist in the current department.

SECTION 17.10. <u>CHANGE IN CLASSES</u>. To the extent possible, an employee shall not lose seniority rights as a result of a classification study which results in reallocation of the position

occupied by the employee, or the class being abolished, retitled, or revised. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall review such circumstances on a case-by-case basis to assure full seniority credit is given to such employee.

SECTION 17.11. <u>PERFORMANCE POINTS</u>. In addition to employment service points, an affected full-time employee whose two most recent regularly scheduled performance ratings in the current class are at least Exceeds Standards overall shall be granted an additional 12 points; an affected part-time employee whose two most recent regularly scheduled performanceratings in the class are Exceeds Standards overall shall be granted an additional nine points. Affected full-time and part-time employees whose two most recent regularly scheduled performance ratings in the class are Improvement Needed overall shall have subtractions of six and four points, respectively; similarly, Unacceptable ratings shall have subtractions of 12 and nine points to establish the final inverse order of seniority.

	Exceeds Standards	Improvement Needed	Unacceptable
Full-Time Employee	12	-6	-12
Part-Time Employee	9	-4	-9

SECTION 17.12. <u>TIE BREAKING</u>. When two or more employees in a class have the same final total points, the tie shall be broken as follows:

- A. Total continuous time employed within the department of layoff;
- B. Total continuous time employed within the County;
- C. Names drawn by lot by the appointing authority.

SECTION 17.13. <u>NOTICE OF LAYOFF</u>. Each affected employee shall be given a minimum of 21 calendar days' written notice of layoff, with the exception of Employment Services Instructor I/II classifications of which shall be given a minimum of seven calendar days' written notice of layoff. The notice shall be served personally upon the employee during business hours. Should such service be unsuccessful, the notice will then be sent by certified mail to the employee's last known address; service shall be deemed effective upon mailing. The noticeshall include a listing of the classes in which the employee is entitled to displace another employee. Such employee shall advise the appointing authority within three working days of the date of such notice of the employee's intent and manner of exercising rights, if any. The employee's failure to timely advise the appointing authority shall constitute a waiver of rights.

SECTION 17.14. DISPLACEMENT.

A. Demotion or Transfer to Vacant Position in a Department. Upon receiving notice of layoff, an employee with permanent status in the class, or probationary status in the class due to promotion, demotion for other than disciplinary or performance reasons, or transfer, shall have the right to be appointed to a vacant position in the current department in a class at the same or lower level in which the employee held prior permanent or probationary status. In no instance shall an employee have the right to be appointed to an unfilled position in a higher level class.

- B. Seniority for Displacement. For the purposes of displacement rights, seniority for the displacing employee is computed by adding together performance points, plus all employment service points earned in the class from which the employee is being laid off, employment service points earned in the lower classes, and employment service points earned in the employee is returning.
- C. Displacement Within the Department. In the event there are no such vacancies, the employee shall have the right to a position in the current department in a lower class in which the employee last held permanent status, and displace another employee whois less senior in that class. In the event there is no less senior employee in that class, the affected employee shall have the right to a position in the current department in the lower class in which the employee next last held permanent status, and displace an employee who is less senior in that class. In no instance shall an employee have the right to be appointed to a filled position in a class at the same or higher level.
- D. Displacement to a Previous Department. Upon receiving notice of layoff, an employee who previously held permanent status, and who is now in a probationary status due to promotion to another department, shall have the right to return to the classification in the previous department from which the employee promoted.

SECTION 17.15 <u>TRANSFER OR DEMOTION TO A VACANT POSITION IN ANOTHER</u> <u>DEPARTMENT</u>. Upon receiving notice of layoff, an employee prior to being laid off shall have the right to transfer or demote to an available vacant position in another department, provided such employee held permanent status in that class and provided such class has been designated as non-supervisory. If there is more than one displaced employee eligible for such transfer, the appointing authority may choose which employee to accept without regard to seniority.

SECTION 17.16. <u>SEPARATION</u>. If the affected employee cannot exercise his/her rights of transfer or displacement, the affected employee shall be separated from County service.

SECTION 17.17. <u>RECALL FROM LAYOFF.</u>

- A. The names of employees in an affected class within a department who are laidoff under procedures set forth in this Chapter, ranked in the order of their combined employment service and performance points, shall constitute the layoff list for that class. Persons on such a list shall have the right, in accordance with their ranking on the list, tobe recalled from layoff to vacancies in that class within that department before other persons are considered for appointment to that class in that department. Employees voluntarily laid off as referenced in Section 17.3 shall be similarly ranked on the recall list. Permanent employees shall be eligible for recall before probationary employees.
- B. Employees who are laid off and contacted by the department for recall may waive their right to recall. Upon the third such waive, the County's obligation to the laidoff employee for recall or any other rights under this chapter shall terminate.

SECTION 17.18. <u>RECALL PERIOD</u>. The right to be recalled from layoff shall be for a period of 18 months. If recalled within that period, an employee shall resume employment conditions in the class on the same basis as those that existed at the time of layoff, subject to modifications made subsequent to layoff.

SECTION 17.19. <u>SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL BALANCE</u>. At the time of layoff, an affected employee shall have the option to receive a sick leave payoff under the applicable formula. If electing such option and subsequently recalled, the employee shall receive no sick leave accrual balance restoration, unless he/she returns to the County the full cash payoff amount received at the time of layoff.

SECTION 17.20. <u>STAFF REDUCTION - POLICIES</u>. If, for any reason, a County department reduces its staff, causing employees to be terminated through no fault of their own, then it shall be the policy of the County to make every effort to relocate those employees in some other County department, provided that the employee adequately meets the appropriate job specifications.

SECTION 17.21. <u>REFERRAL TO VACANCIES - OTHER DEPARTMENTS</u>. During the 18month recall period, a person in layoff status shall be referred to vacancies in other departments in the same class from which laid off by submitting the appropriate forms to Personnel. Personnel will then refer the name of such person to the appointing authority along with, but separate from, an eligible list for that class.

SECTION 17.22. <u>RIGHTS FOLLOWING APPOINTMENT TO ANOTHER DEPARTMENT</u> <u>DURING RECALL PERIOD</u>.

- A. A person referred to a vacant position in the same class in another department, ifselected during the recall period, shall resume employment conditions in the class on thesame basis as those that existed at the time of layoff subject to modifications made subsequent to layoff.
- B. Such a person may be required to serve a probationary period and may be appointed to any step on the salary range not to exceed the employee's salary step in effect at the time of layoff. Such employee shall retain the right to be recalled to a position in the class in the department from which laid off until permanent status in the new appointment is obtained or until the 18 month period is over, whichever is later.

SECTION 17.23. <u>ABOLISHMENT OF POSITION</u>. In the event the position and class occupied by a laid off employee have been abolished, thus precluding recall or reinstatement, such former employee, upon returning to County service, will also be entitled to a vacation accrual rate based on prior service excluding absences. Such entitlement is limited to employees rehired within a three year period following layoff, including employees who formerly occupied unclassified management positions.

SECTION 17.24. <u>PROMOTIONAL EXAMINATIONS</u>. An employee on a recall list shall have the right to compete in Countywide or his/her own departmental promotional examinations, providing it would not result in displacement of an employee. In some instances, the examinations may be for a position in a class at the same or lower level as the class from which the employee was laid off.

SECTION 17.25. <u>WORK REASSIGNMENTS/LAYOFF PERIOD</u>. If an employee is laid off, the employee's duties shall not be assigned to or performed by a general assistance worker, inmate worker, or a community service worker for a period of one year following the effective date of layoff.

SECTION 17.26. <u>APPEAL PROCEDURE</u>. An employee affected by layoff may appeal to the Personnel Director or his/her designee, in writing. Such appeal must be submitted within seven calendar days after receipt of the notice of layoff, and must specify the manner in which these provisions, in the opinion of the employee, have been inappropriately applied. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall respond to the appeal prior to the effective date of layoff.

CHAPTER 18. SALARY PLAN

SECTION 18.1. SALARY RANGE STEPS.

- A. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, new provisional or probationary employees shall be appointed at Step "A" of the assigned salary range; provided,however, that the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may authorize that a new employee be appointed at the "B" or "C" Step of the assigned salary range based on exceptional qualifications and/or recruitment difficulties. Placement of employees at "D," "E," or "F" steps requires recommendation by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and approval by the CEO, or his/her designee, because of exceptional qualifications and experience or recruiting difficulties. (See also Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, in appendix.)
- B. Placement of a current extra help employee, who is at D, E, or F step of the salary range, into a regular position in the same classification at D, E, or F step, may be recommended by the Department Head, or his/her designee, for approval by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, if the employee has qualified through the normal recruitment process. The Department Head, or his/her designee, must submit a written request to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, prior to offering regular employment.
- C. When the filling of a position at a step which is higher than the first step of the salary range is authorized, a department may after assessing the incumbents' qualifications, submit a request to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, that incumbents of positions in the same class, earning less than the step in the particular salary range at which the new employee enters, may be advanced to the same or a higher step. Any employee receiving a step advancement will also receive a new salary anniversary date.

SECTION 18.2. SALARY INCREASES WITHIN RANGE.

- A. Progression to higher steps within the salary range, shall not be automatic, but shall be based on merit and given only upon the affirmative written authorization of the appointing authority and the certification of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, that the recommended increase is in accordance with the provisions of the County Personnel Manual and Salary Resolution. Such authorization may be given by a Department Head, or his/her designee, on behalf of an employee in the classified service only if the most recent performance evaluation indicates an overall rating of meets expected standards or above. (Refer to evaluations policy in Chapter 34.) Delay of a merit increase due to a performance evaluation of less than meets expected standards shall result in a change of salary anniversary date. (See also Policy Resolution No. 2010-02, in appendix.)
- B. Each person employed in a classification assigned to a salary range shall be eligible for merit increases within the range as follows (See also Policy Resolution 2010- 02, in appendix.):
 - 1. Eligibility for advancement to the B step shall be the beginning of the first pay period following completion of 13 pay periods of continuous service unless otherwise stipulated in a Memorandum of Understanding.

- 2. Eligibility for advancement to the C step and each subsequent step shall be the beginning of the first pay period following completion of 26 pay periods in each step of the range.
- 3. A leave of absence other than that for which full pay is received, (e.g., vacation, sick leave, administrative leave or compensatory time off), shall cause the step increase eligibility date to be postponed by one pay period for each pay period of such leave. If the leave of absence is for one-half or more of a pay period, the step increase eligibility date will be postponed a full pay period.
- 4. An employee who works the regular schedule of hours for more than one-half of the regularly scheduled workdays in the first pay period shall be deemed to have started on the first day of the pay period for the purposes of this section.
- C. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall establish procedures which willassure timely notification and processing by all parties concerned.
- D. Should it be determined that a merit increase was overlooked through error and that the employee would have otherwise met the requirements for such increase, salary adjustment shall be made effective from the original date of eligibility for the increase up to a maximum of 26 pay periods; provided, however, that this provision shall apply only in cases of persons in the employ of the County at the time such error is claimed.

SECTION 18.3. SALARY ON PROMOTION.

- A. An employee who is appointed to a position in a class allocated to a higher salaryrange than the class of position which he/she formerly occupied shall receive the nearesthigher salary in the new salary range as of the date upon which the appointment becomes effective; provided, however, that no such increases shall be less than 5% nor more than the maximum of the salary range of the higher classification. For purposes of further step increases within the salary range, the employee's anniversary date will be changed to the date when the promotion was effective. In cases of promotion, the provisions of Section 18.2 shall be applicable in determining the eligibility of the employee for step increases within the range of the higher classification.
- B. Effective for promotions on and after July 1, 2002, and notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A of this section, a Department Head, or his/her designee, may request, in writing to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, appointment of a current employee to B or C step. (The intention of this section is to allow the County the opportunity to consider, for the purposes of salary range step placement upon promotion, the skills and qualifications of existing employees in a manner similar to non- employees, as described in Section 18.1.)

All of the following conditions must be met:

- 1. The employee qualifies for A or B step of the salary range under the provisions of subsection B of this section.
- 2. The employee is not promoting from one alternatively staffed level to another (such as Accountant Auditor I to Accountant Auditor II).

3. The experience and qualifications of the employee are such that, were he/she a non-employee applicant, the Department Head, or his/her designee, could reasonably be expected to request appointment at higher than A step. For purposes of further step increases within the salary range, the employee's anniversary date will be changed to the date when the promotion was effective. In cases of promotion, the provisions of Section 18.2. shall be applicable in determining the eligibility of the employee for step increases within the range of the higher classification.

SECTION 18.4. SALARY ON DEMOTION.

- A. Any employee who is demoted shall have his/her salary reduced to any step in the range for the class of position to which the employee is demoted as determined by the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, provided the salary is lower than the employee's current salary.
- B. Notwithstanding subsection A, effective April 1, 2008, with regard to demotions related to department reorganization, layoff, career track demotion or similar reasons, other than just cause, a Department Head, or his/her designee, may request, in writingto the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, demotion to B or C step, in consideration of the skills and qualifications of the employee. If this placement provides an increase to the employee's salary, the increase shall not be more than 5% of employee's current base salary. All of the following conditions must be met:
 - 1. The employee is not being demoted for reasons related to discipline or other just cause.
 - 2. The employee qualifies for B or C step of the new salary range.
 - 3. The experience and qualifications of the employee are such that, were the employee a non-employee applicant, the Department Head, or his/her designee, could reasonably be expected to request appointment at higher than Astep.
- C. For purposes of further step increases within the salary range, the employee's anniversary date will be changed to the date when the demotion is effective. The provisions of Section 18.2. shall be applicable in determining the eligibility of the employee for step increases within the range of the lower classification.

SECTION 18.5. <u>SALARY ON TRANSFER</u>. Any employee who is transferred from one position to another in the same class or to another in a class having the same salary range shall be compensated at the same step in the salary range as he/she previously received. For purposes of further step increases within the salary range, the employee's anniversary date shall remain the same as it was before transfer.

SECTION 18.6. <u>SALARY ON RANGE CHANGE</u>. An employee who receives a range change (adjustment) to a higher overlapping salary range shall be placed at the same step in the new salary range. The employee's salary anniversary date for step advancement shall not change.

SECTION 18.7. <u>SALARY ON POSITION RECLASSIFICATION</u>. The salary of the incumbent in a position which is reclassified shall be determined as follows:

- A. If the position is reclassified to a class which is allocated to the same salary range as is the class of the position before it was reclassified, the salary and anniversarydate of the employee shall not change.
- B. If the position is reclassified to a class which is allocated to a higher salary range than the class of the position before it was reclassified, the salary placement of the employee shall be treated the same as Section 18.3, Salary On Promotion. The employee shall receive a new anniversary date effective the date of reclassification.
- C. If the position is reclassified to a class which is allocated to a lower salary range than the class of the position before it was reclassified, the incumbent shall be demoted to the new class without reduction of current salary and shall receive a new anniversary date as of the effective date of demotion. Such salary shall remain unchanged until such time as the amount of the salary step of the new salary range to which the employee would otherwise be assigned exceeds that of the salary being received.

SECTION 18.8. ADJUSTMENT ON SALARY ANNIVERSARY DATE.

- A. Whenever an employee is promoted, receives a range change, or his/her position is reclassified to a class which is allocated to a higher salary range than the class of the position before it was reclassified, on his/her salary anniversary date he/she may first receive any within-range increase to which he/she is entitled, and then receive the higher step in the new salary range.
- B. A permanent employee who is off the job due to a work-related injury or illness shall not have his/her anniversary date changed, unless the off-the-job time period is so extensive as to cover a second anniversary date, which then will be extended until the employee returns to the job.

CHAPTER 19. REGULAR PART-TIME AND EXTRA HELP

SECTION 19.1. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES.

- A. Regular part-time employees as defined in Section 1.28:
 - 1. Are eligible for and subject to the provisions of this Chapter, except that benefit accumulations shall be proportionally in accordance with the hours worked.
 - 2. Shall be compensated at the appropriate range and hourly rate prescribedfor the classification to which the position is assigned.
 - 3. May be further employed in another or similar capacity, provided that the combined hours do not exceed those of full-time employment and that compensation for the additional work assignments in the same department shall normally be at the same hourly rate as the rate assigned to the primary position unless otherwise provided in this Chapter or in the County Salary Resolution.
- B. Standby duty hours shall not apply in determining regular part-time employment.

SECTION 19.2. EXTRA HELP EMPLOYEES.

- A. The rights, benefits, privileges and permanent status provided in these PersonnelRules shall not be applicable to extra help employees as defined in Section 1.18.
- B. Extra Help Compensation. The compensation a California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) retiree shall receive while working in an extra-help capacityshall not be less than the minimum, nor exceed the maximum monthly base salary paid to other employees performing comparable duties as listed in the most current publicly available Shasta County salary schedule divided by 173.333 to equal an hourly rate. Further, a CalPERS retiree cannot receive any benefit, incentive, compensation in lieu ofbenefits, or other form of compensation (e.g. shift differential) in addition to the hourly payrate. There are no exceptions.
- C. An extra help employee shall not work in excess of 900 hours in a fiscal year. (If aCalifornia Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) retiree works extra help for multiple CalPERS employers, the total hourly limit for all employers is 960 hours in a fiscal year, with no more than 900 hours of work in a fiscal year for Shasta County). An extra help employee shall not work on average more than 29 hours per week and not more than 129 hours of service per month. The recommended limit on the number of hours of workfor an extra help employee is 25 hours per week.
- D. For any extra help employee who has previously held employment with Shasta County (regardless of whether the employee is a CalPERS retiree), there must be a separation in service, documented by a Personnel Action Form (PAF) submitted to CountyPersonnel by the employee's department, of at least ninety-one (91) calendar days between the last day of County employment and the first day of work for the County in anextra help capacity.

- E. For an extra help employee who is a CalPERS retiree, the person shall not be eligible to be employed in an extra help capacity for a period of 180 days following the date of the employee's retirement unless he or she meets one of the conditions stated in Government Code section 7522.56. If the extra help employee is exempt from the 180 day period pursuant to Government Code section 7522.56 but previously held employment with Shasta County, there must be a separation of service of at least 91 calendar days between the last day of County employment and the first day of work for the County in an extra help capacity. The separation of service shall be documented by a PAF submitted to County Personnel by the employee's department.
- F. For an extra-help employee who is a CalPERS early retiree, (meaning that the employee retires before his or her normal retirement age), the employee must have a bona fide separation from service with the County, as documented by a Personnel Action Form(PAF) submitted to Personnel by the employee's department, before that early retiree maybe rehired in an extra help capacity.
 - 1. A "bona fide separation from service" is defined as follows:
 - a. There is no predetermined agreement between the County and the early retiree prior to retirement to return to work for the County afterretirement; and
 - b. There is a separation in service of at least 180 calendar days between the date of the early retiree's retirement and the first day ofwork for the County in an extra help capacity. If the extra help employee is exempt from the 180 day requirement under Government Code section 7522.56, the separation of service shall be for at least 91 calendar days between the date of the early retiree's retirement and the first day of work for the County in an extra help capacity.
 - 2. The term "normal retirement age" is the age stated in the employee's retirement benefit formula. For example, the normal retirement age for a 2% at 55 benefit formula is 55. If an employee has more than one benefit formula, the highest benefit formula age is used. For example, if an employee is covered under the 2% at 55 formulaat the time he/she retires from employment with Shasta County, but part of the employee's retirement benefit is based upon previous employment with a CaIPERS agency that had a retirement formula with a higher age factor (e.g., 2% at 60), the employee's normal retirement age will be that of the highest formula (60, in this example).
 - 3. An employee wishing to work in an extra help capacity subsequent to retirement must, before starting work in an extra help capacity, provide a copy toPersonnel of his or her annual statement from CalPERS that shows the retirement formulas upon which retirement benefits are calculated.
 - 4. Departments may not start working a retiree in an extra help capacity untilit is determined if the individual is an early retiree as defined in section 19.2.F above.
- G. The hiring of an extra help employee, including but not limited to the re-hiring of aformer County employee or CalPERS retiree in an extra help capacity, shall be subject toShasta County Personnel Rules section 6.8.

- H. If a CalPERS retiree receives unemployment insurance (U.I.) benefits arising out of an extra help appointment with Shasta County or another CalPERS agency, the CalPERS retiree will not be eligible for an extra help appointment with Shasta County fora period of at least twelve months after the date of the retiree's last receipt of U.I. benefits
 - 1. A department contemplating an appointment of a CalPERS retiree as an extra help employee, who has previously worked in an extra help capacity with the Countyor another CalPERS agency, must have the retiree complete a form provided by Personnel certifying whether or not the CalPERS retiree has received U.I. benefits within the 12 months prior to the contemplated appointment. The form will then be submitted to Personnel.
 - 2. Under the CalPERS law, the term "appointment" refers to an appointment of a CalPERS retiree (1) that does not exceed a total of 960 hours for all CalPERS employers in any fiscal year and (2) that is either during an emergency to prevent stoppageof public business or because the retired employee has skills needed in performing work of limited duration. A complete separation from County service is not required to establish successive extra help appointments with Shasta County for purposes of section 19.2.H.
- I. Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter or the County Salary Resolution, therate of pay for an extra help employee shall be the rate prescribed for the first step of therange for the position classification in which employed; provided, however, that the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may authorize that such extra help employee may be appointed at the "B" or "C" step of the range based on exceptional qualifications and/or recruitment difficulties. Placement of extra help employees at "D," "E," or "F" steps requires recommendation by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, because of exceptional qualifications and experience or recruiting difficulties.
- J. An extra help employee shall become a participant in the County of Shasta's 457 FICA Alternative Retirement Plan on the first day the employee is not accruing a benefit under another retirement system provided by the County. This provision shall not apply to CalPERS retirees working in an extra help capacity.
- K. Extra help employees hired at step A, who have worked at least 2,080 hours overa period of time are eligible for advancement to step B. If they have worked a minimum of2,080 hours at "B" step, they are eligible for advancement to step C. Additional salary step advances each require an additional 2,080 hours of work, and requests must be approved by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. In all cases, the Department Head, or his/her designee, must have completed a performance evaluation which shows the employee is performing the full duties of the class and is meeting accepted standards.
- L. In the event an extra help employee does not meet the class specifications of theposition in which employed, an equivalent rate shall then be established corresponding to the appropriate level classification which most closely describes the accordingly revised duties. In no event shall the compensation be below the minimum or exceed the maximum monthly base salary paid to other employees performing comparable duties as listed on the most current publicly available Shasta County salary schedule divided by 173.333 to equal an hourly rate.

- M. Extra help employees assigned to work on the Mental Health Urgent Care / Crisis Team, who are required to work on an official holiday, shall be paid for such holiday hoursworked at a rate of one and one-half times the employee's equivalent hourly rate. This provision shall not apply to CaIPERS retirees working in an extra help capacity.
- N. Extra help employees shall be entitled to shift differential under the same terms and conditions and at the same rate as regular employees in the same classification except for the classification series of Deputy Sheriff and Correctional Officer. Employees in the extra help classification of Registered Certified Professional who are assigned to the Mental Health Urgent Care / Crisis Team will receive shift differential under the sameterms and conditions as Staff Nurse II. This provision shall not apply to CaIPERS retireesworking in an extra help capacity.

O. <u>STANDBY FOR MENTAL HEALTH</u>.

- 1. The Director of Mental Health or his/her designee may assign extra help employees to standby. Non-management employees assigned standby shall be compensated at a rate of \$2.50 per hour while so assigned. Standby duty shall cease during the hours for which callback is paid.
- 2. In order for an extra help employee to become eligible for standby pay, the employee must be assigned to standby status by his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, requiring the employee to:
 - a. Review the projected standby assignment schedule within thedeadlines established by the applicable department;
 - b. Wear a County-provided pager and/or carry an approved cellularphone during standby assignment;
 - c. Contact the department and respond to the callback location within the time period established by the Department Head, or his/her designee;
 - d. Refrain from activities that impair the employee's ability to perform assigned duties;
 - e. Accept the applicable standby pay referred to in subsection O.1. asfull consideration for any inconvenience the standby assignment may pose.
- e. Standby pay is to be distinguished from the uncompensated status of beingsubject to call or on call, wherein an employee returns to work during off-duty hours in response to being called, but is not required to meet the standby criteria.
- 4. Extra help employees, when called to duty from standby status, shall be compensated for the hours worked at the hourly rate of their classification. The minimum for each callback from standby duty shall be three hours. Such time worked shall not include travel time between an employee's residence and his/her regularly assigned work location. Responding to a phone call when not required to respond to the worksite, shall entitle the incumbent to be paid for the actual time involved in that phone call. This does not constitute a callback from standby.

- 5. The provisions of this section shall not apply to CalPERS retirees workingin an extra help capacity.
- P. Unless otherwise specified in this Chapter, extra help employees shall be entitled to overtime compensation in compliance with the minimums established by the Fair Labor Standards Act. Currently, overtime compensation is at a rate of one and one-half times each hour worked in excess of 40 hours in one seven day work period.
- Q. Extra Help classification for Chief of Psychiatry shall be eligible to receive stipendsfor board certification (ten percent for Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, five percent for Geriatric, and five percent for other medical specialty to a maximum of 20% additional) (see footnote 28); \$20 per hour for weekday on-call (hourly rate would apply when working); and \$700 per day holiday and weekend on-call (flat rate, no additional hourly rate when there is patient work). This management position is exempt from overtime. Except for the exemption from overtime, the provisions of this section shall not apply to CalPERS retirees working in an extra help capacity.

Extra Help classification for Senior Psychiatrist shall be eligible to receive stipends for board certification (ten percent for Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, five percent for Geriatric, and five percent for other medical specialty to a maximum of 20% additional) (see footnote 28); \$20 per hour for weekday on-call (hourly rate would apply when working); and \$675 per day holiday and weekend on-call (flat rate, no additional hourly rate when there is patient work). This position is exempt from overtime. Except for the exemption from overtime, the provisions of this section shall not apply to CalPERS retirees working in an extra help capacity.

All other extra help conditions would apply.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes

CHAPTER 20. TRAVEL AND OTHER EXPENSES-COUNTY CHARGES

SECTION 20.1. TRAVEL POLICY.

- A. As used in this Chapter, "travel" means the duration of an authorized departure continuing until the first return.
- B. When reimbursement is not available from non-County funds, any employee who is compelled to travel in the performance of his/her duties and in the service of the County shall be issued a County credit card and/or shall be reimbursed for his/her own actual and necessary expenses for transportation, lodging, meals and other necessary incidental charges in conformance with the policies, rates, and provisions herein set forth.
- C. In all travel, County officers and employees are expected to secure transportation, lodging, meals and other incidental charges as economically as possible.

SECTION 20.2. <u>AUTHORITY FOR TRAVEL</u>.

- A. Members of the Board of Supervisors are hereby authorized to travel as necessary in the performance of their duties.
- B. Travel by members of other Boards and Commissions of the County shall be first approved by the Board of Supervisors except as provided by ordinance or State law.
- C. In State Travel.
 - 1. Department Heads are authorized to travel in state within the performance of their duties and within the limits of budgeted funds.
 - 2. County employees are permitted to travel in state as authorized by the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- D. Out of State Travel.
 - 1. Any out-of-state travel by any Department Head or employee shall first be approved by the CEO, or his/her designee.
 - 2. Department Heads, or his/her designee, have the authority to approve out-of-state travel when a department is legally mandated to transport or visit a client or inmate across state lines.

SECTION 20.3. <u>TRAVEL TIME AS COMPENSABLE TIME WORKED</u>. For employees who are subject to and not exempt from the minimum wage and overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), travel time shall be considered compensable time worked in accordance with the policies stated in this Section and the FLSA. Nothing in this policy is designed to provide for compensable work time beyond the requirements of the FLSA. Should any of these policies conflict with the FLSA, the provisions of the FLSA shall control.

- A. Time spent in the course of job related travel (1) driving an automobile, or (2) riding in an airplane, train, boat, bus, or automobile as a required assistant or helper or while performing work specifically required by the employee's supervisor to be performed while traveling, or (3) traveling as a passenger on an airplane, train, boat, bus, or automobile where the travel is not overnight shall be considered as compensable time worked including instances of travel on normal days off. However:
 - 1. Normal commuting time shall not be considered as compensable time worked.
 - 2. Travel time between home and an airport or railroad station which is comparable to normal commuting shall not be considered as compensable time worked.
 - 3. Duty-free meal time, while in transit, shall not be considered as compensable time worked.
 - 4. If an employee has returned home after completing his/her day's work and is subsequently called out at night to perform an emergency job, all time spent on such travel is considered time worked.
- B. Time spent traveling as a passenger on an airplane, train, boat, bus, or automobile on overnight travel (including travel time to the location and returning from the location) shall only count as compensable time worked when such time spent traveling is during normal work hours, including normal days off. Duty-free meal time, while in transit, shall not count as compensable time worked.
- C. If an employee is offered by his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, to use public transportation for job related travel, but the employee requests permission to drive his/her personal vehicle instead and that request is approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee, the County may count as compensable time worked either the time spent driving the personal vehicle or the time the County would have had to count as compensable time worked during working hours if the employee had used the public transportation. Each and every Department Head, or his/her designee retains discretion to require that an employee use a particular mode of transportation for job related travel.
- D. In determining total hours worked for overtime purposes, applicable travel time as identified in A. and B. and C., shall be combined with actual hours worked.

SECTION 20.4. <u>TRAVEL ADVANCES</u>. Employees are encouraged to use a County credit card to fund travel expenses. However, where travel extends at least five days or the employee can demonstrate extenuating circumstances, an employee can request the Auditor-Controller to issue a travel advance. When approved, all advances will be issued at one hundred percent (100%) of the estimate.

SECTION 20.5. MEANS OF TRANSPORTATION.

- A. In compliance with Chapter 33 of the Personnel Rules, County Vehicles will be used when available as determined by the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- B. If a County Vehicle is not available, a vehicle may be rented through a County authorized agency as approved by the Department Head (See Administrative Policy 8-103, Section

B.14) or a private vehicle may be used or may be required to be used only upon the approval or direction of the Department Head (See Personnel Rules Chapter 33). The County shall not be liable for any claim for vehicle repair or restoration arising out of the use of a privately owned automobile except reimbursement for expenses as provided herein, unless otherwise required by law.

C. Air (coach class), train, or other means of transportation may be authorized by the Department Head, or his/her designee, when in the best interests of the County. No nonscheduled air transportation may be used except upon prior approval of the CEO or his/her designee. The traveling officer or employee is responsible for obtaining any tax exemption or other benefit available to the County or its employees.

SECTION 20.6. <u>REIMBURSEMENT</u>. No allowance shall be made for t ravel by any employee to and from his/her assigned place of work except as specifically provided in this chapter. Department Heads and employees shall be reimbursed for their expenses incurred in the course of work as follows:

- A. Allowable Expenses.
 - 1. Employees who are required or authorized to use private vehicles in the course of County business shall be reimbursed at the rate allowed by the IRS. According to the IRS, the mileage rate is intended to cover the following costs associated with the performance of the employee's job: vehicle depreciation (or lease payments), insurance, registration and license fees, personal property taxes, gasoline and all taxes thereon, oil, tires, and routine maintenance and repairs.
 - 2. The use of other approved transportation shall be reimbursed at actual costs. A receipt is required to support the expense.
 - 3. Lodging expenses shall be reimbursed at actual, reasonable and necessary costs as approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee. A receipt is required to support the expense.
 - 4. The County shall provide reimbursement at Peace Officer Standards and Training (P.O.S.T.) approved rates for meals for which the County is fully reimbursed by the State. In rare cases where participation in an official convention or conference offers a meal that costs more than the per diem rate and the County benefits from employee participation in such meals, additional reasonable and necessary meal expenses may be allowed at the discretion of the Auditor-Controller with the appropriate explanation and submission of itemized receipts.
 - 5. Meals shall be reimbursed on a per diem basis. Per diem rates are all inclusive, including tax and tip. The historical base rates for meals beginning June 1, 2018 are: \$12.00 for breakfast, \$12.00 for lunch, and \$25.00 for dinner. Per diem rates will be adjusted by the Auditor-Controller each January 1st based on the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U); West Region; Food away from home category, unadjusted 12-months for the period ending October 31st of the preceding year. A historical schedule containing each annual rate will be maintained by the Auditor-Controller.

An employee is not required to use a County credit card or submit receipts for the meals to receive the per diem rates. Should an employee use a County credit card or submit receipts for meals in lieu of the per diem rates, the employee shall be reimbursed for the actual costs of the meals, including tips as explained below, up to the maximum applicable per diem rates for the meals.

In rare cases where participation in an official convention or conference offers a meal that costs more than the per diem rate and the County benefits from employee participation in such meals, additional reasonable and necessary meal expenses may be allowed at the discretion of the Auditor- Controller, including tips as explained below, with the appropriate explanation and submission of itemized receipts.

- a. For the purpose of determining entitlement for meal reimbursements, the following will apply:
 - i. Breakfast Necessary travel began not later than 7:00 a.m. lasting at least four hours.
 - (A) Initial travel begin time must be at least one hour prior to employee's normally scheduled work time to be eligible for breakfast.
 - ii. Lunch Necessary travel began not later than 11:00 a.m. and extended at least four hours.
 - iii. Dinner Necessary travel began not later than 5:00 p.m. and extended to or after 7:00 p.m.
- b. Tips. Should an employee use a County credit card or submit receipts in lieu of the per diem rates as stated in Section 20.6.A.5. above, the employee will be reimbursed for tips paid to servers of meals in restaurants, in the actual amount paid, not to exceed the industry standard for appropriate tipping as announced by the Auditor- Controller each January 1st. Reimbursement is not authorized for alcoholic beverages or for any part of a tip attributable to the cost of alcoholic beverages. Reimbursement for tips is only authorized when applied to the cost of food and non-alcoholic beverages. No tips will be reimbursed in connection with per diem meal claims.
 - i. If an employee exceeds the allowable tip amount using a County credit card, the Auditor-Controller has the authority to waive the collection of the excess amount on a case by case basis, when it is determined by the Auditor-Controller that it is in the best interest of the County.
- c. In accordance with the rules of the IRS governing "taxable meal benefits," when an employee is paid for a meal expense(s), whether being reimbursed or being paid a stipend, and the employee does not remain overnight away from the general area of his/her headquarters, the corresponding meal expense payments are deemed to be taxable

compensation and as such shall be processed with the County Payroll. All reimbursement for same day travel expenses including meals and mileage, will be processed on the next available payroll cycle immediately following the travel reimbursement request audit. The meal expense payments provided for herein shall not be applied to the employee's California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) base salary in accordance with CalPERS rules. Headquarters shall mean the building or site at which the officer or employee normally works.

- 6. For expenses for authorized travel incurred by sworn employees of the Deputy Sheriffs Association (DSA) and the Sheriffs Administration Association (SAA), relative to State sanctioned and reimbursed training, {i.e., P.O.S.T. and Standards and Training for Corrections (STC)}, meal rate provided shall be consistent with State travel reimbursement schedules. Further, such employees shall receive one-hundred percent (100%) travel advance for such estimated training expenses.
- 7. All other authorized travel expenses incurred in the course of work shall be reimbursed in accordance with Section 20.6.A.1. through 6.
- 8. No reimbursement will be made for meals eaten within County limits unless the travel involves remaining away from the general area of an employee's headquarters overnight, except that the evening meal may be claimed, in accordance with Section 20.6.A.5.c., with the approval of the Department Head, or his/her designee, if by reason of County business an employee must remain away from the general area of his/her headquarters later than 7:00 p.m. or must remain on continuous duty for at least four hours in excess of his/her normal shift. Nothing in this subparagraph is intended to preclude payment for meals which are otherwise reimbursable herein.
- 9. In addition, with prior approval by the Department Head, or his/her designee, reimbursement for in County meal expense shall be allowed for breakfast, lunch, or dinner in the following circumstances:
 - a. Meetings to discuss bona fide County business with private sector business persons or officials representing other counties, cities, states, or federal agencies;
 - b. Meetings with commissions, task forces, and ad hoc committees which include Shasta County business as an agenda item; and
 - c. Training sessions whereby it is necessary or appropriate for the employee to remain on site during the meal period.
 - d. When a county department elects to schedule trainings and/or meetings, which are attended solely by County employees, during normal meal times, the department must make every attempt to reschedule employees' meal period to another time between 11:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. County employees can be reimbursed if the training or meeting spans longer than the usual lunch times and/or with an explanation from the Department Head or his/her designee as to why the employee meal period could not be rescheduled to another time between 11:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m.

Responsibility for prior authorization shall be with the individual Department Head, or his/her designee.

- B. Employees who are required to work extended shifts of at least three hours preventing them from being at their residence during normal morning and evening meal times may be entitled to actual reasonable and necessary meal expenses not to exceed the limits provided in Section 20.6.A.5. and in accordance with Section 20.6.A.5.c. when the meals are authorized by the Department Head, or his/her designee, and supported by a receipt. If, during unusual and extreme circumstances as determined by the Department Head, or his/her designee, it is not practical or possible for a Public Works employee to leave his/her work during normal morning or evening meal times during an extended work period, he/she will be provided a meal by the department or be entitled to a meal allowance consistent with Section 20.6.A.5. and in accordance with Section 20.6.A.5.c., unless otherwise stipulated (except for the provisions in Section 20.6.A.5.c.) in the Memorandum of Understanding for the General Teamsters Local 137 Trades and Crafts Unit.
- C. In addition to the above, the following expenses may be claimed if incurred in the performance of official County business:
 - 1. Parking and storage fees;
 - 2. Street car, bus, and train fares;
 - 3. Automobile rental (if unable to utilize a County contract for these services (See Administrative Policy 8-103, Section B.14);
 - 4. Taxi or shuttle service fares, plus the amount of any tip actually paid to the driver, up to 15% of the fare;
 - 5. Luggage handling tips for bell captains, not to exceed \$1.00 per bag;
 - 6. Ferry, bridge, and road tolls;
 - 7. Long distance telephone and fax charges on County business;
 - 8. Upon approval of the Department Head or his/her designee, registration and conference fees and meal expenses when the meals are part of a conference;
 - 9. Upon approval of the Department Head or his/her designee, and with the concurrence of the Auditor-Controller, other necessary extraordinary expenditures (however, no claim for personal services such as cleaning, laundering, barbering or similar items of expense will be allowed).
- D. Notwithstanding other provisions of this Section, the Board of Supervisors may allow reimbursement not to exceed actual costs for any travel, specifically authorized by the Board, where such reimbursement is necessary to effectively accomplish the purposes for which the travel is undertaken.
- E. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, may approve reimbursement for actual and necessary meal expenses for persons not in Shasta County employment who provide training to County employees, who serve on the Board of Employee Appeals, or

who serve on employee selection panels appointed by the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. Persons traveling from outside Shasta County who provide such service shall be eligible for the same reimbursement for mileage, lodging, meals, and necessary personal expenses as that provided for employees in subsection A. of this Section.

SECTION 20.7. <u>BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' EXPENSES</u>. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall be allowed their actual expenses in going to, attending, and returning from state association meetings and their actual and necessary expenses when traveling outside the County on official business, subject to the specific provisions of this Section and Section 20.6. They shall also be allowed their actual and necessary expenses for meals and lodging related to official business, as prescribed in this Section and Section 20.6.

- A. When reimbursement is otherwise authorized by statute, the County may reimburse members of the Board of Supervisors for actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of official duties.
- B. The types of activities that qualify a member of the Board of Supervisors to receive reimbursement of expenses relating to meals, lodging, registration fees, out-of- county travel, and other actual and necessary expenses include the following:
 - 1. Communicating with representatives of regional, state and national government on County adopted policy positions
 - 2. Attending educational seminars designed to improve the Board member's skill and information levels
 - 3. Participating in the meetings of regional, state and national organizations whose activities affect the County's interests
 - 4. Meeting to discuss bona fide County business with private sector, non-profit, or business persons, or officials representing other counties, city, state, or federal agencies; and
 - 5. Meeting with commissions, task forces, and ad hoc committees which include Shasta County business as an agenda item
- C. A Board member may also be reimbursed for, or be provided meals at, County conducted events and meetings of the Board of Supervisors.
- D. All other expenditures require approval by the Board of Supervisors.
- E. The reasonable reimbursement rates for travel, meals and other actual and necessary expenses are those prescribed in Section 20.6.A. Lodging expenses shall be reimbursed as prescribed in subsections F and G of this Section.
- F. If lodging is in connection with a conference or organized educational activity, lodging costs shall not exceed the maximum group rate published by the conference or activity sponsor, provided that lodging at the group rate is available to the member of the Board of Supervisors at the time of booking. If the group rate is not available, the member of the

Board of Supervisors shall use comparable lodging that is consistent with the rates set by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) in Publication 463 or any successor publication.

- G. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall use government and group rates offered by a provider of transportation or lodging services for travel and lodging when available.
- H. All expenses that do not fall within the rates prescribed in this Section, Section 20.6., or the IRS reimbursable rates, shall be approved by the Board of Supervisors, in a public meeting before the expense is incurred, or ratified after the expense is incurred, when prior action is not possible due to the urgency of the requirement for the expense.
- I. If a Board member chooses to incur additional costs that are above the rates established by this Section and Section 20.6., and those additional costs have not been approved pursuant to subsection H above, then the Board member may incur them at his/her own expense.
- J. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall use claim forms provided by the County Auditor-Controller to obtain reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses incurred on behalf of the County in the performance of official duties.
 - 1. The claim forms shall document that the expenses meet the requirements of this chapter for expenditure of public resources.
 - 2. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall submit claims to the County Auditor-Controller no later than the 15th calendar day after the expense is incurred, and each claim shall be accompanied by original receipts documenting each expense.
 - 3. Members of the Board of Supervisors shall provide brief reports on meetings attended at the expense of the County at the next regular Board meeting.
 - 4. All documents related to reimbursable County expenditures are public records subject to disclosure under the California Public Records Act (Government Code Sections 6250 and following).

SECTION 20.8. TRAVEL AND EXPENSE AND/OR RELOCATION REIMBURSEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL RECRUITMENTS. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, is authorized to approve travel and expense and/or relocation reimbursement for professional recruitments when, because of the nature of a position or because of a particularly difficult recruitment, it is beneficial to the County to pay for the candidate's travel and related expenses in order for the candidate to come to Shasta County for an interview and/or pay for the candidates relocation expenses to Shasta County.

- A. Shasta County will reimburse a candidate for necessary travel, meal and lodging expenses associated with the candidate's interview and/or relocation to Shasta County for a position with Shasta County. This reimbursement includes:
 - 1. Travel: air fare, taxi fare, mileage incurred to and from Shasta County at a rate consistent with that allowed County employees.
 - 2. Car rental: the use of a rental vehicle for one day and/or moving van or similar vehicle for the duration of the relocation.

- 3. Lodging: hotel/motel and room charges, including Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT).
- 4. Meals: food for the applicant consumed during the time it is necessary for the applicant to travel for the interview period and/or relocate to Shasta County, excluding alcoholic beverages.
- B. The following expenses are not reimbursable by the County:
 - 1. Alcoholic beverages;
 - 2. Personal sundry and other non-related expenses;
 - 3. Recreational expenses;
 - 4. In-room movies; and/or
 - 5. Any expenses for family members.
- C. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, is also authorized to approve additional expenses related to the interview and/or relocation process such as, but not limited to, additional meal, lodging or travel expenses which are incurred by the candidate or the candidate's spouse (i.e., additional hotel costs due to travel restrictions, etc.).
- D. If there is any question regarding a potential expense being covered, the department should contact the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee.
- E. After receiving prior approval from the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, the Department Head, or his/her designee, will provide written verification to the candidate of the approved expenses, prior to commencement of travel and/or relocation to Shasta County.
- F. Wherever possible the recruiting department will arrange for any necessary air travel, lodging, meals, rental car and/or moving van or similar vehicle. Such expenses shall be fully documented, using invoices and receipts which will be billed directly to the recruiting department for reimbursement through the Auditor-Controller's Office.
- G. In all cases, Personnel will be required to approve all expenses prior to the Department Head's, or his/her designee, submittal to the Auditor-Controller's Office.
- H. Reimbursement shall be provided to county employees for meal expenses incurred in conjunction with interviews of candidates for professional recruitments as defined in this policy.

SECTION 20.9. <u>CLAIMS PROCEDURE</u>. Claims for reimbursement for travel expenses shall be made on forms prescribed by the Auditor-Controller. Receipts must be attached for air or rail travel, automobile rental, lodging, registration fees and other expenses for which receipts are normally issued. Failure to complete the forms as required or to submit the proper receipts may be grounds for denying reimbursement. Receipts are not required for meals reimbursed using the per diem method.

- A. Any County employee who travels on County business will be assigned a County credit card for expenses.
- B. Employees traveling on county business (whether receiving an advance or not) must reconcile the travel instance within 10 calendar days of the travel return date.
- C. Reconciling amounts of less than \$1 owing to the County, or due to the employee, will be appropriately recorded in the County ledger using a journal entry but no cash will be paid out or collected.

SECTION 20.10. REIMBURSEMENT FOR TUITION AND OTHER TRAINING AND EDUCATION COSTS.

- A. It is the policy of the Board of Supervisors to encourage employees to participate in costeffective training which will improve the quality and timeliness of those services County employees provide.
- B. Upon prior approval of the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, the County will pay for or reimburse an employee for the actual, reasonable, and necessary costs of:
 - 1. Enrollment in and materials for continuing education classes which are required to maintain licensure or qualification for continued County employment, and not taken for the purpose of qualifying for another position or qualifying for non- County employment.
 - 2. Enrollment in and materials for seminars or workshops not exceeding ten class days which are related to the employee's current employment and are not taken for the purpose of qualifying for another position or qualifying for non-County employment.
 - 3. Enrollment in and materials needed for P.O.S.T. or STC training.
 - 4. Enrollment in and materials for education classes conducted in a web- based or on-line format, and not taken for the purpose of qualifying for another position or qualifying for non-County employment. The Department Head, or his/her designee, may authorize payment for on-site or off-site classes. The Department Head, or his/her designee, may authorize use of county property while employee is engaged in pre-approved training in accordance with Chapter 26. Electronic Assets and Information Security and Chapter 27. Use and Access to County Property and Expectations of Privacy. The Department Head, or his/her designee, assumes no responsibility for making county property available for completion of said training should computer equipment and other related electronic systems be unavailable for use.
- C. Upon the Department Head, or his/her designee, obtaining the prior approval of the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, the County will pay for or reimburse an employee for the actual, reasonable, and necessary costs of other classes, seminars, or workshops related to the employee's current employment and which are not taken for the purpose of qualifying for another position or non-County employment.

CHAPTER 21. RETIREMENT SYSTEM

SECTION 21.1. <u>STATE CONTRACT</u>. The retirement system for employees of Shasta County shall be maintained by contract between the Board of Supervisors of Shasta County and the Board of Administration, California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS).

SECTION 21.2. <u>EXECUTION AND AMENDMENT OF CONTRACT</u>. Such contract has heretofore been adopted by Ordinance No. 293 and amended by Ordinance numbers 411, 415, 451, 472, 496, 497, 504, 513, 514, 516, 621, 622, 626, 646, 651, 659 and others, which remain in full force and effect and are not codified.

SECTION 21.3. <u>FINAL COMPENSATION</u>. An employee's final compensation for purposes of determining retirement shall be based on the last 3 consecutive years of county service. This provision shall apply as follows:

- A. Miscellaneous 2% at 60 retirement benefit, effective May 8, 2011, is based on the last 3 consecutive years;
- B. Safety 3% at 55 retirement benefit, is based on last 3 consecutive years, effective May 8, 2011.

For employees hired prior to May 8, 2011, retirement will be based on the following:

- A. Miscellaneous 2% at 55 retirement benefit, effective January 8, 2006, is based on the last or highest consecutive 12 months;
- B. Safety 2% at 50 retirement benefit, is based on last or highest consecutive 36 months except for employees who are covered by the 2006 settlement with CalPERS and the retroactive contract revision adopted by the Board on December 19, 2006;
- C. Safety 3% at 50 retirement benefit effective August 19, 2007, is based on the last or highest consecutive 12 months.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 22. POLICY AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT

SECTION 22.1. <u>POLICY AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT</u>. Shasta County fully supports efforts to protect and safeguard the rights and opportunities of all people to seek, obtain and hold employment with the County without unlawful discrimination or harassment. The County denounces unlawful discrimination against or verbal, visual and/or physical harassment of an applicant for employment or a current County employee on the basis of race, color, religious creed, age (personsover age 40), sex or gender, national origin, ancestry, marital status, physical or mental disability (including HIV and AIDS), pregnancy, medical conditions relating to a diagnosis of cancer or a record or history of cancer, genetic characteristics or sexual orientation, or on the basis that the applicant or employee is perceived to be a member of a protected class or is associated with a member of a protected class. This policy is also intended to prohibit treating a county client or customer in adiscriminatory or harassing manner.

- A. Under federal and state laws, it is illegal to discriminate or harass on one or more of the foregoing bases in hiring, firing, compensation, and other terms or conditions, privileges, or benefits of employment.
- B. All employees shall be informed of the discrimination or harassment complaint process and be assured of their right to file complaints without fear of reprisal. All supervisors and managers shall be trained regarding behavior that constitutes discrimination or harassment.
- C. Discrimination against or harassment of another employee or an applicant for employment in violation of this policy may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- D. This policy prohibits any violation of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, as it currently reads or as it may be amended in the future.
- E. The County encourages any employee to raise questions he/she may have regarding discrimination or harassment or the terms of this policy with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.

SECTION 22.2. PROHIBITED CONDUCT.

- A. Definition of unlawful discrimination:
 - 1. Discrimination in employment is unlawful when decisions regarding the terms, conditions or benefits of employment are based on an applicant's or an employee's actualor perceived protected status, such as race, national origin, gender or sex (including pregnancy), age (40 years and older), mental or physical disability, medical conditions relating to a diagnosis of cancer or a record or history of cancer, genetic characteristics, religion, marital status, or sexual orientation.
 - 2. This policy prohibits four types of illegal discrimination:

- a. Disparate treatment: treating an individual differently because of his/her protected status;
- b. Disparate impact: following a policy or practice that has a discriminatory impact on a protected group of persons;
- c. Harassment: treating an individual in such an abusive or hostile way because of his/her protected status that it unreasonably interferes with an employee's work performance or creates a hostile work environment; and
- d. Retaliation: harassing or imposing an adverse employment action because an individual filed a discrimination complaint or in some other way opposed discriminatory practices, including participation in an investigation, proceeding or hearing including discriminatory practices.
- B. Actions which constitute harassment include:
 - 1. Verbal harassment: epithets, derogatory comments, threats, slurs, or other offensive words or comments.
 - 2. Physical harassment: assault, battery, impeding or blocking movement, or the physical interference with normal work, privacy, or movement.
 - 3. Visual forms of harassment: derogatory, prejudicial, stereotypical, or otherwise offensive posters, photographs, cartoons, notes, correspondence, email messages, or drawings.
- C. Unlawful harassment occurs when an employee's conduct, such as that described in paragraph B of this section, is based on an individual's actual or perceived protected status AND that conduct:
 - 1. Unreasonably interferes with an individual's work performance, or
 - 2. Creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment, or
 - 3. Influences or affects an individual's salary, employment conditions, position, or some other aspect of career development.
- D. This policy prohibits sexual harassment:
 - 1. Sexual harassment is a type of sex discrimination and is a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act. It is against the policy of the County for any employee, male or female, to sexually harass another employee, an applicant for employment, or a member of the public while in the course of County employment, while in uniform, or while using a County vehicle.
 - 2. "Sexual harassment," as used in this policy, includes any unsolicited and unwelcome sexual conduct when that conduct is directed toward a person because of that person's sex or gender, and:

- a. Submission to the conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of employment;
- b. Submission to or rejection of the conduct by an employee is used as abasis for employment decisions affecting the employee; or
- c. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an employee's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or otherwise offensive work environment.
- 3. "Sexual harassment" does not refer to behavior or occasional compliments of a socially acceptable nature. It refers to behavior that is not welcome, that is personally offensive, that fails to respect the rights of others, that lowers morale and that, therefore, interferes with work efficiency. Sexual harassment may take different forms. It may be overt or subtle. One specific form is the demand for sexual favors. Other forms of harassment include but are not limited to:
 - a. Verbal: Sexual innuendos, suggestive comments, whistling, jokes of a sexual nature, sexual propositions, degrading comments, or threats, whether made in person, by telephone or in messages left on voice mail.
 - b. Visual: Sexually suggestive objects, pictures, or cartoons; leering; obscene gestures; or degrading or vulgar communications made in writing or by fax, email, or other computer transmission.
 - c. Physical: Unwanted physical contact, including touching, pinching, brushingthe body, assault, battery, coerced sexual intercourse, or making explicit or implicitthreats or promises in return for submission to physical acts.
- E. This policy also prohibits county employees from acting in discriminatory or harassing manner toward the county's clients or customers. However, only employees are eligible to use the complaint procedure provided in Section 22.4.
- F. The following conduct by County managers, supervisors and lead employees is also prohibited by this policy:
 - 1. Failing to promptly report or take corrective action when the manager, supervisor, or lead person knows, or reasonably should know, that an employee, applicant for employment, or a customer or client of the County is being subjected to harassment, sexual harassment, or other forms of discrimination on the job or by a County employee;or
 - 2. Retaliating against a person who complained of discrimination or harassment, or who testified on behalf of one who made a complaint, or who assisted or participated in any manner on behalf of a complainant in an investigation or proceeding conducted under this policy.
- G. By law, Department Heads, or his/her designee, managers, supervisors and lead persons are responsible for the actions of their employees. Department Heads, or his/her designee, must ensure that employees, managers, supervisors, and lead persons are

aware of and comply with the County's policy. Prevention is the best tool. Prompt, appropriate action can help avoid, or at least minimize, the incidence of discrimination and harassment.

SECTION 22.3. EMPLOYEE ACTION.

- A. Some people may not be aware that their behavior constitutes or may constitute harassing conduct under this policy. Often simply advising someone of the offensive nature of his/her behavior will resolve the problem.
- B. An employee who feels he/she is being harassed is encouraged to inform the harasser either verbally or in writing that the behavior is unwelcome, offensive, in poor taste, or otherwise inappropriate. If this does not resolve the problem or if an employee feels uncomfortable, threatened, or has difficulty expressing his/her concern, the following complaint procedure shouldbe used.

SECTION 22.4. <u>COMPLAINT PROCEDURE</u>. This procedure shall be used to review and resolve allegations of discrimination or harassment (including sexual harassment). The procedure has both informal and formal routes of resolution. It is the County's intent to resolve complaints at the lowest step in the process, beginning with the informal step.

- A. Any employee or prospective employee who believes he/she has been the subject of unlawful discrimination or harassment, and who is not able to satisfactorily resolve the complaint as described in Section 22.3 or is uncomfortable discussing the matter with the harasser, should verbally report the alleged act immediately to his/her department supervisor, Department Head, or his/her designee, or the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.
- B. If the verbal report does not promptly and effectively remedy the situation, the employee shall file a formal complaint as follows:
 - 1. Any employee or prospective employee who believes he/she has been the victim of discrimination or harassment (including sexual harassment) by anyone in the workplace, including an employee or customer, supplier, or visitor, should file a complaint within 30 days of the alleged act. The complaint should be in writing and shall be filed with the Personnel Director or his/her designee. The complaint may be delivered inperson or mailed to the Director of Personnel, 1450 Court Street, Room 348, Redding,CA 96001. It should be delivered in a sealed envelope, addressed to the Personnel Director or his/her designee, and marked "Confidential."
 - 2. The written complaint must address the following information to allow a comprehensive investigation to be conducted:
 - a. The complainant's full name.
 - b. The complainant's job title and department (if a County employee).
 - c. The full name and employment classification (if a County employee) of the person or persons allegedly responsible for the discrimination or harassment.

- d. A plain, concise statement of the facts constituting the alleged discrimination or harassment.
- e. The date or dates on which the alleged discrimination or harassment occurred.
- f. The name and telephone number of any witnesses.
- g. The complainant's signature, address, and telephone number and the date of signing of the complaint.
- C. A supervisory employee receiving a verbal or written complaint of or observing conduct which appears to be prohibited discrimination or harassment shall inform the Department Head, or his/her designee, of such complaint or conduct as soon as possible and in no event later than the end of the next working day. If the complaint is about the Department Head, or his/her designee, the supervisor shall inform the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, instead of the Department Head, or his/her designee,. The Department Head, or his/her designee, will as soon as practicable notify the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, of the complaint or conduct. If the alleged perpetrator is employed in a department other than that of the complainant, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall immediately inform the alleged perpetrator's Department Head, or his/her designee, of the complaint.
- D. In addition to the foregoing, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall, in his/her discretion, initiate an investigation of suspected discrimination or harassment based upon:
 (1) theDirector's personal observation; (2) a report of such behavior given to him/her or her by an officeror employee who is not a party to the allegation; or (3) such other information as he/she deems sufficient to warrant further inquiry.
- E. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, in consultation with the Department Head, or his/her designee, and County Counsel, will have full authority to investigate all aspects of the complaint. If the complainant's Department Head is the alleged perpetrator, the PersonnelDirector, or his/her designee, and the CEO, or his/her designee, shall be in charge of the investigation.
- F. If the complaint was verbal, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall request the person who was the target of the alleged discrimination or harassment to submit his/her complaint in writing. If the person refuses to do so, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may, in his/her discretion determine that no formal investigation is necessary. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, shall prepare a memorandum to the County Counsel concerning the verbal complaint, and the Personnel Director, or his/her designee's, decision to forego any further investigation.
- G. All written complaints which provide the information listed in subsection 22.4.B.2 will be investigated in a timely and confidential manner. Reasonable attempts shall be made to protect the confidentiality of the person who alleges that discrimination or harassment has taken place; however confidentiality cannot be guaranteed given the extent of the investigation which may take place. Information concerning a complaint will not be released by the County to third parties or to anyone within the County who is not involved with the investigation, except as required by law, nor will anyone involved be permitted to

discuss the subject outside of the investigation or a resulting disciplinary action. The purpose of this provision is to protect the confidentiality of the complainant, to encourage the reporting of any incidents of discrimination or harassment, and to protect the reputation of any employee wrongfully charged with discrimination or harassment.

- H. All employees shall be protected from coercion, intimidation, retaliation, interference, or discrimination for filing a complaint or assisting in an investigation.
- I. The investigation of a complaint will normally include conferring with the parties involved and any witnesses. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, is empowered to require the attendance of any employee or officer at all reasonable times for purposes of conducting the investigation and receiving testimony. The investigation may include interviews with the complainant, the alleged perpetrator, and any other persons who may have relevant knowledge concerning the complaint. The investigation shall be as thorough as possible and shall conclude within the shortest possible time reasonable given the complexity of the case at hand. When good cause is shown, temporary action may be taken pending the conclusion of the investigation. The Department Head, or his/her designee, or where the Department Head is the alleged perpetrator, the CEO, in consultation with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and County Counsel, shall determine whether the complaint is valid in whole or in part, based on the evidence obtained during the investigation. A statement of the factual findings and the remedial action to be taken shall be approved by the County Counsel.
- J. Upon a finding that a County official or employee has engaged in unlawful harassment or discrimination against a County employee, applicant for employment, or a County client or customer, the appointing authority shall take disciplinary action against the perpetrator up to and including termination of employment. Any disciplinary action shall be commenced and prosecuted in accordance with these Personnel Rules, or any other procedures allowed by a memorandum of understanding between the County and the employee's association. Other appropriate remedial measures deemed necessary to prevent future discrimination or harassment shall also be taken.
- K. After the statement of findings and remedial action has been approved by the County Counsel and the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, the Department Head, or his/her designee, or CEO shall provide the complainant with the opportunity to meet to discuss the findings and any remedial action to be taken, provided that no information protected by Penal Code section 832.7, pertaining to peace officers, or other law shall be improperly disclosed. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the findings or the proposed remedial action, the complainant may within five working days of the meeting, submit a written request for reconsideration. A meeting between the complainant, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, the County Counsel and the Department Head, or his/her designee, or CEO will be held within ten working days of the receipt of that request. Prior to any modification of the original statement, the alleged perpetrator shall be given notice of the proposed modification and an opportunity to provide input. The complainant shall be advised of his/her right to have a representative at any and all of these meetings.
- L. If misconduct is found, the statement, in its final form, may be made a part of the perpetrator's personnel file and should be attached or referred to in his/her next performance evaluation.

SECTION 22.5. <u>POLICY AS EXCLUSIVE MEANS OF REMEDY</u>. The procedures specified hereinshall provide the exclusive internal mechanism by which all complaints of discrimination or harassmentby employees or applicants shall be heard and adjudicated and no other grievance or appealsprocedure otherwise provided in these Personnel Rules or applicable Memorandum of Understanding, shall be used for seeking an administrative remedy for such misconduct, or for purposes of takingtestimony or hearing accusations and/or rebuttals on this subject, except that any employee againstwhom disciplinary action is initiated or proposed to be initiated pursuant to the application of this procedure shall have full rights to hearing, determination and appeal of such disciplinary action or proposed disciplinary action to the extent provided in this manual or the applicable MOU. The procedures specified herein will not preclude any person from utilizing the California Department of FairEmployment and Housing or the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission for redress of his/her complaint.

SECTION 22.6. <u>FALSE COMPLAINT</u>. The County recognizes that false accusations of discrimination or harassment can have serious effects on innocent individuals. An intentional false complaint of discrimination or harassment may be a basis for the filing of disciplinary charges and mayresult in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

This page is intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 23. POLICY AGAINST VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE

SECTION 23.1. POLICY AGAINST VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE.

- A. No employee should have to tolerate violence or the threat of violence in the workplace. Anyone who is the victim of any violent, threatening or harassing conduct, or who observes such conduct taking place (whether the perpetrator is a County employee or a nonemployee) should not attempt to confront the perpetrator but should immediately report the conduct to law enforcement, and/or the reporting person's supervisor, or to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. All such complaints will be thoroughly investigated, and the County will take appropriate steps to prevent any harm from occurring or being repeated. No adverse action will be taken against anyone who makes a good faith report under this policy.
- B. As part of our continuing commitment to workplace safety, Shasta County is determined to provide a work atmosphere that is free of violence and the threat of violence. Violent or threatening conduct of any kind, whether it is directed against a County employee or outside party, will not be tolerated. This policy prohibits conduct in connection with County operations or facilities including, but not limited to, the following:
 - 1. Causing, attempting to cause, or threatening to cause physical injury to another person or damage to another person's property.
 - 2. Fighting or challenging another person to a fight.
 - 3. Stalking (i.e., the repeated following, calling or harassing of another, combined with the making of a verbal, written, or implied threat).
 - 4. Possessing a firearm or any object ordinarily used or intended to be used as a weapon in a County building or at a work site (including an outdoor work site) or a Countyvehicle, whether or not the employee has been issued a permit to carry a concealed weapon.
- C. Subsection B.4 shall not apply to peace officers who have been authorized to carry a weapon and to employees who carry knives or other weapons which are used as tools in the regular course of County business, or to properly trained employees who are authorized to carry pepper spray or mace. The CEO, or his/her designee, with the concurrence of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and affected Department Head, or his/her designee, may, in writing, authorize one or more employees to carry a weapon and may, where deemed appropriate, impose restrictions or conditions on such authorization.
- D. All violations of this policy will be treated as serious and may lead to discipline, up to and including termination. In appropriate cases, the County may also seek criminal prosecution.

This page is intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 24. VOLUNTARY TIME OFF WITHOUT PAY PROGRAM

SECTION 24.1. <u>PURPOSE</u>. The purpose of the Voluntary Time Off Without Pay (VTO) Programis to allow an employee to take time off without pay and maintain certain benefits when it would be beneficial to the department in which the employee works. This program was first initiated when the County was facing severe budget constraints and cost savings from wages helped the County offset potential budget shortfalls. After consultation with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, the Department Head, or his/her designee, may grant this leave upon identifying some benefit to their departments (cost savings, program efficiencies, etc.). In the absence of benefit to the department, a Department Head, or his/her designee, may grant straight leave without pay (in accordance with Chapter 14).

SECTION 24.2. <u>CONDITIONS</u>. (VTO) is subject to the following:

- A. For all non-management employees, unpaid voluntary time off must be taken in increments of one full hour.
- B. For all exempt employees, unpaid voluntary time off must be taken in eight-hour increments.
- C. Credits toward sick leave and vacation shall accrue as though the employee were on paid status.
- D. This program shall apply toward time in service for step advancement, completion of probation, and seniority for purposes of layoff.
- E. Shall be granted without requiring employees to first use accumulated vacation and/or compensatory time off.
- F. Shall be available only to employees who are on paid status immediately before, as well as immediately after, voluntary time taken off. Per section 11.4.B of these rules, an employee who does not work on the holiday must be in a paid status the working day before and the working day after the holiday to be eligible to receive credit for the holiday.
- G. Shall not be available to employees who are on, or would be placed on, other leave without pay or paid industrial leave.
- H. Shall only be granted when, in the judgment of the appointing authority, such voluntary time off would not impose an undue operational hardship on the department.
- I. Health insurance premiums paid by the County and employee will remain unchanged.
- J. Employees must submit requests in writing to their Department Head, or his/her designee, and all approved requests must be documented.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 25. DISABILITIES NONDISCRIMINATION & ACCOMMODATION POLICY AND COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

SECTION 25.1. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>. Shasta County is subject to the Americans with Disabilities Actof 1990 ("ADA") and its related regulations; Title V, Sections 503 and 504 of the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973; and a number of California statutes, including the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (CFEHA). These laws protect individuals with disabilities from discrimination in employment, public services, public accommodations, and telecommunications. Shasta County has developed this policy in response to these laws.

SECTION 25.2. POLICY.

- A. <u>Statement of Policy.</u> It is the policy of Shasta County to comply with all the relevant provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the CFEHA, and any other applicable nondiscrimination law.
 - 1. <u>Employment</u>. Shasta County will not discriminate against any qualifiedemployee or job applicant with respect to any terms, privileges, or conditions of employment because of that person's physical or mental disability. Shasta County also will make reasonable accommodations wherever necessary for employees or applicants with disabilities, provided that the individual is otherwise qualified to perform the essential duties and assignments connected with the job and provided further that any accommodations made would not require significant difficulty, expense, or other undue hardship.
 - 2. <u>Access to the County's Buildings, Facilities, Services, Programs and Activities</u>. Shasta County does not discriminate on the basis of disability with regard to admission to, access to, or operation of its buildings, facilities, programs, services or activities.

A full statement of the rights of members of the public who have disabilities to participate in County programs, services, and activities, and have access to the County's buildings and facilities, as well as theCounty's complaint procedures, are contained in Administrative Policy 1-117, *Rights of Persons With Disabilities; Complaint Procedures.*

- B. <u>Definitions.</u> For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions shall apply. (Where there is a conflict, the definitions provided in laws and regulations or caselaw shall govern. When multiple laws and regulations address the same issue, those that take precedence over others will be followed.)
 - 1. <u>Disability</u>. A person has a disability if he/she has a physical or mental impairment that limits one or more of the major life activities of the individual, or has a record of such impairment, or is regarded as havingsuch an impairment.
 - 2. <u>Essential functions</u>. Essential functions are fundamental job duties thatare required to be performed to complete the tasks assigned to the position and do not include the marginal functions of the job. Whether a particular function is essential is a factual determination that must bemade on a case-by-case basis.

- 3. <u>Major life activity</u>. These include caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breathing, learning, working, and others prescribed by law.
- 4. <u>Reasonable Accommodation</u>. There are three categories of reasonable accommodation:
 - a. Modifications or adjustments to a job application process that enable a qualified applicant with a disability to be considered for a County position;
 - b. Modifications or adjustments to the workenvironment, or to the manner or circumstances under which the position held or desired is customarily performed, that enable a qualified individual with a disability to perform the essential functions of that position; or
 - c. Modifications or adjustments that enable a County employee with a disability to enjoy equal benefits and privileges of employment as are enjoyed by other similarly situated employees who do not have disabilities.
- 5. <u>Qualified individual with a disability</u>. A qualified individual with a disability is an individual with a disability who satisfies the requisite skill, experience, education, and other job-related requirements of the employment position and who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of that position.
- 6. <u>Undue hardship</u>. Undue hardship refers to any accommodation that would be unduly costly, extensive, substantial, or disruptive, or that would fundamentally alter the nature or operation of the County or one of its departments.

SECTION 25.3. DISABILITIES COMPLIANCE PROGRAM.

- A. <u>Appointment of Coordinator</u>. The Director of Support Services has been appointed to act as the ADA Coordinator. The ADA Coordinator is directly responsible for Shasta County's disabilities compliance program.
- B. <u>Description of Duties.</u> The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, is responsible for the following functions:
 - 1. Developing guidelines for handling internal and external communications about the requirements of relevant laws and regulations and the County's compliance program;
 - 2. Making recommendations to the Board of Supervisors on policy to complywith relevant laws and regulations;
 - 3. Meeting with managers, supervisors and employees to discuss any problems or concerns that may arise in accommodating individuals with disabilities and to ensure that the program is being followed;

- 4. Determining the need for remedial action and helping to develop ways to correct deficiencies in the program;
- 5. Serving as liaison between Shasta County and enforcement agencies, persons with disabilities, and organizations representing individuals with disabilities;
- 6. Keeping management informed of developments in hiring and employing persons with disabilities;
- 7. Coordinating and facilitating the use of the Complaint Procedure (Section 25.7);
- C. <u>Notices.</u> Shasta County and the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that interested persons are informed of and assistedin the implementation of the Disabilities Compliance Program. The following notice, which may be modified from time to time by the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, will be posted in the initial public reception area of each County department or office building: Shasta County does not discriminate on the basis ofdisability in the admission or access to, or employment in, its facilities, programs, services or activities. The Director of Support Services has been designated to coordinate compliance with the non-discrimination requirements of the Americanswith Disabilities Act (ADA), California Fair Employment and Housing Act (CFEHA), and other applicable laws. If you believe you have been discriminated against in violation of this policy, you may file a complaint with the ADA Coordinator.Complaint forms are available from the ADA Coordinator at (530)225-5515, by email to adacoordinator@co.shasta.ca.us, or at the Shasta County Support Services Department, 1450 Court Street, Suite 348, Redding, CA 96001-1676.

Copies of this notice are available from Personnel.

SECTION 25.4. JOB DESCRIPTIONS.

- A. <u>Essential Function Updates</u>. All County job specifications will be updated toarticulate the essential functions of each position. Essential function updates mayoccur under any of the following circumstances:
 - 1. Request to fill a position which has no defined essential functions;
 - 2. Reclassification request;
 - 3. Department Head request;
 - 4. CEO request; or
 - 5. Board of Supervisors request.
- B. <u>When Board Approval is Required</u>. Board approval shall be required if a new classification specification is developed. Job specifications updated to reflectcurrent tasks or to include essential functions may be approved by Personnel without Board approval.
- C. <u>Purpose for Descriptions of Essential Functions</u>. Although the regulations promulgated pursuant to law do not require employers to develop or maintain job descriptions, written job descriptions prepared before advertising or interviewing applicants for the job, as well

as the employer's judgment as to which functions are essential, are among the relevant information to be considered in determining whether a particular function is essential. Thus, updating the County's written job descriptions to identify essential functions is helpful to documenting the County's compliance with this program.

SECTION 25.5. REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION.

- A. <u>Duty to Accommodate</u>. A qualified individual with a disability, whether a member of the public or current employee, may request accommodation from the County in orderto (1) apply and compete for a County position, or (2) perform (or continue to perform) the essential functions of the employee's position.
 - 1. NOTE: An individual may be disabled but choose not to reveal the disability and not request accommodation. It is not the County's responsibility to discovera hidden disability. However, once an individual notifies the County of his/her disability, investigation of the aspects of the disability that relate to job duties and the workplace is appropriate.
 - 2. If no reasonable accommodation exists that enable the person to perform the essential functions of the job or would allow the person to perform the job in a manner that would not endanger the health or safety of himself/herself or others, the County may refuse to hire an applicant or may discharge an employee. According to PERS regulations, if an employee does not apply for a disability retirement on his/her own behalf, the County must apply for a disability retirement from PERS on behalf of the employee if he/she is qualifiedfor a disability retirement prior to terminating employment. (See Admin Policies7-140 and 7-145).
- B. <u>Applicants for Employment</u>. The law does not require that an employer give preference to an applicant because the applicant has a disability, but it does require that the applicant be allowed to compete for a position based on his/her qualifications to perform the essential functions of the job. The County shall not make inquiries (or assumptions) about an applicant's disability.
 - 1. In order for an individual with a disability to compete for a position, the County may be required to provide a reasonable accommodation. A simpleexample of what might be considered reasonable accommodation for an applicant with a visual disability or a person who lacks manual dexterity, is staff assistance in filling out an application form. Specific reasonableaccommodations will vary depending on the circumstances of each case.
 - 2. The County will inform applicants, on the job flyer and application form, thatthey may request an accommodation in advance of the testing or interviewprocess. The County may move its test site or provide for an alternate testing method in order for a qualified individual with a disability to compete for a position when it is necessary and reasonable to do so. If the applicant's disability is not readily apparent, the County may require that the applicant provide documentation from a qualified medical provider, school, or other appropriate entity.
 - 3. The County is not required to provide accommodation for testing or interviews for an unqualified applicant. For example, if a position requires a Master's Degree and a clinical license but the applicant does not possessthose, then he/she is not

qualified for the position (i.e., is not a qualified applicant), and no accommodation or further accommodation is required.

- 4. Personnel is typically involved in all recruitment and testing and should be contacted immediately if the department receives a direct request from anapplicant for testing or interview accommodation.
- 5. A qualified applicant may be provided a job offer conditioned on successful completion of a medical examination that is job related and consistent withbusiness necessity. Should such a medical examination determine that the applicant has physical or mental limitations that would affect the applicant's ability to perform essential job functions due to a disability, the County willengage in an interactive process to determine whether a reasonable accommodation can be provided by the County that would enable the applicant to adequately perform all of the job's essential functions.
- C. <u>Employees</u>. While the County has many general obligations under the law, the offering of reasonable accommodation for a newly-hired or existing employee is a specificobligation requiring an assessment of the essential functions of the individual's position; evaluation of the individual's precise job limitations; evaluation of the effectiveness of eachpotential accommodation; consideration of the perspective of the individual requesting accommodation; and an analysis of the expense and reasonableness of the accommodation from the perspective of the County. Thus, there is no universal solution to a request for workplace accommodation and each request must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

NOTE: Actions (accommodations) that are taken to prevent injuries may be covered under a different policy, such as the Injury Illness Prevention Program (IIPP), which contains provisions regarding personal protective equipment and workplace hazards. For example, providing a phone headset for the worker (or for the whole department) would not usuallybe an accommodation under the law for a worker who complains of neck or shoulder paindue to constant use of traditional telephone equipment. This may be a workers' compensation issue which should be addressed through Risk Management. However, if the employee discloses a neck disability (certified by a health care provider) then providing headset may be a reasonable accommodation under the law. Thus, a department mayhave different options or obligations to address a concern about a work site, depending upon which laws (and County policies) apply to the situation. Again, each case must be evaluated individually. Where an accommodation concerns a work-related condition, such accommodation shall be coordinated with Risk Management.

SECTION 25.6. <u>EMPLOYEE ACCOMMODATION REQUEST PROCEDURE</u>. These procedures are adopted to assure consistent and equitable treatment under the law for an employee who is a qualified individual with a disability. This policy is not intended to restrict a Department Head, or his/her designee, from making any normal budget expenditures for informal work site modifications or improvements. Departments should maintain a record of requests for accommodations and the disposition of these requests in a confidential file for individual employees. Documents related to an accommodation request shall not be maintained in an employee's department personnel file. If an employee notifies the County of a disability or the disability is obvious, the County may inquire, pursuant to applicable law, as to whether the employee needs an accommodation. The employee may also be referred to this accommodation request procedure. However, an employee with a disability is not obligated to request an accommodation if the employee does not want an accommodation.

A. <u>The Request</u>.

- 1. <u>Employee Request</u>: If a qualified employee with a disability wishes an accommodation, he/she may make a verbal or written request to his/her supervisor, who will consult with department management regarding the request. The department may require that the employee submit written documentation from his/her medical provider confirming the employee hasa disability and noting the specific work limitations caused by this disability, along with suggestions for accommodating the limitations in the workplace. The Request for Consideration of Workplace Accommodation form (in appendix) may be used for this purpose. If unable to complete the form dueto a disability, the employee may request that another party complete it on his/her behalf. The form requires medical substantiation of disability and information regarding the extent of work-task limitations.
- 2. <u>Department Initiated Request</u>: Departments may also be responsible to initiate the interactive process in certain circumstances, such as when the Department becomes aware of a need for a possible accommodation through observation (e.g., employee discloses a medical condition during conversation, but does not formally request an accommodation).
- 3. <u>Risk Management Initiated Request</u>: Risk Management may provide the employee's name and a description of his/her workplace restrictions to the Department Head, or his/her designee, or to the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee. Such notification shall prompt the need to initiate the interactive process with the employee.
- B. <u>Interactive Process</u>. The Department Head, or his/her designee (including asupervisor, if so designated), may either resolve the accommodation request or refer it to the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, for consideration.
 - 1, <u>The Meeting</u>. The Department Head, or his/her designee, or the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, shall convene as soon as practical with the employee to discuss the request for accommodation. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, may request a Department Head, or his/her designee, County Counsel, outside counsel, and/or others to attendaccommodation meetings.
 - 2. <u>Interacting with the Employee</u>. The Department Head, or his/her designee,or the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, must obtain the employee's input prior to making a decision regarding the accommodation. Discussionshall not be limited to considering only the specified accommodation but may consider any reasonable alternate accommodation including making the existing work site readily accessible, providing auxiliary devices, utilizing leave balances, utilizing unpaid leave, allowing a reduced work day or providing a modified work schedule, implementing job restructuring, or reassignment to a vacant position.
 - 3. <u>Documenting the Discussion</u>. The Department Head, or his/her designee, or the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, shall complete the Employee Accommodation Meeting form (available online at the Shasta County, Support Services intranet page <u>http://intranet/support-services/personnel/forms.aspx</u>) to

record the request for accommodation and the disposition of the request. A copy of the completed form must be submitted to Personnel.

- a. If the Department Head, or his/her designee, and the employee are unable to reach a reasonable accommodation, one of the participating parties may request the presence of the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, and County Counsel.
- 4. The interactive process may require more than one meeting depending on the circumstances.
- C. <u>Implementation of the Accommodation</u>. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, or the Department Head, or his/her designee, will ordinarily proceed with implementation. However, due to other laws, policies, funding restrictions, or for other reasons, the recommendation of the Department Head, or his/her designee, may be revised by the ADA Coordinator or his/her designee. Under the same considerations the recommendation of the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, may be returned to the Department Head or his/her designee for further consideration. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, is charged with making only those recommendations that it assesses are possible and reasonable to implement.
 - 1. If implementation requires other levels of authorization, such as a budget transfer request or an allocation change, the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, after consultation with the Department Head, or his/her designee, and CEO, or his/her designee, will proceed with the necessary steps.
 - 2. If the accommodation recommended is reassignment to another position, the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, or the Department Head, or his/her designee, shall attempt to locate an appropriate position and meet with the appointing authority of that position to discuss accommodation details. Reassignment as a reasonable accommodation will be done inaccordance with applicable laws.
 - a. A medical release assessing fitness for duty from the employee's or County's doctor may be required prior to placement in a reassigned position.
- D. <u>Appeal Rights</u>. The employee may submit a written appeal of the decision or recommendation to the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, for consideration within ten days of the employee's receipt of the decision following the procedure set forth in Section 25.7.C. The employee must include a copy of all previously submitted materials and an explanation as to why the employee feels the accommodation provided or recommendation made by the Department Head, or his/her designee, is not satisfactory.
 - 1. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, serves both to consider accommodation requests and appeals, and to resolve complaints received under the Complaint Procedure. (See Section 25.7 regarding the complaint procedures).

SECTION 25.7. <u>COMPLAINT PROCEDURE</u>. This complaint procedure is intended to provide a mechanism for prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging violations of Title I or Title II of the ADA, the CFEHA, and any other applicable laws. The law stipulates that no otherwise qualified disabled individual shall, solely byreason of such disability, be excluded from

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination in employment, and with regard to access to facilities, programs, services, or activities sponsored by a public entity. Complaints must be addressed to the ADA Coordinator, 1450 Court Street, Suite 348, Redding, California 96001-1676, telephone (530) 225-5515; California Relay 711 OR 1-800-735-2922; fax (530) 225-5345; e-mail <u>ADAcoordinator@co.shasta.ca.us</u> The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, has been designated to coordinate compliance efforts with this program and Administrative Policy 1-117.

- A. <u>Contents of Complaints</u>. All complaints must be in writing. At a minimum, the complaint must contain the name and address of the person filing it, with a brief description of the alleged violation, the date the alleged violation occurred and anyother relevant information.
- B. <u>Time for Submitting Complaints</u>. A complaint must be filed within thirty days after the complainant becomes aware of the alleged violation.
- C. <u>Complaints Related to Employment</u>. Complaints regarding employment will be investigated by the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee. These rulescontemplate informal but thorough investigations, affording all interested persons and their representatives, if any, an opportunity to submit evidence relevant to a complaint. The formal rules of evidence shall not apply.
 - 1. A written determination as to the validity of the complaint and a description of its resolution shall be issued by the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, and a copy forwarded to the complainant no later than sixty days after its filing.
 - 2. The complainant may request the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, to review the case in an instance where the complainant is dissatisfied with the resolution. The request for review must be made within 10 days of the date of the written resolution. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, shall call a meeting at which the complainant, the Department Head, or his/her designee, may be present. Each party may be accompanied by a representative and maypresent additional relevant information. The ADA Coordinator shall issue a finaldecision within 20 days of the meeting.
- D. <u>Complaints Related to Access to Buildings, Facilities, Programs, Services or Activities</u>. Complaints by members of the public regarding access to County buildings, facilities, programs, services or activities must be submitted and will beaddressed pursuant to Administrative Policy 1-117, *Rights of Persons With Disabilities; Complaint Procedures*. A Complaint Form is included in Administrative Policy 1-117. The complaint will be investigated by the ADA Coordinator, or his/herdesignee, who may utilize other resources, such as direct contact with the complainant, the departments in question, legal counsel, or the County Administrative Office. The complaint shall be addressed as promptly as reasonably possible.
- E. <u>Maintenance of Records</u>. The ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, shall maintain the files and records of Shasta County relating to all filed complaints and their resolution. To the extent provided for under the law, all such records will remain confidential. Medical records, if any, shall be maintained separately and shall remain confidential.

F. <u>Construction of Rules</u>. These rules shall be construed to protect the substantive rights of interested persons to meet appropriate due process standards and to assure compliance with the laws and implementing regulations.

SECTION 25.8 LACTATION ACCOMMODATION POLICY.

- A. The County will provide a reasonable amount of break time to accommodate any employee desiring to express breast milk for the employee's infant child each timethe employee has a need to express milk.
 - 1. The break time shall, if possible, run concurrently with any break time already provided to the employee.
 - 2. If the employee takes lactation breaks at times other than their provided break times, then the lactation break shall be unpaid or the employee may chooseto use accrued leave.

Those desiring to take a lactation break at times other than their provided break times must notify a supervisor prior to taking such a break. Breaks may be reasonably delayed if they would seriously disrupt operations. Once a lactation break has been approved, the break should not be interrupted except for emergency or exigent circumstances.

- B. Employees will be provided a copy of the Lactation Accommodation Policy upon hire and when an employee requests or inquires regarding parental leave.
- C. <u>Lactation Break Locations</u>.
 - 1. The County will provide a room or other appropriate location in close proximity to the employee's worksite, that is not in a bathroom, to express milkin private. The County will provide a room or location in close proximity to theemployee's work area that is shielded from view and free from intrusion whilebeing used for expressing milk. The room or location will also meet the following requirements:
 - a. Be shielded from view and free from intrusion while being used to express milk;
 - b. Be safe, clean, and free of hazardous materials;
 - c. Contain a surface on which to place a breast pump and personalitems;
 - d. Contain a place to sit; and
 - e. Have access to electricity needed to operate a breast pump.
 - 2. An employee occupying such a private area shall either secure the door or otherwise make it clear to others through signage that the area is occupied and should not be disturbed.
 - 3. The County will provide access to a sink with running water and arefrigerator, or other cooling device, suitable for storing milk in close proximityto the employee's work area.

C. <u>Process</u>.

- 1. An employee may make a request for lactation accommodation, either orally or in writing, with a supervisor or manager.
- 2. Following receipt of a request for lactation accommodation, the supervisoror manager will review and make arrangements to accommodate the request.
 - a. The supervisor or manager will notify the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, immediately if it is determined that the department is unable to provide the requested break time or anappropriate location for the purposes of expressing breast milk.
 - b. A timely written response must be provided to the employee if unable to accommodate the requested break time or a requested location for the purposes of expressing breast milk.

D. <u>Right to File Complaint</u>.

- 1. Employees are encouraged to inform the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, if the employee does not believe that the County is providing an appropriate lactation accommodation as required by state law.
- 2. An employee who does not believe that the County is providing an appropriate lactation accommodation as required by state law has the right to file a complaint with the California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement/Labor Commissioner. A claim may be filed online at the State of California Department of Industrial Relations website at: https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/HowToReportViolationtoBOFE.htm

SECTION 25.9. <u>ALTERNATE FORMATS</u>. This policy can be provided in alternate formats to persons with disabilities. A person who requires an alternate format should contact the ADA Coordinator, or his/her designee, using the contact information in Section 25.7.

CHAPTER 26. ELECTRONIC ASSETS AND INFORMATION SECURITY

SECTION 26.1. ELECTRONIC ASSESTS AND INFORMATION SECURITY.

- A. Computer information systems and networks are an integral part of business at Shasta County offices. The County has made a substantial investment in human and financial resources to create these systems. These policies apply to all County employees, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County.
- B. These policies and directives have been established in order to:
 - 1. Protect this investment.
 - 2. Safeguard the information contained within these systems.
 - 3. Reduce business and legal risk.
 - 4. Protect the services to the citizens of the County.
- C. Violators of these policies may be subject to appropriate disciplinary action up to and including employment termination, termination of contracts, denial of service, and/or legal penalties, both criminal and civil.
- D. The Chief Information Officer is responsible for the administration of these policies.
- E. General responsibilities pertaining to these policies are set forth in this subsection. Additional specific responsibilities are listed in subsequent subsections when applicable to a particular section.
 - 1. Department Head Responsibilities:
 - a. Ensure that all appropriate personnel are aware of and comply with all applicable Shasta County policies dealing with electronic assets, information security, and confidentiality of County information assets.
 - b. Create appropriate performance standards, control practices, and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that all employees observe these policies.
 - 2. The Chief Information Officer's responsibility is to provide the appropriate support and guidance to assist employees to fulfill their responsibilities under this directive.
 - 3. The employee's responsibility is to know and abide by all applicable policies dealing with electronic assets, information security and confidentiality of County information assets.

SECTION 26.2. ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY.

- A. The increased use of electronic communications by employees gives rise to a number of issues, including the risk of unauthorized access to or dissemination of confidential governmental information, a potential for misuse of electronic communications for purposes of personal gain or for harassment of others, and questions concerning the ownership of and right to use the County's information assets.
 - 1. The purpose of this section is to provide direction to employees as to the proper use of electronic data and communication systems. Employees should be aware that a violation of this section, or any other applicable provision of this policy, might result in disciplinary action.
 - 2. This section applies to all employees, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County, including all personnel affiliated with third parties. This section applies to all equipment owned, leased, or otherwise used by employees to conduct the business of the County.
- B. The goals of this policy are to:
 - 1. Safeguard the electronic systems belonging to Shasta County;
 - 2. Safeguard the information assets of Shasta County;
 - 3. Prevent inappropriate use of County owned electronic systems;
 - 4. Clarify Department Head, or his/her designee, discretion regarding employees' reasonable use of County electronic systems and information assets;
 - 5. Assist in providing public access to public records which are not protected from disclosure;
 - 6. Eliminate County liability due to unauthorized information disclosure or software copyright violations; and
 - 7. Restrict the disclosure of County information to proper and intended recipients for appropriate uses.
- C. The following definitions are provided for clarification:
 - 1. **Electronic systems** include data processing systems, software, photocopiers, video or audio recording devices, printers, personal computers, Personal Digital Assistants (PDAs), voice mail, telephone systems, pagers, facsimile machines, modems, Internet services, modem connections, cellular telephones, and any other hardware peripherals.
 - 2. **Information assets** include all data and software, whether internally developedor acquired from outside the County. Information may be represented in a variety of formats, including hard copy, magnetic tape, floppy diskette, terminal display, microfiche, microfilm, or other methods of storage or transmission.

- 3. **Exporting** means sending, shipping, or transporting outside of the United States.
- D. PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES. Equipment, software and data are the sole property of the County. Unauthorized use of these systems is strictly prohibited and may result in discipline.

Unauthorized use includes, but is not limited to:

- 1. Personal use or operation of any system, except as allowed by Section 26.1, Use and Access of County Property, or other relevant provisions of this manual.
- 2. Use or operation of any electronic system for financial gain or in connection with political activities;
- 3. Operating any system in an unsafe or reckless manner;
- 4. Moving or disconnecting equipment without approval from the Information Technology Department;
- 5. Copyright violations such as the unauthorized copying, decompiling, or reverse engineering of software, or the illegal creation of a derivative work from licensed software;
- 6. Loading software which is not authorized by Information Technology, including security packages, encryption tools, or games; or
- 7. Removing equipment, software, or data from County premises without prior authorization.
- 8. Unauthorized use also includes, but is not limited to, accessing Internet sites not related to the employee's duties, playing computer games during work hours, working on personal documents during working hours, making unauthorized toll calls, making excessive personal telephone calls, etc. At the Department Head, or his/her designee's discretion, he/she may further limit employees' use of the County's electronic systems. The County's Incompatible Outside Employment Policy also limits the use of County time, tools, or data for any employee's personal gain. Employees should refer to that policy for further information.
- 9. Exception: County policy does not hold that an occasional and brief telephone call by an employee to his/her home, child's school, child care provider, doctor's office, etc., constitutes a violation, in and of itself, of this policy. Rather, employees and supervisors are to apply common sense and reasonable judgment in a consistent, non-discriminatory manner. Department Head, or his/her designee, has the authority and responsibility to limit inappropriate or excessive personal use of County telephones and should follow the County's discipline procedures where necessary.
- 10. Other prohibited activities include:
 - a. Giving another person an employee's password without the Department Head's, or his/her designee's prior knowledge and approval.

- b. Accessing, without a work-related need to know and authorization from management, any database or file containing confidential information, including but not limited to medical, mental health, or personnel records; welfare records; juvenile dependency or delinquency records; criminal histories ("rap sheets"); or child support records, whether or not the confidential information is disseminated to any other person.
- c. Encrypting data files without the Department Head or his/her designee's prior knowledge and approval.
- d. Accessing or transmitting "adult" or other sexually explicit websites or material, except as required for authorized law enforcement purposes.
- e. Recording, or electronically eavesdropping on the conversation of an employee without the prior authorization of all participants, unless the law or court order authorizes such recording or eavesdropping.
- f. Using the County's information systems in a manner that violates a stateor federal law, which makes the access to, or dissemination or use of, specified information a crime whether or not the employee knows of the existence of that law or the criminal penalties it imposes.
- g. Violations of the rights of any person or organization protected by copyright, trade secret, patent or other intellectual property, or similar laws or regulations, by any means, including, but not limited to, the installation or distribution of "pirated" or other software products that are not appropriately licensed for use by the County.
- h. Unauthorized copying of copyrighted material including, but not limited to, digitization and distribution of photographs from magazines, books, or other copyrighted sources, copyrighted music, the installation of any copyrightedsoftware for which the County or the end user does not have an active license.
- i. Exporting software, technical information, encryption software, or technology, in violation of international or regional export control laws. The Department Head, or his/her designee, along with County Counsel, should be consulted prior to any questionable exportation.
- j. Introduction of malicious programs into the network or server (e.g., viruses, worms, Trojan horses, email bombs, etc.).
- k. Revealing an employee's account password to others or allowing use of that account by others, including family and other household members, when work is being done at home.
- I. Using a County electronic asset to engage in procuring or transmitting material that may violate the County's policies against discrimination and harassment.

- m. Making fraudulent offers of products, items, or services originating from any County account.
- n. Effecting security breaches or disruptions of network communication, including but not limited to, accessing data of which the employee is not an intended recipient or logging in to a server or account that the employee is not expressly authorized to access. "Disruption" includes, but is not limited to, network sniffing, pinged floods, packet spoofing, denial of service, and forged routing information.
- o. Port scanning or security scanning without prior approval from the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee.
- p. Executing any form of network monitoring that will intercept data not intended for the employee's computer, unless this activity is a part of the employee=s normal job/duty.
- q. Circumventing user authentication or security of any host, network, or account.
- r. Interfering with or denying service to any user other than the employee's host (e.g., denial of service attack).
- s. Using any program/script/command, or sending messages of any kind, with the intent to interfere with, or disable, a user's terminal session, by any means, locally or via the Internet/Intranet/Extranet. or
- t. Providing information about, or list of, County employees to partiesoutside the County without appropriate authorization.
- 11. The activities described in the above sub-paragraphs b, e thru o, q, s, and t of paragraph 10 may also constitute crimes under state or federal law. Employees who are believed to have violated such laws will be subject to prosecution.
- 12. Employees, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County ("workers") should understand that they have no reasonable expectation of privacy in connection with the County's electronic systems and information assets. The County reserves the right to review electronic systems and information assets without prior notice to workers. The County will from time to time conduct reviews or audits of electronic systems and information assets without prior notice to workers, when in the exercise of its business judgment, the County determines that it would be prudent to do so. Any such review or audit of electronic systems and information assets may be conducted by authorized individuals as directed by the Department Head, or his/her designee, and/or the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee.
- 13. Employees should understand that Information Technology's staff can track most computer activity, including access to specific databases, and can by-pass passwords.

- E. SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION ASSETS. All information maintained by Shasta County is considered a County asset and shall be protected from damage, loss, misuse, or inappropriate disclosure. Department Head, or his/her designee, are responsible for administering adequate controls to insure the security, confidentiality, and integrity of information. Furthermore, all County employees are required to maintain proper levels of protection for information assets.
 - 1. The County, through the Department Head, or his/her designee, is designated as the owner of those information assets, which are held within his/her department. Individual managers and employees may be assigned custodial responsibility at the department or application system level to insure accuracy, integrity, security, adequate controls and confidentiality (where necessary) of the information assets. Where proprietary software or property has been provided to Shasta County under confidentiality agreements, it is the Department Head, or his/her designee, responsibility to assure knowledge of and compliance with the terms of such agreements.
 - 2. Pursuant to the California Public Records Act, "public records," not otherwise exempt from disclosure, must be open to inspection at all times during the office hours of the County and every citizen has a right to inspect any public record in accordance with the procedures of and as limited by the Act. Government Code Sections 6252 and 6254 define the term "public record" for purposes of the Act's disclosure requirements. "Public record" includes most information maintained electronically.
 - 3. Much of the data processed by Shasta County employees is of a sensitive and/or confidential nature. Each County employee must become familiar with the distinctions between the information assets of the employee's department which must be disclosed to the public and those which are exempt from disclosure. Any employee having a question concerning the possible confidentiality of information assets should question his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, before releasing any information. Further, any citizen inquiries concerning the department's procedures for processing data should be referred to the Department Head or his/her designee, who should, when necessary, consult with County Counsel. Providing access to production data or information without a work related need to know without authorization is in direct violation of this policy and could subject the employee to disciplinary action.
 - 4. Employees who access, disclose, alter, or willfully destroy information which adversely impacts the County's services or who violate copyright laws, are and will be subject to applicable federal, state, and local criminal laws as well as to disciplinary action pursuant to County policies and procedures.
 - 5. Where possible, all PCs, laptops, and workstations must be secured with a password-protected screen saver with the automatic activation feature set at 10 minutes or less, or by logging off (control-alt-delete for Win2K users) when unattended.
 - 6. All PDAs must be secured in a manner that requires the entry of a password whenever the device is powered on.

- 7. All devices used by the employee that are connected to the County Internet/Intranet/Extranet, whether owned by the employee or County, must be continually executing approved virus-scanning software with a current virus database.
- 8. Employees must use extreme caution when opening email attachments received from unknown senders. Email attachments from unknown senders may contain viruses, email bombs, or other malicious code. When in doubt, contact the IT Call Center prior to opening this type of email.

SECTION 26.3. USE OF ELECTRONIC MAIL.

- A. Shasta County recognizes and encourages the use of computers and the electronic mail (email) system in its daily business and communications. Shasta County's email system is a valuable tool that can assist in eliminating "telephone tag" and reduce the production and circulation of hard copy of memoranda and other correspondence. Each individual has responsibility as outlined in this policy relating to the professional use of the mail system.
 - 1. This section defines the proper use of email for employees of Shasta County. Email is defined as written or typed messages, such as memos or letters, sent and delivered by communications link from person to person. Email consists of the primary text of the message and any attachments, such as word processing files, spreadsheet files, documents, and graphics.
 - 2. The purpose of this section is to ensure that all County email communications are used in a professional manner for the purpose of conducting the County's business, to ensure that all email communications are secured to prevent unauthorized access, unintended loss, or malicious destruction of data, and to provide for the integrityand availability of all email systems.
- B. Inasmuch as all of the computer systems and the data stored on them are theproperty of the County, all email messages composed, sent, or received on County devices are and remain the property of the County. Additionally:
 - 1. County information technology resources, including email, are to be used for the purpose of conducting the County's business. Incidental, non-business use of County information technology resources will be addressed by each County Department Head, or his/her designee, in written policy as allowed by Chapter 27, Use and Access of County Property.
 - 2. Notwithstanding a Department Head, or his/her designee's authorization for incidental, non-business use of County email, it is County policy that the County email system shall not be used to send "mass" or "broadcast" emails that are not for the purpose of conducting the County's business.
 - 3. Department Head, or his/her designee, have the authority and responsibility to limit inappropriate or excessive personal use of the County's e-mail system and should follow the County's discipline procedures where necessary. In the absence of a written policy, email may not be used for any personal communications of any kind.

- 4. Employees should understand that email messages are not private and that they have no reasonable expectation that such messages will be considered confidential. Unless a specific exemption applies, all email messages, even those that have been erased, may be considered to be public records subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act. Those messages might also be accessed by persons involved in litigation with the County and used as evidence.
- 5. Access to email services is a privilege that may be wholly or partially restricted, through the exercise of management prerogatives without prior notice or without consent of the user.
- 6. Email is subject to the policies concerning other forms of communication as well as all other applicable policies including, but not limited to, confidentiality, conflict of interest, general conduct, discrimination, and harassment.
- 7. Email services shall not be used for purposes that could reasonably be expected to cause, directly or indirectly, unwarranted or unsolicited interference with others' use of email or the email system. Chain letters are prohibited.
- 8. Information Technology shall take appropriate steps to protect all email services from various types of security threats as follows:
 - a. The email servers shall be placed in safe locations that are physically secured.
 - b. The email servers shall have appropriate backups of software and data performed on a regular basis.
 - c. The email system shall have anti-virus software to scan the server itself and all the email messages traversing the system.
- 9. A County owned asset cannot reside on non-County owned resources such as Hotmail, AOL, Yahoo, etc. where the County has no jurisdiction. This means that these types of services are not to be used to conduct County business.
- 10. Encryption of email may be appropriate in some instances to secure the contents of an email message. Each user should be cognizant of the sensitivity of information contained in email and understand that it may be passed beyond the intended recipient, even when encrypted. Encryption must follow County standards.
- 11. When an authorized user terminates County employment or transfers to another County department or office, the Department Head, or his/her designee, will notify Information Technology to have the employee's email account terminated or transferred.
- 12. An employee learning of any misuse of the email system or other violations of this policy should notify his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, or the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee, as soon as possible. A supervisory employee who becomes aware of misuses of the email system must also report

the conduct to the Department Head, or his/her designee, as required by Section 22.4.C.

SECTION 26.4. <u>LOGON BANNER POLICY</u>. The purpose of this section is to establish that all County electronic computer systems will display a logon banner before a user is allowed to log on to the system. The logon banner message will inform the potential user of acceptable uses of the system, and of access restrictions, limitations, and expectations imposed as a condition of such use. This section applies to all County employees, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County, including all personnel affiliated with third parties. This section applies to all equipment owned, leased, or otherwise used by employees to conduct the business of the County.

- A. The goal of this section is to prevent inappropriate use of County-owned computer systems and to reduce the risk to the County of litigation and liability due to inappropriate use of County-owned computer systems.
- B. The contents of the banner message must contain the following:
 - 1. The logon banner message will include the following information:
 - a. That unauthorized access to the system is prohibited.
 - b. The consequences of inappropriate system use.
 - c. That activity may be monitored and that use of the system implies consent to such monitoring.
 - d. Law enforcement or other investigative officials for appropriate action, if warranted, may use that information obtained during such monitoring.
 - 2. The user will acknowledge acceptance of the terms and conditions described in the logon banner message by some positive action, such as pressing a key to continue to the logon screen.
 - 3. The word "Welcome" will not appear in the logon banner as its appearance could imply that anyone is welcome to access and use the system.
 - 4. Information Technology shall determine the exact wording of the logon banner, in consultation with County Counsel.

SECTION 26.5. <u>PASSWORD POLICY</u>. Passwords are an important aspect of computer security and are usually the front line of protection for user accounts. A poorly chosen password may result in the compromise of the County's entire enterprise network. As such, all employees (including contractors, vendors, and temporary staff with access to County systems) are responsible for taking the appropriate steps, as outlined below, to select and secure their passwords.

A. The goals of this section are to establish standards for creation of strong passwords, the protection of those passwords, and the frequency of change.

- B. This policy includes all persons who have or are responsible for an account (or any form of access that supports or requires a password) on any system that resides at any County facility, has access to a County network, or stores any County controlled information.
- C. All user-level passwords (e.g., email, applications, desktop computer, etc.) must be changed at least quarterly. User accounts that have system-level privileges granted through group memberships or programs must have a unique password from all other accounts heldby that user. Passwords must not be listed in email messages or other forms of electronic communication. All user-level and system-level passwords must conform to the following requirements:
 - 1. Passwords are used for various purposes. Some of the more common uses include: user-level accounts, email accounts, screen saver protection, voicemail password, and local router log-ins. All users should be aware of how to select strong passwords.
 - 2. Where permitted, passwords are to be no less than eight characters in length. All passwords are to be treated as sensitive, confidential information. No employee shall use the login ID or the password of any other employee, without Department Head, or his/her designee, approval.
 - 3. If an employee, contractor, consultant or other worker at the County suspectsan account or password has been compromised, the employee must report the incidentto the IT Call Center.

SECTION 26.6. <u>REMOTE ACCESS POLICY</u>. This section contains the standards for connecting to Shasta County's network from a remote location. These standards are designed to minimize the potential exposure to the County from damage, which may result from unauthorized use of County resources, such as the loss of sensitive or confidential data, violation of intellectual property, damage to the County's public image, or damage to critical County internal systems.

This policy applies to all employees, volunteers, contractors, consultants, non-County agencies, and others who are authorized to access the computer networks. This policy applies to remote access connections used to do work on behalf of Shasta County, including reading or sending email and viewing intranet web resources.

- A. The following definitions are used in this section:
 - 1. VPN Virtual Private Network a means of connecting a remote computer to a network across the Internet by creating a secure encrypted tunnel.
 - 2. DMZ Demilitarized Zone a network segment on a Firewall that is outside the internal network (lower security) and inside the Internet (higher security), used for placing devices that may need to be accessed by the Internet (Web servers, etc.).
 - 3. Remote Access a means of accessing core network resources from a site not physically connected, accomplished by Dialup connection, or a DSL, or Cable modem, with a VPN tunnel.
- B. The following are the limitations on remote access:

- 1. Remote access will be granted for authorized County work only. All remote access to the County network will be accomplished via a secure remote access method (including, but not limited to, strong authentication, Virtual Private Network (VPN), controlled dial-in/dial-out, firewall demilitarized zone (DMZ)).
- 2. Internet services, if allowed, will be strictly controlled by firewall technology to provide preventative and detective controls.
- e. Access from a remote site to a County network that contains sensitive or restricted information may require extended identification and authentication procedures.
- 4. Access to County resources will only be allowed from County owned and controlled computers, unless otherwise authorized by Information Technology. All authorized employees accessing the County network from their privately owned computers will exercise due diligence in ensuring that their systems (both hardware and software) are free from computer viral infection and unauthorized use.
- 5. When an authorized user terminates employment or transfers to another department or office all existing remote access services will be terminated. Remote access will have to be re-justified and re-established for any new County position. County owned hardware must be returned and software permanently deleted from privately owned equipment.

SECTION 26.7. <u>CASUAL REMOTE ACCESS</u>. PURPOSE. Modern business practices often provide for an employee to be able to check electronic communications tools from home or other non-work sites, which will be referred to as "casual remoteaccess.""Communication tools" are voice mail, email, electronic calendar, or other similar tools.

- A. This section is intended to facilitate casual remote access, when appropriate, and to define the restrictions and responsibilities of employees and others who are authorized casual remote access. Managers and other employees who are not subject to overtime pay may have fewer limitations to casual remote access than other employees. Contractors, consultants, non-County agencies, and others who are authorized to use the County's computer networks may be subject to these provisions.
- B. The County's email System can be accessed from non-work sites through a specific secure website via a web browser or other electronic communications tools. The Information Technology Call Center will set up access, if authorized by the Department Head or his/her designee. The Department Head, or his/her designee, will establish the appropriate restrictions for the employee's casual remote access to e-mail. In some situations, the department might expect an employee who is out of the area at a work-related training or conference to check email, similar to expectations to check and respond to voice mail as part of the normal work day. In some situations, during non-work time an employee may be authorized, for their own convenience and in a non-pay status, to access e-mail, voice mail, or their schedule for minimal amounts of time. The department has flexibility to authorize an employee to work or work overtime, via casual remote access; however, this policy is not intended to replace the County's Telecommuting Policy.
- C. The process for accessing the County's email or other electronic tools has been set upby the Information Technology Department, who reserves the right to discontinue the service ifthe need arises

SECTION 26.8. INFORMATION SECURITY AWARENESS, TRAINING, AND EDUCATION POLICY. Security Awareness Training & Education (SATE) is key to minimizing the County's exposure to both malicious threats and accidental errors and omissions. SATE is not only defined as industry best practices, it is also a statutory requirement for the HIPAA covered components of the County, (i.e., Public Health, Mental Health, Drug and Alcohol programs, County Counsel and Information Technology, see C.F.R. Section 164.308(a)(5)(i) HIPAA). This policy sets forth a minimumstandard for SATE to reduce the County's risk. Each department is responsible for ensuring that all employees are trained to at least this minimum standard. In certain situations it will be necessary for Departments to provide additional training.

- A. The goals of this section are to:
 - 1. To educate employees about the County=s Information Security Policies and help foster an understanding of how the policies protect the organization, its employees, and the public.
 - 2. To document each employee's knowledge and understanding of policies and procedures, allow for disciplinary action when required, and promote the development of good working habits.
 - 3. This policy applies to all employees, volunteers, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County, including all personnel affiliated with third parties. The level of SATE required by an individual employee is determined by that employee's level of access to information and information systems.
- B. The term "Security Awareness" is considered the daily "moment-by-moment" awareness level, while the term "Security Training" relates to the basic training all employees need to build their basic security skills. Security Awareness is partially a by-product of formal training, but it also is the result of efforts made by the department to enhance awareness.
- C. Basic security training will be provided for all new employees, ideally before the employee begins to perform his job duties. Additionally, all employees must complete security policy training every two years.
- D. General responsibilities pertaining to this policy are set forth in Section 26.1. The following subsection lists additional specific responsibilities.
 - 1. Manager Responsibilities:
 - a. Ensure that all employees complete the available basic security awareness training within the employee's first 30 days of employment.
 - b. Ensure that all employees have received departmental training on the difference between "public" records and the need to keep certain information "confidential."
 - 2. Information Technology Department Responsibilities:

- a. Develop an Information Technology Security Awareness training program capable of training delivery, tracking, testing, and reporting to ensure implementation of and compliance with this policy.
- b. Develop and maintain security curriculum.
- c. Periodically provide departments notification when employees have not met security awareness training requirements.
- d. Periodically provide employees with "visual cues" or "reminders" to help employees think about security.
- 3. Employee Responsibilities:
 - a. Successfully complete available basic Information Technology's Security Awareness training within first 30 days of employment.
 - b. Successfully complete Security Policy training every two years.
 - c. Work with Security Awareness in mind.
 - d. Report any potential information systems security issues to the IT Call Center immediately.
- E. An employee's User ID may be temporarily disabled for non-compliance with Security Awareness training and testing requirements.

SECTION 26.9. SOFTWARE COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSING POLICY.

- A. The purpose of this section is to clarify software copyrights and licensing policies:
 - 1. There is a significant financial liability to the County if software that has not been legally obtained is used on County-owned or leased equipment.
 - 2. All employees and other users of County computers shall adhere to computer software copyright statutes when on County-owned or controlled property.
 - 3. **Copyright infringement is a felony.** The County will not condone nor contribute to the commission of a felony. Only licensed copies of copyrighted software may be installed on the County's PCs, laptops, servers, or other electronic storage device.
 - 4. To facilitate the tracking of licensed software and prevent copyright infringement, all software purchases shall be made by or coordinated through the Information Technology department.
- B. The following definitions apply to this section:
 - 1. "Outside software" is software that is written or published by any person or organization other than Shasta County Information Technology.

- 2. "Copyright" is the exclusive legal right to publish, reproduce, copy, or sell the matter and form. If a work is copyrightable, it should be treated as if it is protected by copyright.
- 3. "License" is an authorization by the owner of a work permitting the use of that work.
- C. The following describes the County approved software to be used:
 - 1. Only software that has been legally acquired and licensed may be used. Employees should check the documentation provided with the software before makingcopies for others. Copies of software should ordinarily be made for backup purposes only.
 - 2. There is a potential for introducing a virus into a County system, and possibly even Countywide, whenever outside software is used. An employee who needs to use an outside software program for business purposes must first obtain permission from his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, and from the Information Technology department.
 - 3. Software is only to be loaded onto County computers by Information Technology so that it can be properly inventoried and more easily supported by Information Technology. Failure to comply with this puts the department and the County at risk of copyright infringement.
 - 4. Software used on County-owned or controlled computer hardware shall be limited to that which:
 - a. Is covered by a licensing agreement with the software author(s), publisher, or vendor.
 - b. Has been donated to the County. A written record of the contribution is on file in the receiving county department. County office and license is in the name of the County. A copy of the license must be on file with Information Technology and the software must be installed by the Information Technology department.
 - c. Was purchased by the County and a record of the purchase is on file in the Information Technology department.
 - d. Was written or developed by an employee or consultant, for the specific purpose of being used on County computers. In the event of consultant-provided software, a formal County contract shall be in place delineating the legal requirements concerning the use of such software, and all users shall abide by such contract.
 - 5. All software developed by employees in the course of their work becomes the sole property of Shasta County, and the employee retains no rights to the software.
- D. It is every Department Head, or his/her designee's, responsibility to ensure that he/she has valid licenses for all software used in that department. The County retains the right to

examine, without notice, all electronic storage media, data files, logs, and programs used on County computer equipment.

SECTION 26.10. VOICE MAIL POLICY.

- A. Use of the County's voice mail system is a privilege and not a right. Voice mail is an electronic communication device and should be treated the same as Email or any other information system. This policy applies to all employees, volunteers, contractors, consultants, and other workers at the County, including all personnel affiliated with third parties.
- B. Voice mail is an electronic communication system in which spoken messages are recorded or digitized for later playback to the intended recipient.
- C. The following limitations apply to the use of voicemail:
 - 1. Voice mail uses passwords for security. Any policy for periodically changing voicemail passwords is left to the discretion of the Department Head, or his/her designee. No employee shall use the Voicemail user ID or password of any other employee without permission from the Department Head, or his/her designee. For those departments that use a group voice mailbox, it is up to the Department Head or his/her designee, to determine the policy, keeping security a priority.
 - 2. Voice mail messages should be limited to County business matters. Voice mail may never be used for the conduct of outside business pursuits or political activities, although it may be used for receiving necessary messages from family members, child care providers, or the like.
 - 3. Before attempting to access a current employee's voice mail "mailbox," the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, through the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee, must make reasonable efforts to obtain the employee's consent to such access. If consent is denied, the employee must clear his/her mailbox of any personal messages within the time set by the Department Head, or his/her designee, after which time the County may access the employee's mailbox and listen to any remaining messages. In addition, an employee's mailbox may be accessed without attempting to obtain the employee's consent following the effective date of the employee's separation from employment or his/her last day of work, whichever is earlier.
 - 4. When an authorized user terminates employment or transfers to another department, office or agency, the Department Head, or his/her designee, or the designee will notify Information Technology to have the employee's voicemail account terminated or transferred.
 - 5. An employee learning of any misuse of the voice mail system or other violations of this policy should notify his/her Department Head, or his/her designee, or the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee, as soon as possible.

SECTION 26.11. REMOVABLE STORAGE DEVICES POLICY.

- A. PURPOSE. This policy has been created to define standards for the utilization of removable storage devices such as, but not limited to, floppy discs, CDs, DVDs, USB drives, etc. These standards are designed to minimize the potential exposure to the County from damages. Damages may include the loss of sensitive or confidential data, intellectual property, damage to public image, or damage to critical County internal systems.
- B. SCOPE. This policy applies to all County employees, volunteers, vendors, contractors, consultants, non-County agencies, and others who are authorized to access the County's resources.

C. DEFINITIONS

- 1. Removable Storage Device Portable device used to copy and store information on portable media such as, but not limited to, a floppy disc, CD, DVD or USB drives, external hard drives.
- 2. Floppy Discs Old style storage media. Square plastic device that holds 1.44mb of data.
- 3. CD Compact Disc
- 4. CD-RW Compact Disc Rewritable
- 5. DVD Digital Video Disc
- 6. DVD-RW Digital Video Disc Rewritable
- USB Drive Small drives that plug into a personal computer's Universal Serial Bus (USB) port and stores information. Also termed thumb drives, USB key fobs, flash drives, etc.
- 8. EPHI Electronic Protected Health Information
- 9. PHI Protected Health Information Individual health information that: 1) identifies theindividual in any way; 2) is created or received by a health care provider; or 3) is billed for payment to a third party.
- 10. County Resources For the purposes of this policy, County Resources are defined as any equipment or information owned by or in possession of the County of Shasta. This could include, but is not limited to, equipment, computer devices, networks, software applications, documents, files, etc.
- 11, Reformat perform an "unconditional" or "complete" (i.e., not "quick") format.
- 12. Destroy first perform an "unconditional" or "complete" (i.e., not a "quick") format, then cut in half or break apart before disposing.
- 13. Encryption the process of transforming electronic data using an algorithm making it unreadable except to those in possession of a key that enables the data to be decrypted. Encryption can be accomplished by using various encryption software

and/or by copying files to an encrypted removable media device such as but not limited an encrypted USB drive. The acquisition of encryption software and/or encryption devices requires prior County Information Technology Department (County IT) approval (refer to Section 2.5.3 of the Shasta County Contracts Manual).

D. DESCRIPTION

- 1. Access to the County network and resources attached to the network will only be allowed from County owned or controlled computers, unless otherwise authorized by the County IT. All authorized employees accessing the County network from their county-owned or non-county owned computers will exercise caution in ensuring that allinformation copied to a removable storage device is stored, used and disposed of properly as delineated in this policy.
- 2. Shasta County operating system files and application files are not to be copied or modified at any time.
- 3. Loss, theft or unauthorized disclosure of a portable or removable storage device that contains County data must be reported immediately to the appropriate Department Head, or his/her designee.
- 4. When an authorized user terminates County employment, transfers to another County department, office or agency, or contractual relationship with the County is terminated, all existing removable storage devices will remain with and/or be returned to the department that owns the data contained on these devices.
- 5. Media Reuse / Disposal

Floppy discs, CD-RW, or DVD-RW containing sensitive or confidential data should never be reused for another purpose. When an employee is finished using this type of media with sensitive or confidential data, the media must be destroyed using one of the following methods.

- a. Destruction of this type of media is best accomplished by running it through a crosscut shredder that is rated to handle materials of this thickness.
- b. Contact County IT (245-7575) to have the media destroyed. County IT can shred the media, use a device that grinds the recordable surface from the media or use other appropriate destruction methods.

For the purpose of re-using Removable Storage Devices, if an employee gives a previously used floppy disc, CD-RW, DVD-RW, or USB drive to another County employee for their use, the originating employee must reformat it first.

- 6. If an employee, volunteer, or vendor/contractor uses any of these removable storage devices for the purposes of storing or transmitting EPHI, they must password protect orencrypt any sensitive or confidential data and EPHI.
- 7. If an employee, volunteer, or vendor, contractor, or consultant uses any of these removable storage devices for the purposes of storing or transmitting information

other than EPHI, they should password protect or encrypt any sensitive or confidential data, unless there are other protective measures currently in place as allowed by departmental policy, local, state, or federal law.

8. If an employee, vendor, contractor or consultant who has access to sensitive or confidential information or EPHI terminates employment or contractual relationship with the County, the Department Head, or his/her designee, must ensure all County resources, including the above referenced information, media, and all removable storage devices containing such data, remains with the County.

SECTION 26.12. MOBILE DATA DEVICE POLICY.

- A. Mobile electronic communication devices are capable of connecting to the County network for the purpose of synchronizing data contained in an employee's County email account. Because of the mobility and the size of these devices, they are susceptible to being misplaced, lost, or stolen. Protecting the information contained on these devices from being viewed and/or exploited by unauthorized personnel is of the utmost importance.
 - 1. This section defines the proper use of mobile electronic communication devices connected to the County network as well as important safeguards that must be followed.
 - 2. The purpose of this section is to establish standards for the use of mobile electronic communication devices connected to the County network. These standards are designed to prevent unauthorized access of County information.
- B. The following definitions are used in this section:
 - 1. "Mobile Data Device" a computing device that is usually much smaller than a typical laptop computer that is easily transported from place to place. These devices communicate with various networks using one or more wireless technologies usually Wi-Fi and/or a cellular phone network. These devices are distinguished from desktop and laptop computers by the fact that a mobile data device cannot be joined to the County network through a standard Activedirectory configuration. Some examples of mobile data devices are smartphones, iPads, Nooks, Kindles, Zooms, and other devices running the Android operating system.
 - "Smartphone" a mobile telephone that also includes many of the features of a standard computer. Some of the features might include sending/receiving email, browsing the Internet, and loading software applications (apps). Some common smartphones are Blackberry, iPhone, and phones using the Android operating system.
 - 3. "Personal Mobile Data Device" a mobile data device that is owned by the employee and where, if the device can communicate via a cellular network, the employee is personally responsible for all charges that are incurred through the cellular network carrier.
 - 4. "County Provided Mobile Data Device" a mobile data device that is provided by the County and where, if the device can communicate via a cellular network,

monthly charges incurred through the cellular network carrier are paid for by the County.

- 5. "Secure Digital (SD) Cards, Compact Flash (CF) Cards, Memory Sticks, Flash-Based Supplemental Storage Media" – different types of memory that can be added to increase the storage capacity of some mobile data devices.
- 6. "KILL" This is the term used to describe the process of removing a mobiledata device's connection to the County network. This process also includes clearing all data from the mobile data device and returning it to its factory settings. The device returns to the state it was in when originally purchased.
- C. When a department is contemplating issuing a County provided mobile data device, they should consult with their assigned IT Analyst who can help identify features, functions, pros, and cons of the various devices available.
- D. The privilege of having a smartphone connected to the County network requires the employee to comply with certain responsibilities and rules pertaining to the use and security of data contained on the smartphone.
 - 1. Failure to comply with these responsibilities and rules will result in immediate suspension of the employee's connection to the County network.
 - 2. The Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee, will make the final determination as to whether a mobile data device will be connected and/or remain connected to the County network.
- E. It is the responsibility of the employee who is connecting to the County network to ensure that all components of his/her connection remain as secure as his/her network access within the County. It is imperative that any wired (via sync cord, for example) or wireless connection, including, but not limited to mobile data devices and service, usedto conduct County business be utilized appropriately, responsibly, and ethically. The following rules must be observed by employees that are using a mobile data device connected to the County network:
 - 1. The types of devices that are allowed to connect to the County network are limited. Please check with the Shasta County Information TechnologyDepartment (County IT) to determine the current devices and software versions that are supported.
 - a. Prior to initial use for connecting to the County network, employee must execute either the Personal Mobile Data Device Agreement or the County Provided Mobile Data Device Agreement (located in Appendix A) and verify with County IT that all hardware, software and related services are compatible with the County network.
 - b. Both the Personal Mobile Data Device Agreement and the County Provided Mobile Data Device Agreement must be approved by the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, or his/her designee and sent to the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee, for final approval.

- 2. Some mobile data devices may require the purchase of a software application (app) to allow the mobile data device to comply with County IT mandated security requirements.
 - a. Personal Mobile Data Device

Employee must receive prior approval from IT before installing any software application in order to ensure software and device comply with County mandated security requirements. Employeeis responsible for all costs of required software applications. If the mobile data device can communicate with a cellular network, it is the employee's responsibility to set up his/her individual calling plan with their cellular network provider and to pay all charges incurred.

b. County Provided Mobile Data Device

With the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, approval, the department will purchase the required software application.

- i. If software applications are required, the department requesting connection of the County provided device will be responsible for making this purchase prior to the device being connected to the County network.
- ii. The employee's department is responsible for all costs of required software applications.
- iii. If the mobile data device can communicate with a cellular network, it is the employee's department's responsibility to set up the employee's individual calling plan with a cellular network provider and to pay all charges incurred. Any service issues or billing disputes with the carrier or vendor are the sole responsibility and obligation of the employee's department.
- 3. Employees who access, via their mobile data device, Protected Health Information (PHI), and/or Personally Identifiable Information (PII), and/or any other data deemed by policy or statute to require encryption, are required to maintain the settings on their mobile data device such that data encryption is enabled at all times.
- 4. Privacy
 - 1. Personal Mobile Data Device By voluntarily connecting a personal device to County resources, employees do not have any reasonable expectation of privacy concerning any and all of the information stored on his/her device. The County reserves the right to review and access at any time any and all of the information stored on personal devices, including, but not limited to, wireless devices, which are used to connectto County resources, such as email. Employee access and/or connection to the County network may be monitored to record dates, times, duration of access, etc., in order to identify unusual usage patterns or other suspicious

activity in order to identify accounts or systems that may have been compromised by external parties. When anemployee voluntarily connects a personal device to County resources, the County has the right and the ability to review and access any and all information on the employee's personal device, including data the employee may view as personal. The County's right and ability to reviewand access any and all information on that personal device exists for theentire time the employee uses the device to connect to County resources. Should employee wish to terminate the connection to Countyresources, employee shall submit the personal device for access and review by County IT to ensure that all County related information is removed from the personal device. Any employee who refuses to surrender a personal device connected to County resources when requested by his or her supervisor to access and review the information on the device may be subject to disciplinary action.

- b. County Provided Mobile Data Device - Employees have no reasonable expectation of privacy concerning any and all of the information stored on a County provided device. The County reserves the right to review and access at any time any and all of the information stored on county provided devices, including, but not limited to, wireless devices, which are used to connect to County resources, such as email. Employee access and/or connection to the County network may be monitored to record dates, times, duration of access, etc., in order to identify unusual usage patterns or other suspicious activity in order to identify accountsor systems that may have been compromised by external parties. When an employee voluntarily accepts a County provided device, the County has the right and the ability to review and access any and all informationon that device, including data the employee may view as personal. Should employee wish to stop using a County provided device, employee shall return the County provided device. Any employee who refuses to surrender a County provided device when requested by his orher supervisor may be subject to disciplinary action.
- 5. Employees accessing any County network with mobile data devices, are required to know and adhere to all County policies and guidelines, including policies and procedures concerning the confidentiality of the data being accessed and personal activities during work hours.
- 6. Any and all data obtained via the County network remains the property of the County in perpetuity.
- 7. Passwords and other confidential data are not to be stored on any associated storage devices such as Secure Digital (SD) and Compact Flash (CF) cards, as well as Memory Sticks and related flash-based supplemental storage media.
- 8. Employees who dispose of their device or return it to the vendor must remove all County information from the device before disposing of it or returning it to the vendor. Employees can contact County IT (245-7575) if they need assistance in removing County information from the employee's device.

- 9. Employees must immediately report a missing, replaced, or stolen mobile data device to County IT (245-7575) and to their personal cell carrier if applicable. County IT will send a "KILL" command that will clear ALL data from the device and return the device to the configuration it was in when originally purchased.
- 10. For Personal Mobile data devices and for County Provide Mobile data devices where the department permits the employee to store personal data on the mobile data device, it is the employee's responsibility to back up their personal data, settings, media, or applications in the event the device has to be "KILLED" by County IT.
- 11. The mobile data device is subject to a remote "KILL" under the following conditions:
 - a. Lost or stolen device.
 - b. Six consecutive failed password attempts (assumes the device isno longer in the owner's possession).
 - c. Employee leaves the employ of the County.
 - d. Department Head, or his/her designee, request.
 - e. County IT determines that any access to the County network is at risk (subject to approval of the Chief Information Officer, or his/her designee).
- 12. Employees must abide by all municipal, state, and federal laws concerning the use of mobile devices.
- 13. All mobile data devices connected to the County network will be forced to comply with complex password policies. This means that to use the device, the employee will have to unlock the device by entering the valid password. Additionally, password changes will be required as determined by County IT. Mobile data devices will automatically lock (requiring the user to re-enter his/her password) after 10 minutes of inactivity. Passwords are not to be divulged to others (see Acceptable Use Policy within this chapter).
- 14. County IT will charge the employee's department the current IT Professional Service hourly rate for all support of personal devices connected to the County. The employee must follow his/her department's procedures for obtaining services from the County IT.

This page is intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes

CHAPTER 27. USE OF AND ACCESS TO COUNTY PROPERTY, AND EXPECTATIONS OF PRIVACY

SECTION 27.1. <u>USE OF AND ACCESS TO COUNTY PROPERTY</u>. County-owned or County-leased property, including, but not limited to, work sites, facilities, equipment, offices, desks, furnishings, tools, and supplies are to be used for authorized public purposes only. No County officeror employee may use any County property to conduct political campaign activities or for any other personal purposes or gain. Prohibited activities include, but are not limited to, using County tools to repair or maintain an employee's own personal vehicle, tools, or equipment; working on personal projects at a County worksite; or using office equipment for the processing of personal correspondence or other documents; provided, however, occasional, incidental use of office equipment for personal reasons on non-work time may be approved by the Department Head, or his/her designee. Use of County-owned or leased property is further defined by Chapter 26, the Electronic Systems and Information Security Policy; Chapter 28, the Outside Employment Policy; Chapter 33, the Vehicle Operations Policy; and Chapter 38, Campaign Activities.

SECTION 27.2. EXPECTATIONS OF PRIVACY.

- A. County employees have a reasonable expectation of privacy as to their own personal property and effects, such as their purses, brief cases, lunch boxes, or other personal itemsthat the employee may bring to the workplace. However, the County maintains control over all County-owned, County-leased, or County-supplied vehicles, offices, storage facilities, desks, furnishings, lockers, file cabinets, and files. An employee has no reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to those County-owned or County-leased places or items and supervisors and managers shall have access to them at any time for any business-related reason, unless the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, has given the employee the only access key to that vehicle, desk, file cabinet, locker, or other container or enclosure. See also Chapter 26, the Electronic Systems and Information Assets Policy.
- B. With regard to public safety officers as defined in the Peace Officers' Bill of Rights, County supervisors or managers shall have access to a locker or other storage space assigned to a public safety officer only in the presence of the employee, or with his/her consent, or when a valid search warrant has been obtained, or where the employee has been notified that a search would be conducted.

This page is intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 28. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT AND CORPORATE AFFILIATION POLICY

SECTION 28.1. PURPOSE.

- A. Government Code section 1125 et seq. prohibits local agency officers and employeesfrom engaging in employment or activities for compensation which are incompatible, inconsistent or in conflict with their agency employment. Government Code section 1090 prohibits government officers and employees from being financially interested in a contract or sale in both their public and private capacities. In addition, the State's common law prohibits self-dealing and requires public officers to discharge their responsibilities with fidelity, and untainted by private interests.
- B. Shasta County employees have the same rights as other citizens to paid outside employment if they so desire, unless such outside employment violates the provisions of section 1125 et seq. or this Shasta County policy adopted pursuant to section 1126.

SECTION 28.2. <u>GENERAL POLICY: GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 1126</u>. Government Code section 1126 is applicable to all County officers and employees. The provisions of section 1126 are hereby incorporated in this policy and any future amendments to section 1126 duly adopted by the legislature shall be incorporated by reference as they are enacted.

- A. Government Code Section '1126 now provides in pertinent part as follows:
 - 1. . . . A local agency officer or employee shall not engage in any employment, activity, or enterprise for compensation which is inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or inimical to his or her duties as a local agency officer or employee or with the duties, functions, or responsibilities of his or her appointing power or the agency by which he or she is employed. The officer or employee shall not perform any work, service, or counsel for compensation outside of his/her local agency employment where any part of his or her efforts will be subject to approval by any other officer, employee, board or commission of his or her employing body, unless otherwise approved in the manner prescribed by subdivision (b).
 - 2. An employee's outside employment, activity, or enterprise may be prohibited if it:
 - a. involves the use for private gain or advantage of his or her local agency time, facilities, equipment and supplies; or the badge, uniform, prestige, or influence of his or her local agency office or employment, or
 - b. involves receipt or acceptance by the officer or employee of any money or other consideration from anyone other than his or her local agency for the performance of an act which the officer or employee, if not performing such act, would be

required or expected to render in the regular course or hours of his or her local agency employment or as a part of his or her duties as a local agency officer or employee, or

- c. involves the performance of an act in other than his or her capacity as a local agency officer or employee which act may later be subject directly or indirectly to the control, inspection, review, audit, or enforcement of any other officer or employee or the agency by which he or she is employed, or
- d. involves the time demands as would render performance of his or herduties as a local agency officer or employee less efficient . . .

SECTION 28.3. PROHIBITED OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT OR CORPORATE AFFILIATIONS.

- A. Shasta County adopts the following rules which will govern the application of Government Code section 1126 restrictions to employees.
- B. Employees are prohibited from holding employment or participating in activities for compensation, as described in Government Code section 1126 and which have the characteristics or potential impacts described in subsection D.
- C. Employees are prohibited from being members, officers or directors of corporations, including non-profit corporations (hereafter referred to as "corporate affiliation"), if doing so would have the characteristics or potential impacts described in subsection D.
- D. The outside employment or corporate affiliation is prohibited if it:
 - 1. Results in repeated phone calls to or from the employee's work locations.
 - 2. Results in persons making repeated visits to the employee's work locations.
 - 3. Requires the use of time off from work without adequate notice or at times that interfere with the employee's County responsibilities.
 - 4. Involves activities that are directly or indirectly subject to the review or approvalof a County department under which the employee is employed.
 - 5. Depends upon the availability of County information which would not be vailable to the general public.
 - 6. Improperly represents that the outside employment, activity or enterprise for which compensation is received is provided as a county service or is endorsed by the County, when it is not.
 - 7. Involves the use of any County property, vehicles, tools, or equipment, whether directly or incidentally.

- 8. Involves activities rendered to County clients in the county employee's department for private compensation which are expected to be rendered in the regular course of the duties of the County employee.
- 9. Interferes with the satisfactory performance of duties.
- 10. Involves any other activities which conflict with the employee's performance of County duties for which he or she was hired or is detrimental to County service.
- 11. Involves the representation to any individual, company, or firm with which the County does business that the employee can or will use his or her position with the County to further the interests or goals of that individual, company, or firm for compensation or gifts received from that individual, company, or firm.
- E. Any County employee who is a member, officer, or director of a corporation, includinga non-profit corporation, shall recuse himself or herself from any involvement in establishing orinfluencing any contractual relationship between the County and the corporation, on behalf of either the County or the corporation, including making or influencing decisions regarding whether to enter into such contractual relationship, or involvement in procurement, contract drafting or negotiation, or monitoring of the contractor's performance, unless statutorily authorized to do so.
- F. All County employees who are also subject to professional codes of ethics shall adhere to such professional ethics in any of their dealings with outside employment. Any violation of such professional ethics may result in the prohibition of the outside employment.
- G. After consultation and approval by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, any department may adopt additional policies, which shall be incorporated into departmental policies.

SECTION 28.4. <u>NOTICE REQUIREMENTS</u>. Employees contemplating or currently engaging in any outside employment or who change outside employment, or who are or are contemplating becoming a member, officer, or director of a corporation, shall provide their Department Head, or his/her designee, with written notification of all regular outside employment, all occasional outside employment, including self-employment, and all corporate affiliation. An outside employment statement must contain the following (See Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation Statement form in appendix.):

- A. The name and address of the employer, client/customer, or corporation, unless there isa statutory privilege making such provision of information confidential. In these circumstances, the Department Head, or his/her designee, may require additional information which is not privileged or confidential.
- B. The nature of the services or products to be provided, including a copy of the job description or employment agreement.
- C. The expected hours and duration of the employment or activities related to the corporation.
- D. The relationship, if any of the employment to County approvals or reviews.

- E. With regard to corporate affiliations, whether the corporation currently has any contracts with the County or is likely to have a contract through the employee's department in the future.
- F. Any other information that will assist the department with determining the compatibility of the outside employment with County employment.
- G. A certification by the employee that he or she has read this chapter and will comply with all of the rules of such policy in pursuing outside employment or corporate affiliation.
- H. County employees currently engaging in outside employment, or who have a corporate affiliation, shall submit notification within 10 days of receipt of this policy. Employees contemplating outside employment or a corporate affiliation shall submit notification prior to beginning each such employment or corporate affiliation and in no event shall notification be submitted more than five days after beginning employment or corporate affiliation.
- I. Receipt and filing of the Notice does not constitute approval of such outside employment by the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- J. All employees regardless of whether they intend to engage in outside employment or initiate a corporate affiliation, must sign the Outside Employment/ Corporate Affiliation Statement.

SECTION 28.5. ORDER TO CEASE OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT OR CORPORATE AFFILIATION. A Department Head, or his/her designee, may order an employee to cease working at any outside employment or having a corporate affiliation, if the employment or affiliation is in violation of any of the provisions of this Policy. The Department Head, or his/her designee, shall notify the employee, in writing, of the order and shall provide reasons for such order. The Department Head, or his/her designee, may, for good cause, immediately demand suspension of the outside employment or corporate affiliation pending the final determination of incompatibility. (See Order to Cease Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation form in appendix.)

SECTION 28.6. <u>APPEAL</u>. Employees shall have the right to appeal an order to cease outside employment or a corporate affiliation by submitting an appeal in writing to the Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation Review Committee. The Review Committee is made up of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and the CEO, or his/her designee and a <u>Department Head, or his/her designee</u>, not involved in the matter appealed (or designee) chosen by the other two. (See Employee Appeal from Order to Cease Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation form in appendix.)

- A. The written appeal must be submitted to the Review Committee within 10 business days of the date of the employee's receipt of the order to cease outside employment or corporate affiliation. The Review Committee shall review the order, investigate the circumstances of the employee's outside employment or corporate affiliation, including meeting with the employee, as necessary, and make its decision within 30 days receipt of the written appeal.
- B. In lieu of the above appeal procedure, employees shall have the right to submit a written appeal directly to the Grievance Board in accordance with the Grievance procedures contained in Chapter 9.

SECTION 28.7. <u>DISCIPLINARY ACTION</u>. Failure to provide written notification as required or failure to provide complete information to the best of the employee's knowledge may be cause for disciplinary action pursuant to the provisions of these Personnel Rules. Failure to comply with a written order to cease outside employment or corporate affiliation issued to the employee by his or herDepartment Head, or his/her designee, may be cause for disciplinary action pursuant to the provisions of these Personnel Rules. This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 29. VACATION DONATION POLICY

SECTION 29.1. <u>VACATION DONATION BANK</u>. A vacation donation bank has been established, to which regular employees are entitled to voluntarily assign accrued vacation time, either on a general basis or as a result of another employee's specifically stated need. The purpose of the bank is to provide a means by which an eligible employee may obtain authorized paid time off. In order to be eligible to access the bank, an employee must:

- A. Have a verifiable long-term illness or injury, that is serious in nature or have an immediate family member who has a medically verifiable long-term illness or injury that is serious in nature for which the employee needs to provide care. For this purpose, long-term is defined as no less than four weeks in duration. Immediate family includes father, mother, spouse, son, daughter, brother, sister, step-father, step-mother, step-son, step-daughter, step-brother, step-sister, foster children, foster parents, registered domestic partners, and children ofregistered domestic partners. It is the employee's responsibility to provide his or her appointingauthority with an Accrued Vacation Donation Program Recipient Application, which incorporates a waiver for access to pertinent medical information, and attach to it a letter from a licensed physician certifying that the employee or the employee's family member has a long-term illnessor injury of at least four weeks duration.
- B. Have exhausted all accrued vacation, sick leave (personal or family, whichever is appropriate), CTO, holiday credits, or administrative leave, resulting in the employee being in an unpaid status if on approved leave.
- C. Have the concurrence of the appointing authority to assume unpaid leave status.
- D. Receive approval from the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. In considering such requests, the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, shall seek input from persons or organizations interested in the welfare of County employees and the financial health of the Vacation Donation Program, including but not limited to, exclusively recognized employee organizations, the Auditor-Controller's Office, and such other persons andorganizations the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, determines in his/her discretion. Only requests from affected employees or the heads of the departments in which affected employees work will be considered. Applications will be held to strict standards of confidentiality regarding any medical information revealed and persons involved in the processwill sign a confidentiality statement.

Once an employee is determined eligible, he/she can only use hours in the bank beginning the first day of the first pay period following approval of his/her application. The initial period of eligibility shall not exceed six pay periods, at which time the recipient may reapply for eligibility. Subsequent periods of eligibility shall not exceed six pay periods, at which time the recipient may reapply for eligibility. Reapplication requires completion of the same process described for application in Section 29.2 below. Under no circumstances will an employee be eligible to use hours from the bank beyond a cumulative 26pay periods within a five year period.

Requests to access the bank must be submitted to Personnel on the appropriate forms provided in the appendix. The determination that an employee is ineligible to access the bank is final and not subject o appeal or grievance procedures. However, if the employee reapplies with additional relevant information, the new application with new accompanying information will be considered. An incomplete application will not be considered.

SECTION 29.2. DONATION TO BANK.

- A. Employees wishing to donate accrued vacation time must complete the donation form. The donation form must be forwarded to the Department Head or his/her designee, for approval, who will forward the request form to Payroll, if approved.
- B. Donated time must be in increments of one hour, and the balance maintained in the bank will be recorded as total hours. The donors' names and the total hours donated will remain confidential. Once donated, time cannot be reclaimed by the donor.

SECTION 29.3. ADMINISTRATION OF BANK.

- A. At no time will recipients be allowed to individually or collectively draw time from the bank in amounts greater than what is available.
- B. If two or more recipients are simultaneously accessing the bank and the bank balance is insufficient to accommodate those recipients' needs, the remaining balance will be divided equally. When additional time is subsequently donated, multiple recipients will simultaneously resume accessing the bank on an equal basis.
- C. In the event donations are made on behalf of an individual employee, if that employee qualifies under the above criteria, such time will be credited to the bank for use by that employee. If such total donations exceed the total time drawn from the bank by that recipient, the unused balance shall be retained in the bank for use by other recipients.
- D. When utilizing the bank,
 - 1. Recipients shall receive their regular rate of pay, as if being on paid leave status.
 - 2. The benefit shall not be payable until the next regularly scheduled payday provided there are sufficient hours in the bank.
 - 3. Employees using donation vacation time will not accrue vacation or sick leave benefits and will not accrue seniority.
 - 4. The County shall continue making its portion of the premium payment for Medical, Dental, or Vision insurance, including dependent premiums, according to the payroll premium schedule, for employees who receive funds from the vacation donationbank during a pay period. No County premium contribution will be made during a pay period in which the employee does not receive funds from the vacation donation bank.
 - 5. Employees using hours from the vacation donation bank are not eligible for service credit for such hours under the Public Employees Retirement System (CaIPERS), due to CaIPERS restrictions.

- 6. Employees using hours from the vacation donation bank will be subject to Social Security (FICA) and Medicare (FICA/Medicare) deductions, if applicable, and any other required payroll related deductions and taxes.
- 7. If applicable, this benefit shall run concurrently with the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act, and the California Family Rights Act, or other applicable benefits.
- 8. Recipients are required to combine payment from the vacation bank with other forms of payment from State Disability Insurance, Workers' Compensation, or any other source in such a manner not to exceed the employee's gross salary.
- E. If the bank is being utilized due to the terminal illness of a member of the recipient's family, access to the bank will cease no later than five days after the death of the familymember. Such time frame corresponds with bereavement leave benefits as referenced in these Personnel Rules.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 30. SHASTA COUNTY PRE-EMPLOYMENT DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY

SECTION 30.1. PURPOSE.

- A. It is the purpose of this policy to assist Shasta County to be free from the effects of drug and alcohol abuse.
- B. It is the County's intention to maintain a safe, healthy, and productive work environment where employees can perform their duties safely and effectively for the benefit of the public, their fellow employees, and themselves. The presence of drugs and alcohol on the job, and the influence of these substances on employees during working hours, are inconsistent with the objectives and mission of the County.
- C. This policy provides guidelines for the detection and deterrence of alcohol and drug abuse for the County as a potential employer. All applicants should be aware that failure to pass the tests identified in this policy may result in the denial of employment.

SECTION 30.2. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>. For the purposes of this policy, the following definitions shall apply:

- A. Alcohol. The intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low molecular weight alcohols, including methyl and isopropyl alcohol.
- B. Controlled Substance. Cocaine, amphetamines, methamphetamine, opiates, marijuana, phencyclidine (PCP), and any substance as defined in section 11007 of the Health and Safety Code as it now exists or may hereafter be amended.
- C. Drug. Any substance which, when ingested, is capable of altering an individual's mood, perception, motor skills, or judgment.
- D. Drug Test. A test of a person's blood, breath, urine, or other bodily fluid or substance for the purpose of detecting the presence of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances.
- E. MRO. Medical Review Officer. A physician recognized by the drug testing service provider who is responsible for sample collection and testing procedure.
- F. SAMHSA. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Association is an agency of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

SECTION 30.3. PRE-EMPLOYMENT DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING.

A. All applicants for positions within the County, except those affected by the federal Department of Transportation drug testing program or the Shasta County Sheriffs Department Drug Testing Policy, who have been conditionally offered employment shall submit to a drug and alcohol test as a part of the pre-employment physical examination.

- B. All of the drug and alcohol testing protocol referenced in this Policy, and the laboratories used pursuant to this Policy, will be in compliance with the Federal Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) standards, as referenced in the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration regulation 49 CFRA 40b.
- C. A positive test for a controlled substance or drug which has not been lawfully obtained and/or a positive test for alcohol may be grounds for withdrawal of the offer of employment.
- D. Applicants shall be given a written notice that the physical examination will include a drug and alcohol test. The applicant will be required to sign an acknowledgment and consent form. Failure to sign this consent form will result in denial of employment.

SECTION 30.4. SAMPLE COLLECTION AND TESTING PROCEDURES.

- A. Sample collection and drug and alcohol testing shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of this policy by a reputable contracted provider equipped and licensed to provide such service. The collection of samples and testing under this policy shall be conducted by the contractor and comply with the following standards and procedures:
 - 1. Tampering with a drug test sample (urine, blood, or other bodily substance) through substitution, dilution, adulteration, or some other method, constitutes a refusal to provide a sample and may be grounds for denial of employment.
 - 2. Tampering with a positive drug test device or a willful failure to follow the instructions of the sample collector constitutes a refusal to provide a sample and may be grounds for denial of employment.
 - 3. Refusal or failure to comply with the provisions of this policy may be grounds for denial of employment.
 - 4. Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the acquisition of more than one type of sample if deemed appropriate under the particular circumstances by the Personnel Director or his/her designee.
- B. Sample Collection.
 - 1. The collection of all test samples shall be done in a medically appropriate manner designed to protect the safety and privacy of the applicant, as well as the integrity and identity of the sample in accordance with SAMHSA.
 - 2. Applicants will be required to provide two pieces of identification, (such as Drivers License, Passport, Social Security Card, Birth Certificate Baptismal Certificate, Immigration Card, Work Visa, etc.) at least one of which must be a photo ID.
 - 3. The collection will be conducted by the service provider at a location to be determined by the service provider. The service provider will assure that the designated collection site has all the necessary personnel, materials, equipment, facilities, and supervision to provide for the collection, security, temporary storage, and shipping or transportation of samples to the testing laboratory.

- 4. No unauthorized personnel shall be permitted in any part of the designated collection site when samples are collected or stored.
- 5. If an applicant fails to arrive at the assigned time, the collection site person shall report the failure to arrive to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.
- 6. If an applicant provides a sample determined to be diluted, a second sample shall be obtained as soon as possible. Applicants providing a second diluted sample will be denied employment. All samples suspected of being diluted shall be retained and tested.
- 7. Applicants providing a sample found to be outside standard temperature range will be required to provide a second sample for testing as soon as possible. The first sample will be retained.
- 8. An applicant who has a test deemed to be substituted, adulterated, or positive may reapply in one calendar year.
- D. Testing Procedures.
 - 1. Substances to be tested and test standards are as follows:

Initial Test Cutoff Concentration(nanograms/milliliter)Marijuana metabolites50Cocaine metabolites300Opiate metabolites2000Phencyclidine25Amphetamines1000Ethanol20

Confirmatory Test Cutoff Concentrat	
	(nanograms/milliliter)
Marijuana metabolite (1)	15
Cocaine metabolite (2)	150
Opiates:	
Morphine	2000
Codeine	2000
6-Acetylmorphine (4)	10
Phencyclidine	25
Amphetamines:	
Amphetamine	500
Methamphetamine (3)	500
Ethanol	20

Footnotes:

- (1) Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid
- (2) Benzoylecgonine
- (3) Specimen must also contain amphetamine at a concentration greater than or equal to 200nanograms/milliliter
- (4) Test for 6-AM when morphine concentration exceeds 2000 nanograms/milliliter
- 4. In the event the test is positive, the MRO will review applicant's medical history, and review any other relevant biological factors.
- 5. The MRO will review medical information supplied by the applicant when a positive test could have resulted from legally prescribed medication. The MRO will have the discretion to accept evidence in any manner the MRO deems most efficient or necessary. Evidence to justify a positive result may include, but is not limited to, a valid prescription or a verification of a valid prescription from the applicant's physician. The onus is on the applicant to provide the MRO with proof of such information.
- 6. If the MRO determines there is no justification for a positive result, such result will then be considered a verified positive result. The contractor will then immediately report the positive result to the Personnel Director or his/her designee, by telephone and follow up with written confirmation or confirmation via fax or email.
- 7. The applicant may appeal the results of the pre-employment drug test to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, who, at his/her discretion, may allow one further testing procedure to be conducted.

SECTION 30.5. <u>CONFIDENTIALITY</u>. Laboratory reports and/or test results shall be filed andhoused by the service provider and remain confidential.

CHAPTER 31. ALCOHOL-FREE AND DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE POLICY

SECTION 31.1. <u>POLICY</u>. The County of Shasta recognizes that the use of drugs or alcohol in the workplace can create health and safety problems for employees and the public they serve. Therefore, it is the County's policy that:

- A. Alcohol intoxication or the unlawful manufacture, unlawful distribution, unlawful dispensing, unlawful possession, or unlawful use of any controlled substance is prohibited in the workplace, while on duty, on standby for duty, or while in uniform.
- B. Each County employee will be notified that as a condition of employment the employee is required to:
 - 1. Abide by this policy; and
 - 2. Notify the County of any criminal drug or alcohol statute conviction (including a plea of nolo contendere) for a violation that occurred in the workplace, while on duty oron standby for duty or while in uniform, no later than five days after such conviction.
 - 3. The County will take one or both of the following actions within 30 days of receiving notice of an employee being alcohol- or drug-impaired on the job or of the employee's conviction of an alcohol- or drug-related offense described in Paragraph B.2.:
 - a. Require the employee to participate in an alcohol or drug abuse rehabilitation program approved by a federal, state, or local health or law enforcement agency;
 - b. Take appropriate personnel action against the employee consistent with these Personnel Rules and relevant MOU.
 - 4. The focus of this policy is substance abuse prevention through educating employees about the dangers of alcohol and drug abuse, and encouraging rehabilitation of those employees who have such problems. However, this policy does not preclude taking disciplinary action when appropriate. The decision whether to take disciplinary action will be made on a case-by-case basis.
 - 5. The County shall conduct drug/alcohol abuse awareness programs that inform employees about the dangers of drug and alcohol abuse in the workplace, the availability of drug and alcohol counseling and rehabilitation programs, the County's policy of maintaining a drug-free and alcohol-free workplace, and the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for alcohol or drug violations.
 - 6. The County, through its drug/alcohol abuse awareness program and/or Employee Assistance Program (EAP), shall provide referral to substance abuse counseling services or educational services as appropriate.

- 7. A County employee shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing during working hours upon the appointing authority's or the appointing authority's designee's determination that there is reasonable suspicion that the employee is currently impaired due to the use of drugs or alcohol. The conditions of and procedures for testing are described in Section 31.2.
- 8. "Reasonable suspicion" is a belief based on objective facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts sufficient to lead a reasonably prudent person to suspect that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the employee's ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or the employee's ability to perform the job safely is reduced. Any of the following, alone or in combination, may give rise to reasonable suspicion that the employee is currently under the influence of alcohol or a drug and is impaired:
 - a. Slurred or excessively rapid speech;
 - b. Alcohol odor on breath or clothing;
 - c. Unsteady standing, walking, or movement;
 - d. Pupils dilated or constricted or difficulty focusing eyes;
 - e. An accident involving County property or equipment;
 - f. A physical altercation;
 - g. A verbal altercation; provided, however, such altercation shall not, by itself, be considered a basis for reasonable suspicion;
 - h. A pattern of unusual behavior, such as hyperactivity, mood swings, hostility, absentmindedness, lethargy, or withdrawal;
 - i. Ingestion of alcohol or an illegal drug while on County premises or whileon duty;
 - j. Possession of alcohol, an open container, illegal drugs, or drug paraphernalia;
 - k. Substandard work performance, including increased errors or absenteeism, a decrease in quantity or quality of work performed, or deterioration of work relationships; provided, however, that substandard work performance shall not, by itself, be considered a basis for reasonable suspicion;
 - I. Information obtained from a reliable person with direct personal knowledge.
- 9. The County shall abide by the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (PL. 100-690).
- 10. This policy shall be applied without bias or prejudice.

11. Each County employee will receive a copy of this policy.

SECTION 31.2. <u>TESTING</u>.

- A. Whenever an appointing authority or designee determines that reasonable suspicion, as defined in policy in Section 31.1.B., exists to believe that an employee is currently impaired by a drug or alcohol in violation of the County's Alcohol-Free and Drug-Free Workplace Policy, or any other law, ordinance, resolution, or policy, the appointing authority or designee may, with the prior concurrence of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and County Counsel or their designees, require the employee to immediately submit to a urine test or, if the designated laboratory can take blood tests, at the employee's option, a blood test. The urine or blood sample will be analyzed at a laboratory with which the County contracts for drug and/or alcohol testing, or if such laboratory is not available, any other reputable laboratory equipped and licensed to provide such services.
 - 1. A urine or blood sample shall be given by the employee at the designated laboratory or a County facility. The blood or urine samples will be split, sealed, and labeled in the employee's presence. One of the samples will be screened using the Immno-assay technique. If a positive finding is made, that sample will be analyzed using LC/MS/MS chromatography. The other sample will be secured by the laboratory so that the employee may obtain an independent analysis if he/she so chooses.
 - a. If the initial test result is negative, the laboratory report, test result and test memorandum shall be destroyed unless the employee makes a written request that the material be placed in a confidential file. Laboratory reports, test results, and the test memorandum shall not appear in the employee's regular personnel file unless disciplinary action is imposed; information of this nature will otherwise be contained in a separate confidential medical folder and securely kept under the control of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. Such information shall not be divulged to any third party or agency without the express written consent of the employee. However, such information may be disclosed to an arbitrator or the Board of Employee Appeals or any other hearing officer in the course of disciplinary proceedings. Reports of test results may be disclosed to Shasta County management strictly on a need-to-know basis.
 - b. A copy of the test results and any laboratory report shall be given to the tested employee. The initial test and the County's confirming test shall be conducted at County expense.
 - 2. Within two County business days of receiving a copy of the test results, the employee may submit to the appointing authority or designee a written explanation which may be accompanied by copies of prescriptions, counselor's reports or other documentation concerning the employee's test results.
 - 3. The appointing authority or designee shall arrange for the employee's transportation to and from the laboratory or County facility for the test. The appointing authority or his/her designee shall also arrange for transporting the employee home after the test should the employee appear incapable of safely or competently completing his/her shift.

- 4. An employee's refusal to submit to a drug/alcohol test may be considered a willful violation of a reasonable order by a superior officer and may be a ground for disciplinary action.
- 5, An employee's voluntary inquiries concerning or participation in a drug or alcohol rehabilitation program shall be considered confidential.
- B. Whenever reasonably feasible, prior to requiring the employee to submit to testing, the appointing authority or designee shall give the employee the opportunity to be seen by a peace officer trained in the recognition of drug and alcohol abuse to confirm that reasonable suspicion exists. The employee may, at his/her option, waive the right to be seen by the peace officer.
- C. As soon as practicable, but no later than the end of the County's next working day, the appointing authority or his/her designee involved in the case shall prepare a memorandum which states the facts which gave rise to reasonable suspicion. The memorandum shall be reviewed and signed by the Personnel Director or his/her designee, and County Counsel or their designees. The memorandum need not be prepared prior to the employee submitting to testing, shall be completed prior to the County considering the results of testing performed under this policy. A copy of the memorandum shall be given to the employee.
- D. For purposes of the testing of Sheriff's Office sworn or safety sensitive personnel, referto the Sheriff's Office Alcohol Free and Drug Free Workplace Policy. For purposes of the testing of any other employee, "designee" shall include only management employees.

SECTION 31.3. SAMPLE COLLECTION AND TESTING PROCEDURES.

- A. Sample collection and drug and alcohol testing shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of this policy by a reputable contracted provider equipped and licensed to provide such. The collection of samples and testing under this policy shall be conducted by the contractor and comply with the following standards and procedures:
- B. Sample Collection.
 - 1. The collection of all test samples shall be done in a medically appropriate manner designed to protect the safety and privacy of the applicant, as well as the integrity and identity of the sample in accordance with SAMHSA (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration).
 - 2. The collection will be conducted by the vendor at a location to be determined by the vendor. The vendor will assure that the designated collection site has all the necessary personnel, materials, equipment, facilities, and supervision to provide for the collection, security, temporary storage, and shipping or transportation of samples to the testing laboratory.
 - 3. No unauthorized personnel shall be permitted in any part of the designated collection site when samples are collected or stored.

- 4. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, or designee shall review and concur in advance with any decision by a collection site person to obtain a urine sample under the direct observation of a same gender collection site person based on a reason to believe that the employee may tamper with the sample to be provided and/or the collection equipment.
- C. Testing Procedures.
 - 1. Initial and confirmation drug testing shall be completed in accordance with SAMHSA standards.
 - 2. Substances to be tested and test standards (as currently published by SAMHSA) are as follows:

Initial Test Cutoff Concentration

	(nanograms/milliliter)
Marijuana metabolites	50
Cocaine metabolites	300
Opiate metabolites	2000
Phencyclidine	25
Amphetamines	1000
Ethanol	20

Confirmatory Test Cutoff Concentration

	(nanograms/milliliter)
Marijuana metabolite (1)	15
Cocaine metabolite (2)	150
Opiates:	
Morphine	2000
Codeine	2000
6-Acetylmorphine (4)	10
Phencyclidine	25
Amphetamines:	
Amphetamine	500
Methamphetamine (3)	500
Ethanol	20

,

Footnotes:

- (1) Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid
- (2) Benzoylecgonine
- (3) Specimen must also contain amphetamine at a concentration greater than or equal to 200nanograms/milliliter
- (4) Test for 6-AM when morphine concentration exceeds 2000 nanograms/milliliter

If and when SAMHSA standards change, the standards as set forth in this policy will change to coincide with those set forth by SAMHSA.

3. Testing may be conducted for other drugs or controlled substances (e.g. LSD, etc.) when there is reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee has used other

substances. Such additional testing must be approved by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.

- 4. If the test is positive, the laboratory will notify the MRO (Medical Review Officer a physician responsible for reviewing positive drug and/or alcohol from testing performed by the laboratory) and the MRO will review applicant's medical history, and review any other relevant biological factors. If there is not a current MRO in place, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may seek review from another qualified person or entity.
- 5. The MRO will review medical information supplied by the applicant when a positive test could have resulted from legally prescribed medication. The MRO will have the discretion to accept evidence in any manner the MRO deems most efficient or necessary. Evidence to justify a positive result may include, but is not limited to, a valid prescription or a verification of a valid prescription from the applicant's physician. The burden is on the employee to provide the MRO with proof of such information.
- 6. If the MRO determines there is no justification (reference #5 above) for a positive result, such result will then be considered a verified positive result. The contractor will then immediately report the positive result to the Personnel Director or his/her designee, by telephone and follow up with written confirmation.

CHAPTER 32. DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY FOR POSITIONS REQUIRING A COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE

SECTION 32.1. POLICY STATEMENT.

- A. The County of Shasta is committed to providing a safe and alcohol- and drug-free work environment. This commitment is placed in jeopardy when any employee participates in the illegal use of drugs or the abuse of alcohol. Employees who abuse drugs/alcohol, on or off duty, tend to be less productive, less reliable, and prove to have greater absenteeism,accidents, and injury to themselves and others, resulting in the potential for increased loss, delay, risk, and liability.
- B. The County of Shasta complies with the requirements of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 for all County employees. This policy implements the requirements of the United States Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991, which mandates drug and alcohol testing of <u>all employees required to possess a commercial driver's license</u>. These employees may be referred to as "safety sensitive" within this chapter. Employees covered by this policy include those individuals who are required to possess a commercial driver's license (Class A or Class B) and drive one of the following commercial motor vehicles, or Class C withendorsements (if applicable):
 - 1. A vehicle with a gross combination of at least 26,001 pounds of a towed unit with a gross vehicle weight rating of more than 10,000 pounds;
 - 2. A vehicle with a gross weight of at least 26,001 pounds;
 - 3. A vehicle designed to transport more than 16 passengers per California Motor Vehicle handbook, including the driver;
 - 4. A vehicle of any size transporting hazardous materials as defined in the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act.
- C. Employees required to possess a commercial driver's license will be subject to drug and alcohol testing as follows:
 - 1. Random testing;
 - 2. Drug testing only for pre-employment/transfer into such a position;
 - 3. Reasonable suspicion that the employee is impaired by the use of drugs or alcohol;
 - 4. Post accident;
 - 5. Upon return to duty after a violation of the rules on drugs and alcohol; or
 - 6. Follow-up testing after it has been determined the employee has committed anact prohibited by the regulations.

- D. This policy prohibits covered employees reporting to work under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. Employees who have prohibited amounts of alcohol or controlled substances (unless used pursuant to the instructions of a physician who has advised the employee that the substance will not affect the employee's ability to drive) in their system when they report to work or during working hours are subject to this policy, regardless of when or where the substance entered the employee's system (this includes during off-duty hours).
- E. Although the purchase and consumption of alcohol is legal, reporting to work within four hours of consuming alcoholic beverage or reporting to work under the influence onCounty premises or at a work site is in direct violation of this policy.
- F. Use of prescribed drugs is not in direct violation of the County's policy as long as the employee's physician has advised that the prescribed drug will not impair the employee's ability to drive; however, inappropriate use or prescribed use which may cause significant impairment, thus creating a safety hazard on the job, is in direct violation of the County's policy. To help maintain a safe work place, the County may contact the employee's physician to verify if the employee's prescribed drug is acceptable in a safety sensitive position.
- G. If a drug or alcohol test shows the employee is under the influence, the employee may be disciplined or terminated from employment. The employee may also be eligible for treatment or rehabilitation.
- F. Both supervisors and employees will be provided with information on drug and alcohol use and treatment resources available. Supervisors will be required to attend training on signs and symptoms of drug and alcohol abuse.

SECTION 32.2. DEFINITIONS.

- A. Alcohol. The intoxicating agent in beverage alcohol, ethyl alcohol, or other low molecular weight alcohols, including methyl and isopropyl alcohol.
- B. Controlled Substance. Cocaine, amphetamines, opiates, marijuana, phencyclidine (PCP). Use, sale, distribution, and/or manufacture of these substances is against the law and a direct violation of this policy.
- C. Drug. Any controlled or illegal substance (subject to regulation by the state or federal government) capable of altering the mood, perception, or judgment of the consuming individual.
- D. Medical Review Officer (MRO). A licensed physician certified to review and interpret all drug tests before they are reported to the employer.
- E. Panel 5 Drug Test. Evaluates the presence of five categories of drugs established by the federal government which fall under the definition of "controlled substances."
- F. Pre-Employment Test. Conducted after a conditional offer to hire but before actually performing safety-sensitive functions for the first time. This includes when employees

transfer, promote, demote, or reassign to a safety sensitive position, and when an employee returns back from a medical or other leave over 30 days.

- G. Premises. Buildings, property, work areas, vehicles, parking lots, and attached ways- andmeans the employee happens to be during the course and scope of County employment during regular working hours or pay status.
- H. Prescription Drugs. Any drug or medication prescribed by a licensed physician for a medical condition. Use of prescribed drugs are not in direct violation of the County's policy as long as the employee's physician has advised that the prescribed drug will not impair their ability to drive; however, inappropriate use or prescribed use which may cause significant impairment, thus creating a safety hazard on the job, is in direct violation of the County's policy.
- I. Random Selection. An unannounced selection of covered employees. All covered employees remain in the random selection pool at all times, regardless of whether or not they have been previously selected for testing.
- J. Reasonable Suspicion. A belief based on specific, contemporaneous, or articulable observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech, and/or body odors of the employee and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts related specifically to job performance, or a threat to themselves or to the safety of others.
- K. Refusal. Refusal to submit to testing means:
 - 1. A refusal to provide a urine sample for a drug test;
 - 2. An inability to provide a urine sample without a valid medical explanation;
 - 3. A refusal to complete and sign the breath alcohol testing form or otherwise to cooperate with the testing process in a way that prevents the completion of the test;
 - 4. An inability to provide breath or to provide an adequate amount of breathwithout a valid medical explanation;
 - 5. Tampering with or attempting to adulterate the urine specimen or collection procedure;
 - 6. Not reporting to the collection site in the time allotted by the supervisor or manager who directs the employee to be tested;
 - 7. Leaving the scene of an accident without a valid reason as to why approval to leave was not obtained from a supervisor or manager who was authorized to make a determination whether to send the employee for a post-accident drug and/or alcohol test.
 - 8. Consuming alcohol during the eight hours immediately following an accident, unless the employee has been informed that his/her actions have been discounted as a contributing factor, or if the employee has been tested.

- L. Safety-Sensitive Personnel: Employees who hold a commercial driver's license and who may operate a vehicle covered under the Act on a full-time, part-time, or intermittent basis.
- M. Substance Abuse Professional (SAP): A licensed physician, licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee assistance professional, or an alcohol and drug abuse counselor certified by the National Association of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Counselors (NAADAC) Certification Commission. All persons listed in the definition must have specific knowledge of and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of alcohol and drug-related disorders to qualify.
- N. Under the Influence: Having a controlled or illegal substance(s) in one's system and having a verified positive test result; or being impaired physically and/or mentally as a result of drug, alcohol, and/or prescription drug ingestion.

SECTION 32.3. DRUGS FOR WHICH TESTS WILL BE CONDUCTED.

A. When drug screening is required under the provisions of this policy, a urinalysis testwill be given to detect the presence of the following drugs. A Panel 5 drug screen will be used for all testing. The urine sample will be split into two bottles, a "primary" sample and a "split" sample. If the primary sample yields a positive result, the employee has 72 hours to have the "split" sample tested by a different laboratory of at least equal professionally licensed and credentialed status. The results must be interpreted by a physician before being reported to the County.

<u>Screening</u>	Confirmation Cutoff	<u>Cutoff</u>
<u>Screening</u> Cannabinoids as Carboxy-(THC) Cocaine Metabolites as Benzoylecgonine Phencyclidine (PCP) Opiates (codeine/morphine) Amphetamines	<u>Confirmation Cutoff</u> 50 ng/ml 300 ng/ml 25 ng/ml 2000 ng/ml 1000ng/ml	<u>Cutoff</u> 15 ng/ml 150 ng/ml 25 ng/ml 2000 ng/ml 500 ng/ml
(amphetamine/methamphetamine)	1000119,111	000 Hg/H

B. The threshold levels used to determine when a 5-panel drug screen is positive ("screening cutoff" and "confirmation cutoff") are shown above and have been established as levels above which a person is considered under the influence. The procedures are immunoassay (EMIT) screens with gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) confirmation, the industry standard of the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) certified laboratories (formerly NIDA).

SECTION 32.4. ALCOHOL TESTING.

- A. The rules require breath testing using Evidential Breath-Testing devices (EBT) approved by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA).
- B. Two breath tests are required to determine if a person has a prohibited alcohol concentration. A screening test is conducted first. Any result less than 0.02 alcohol concentration is considered a "negative" test.

C. If the alcohol concentration is 0.02 or greater, a second or confirmation test must be conducted. The employee and the individual conducting the breath test, a Breath Alcohol Technician (BAT), will complete the alcohol testing form to ensure that the results are properlyrecorded. The confirmation test, if required, must be conducted using an EBT that prints out the results, date and time, a sequential test number, and the name and serial number of the EBT to ensure the reliability of the results. The confirmation test result determines any actions taken.

SECTION 32.5. PROHIBITED ACTS.

- A. Any of the following conditions constitutes a violation of this policy and will result in the driver being moved from performing safety-sensitive duties immediately for up to 24 hours.
 - 1. Having an alcohol concentration greater than 0.04 as indicated by an alcohol breath test.
 - 2. Testing positive for the presence of drugs from a Panel 5 or Panel 10 drug screen.
 - 3. Refusing to submit to an alcohol or drug test as required by this policy (which may also result in administrative or disciplinary action, up to and including termination).
- B. In addition to the above conditions, California Department of Motor Vehicles and U.S. Department of Transportation regulations prohibit a commercial driver from possessing or consuming alcohol while on the job or consuming alcohol within four hours before going on duty.
- C. The driver will not be permitted to return to duty until he/she has been assessed and cleared by either the Medical Review Officer or the Substance Abuse Professional and have tested negative for drugs or alcohol in a return-to-duty screen.
- D. An employee whose alcohol test indicates an alcohol concentration level between 0.02 and 0.04 will be removed from his/her safety-sensitive position for at least eight hours. The County will then retest the employee. Before the employee may be returned to a safety sensitive position, the employee's alcohol concentration must indicate a concentration below 0.02. The employee may be subject to discipline up to and including termination.

SECTION 32.6. PRE-EMPLOYMENT/TRANSFER TESTING.

- A. All pre-employment health screens will include a urine drug screen. The urinalysis will screen for cannabinoids, cocaine, phencyclidine, opiates, and amphetamines.
- B. All job announcements for covered positions shall specify that drug screening shall be part of the physical examination.
- C. Only applicants who have been given a job offer conditioned upon passing a medical examination shall be given a drug screening test.

- D. As a prerequisite to employment, applicants must sign a consent form and submit to preemployment controlled substance testing. Any applicants who do not consent to such testing will not be considered for employment.
- E. If the test results are positive, the County will inform the individual that he/she has not passed the pre-employment physical and will not be hired.
- F. No prospective employee may begin work prior to employee health approval.
- G. Testing is also required when employees transfer, promote, demote, return from a medical or other leave over 30 days, or reassign from an uncovered to a safety-sensitive position.

SECTION 32.7. RANDOM TESTING.

- A. All covered employees are subject to random selection for the purpose of alcohol and drug testing of controlled substances as follows:
 - 1. The number of random drug tests conducted annually shall equal or exceed 50 percent of the average number of employees for which testing is required.
 - 2. Random alcohol tests shall equal or exceed 25 percent of employees.
 - 3. The County shall use a random selection process to select and request an employee to be tested for use of alcohol or controlled substances.
 - 4. An employee shall submit to alcohol or controlled substance testing when selected by a random selection process used by the County.
- B. To assure that the process is in fact random, all covered employees, whether or not they have been chosen for testing in the past, will remain in the pool of employees for each subsequent period. This procedure assures that the probability of any individual being selected each period is always the same, whether or not the individual was selected in a previous period.
- C. Covered employees shall be assigned numbers. Under a computerized system, a randomnumber generating program is loaded into a computer along with the names or identification numbers for the covered parties. The computer then generates a list of employees to be tested during the current testing period.
- D. The selection process is repeated until the required number of employees are selected. Once the list of test subjects is generated, employees shall not be informed that they have been selected until they must report for testing. Advance notice of testing shall not be given. As in all types of tests, accurate records of the details of testing must be kept and confidentially maintained at all times.

SECTION 32.8. <u>REASONABLE-SUSPICION TESTING.</u> The following is an excerpt from the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA), Regulation 382.307, as of 1/2008. The County complies with this regulation, which may be updated from time to time by FMCSA.

(a) An employer shall require a driver to submit to an alcohol test when the employer has reasonable suspicion to believe that the driver has violated the

prohibitions of <u>subpart B</u> of this part concerning alcohol. The employer's determination that reasonable suspicion exists to require the driver to undergo an alcohol test must be based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the driver.

(b) An employer shall require a driver to submit to a controlled substances test when the employer has reasonable suspicion to believe that the driver has violated the prohibitions of <u>subpart B</u> of this part concerning controlled substances. The employer's determination that reasonable suspicion exists to require the driver to undergo a controlled substances test must be based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of the driver. The observations may include indications of the chronic and withdrawal effects of controlled substances.

(c) The required observations for alcohol and/or controlled substances reasonable suspicion testing shall be made by a supervisor or company official who is trained in accordance with <u>§382.603</u>. The person who makes the determination that reasonable suspicion exists toconduct an alcohol test shall not conduct the alcohol test of the driver.

(c) Alcohol testing is authorized by this section only if the observations required by paragraph <u>(a)</u> of this section are made during, just preceding, or just after the period of the work day that the driver is required to be in compliance with this part. A driver may be directed by the employer to only undergo reasonable suspicion testing while the driver is performing safety- sensitive functions, just before the driver is to perform safety-sensitive functions, or just after the driver has ceased performing such functions.

(e)(1) If an alcohol test required by this section is not administered within two hours following the determination under paragraph (a) of this section, the employer shall prepare and maintainon file a record stating the reasons the alcohol test was not promptly administered. If an alcohol test required by this section is not administered within eight hours following the determination under paragraph (a) of this section, the employer shall cease attempts to administer an alcohol test and shall state in the record the reasons for not administering the test.

(e)(2) Notwithstanding the absence of a reasonable suspicion alcohol test under this section, no driver shall report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while the driver is under the influence of or impaired by alcohol, as shown by the behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of alcohol misuse, nor shall an employer permit the driver to perform or continue to perform safety-sensitive functions, until:

(e)(2)(i) An alcohol test is administered and the driver's alcohol concentration measures less than 0.02; or

(e)(2)(ii) Twenty four hours have elapsed following the determination under paragraph (a) of this section that there is reasonable suspicion to believe that the driver has violated the prohibitions in this part concerning the use of alcohol. (e)(3) Except as provided in paragraph (e)(2) of this section, no employer shall take any actionunder this part against a driver based solely on the driver's behavior and

appearance, with respect to alcohol use, in the absence of an alcohol test. This does not prohibit an employer with independent authority of this part from taking any action otherwise consistent with law.

(f) A written record shall be made of the observations leading to an alcohol or controlled substances reasonable suspicion test, and signed by the supervisor or company official who made the observations, within 24 hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the alcohol or controlled substances tests are released, whichever is earlier.

SECTION 32.9. <u>POST-ACCIDENT TESTING</u>.

- A. An employee involved in an accident while operating equipment which requires a commercial driver's license shall contact a supervisor or manager as soon as practical. Employees involved in an accident shall be subject to post-accident testing if:
 - 1. The accident results in a fatality;
 - 2. A citation for a moving violation is issued;
 - 3. The law enforcement official at the scene indicates there is reason to believe the driver may have been under the influence of alcohol or drugs;
 - 4. Bodily injury with immediate medical treatment away from scene; or
 - 5. Disabling damage to any motor vehicle requiring tow away.
- B. As soon as practicable after an accident, alcohol and drug tests shall be administered to every surviving employee who receives a citation for the operation of the commercial motorvehicle or whose operation of the vehicle cannot be ruled out by the supervisor as a contributing factor.
- C. The following criteria will be applied in conducting a drug/alcohol test due to accidents.
 - 1. A test for alcohol shall be administered as soon as possible. If it is not within two hours, the supervisor must prepare and maintain records stating why. If eight hours have passed, no test may be given. Again, the supervisor must record why thetest was not administered.
 - 2. If a drug test is not administered within 32 hours following the accident, the test may not be administered, and the supervisor shall document the reasons.
 - 3. Following an accident, the employee shall remain available for such testing or may be deemed to have refused to submit to testing. This rule does not require the delay of necessary medical attention for injured people following an accident nor prohibit the employee from leaving the scene to obtain assistance or necessary emergency medical care.
 - 4. An employee subject to post-accident testing may not use alcohol within eight hours following the accident or before an alcohol test, whichever comes first.

5. If a test is required per Section 1 or 2 above, an employee must be available atany time when called to test or it is considered a positive test result, and must go to an after-hour location regardless of distance, if necessary.

SECTION 32.10. <u>RETURN TO DUTY</u>. A covered employee who has committed any act prohibited by this policy will be referred to a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) for assessment. The SAP may require, as a condition of return to duty, that the employee successfully complete a rehabilitation program. A covered employee who has violated this policy shall submit to a return-to-duty test and test negative for drugs or indicate an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02.

SECTION 32.11. <u>SPLIT-TEST RESULTS</u>. If, as a result of the primary sample testing positive, the employee exercises the option to have the split sample tested by another laboratory of at least equal professionally licensed and credentialed status, and the results are negative as to the presence of prohibited substances in the split sample, the employee shall immediately present such results to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, for consideration in any action taken against the employee as a result of the primary sample results.

SECTION 32.12. FOLLOW-UP TESTING.

- A. All employees identified as violators will be subject to follow-up testing upon returning to duty. They will be subject to a minimum of six unannounced tests over the following 12 months. The SAP can direct additional testing during this period or for an additional period up to a maximum of 60 months from the date the employee returns to duty. The SAP can terminate the requirement for the follow-up testing in excess of the minimum at any time if the SAP determines the testing is no longer necessary and is supported by the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- B. Follow-up testing may include tests for other substances beyond the employee's initial positive test of alcohol and/or drug when the SAP has reason to suspect drug or alcohol use during the follow-up period.

SECTION 32.13. <u>CONSENT</u>. Before a drug and/or alcohol test is administered, employees and job applicants will be required to sign a consent form authorizing the test and permitting release of test results to those County representatives with a need to know. The consent form shall provide a space for employees and applicants to acknowledge that they have been notified of the Shasta County drug/alcohol testing policy.

SECTION 32.14. REFUSAL TO CONSENT.

- A. A job applicant who refuses to consent to a drug/alcohol test will be denied employment with the County.
- B. An employee's failure to submit to drug/alcohol testing required by the County for any reason may result in administrative disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
- C. Any supervisor or manager encountering an employee who refuses an order to submit to a drug and/or alcohol screening shall remind the employee of the policy requirements and disciplinary consequences of such action.
- D. An employee who has difficulty in providing sufficient urine for a test specimen is required to stay at the collection site for three hours. Employees will be encouraged to drink up to

40 ounces of water during the waiting period. Failure to supply enough urine will be cause for referral for medical review and possible determination of a "refusal to test."

SECTION 32.15. CONFIDENTIALITY.

- A. Confidentiality is an essential element of this policy. The results of any testing done pursuant to this policy shall be used for employment purposes only and shall not be released for use in the criminal justice system.
- B. All records pertaining to drug and alcohol testing of an employee shall be contained ina separate confidential medical file which will be securely kept under the control of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, separate from the employee's other personnel records.
- C. Absent the employee's consent, test results may only be disclosed to the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, County Counsel, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, or others as appropriate on a strictly need-to-know basis. At the appropriate time, the employee will be advised of the results of a positive test.
- D. The County may disclose test results only when:
 - 1. The information is compelled by law or by judicial or administrative process;
 - 2. The information has been placed at issue by the employee in a formal dispute between the employee and the County;
 - 3. The information is necessary to administer workers' compensation or other employee benefit plans;
 - 4. The information is needed by medical personnel for the diagnosis or treatmentof the patient who is unable to authorize disclosure; or
 - 5. The employee provides written consent to disclosure.
- E. Any positive test results which are later determined to be invalid shall be removed from the employee's file and not used for any purpose.

SECTION 32.16. <u>RECORD KEEPING</u>. The following records will be maintained under the control of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee:

Results of an employee's alcohol test which indicate an alcohol concentration level of 0.02 or higher; results of an employee's controlled substance test which are positive; documentationof any employee who refused to submit to a required alcohol or drug test; calibration documentation; employee assessments; and referrals by substance abuse professionals.<u>Retention period</u>: Five years.

CHAPTER 33. VEHICLE OPERATIONS POLICY

SECTION 33.1. <u>PURPOSE</u>. Vehicle accidents pose a significant threat to public and personal safety. They also constitute a significant liability risk to the County. The safe, responsible, and efficient use of vehicles is vital to the operation of County government. In recognition of these considerations, this policy has been developed listing the requirements and procedures for the responsible operation of County-owned, privately owned, and rental vehicles by County employees and non-employees during the conduct of County business.

SECTION 33.2. DEFINITIONS.

A. <u>Accident</u>: A sudden and unexpected event resulting in damage to a vehicle or injury to another, including employees.

B. <u>Authorized Volunteer</u>: Any volunteer providing service to Shasta County who has been registered with Risk Management and been authorized by the Department Head, or his/her designee, to volunteer to drive a County Vehicle, Rental Vehicle, or a private vehicle on County business. Only volunteers who are registered with Risk Management may drive on County business.

C. <u>County Vehicle</u>: All vehicles, no matter the funding source utilized to procure the vehicle, for which the County, and its dependent special districts (i.e., County Service Areas- CSA's), holds the vehicle title.

D. <u>DMV</u>: California Department of Motor Vehicles.

E. <u>Moving Violation</u>: Any violation of the Vehicle Code occurring while the vehicle is in motion, including but not limited to speeding, driving on the shoulder of the road, improper turning, failure to stop at a stop signal, etc.

F. <u>Ordinary Wear and Tear</u>: The normal deterioration of a vehicle and its equipment caused by ordinary, reasonable, and proper use of the vehicle over its normal life.

G. <u>Private vehicle or Privately owned vehicle</u>: Any vehicle that does not meet the definition of a County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle.

H. <u>Rental Vehicle</u>: Any vehicle rented through a County authorized agency as approved by the Department Head or his/her designee, (See Administrative Policy 8-103, Paragraph B14).

SECTION 33.3. POLICY.

- A. County Vehicles and Rental Vehicles shall only be used for official County business. (Official County business may include incidental personal travel within the route of County business if approved by Department Head or his/her designee.) County Vehicles, Rental Vehicles, and privately owned vehicles being operated for County business shall be operated in accordance with the California Vehicle Code.
- B. In order to be authorized to operate a County Vehicle, Rental Vehicle, or privately owned vehicle on County business, the driver, whether a County employee or an

authorized volunteer, must possess a valid California Driver's License and meet the driver criteria outlined in Section 33.6 of the Personnel Rules.

SECTION 33.4. <u>APPLICANT QUALIFICATIONS</u>. Either prior to or after being selected by Shasta County for a position which involves the operation of a vehicle on County business, an applicant shall be subject to a Motor Vehicle Record (MVR) review. Such a review will be undertaken to determine if the individual's driving record meets the driving qualifications of this policy as specifiedbelow. Applicants or probationary employees who are required to operate a vehicle on County business who do not meet the requirements of this policy may be disqualified for a position requiring the operation of a vehicle on County business.

SECTION 33.5. COUNTY EMPLOYEE & VOLUNTEER DRIVER QUALIFICATIONS.

- A. County employees and authorized volunteers who operate vehicles on County business shall maintain a driver record without major traffic violations or accidents pursuant to the criteria listed in Section 33.6. of this policy.
- B. The driving record of all County employees and authorized volunteers who operate County Vehicles, rental vehicles, or private vehicles on County business will be reviewed at least annually through the DMV Pull Program as further described in Section 33.13 of this Policy.
- C. When the MVR received from the DMV indicates an employee or authorized volunteer is approaching noncompliance with this policy, the department for whom the employee or authorized volunteer provides services may be notified to inform the employee or authorized volunteer of the actions which could be taken if the employee or authorized volunteer fails to meet the standards contained in this Policy.
- D. County employees and authorized volunteers who operate vehicles on County business, whose driving records do not meet the qualifications specified in this policy, may be subject to review by the Department of Support Services and representatives from the department for whom the employees or volunteers are providing services to determine fitness to continue to drive a vehicle on County business. Nothing in this chapter shall limit a Department Head, or his/her designee's ability to take disciplinary action or other action as appropriate.
- E. Nothing in this chapter shall limit the applicability of other County rules. Any regular County employee subject to any disciplinary action resulting from decisions made pursuant to this chapter shall be entitled to all applicable due process rights afforded under these Personnel Rules or applicable MOU.

SECTION 33.6. DRIVING RECORD CRITERIA.

- A. Convictions Related to the Operation of a Vehicle
 - 1. No convictions shall be allowed in the previous consecutive thirty-six (36) months for:
 - a. Driving while intoxicated or under the influence of drugs;
 - b. Failure to stop and report when involved in an accident (hit and run);

- c. Manslaughter, homicide, or assault arising out of the operation of a motor vehicle;
- d. Any conviction resulting in suspension or revocation of an operator's license; or
- e. Reckless driving, evading an officer, engaging in a speed contest on a public street, or driving a motor vehicle at an excessive rate of speed where injury to persons or damage to property results from that excessive speed.
- 2. No more than two convictions shall be allowed in any consecutive twelve (12) months for any other moving traffic violation (excluding equipment violations).

B. Accidents

- 1. Moving Violation. Each accident involving an employee while operating any vehicle while on County business which results in damage to property, includinghis/her own vehicle, or bodily injury shall be considered a moving violation.
- 2. Exceptions. Accidents shall not be considered a moving violation under B.1. above if the employee can demonstrate that the accident occurred under the following circumstances:
 - a. Where the employee has been convicted of a moving violation described in A.2. above;
 - b. The automobile was lawfully parked;
 - c. The automobile was struck by another vehicle;
 - i. The employee was reimbursed by or on behalf of a person responsible for the accident or has a judgment against such person; or
 - ii. The DMV Pull Report shows the employee was not at fault.
 - d. The operator of the other vehicle involved in such accident was convicted of a moving traffic violation;
 - e. His/her automobile was damaged by a "hit-and-run" driver;
 - f. The accident involved damage by contact with animals or fowl;
 - g. The accident involved damage caused by flying gravel, missiles, or falling objects; or
 - h. The accident occurred while a peace officer was attempting to make an arrest or capture a fleeing suspect within a written departmental policy.

SECTION 33.7. <u>VEHICLE MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENT</u>. Administrative Policy 8-103, FleetManagement Program, provides specific requirements and guidelines for the maintenance of the County Fleet vehicles.

SECTION 33.8. TAKE-HOME VEHICLES.

- A. An employee may take home a County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle under either of the following circumstances.
 - 1. The employee, with the advance approval of the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, or Department Head, or his/her designee's designee, uses a County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle to commute to and/or from work on infrequent, occasional situations, which at no time exceed one day per month; or
 - 2. The take home of a County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle meets the following requirements:
 - a. The County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle is provided to the employee by the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, (or Department Head, or his/her designee's designee), with the approval of the CEO, or his/her designee, for use in connection with official County business and is used for official Countybusiness;
 - The Department Head, or his/her designee, (or Department Head, or his/her designee's) requires the employee to commute to and/or from work in aCounty vehicle or Rental Vehicle for bona fide County business reasons;
 - c. The County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle may not be used for personal purposes, other than for commuting to and/or from work or de minimis personal use (such as a stop for a personal errand on the way between a business delivery and the employee's home);
 - d. Except for personal de minimis use, the employee does not use the County Vehicle or Rental Vehicle for any purpose other than commuting to and/or from work.
- B. The CEO, or his/her designee, shall determine after consultation with appropriate Department Head, or his/her designee, those employees that are required to take home County Vehicles or Rental Vehicles for County business purposes as described in Section 33.8.A.2 above. Except when emergency work is required, this approval must be obtained in writing in advance from the CEO or his/her designee.
- C. When an employee is required to take a County vehicle home for County business purposes as described in Section 33.8.A.2 above, the employee may be subject to Internal Revenue Service rules concerning additional taxable compensation.
- D. Additional restrictions on an employee's ability to take home County Vehicles orRental Vehicles may be imposed at the discretion of the employee's Department Head, or his/her designee.

SECTION 33.9. PRIVATELY OWNED VEHICLES.

- A. The use of privately owned vehicles for official County business shall be authorized when such use is determined by the Department Head, or his/her designee, to be in the best interest of the County.
- B. Use of a privately owned vehicle for official County business shall not be mandatory unless specifically stated as a condition of employment.
- C. License/Insurance
 - 1. Any employee authorized by the Department Head or his/her designee, to use a privately owned vehicle for official County business shall have:
 - a. A valid California driver's license.
 - b. Sufficient public liability and property damage insurance which meet the requirements of the financial responsibility laws of the State of California (Vehicle Code §§16000-16075).
 - 2. Unless otherwise required by law, the cost of damage and/or wear and tear toa privately owned vehicle used on County business is the responsibility of the employee and is considered by the County in the mileage rate paid to the employee.
 - 3. In cases where a County peace officer or firefighter (including reserve deputies and volunteer firefighters) is requested or directed to use a privately owned vehicle for official County business, the provisions of California Insurance Code § 557.5 shall apply. To the extent any provisions of this policy are inconsistent with California Insurance Code §557.5, the provisions of California Insurance Code §557.5 shall control.
- D. Mileage Claims
 - 1. Only those miles traveled in the performance of official County business may be claimed for reimbursement.
 - 2. Employees who do not regularly report to a specific facility and those who occasionally report to different work locations shall claim only the mileage that is greater than their normal commute to their assigned work location.
 - 3. Employees shall not be reimbursed mileage claims for miles driven to and froman employee's home and the assigned regular work location.
- E. Private Vehicle Requirements. In order to help insure that all County business is conducted in a safe and prudent manner a privately owned vehicle, while being used for official County business, shall be considered an official County Vehicle and subject to the following rules:

- 1. Only conventional automobiles equipped with four or more wheels and steel or fiberglass doors shall be used. Motorcycles, mopeds, scooters, bicycles, or similar vehicles may not be used to conduct County business.
- 2. The vehicle shall be equipped with, and each occupant will be required to use, seat belts.
- 3. The vehicle shall be safe to operate and shall be currently maintained in sound mechanical condition adequate to provide transportation without unreasonable delay.

SECTION 33.10. <u>RENTAL VEHICLES</u>. If a County Vehicle is not available, a vehicle may be rented by an employee or authorized volunteer, with the approval of the employee or authorized volunteer's Department Head, or his/her designee, through a County authorized agency (See Administrative Policy 8-103, Paragraph B14).

SECTION 33.11. <u>DEFENSIVE DRIVER TRAINING</u>. All employees and authorized volunteers who are required to operate a vehicle for County business three (3) or more times per month are required to attend, on County time and at County expense, a defensive driving training in accordancewith Administrative Policy 3-160, Defensive Driver Training. This training will be required once every three years.

SECTION 33.12. <u>PULL PROGRAM</u>. To help ensure the safety of employees and the public, the driving records of all employees with a Class A, B, or C license who operate a County Vehicle, RentalVehicle, or a private vehicle on County business will be reviewed at least annually using the Employer Pull Notice Program. California Vehicle Code requires employers to register their employees who are required to maintain a Class A or B license with the DMV. A Class A or B driver's license is required when employees operate passenger vans with seating capacity of ten (10) or more passengers, including the driver, as well as heavy truck operators (employees operating vehicles with gross vehicle weight of 26,001 pounds or more).

SECTION 33.13. PASSENGERS.

- A. Vehicles used in the course of County business shall be used to transport only those passengers who are on official County business or persons directly involved in County services (e.g., welfare recipients, prisoners, speakers, fellow conference members, other public agency employees who are ride-sharing, or a member of other non-profit organizations, etc.).
- B. With the approval of the Department Head, or his/her designee, a spouse (or companion for travel security) may travel in a vehicle used in the course of County business with a County employee to local, regional, or state meetings only if no additional cost is incurred and no County employee is displaced from travel. Spouses may only operate a County Vehicle if they are also an authorized volunteer of the County. Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the carrying of any person or persons in case of an accident or other emergency.

SECTION 33.14. DRIVER'S RESPONSIBILITIES.

A. The driver of a motor vehicle used on County business must be satisfied that the vehicle is in safe operating condition. The following items are to be checked by the driver prior to

the use of any vehicle: brakes, tires, lights, fuel, horn, rear-view mirrors, steering, and windshield wipers. All mechanical defects of a County-owned vehicle shall be reported to the Fleet Management Supervisor. Mechanical defects in rental vehicles should immediately be reported to the rental agency in accordance with their policies.

- B. The driver must operate the vehicle in a safe, reasonable manner consistent with the intended use of the vehicle.
- C. It is the driver's responsibility to ensure that the driver and all passengers are provided with and utilize seat belts. (See H. for exceptions.)
- D. Smoking in County Vehicles is prohibited. (See Administrative Manual Policy 8-103.) If utilizing a rental vehicle, in the course of County business, rental agency rules must be followed.
- E. This policy shall not be construed to prohibit the use of County Vehicles by properly authorized non-employee drivers, such as authorized volunteers (as defined in Administrative Policy 3-140). Nothing herein shall prohibit the use of County Vehicles by non-employees in case of an accident or other emergency.
- F. Employees and other drivers are prohibited from driving on County business while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. The Department Head, or his/her designee, shall be responsible for investigating all instances where it is alleged that a County employee, volunteer or other authorized driver has operated any County-owned vehicle, rental vehicle, orprivately owned vehicle on County business while under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
- G. Vehicles are to be locked and vehicle keys removed at all times when the vehicle is unattended. (See H. for exceptions.)
- H. Department operational policy may require keys to be left in a vehicle while unattended. Paragraph G. does not apply if leaving keys is within written department policy. Paragraph C. does not apply if a written law enforcement operational policy is applicable.

SECTION 33.15. <u>ACCIDENT REPORTING</u>. Instructions are in all County Vehicle glove boxes. Employees and authorized volunteers who are involved in a vehicle accident while driving on County business shall report the accident to Shasta County Risk Management as soon as practical, preferably within 24 hours of knowledge. A written report of the vehicle damage will be submitted within one week of the verbal report (see F.). The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident while on County-related business shall:

- A. When safe to do so, help anyone who is injured and call for emergency assistance if needed.
- B. Give his/her name, license number, and address to the police or to the other party to the accident.
- C. Obtain the name, address, telephone number, driver's license number, insurance carrier, policy number, and vehicle license number of the other party involved in the accident. An incident (accident) form is located in the manila envelope in the vehicle glove

compartmentof the County Vehicle. If driving a non-County vehicle, make notes about the accident and complete and submit the incident form as soon as possible.

- D. Get the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of all witnesses to the accident. Witness cards are located in the manila envelope in the vehicle glove compartment. Turn the witness information in to the employees' supervisor with the incident report as soon aspossible.
- E. Under all circumstances, contact the local police officials; give them details of the accident, and obtain from them any reports which must be completed. Be prepared to present the County certificate of self-insurance (on reverse side of manila jacket in the glove compartment if operating a County Vehicle) or the driver's own insurance information and registration to police if so requested. In event of an accident in a rental vehicle, provide a copyof the rental agreement. If local police officials choose not to attend to the accident, that must be documented and immediately reported to Risk Management.
- F. Call Risk Management's 24-hour telephone number at 245-6010 to report his/her name, department, date, time, and place of the accident as well as the name, address, and telephone number of the other party involved. If it is an emergency and the employee needs totalk to someone, instructions are provided on the voice mail message for this telephone number. Employees and authorized volunteers shall not discuss the accident with the driver ofany other vehicle(s) involved in the accident, or with anyone else other than the police, their supervisor, County Counsel, and the Risk Management Unit (225-5141 during business hours).
- G. County Fleet Management (225-5173) should be contacted for towing services, repairs, etc., for County Vehicles. After normal business hours, the Sheriff's Office (245-6000) may also be contacted and they will contact Fleet Management personnel. The rental agency from which the Rental Vehicle was rented should be contacted for towing services, repairs, etc. for Rental Vehicles.
- H. A supervisor should be contacted as soon as possible if personal injury or serious property damage is involved.
- I. When possible, take or obtain photographs of the damage to show all vehicles involved and the scene of the accident to show skid marks, location of debris, and location of road signs applying to traffic at the scene. These photographs should accompany the incident report.

SECTION 33.16. <u>VEHICLE REPAIR</u>. Any repairs for damage to County Vehicles, other than normal wear and tear, resulting from willful abuse, misconduct, or use of the vehicle outside the course and scope of employment or County business will be at the expense of the employee or authorized volunteer. For County-owned vehicles otherwise damaged, see Administrative Manual Policies 3-150, Procedures for County Vehicle Damage Repair, and 3-105, Self-Insurance Deductibles. Repair for rental vehicles will be handled according to rental agency policy and agreement.

SECTION 33.17. <u>TRAFFIC AND PARKING CITATIONS</u>. Traffic citations issued to an employee or authorized volunteer while using a vehicle on County-related business, other than those citations due to equipment violations or to over-length and over-width of vehicles, are the sole responsibility of the employee or authorized volunteer. Parking citations issued while utilizing

a vehicle for County- related business, are the sole responsibility of the employee or authorized volunteer who parked the vehicle. If the employee or authorized volunteer cannot be identified, then the department to which the vehicle was assigned shall be responsible.

SECTION 33.18. <u>EQUIPMENT AND PROPERTY IN COUNTY VEHICLES</u>. No employee or authorized volunteer shall install or cause to be installed in or on a County Vehicle any article of personal property without prior written approval of the Department Head, or his/her designee.

SECTION 33.19. <u>COUNTYEQUIPMENT IN PRIVATELY OWNED VEHICLES UTILIZED</u> FOR COUNTY BUSINESS.

- a. County equipment may be installed in privately owned vehicles utilized for County business upon the written approval of the Department Head, or his/her designee, involved. Authorization shall be granted only if private vehicle use is approved. The employee or authorized volunteer (i.e., the owner of the vehicle) shall be responsible for any damage, theft, or misuse of the equipment involved.
- B. If installation of County equipment in an employee's or authorized volunteer's privately owned vehicle is necessary for the performance of the employee's or authorized volunteer's duties, the County will pay for the necessary work to restore the car to its original condition when the need for the use of the car and equipment no longer exists.

SECTION 33.20. OTHER RELATED PROCEDURES.

- A. Credit Cards
 - 1. At the request of Department Head, or his/her designee, Fleet Management credit cards may be made available to employees and authorized volunteers who use County Vehicles or authorized rented vehicles. Employees and authorized volunteers shall use credit cards only at County-authorized fueling stations. Those cards provided by Fleet Management for national gas companies (e.g., Chevron and/or Shell) are only to be used outside the County unless otherwise authorized by Fleet Management and the Department Head, or his/her designee.
 - 2. Employees and authorized volunteers are expected to make a reasonable effort to purchase fuel and oil at the lowest available price. At the time of any purchase, the employee or authorized volunteers shall verify the County Vehicle license numberon the credit card receipt before signing it. The original or tissue copy of the credit card purchase slip shall be retained with the vehicle for later submission to Fleet Management.
 - 3. Except for use in purchasing other items that may be needed on an emergency basis to maintain the safe operation of the vehicle (e.g., tire repairs, radiator, belts, necessary hoses, etc.), credit cards shall be used only for required purchases of gasoline and oil for County Vehicles. When emergency out-of-town repairs are required, the employee or authorized volunteer should request the mechanic to place all old or damaged parts being replaced in the trunk of the vehicle so they can be returned to the Fleet Management Supervisor for inspection.
 - 4. The purchase of non-emergency items which are not for the sole purpose of safe vehicle operation is prohibited. If an employee or authorized volunteer purchases

non-emergency items with a County-issued credit card, he or she will be required to reimburse the County for those purchases.

- B. Fuel and Mechanical Difficulties
 - 1. Only regular unleaded fuel shall be purchased except for diesel vehicles.
 - 2. Any County vehicles that experience mechanical difficulty (e.g., pinging, improper acceleration, etc.) should be reported to Fleet Management.

CHAPTER 34. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION POLICY

SECTION 34.1 INTRODUCTION.

A. The purpose of this policy is to establish Countywide procedures and standards for conducting performance evaluations for all regular and extra help employees.

All regular employees shall receive a written performance evaluation on a Countyapproved form a minimum of once annually. All formal performance evaluations shall be placed in the employee's personnel file in Personnel. Employees shall be given copies of any formal written review of their performance by their supervisor or other designated staff. Employees have the right to make comments in writing concerning any written performance evaluation and supporting documents and have their comments attached to the relevant evaluation and placed in their personnel file.

- B. Definitions.
 - 1. Supervisor: any person responsible for conducting performance evaluations of County employees. That person may be a manager, an employee formally designated to a Supervisory Unit, or any other person assigned to conduct an employee performance evaluation.
 - 2. Annual Review Date (Evaluation Due Date on Personnel Action Form (PAF)): is the date the employee is scheduled for an evaluation. This may or may not be the same date as the Salary Anniversary Date depending upon the length of the initial probationary period or promotional probationary period and the step placement of the employee.
 - 3. Salary Anniversary Date (Salary Review Date or End Probationary Date on PAF) is the date that the employee is eligible for consideration for a merit increase in compliance with these Personnel Rules. This may or may not be the same date as the Annual Review Date.
 - 4. Permanent Appointment Date: the date that the employee is scheduled to complete an initial or promotional probationary period. This may or may not be the same date as the Salary Anniversary Date depending upon the length of the probationary period and the step placement of the employee.
- C. Regular formal and informal performance evaluations and feedback betweensupervisor and employee are essential to promoting effective job performance. The goal of conducting evaluations is to:
 - 1. Improve employee work performance by letting employees know what is expected;
 - 2. Set consistent and legitimate work standards;
 - 3. Identify and develop employee leadership, supervisory, and promotional potential;
 - 4. Recognize and reward exceptional employee performance;

- 5. Serve as an accurate reflection of an employee's performance and offer constructive criticism to improve performance;
- 6. Encourage open communication between supervisor and employee;
- 7. Establish and monitor performance goals and objectives;
- 8. Identify employee training needs;
- 9. Hold employees responsible for their work; and
- 10. Increase the effectiveness of supervisors and hold them accountable for the performance of their employees.

SECTION 34.2. PROCEDURE.

- A. Whenever a new supervisor is assigned to a work unit, a new employee begins work, or an employee changes a job assignment, the supervisor is responsible for discussing with the employee the expected standards of conduct and performance by which the employee's performance will be evaluated.
 - 1. During the course of the evaluation period any minor performance deficiency should be promptly discussed with the employee.
 - 2. If a discussion fails to correct a minor deficiency, a supervisor should advise the employee of the need for performance improvement and document the discussion by way of a counseling memorandum to the employee, or by other appropriate means.
 - 3. A supervisor should coach an employee in a manner that addresses anydeficiency by describing in detail the desired conduct and/or performance.
- B. The performance evaluation form is used to describe the employee's performance and summarize and record the discussions during the evaluation period between a supervisor and an employee.
 - 1. Because a written performance evaluation is part of the process of continual feedback, performance ratings and narratives should never be a surprise to an employee.
 - 2. Each performance evaluation is to be discussed with an employee privately in a face-to-face meeting.
 - 3. An employee must be given a copy of his or her written performance evaluation.
- C. Performance evaluations are given for a variety of reasons, and may begiven more than once a year. Regardless of the reason for a performance evaluation, a supervisor shall ensure that the ratings are applied consistently within the department, and are related to job performance.

- 1. Annually. This is the most common.
- 2. Probation. A probationary employee shall be given a written performance evaluation no later than six months after his or her appointment to a position, and justbefore the end of his or her probationary period, or throughout the probationary periodwithin the discretion of the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- 3. Lengthy or special projects. A written performance evaluation may be given during or at the conclusion of a lengthy or special project, as determined by a Department Head, or his/her designee.
- 4. Miscellaneous. Subject to the discretion of a Department Head, or his/her designee, a written performance evaluation may be given to an employee at any other time.
- D. Performance evaluations shall be completed on or before the employee's annualreview date, except as provided for in Section 34.3.
 - 1. Personnel shall notify a department of upcoming performance evaluations approximately six weeks prior to an employee's probationary or annual review date.
 - 2. A Department Head, or his/her designee, is encouraged to develop an evaluation process for supervisors to follow for employee classifications in their department. The examples described in subsections a. through c. are not exclusive. A Department Head, or his/her designee, may use any process that achieves the goalsdescribed in this chapter.
 - a. Employee input. Some departments may find it useful to utilize an employee input form (an electronic sample is available from Personnel) which allows the employee to describe his or her achievements and future goals for the supervisor to consider prior to completing the evaluation form.
 - b. Draft form. Some departments find it practical to provide the evaluation in draft form to the employee approximately 24 hours prior to the face-toface meeting, in order to prepare the employee for the meeting.
 - c. Supervisor review. Other departments prefer that the supervisor review the draft evaluation with the employee for the first time at the face-to- face meeting and allow the employee a period of time to respond prior to finalizing the evaluation.
 - 3. The review process may be different from one employee classification to another in a department. However, whatever process a Department Head, or his/her designee, chooses to use, a supervisor is encouraged to make an employee aware of what to expect in the evaluation process.
- E. An employee with an overall rating of "Unacceptable" or "Improvement Needed" shallnot be entitled to a merit increase until his or her overall rating reaches "Meets Expected Standards" or higher. If an employee is denied a merit increase, his or her performance

evaluation must describe what action he or she must take in a specified time period for the supervisor to subsequently authorize a merit increase.

- 1. A merit increase granted under such circumstances shall not be retroactive.
- F. An employee evaluation must be completed within 13 pay periods of the annual review date for the retroactive pay to be processed without Board of Supervisor approval.
- G. Each Department Head, or his/her designee, is encouraged to establish a supervisory review process that ensures every relevant supervisor approves of the contents of a performance evaluation for an employee before it is presented to an employee. However, at a minimum, a Department Head, or his/her designee or his or her designee must approve a performance evaluation before it is presented to an employee.
 - 1. An employee may appeal any portion of his or her performance evaluation to his or her Department Head, or his/her designee. If a Department Head, or his/her designee, is the supervisor who prepared the performance evaluation, the appeal may be made to the CEO, or his/her designee.
 - 2. If the performance evaluation's overall rating is less than "Meets Expected Standards," by mutual agreement of the Department Head, or his/her designee, and the employee, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, and a bargaining unit representative may participate in the appeal meeting with the Department Head, or his/her designee.
- H. It is the responsibility of each supervisor to ensure that this policy is carried out for his or her employees. Each Department Head, or his/her designee, shall be accountable for administering this policy in his or her department.
- I. Personnel is responsible for monitoring the timely submission of performance evaluations, and shall ensure that a department is complying with this policy. A performance evaluation that fails to provide a narrative, or fails to justify a rating below or above "Meets Expected Standard," or that otherwise fails to comply with this policy may be returned to the submitting department to correct the deficiency.

SECTION 34.3. <u>ALTERNATE PROCEDURE</u>

- A. A Department Head, or his/her designee, may utilize the alternate procedure for the annual evaluation, described in this section, only if an employee has:
 - 1. had regular full-time employment with the county for three consecutive years:
 - 2. reached the highest step in the employee's range
 - 3. on file an annual evaluation with an overall rating of at least "Meets Expected Standards," which was completed within the preceding 15 months; and
 - 4. not had a significant change in duties.
- B. If all of the criteria set forth in paragraph A are met, the Department Head, or his/her designee, may, after reviewing the employee's most recent performance evaluation, send

a memorandum, which includes the signature of the Department Head, or his/her designee, the employee's supervisor and the employee, to Personnel certifying that the ratings on the most recent performance evaluation are still appropriate. At a minimum, the text of the memorandum must read:

I have reviewed the most recent performance evaluation for this employee. The duties performed by this employee have not changed significantly in the past year. The ratings on that evaluation are still appropriate. This memorandum will serve in lieu of the annual performance evaluation for this evaluation cycle. An evaluation will be completed at the end of the next evaluation cycle. The current evaluation and this alternate procedure have been reviewed with the employee.

- C. A supervisor must prepare a performance evaluation, in lieu of a memorandum, if an employee makes a written request for the evaluation within five business days of receiving the memorandum for signature.
- D. This alternate memorandum procedure may be used no more frequently than every other year for any particular employee.

SECTION 34.4 USE OF THE EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM.

- A. Personnel has approved a standard evaluation form for all county employees (available in the appendix of these Personnel Rules and in electronic form). This form is used to evaluate an employee, unless Personnel has approved a modification to the form.
- B. A supervisor must complete a narrative for each rated performance category. A narrative includes, at a minimum, a short paragraph detailing how the rating was determined.
 - 1. If a department places greater weight on any individual rating factor in an identified category, the "weighted" box must be checked for the individual rating factor.
 - 2. All ratings checked as "Improvement Needed" or "Unacceptable" must be addressed in a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP). To be effective, and in order to appropriately guide an employee in a deficient area of performance, a PIP must set forth, in clear terms, a description of the performance problem, the standard of performance the supervisor expects the employee to meet, and a deadline for achieving that standard of performance. A PIP should also describe all training, assistance and oversight that will be provided to an employee during the next evaluation period, and should set timelines for the employee's next evaluation period.
- C. A Supervisor is strongly encouraged to set goals and objectives for each employee within his or her performance evaluation for the next evaluation period. Employee success in meeting assigned goals and objectives shall be addressed in the next subsequent evaluation.
- D. A supervisor shall give an employee his or her overall performance rating and shall provide a narrative that describes the employee's job performance strengths and deficiencies for that evaluation period.

E. A supervisor is encouraged to utilize the Employee Development Plan to identify training, education, or relevant experience an employee might acquire to enhance his or her promotability and job satisfaction.

CHAPTER 35. PERSONNEL FILES POLICY

SECTION 35.1. <u>PURPOSE</u>. The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to County Managers and Supervisors on the handling, storage, disposition, and access of records created or maintained as a result of the employment process.

SECTION 35.2. TYPES AND LOCATION OF PERSONNEL FILES.

A. Repository: PERSONNEL (DEPARTMENT OF SUPPORT SERVICES)

- 1. Official Personnel File.
 - a. Definition: The "Official Personnel File" is the repository for those documents necessary to document an individual's tenure and status as a County employee. The Official Personnel File is kept and maintained in Personnel. Special confidential material subject to specific privacy protections (such as medical information) shall not be kept in the official file. The employee has access to and may receive copies of everything in the Official Personnel File. An authorization to release the file to a third party must be clear, complete, and unambiguous and executed properly by a current or former employee. Examples of materials in the Official Personnel File are:
 - i. Work history information including job application, supplemental questionnaire responses, resume, letters of recommendation, DMV record; preemployment medical clearance; and new-hire packet.
 - ii. Identification information (social security number, employee ID number, etc.).
 - iii. Employment Eligibility Forms (I-9 Forms).
 - iv. Evidence of transfers, promotions and leaves (Personnel Action Forms, (PAFs).)
 - v. Work performance information including performance evaluations, letters of commendation, etc. (*Note: The file shall not include counseling statements or supervisory notes which have not been appended to performance evaluations or disciplinary documents.*)
 - vi. Disciplinary documents (letters of reprimand, charging letters, and orders of discipline) (*Note: Certain documents or agreements resolving disciplinary actions may be maintained in confidential files in County Counsel's Office or under seal by the Personnel Director, or his/her designee*).
 - vii. Employment contracts.
 - viii. Signed acknowledgments of receipt of County policy advisements.

- ix. Responses by the employee to any of the above.
- 2. Separate Personnel Files (Confidential material subject to privacy protections which is not kept in the Official Personnel File).
- 3. Equal Employment File. Equal Employment forms (records of sex, race, and national origin of applicants and employees) are contained in the automated applicant tracking system and in the automated personnel/payroll system.
- 4. Non-individualized Files. (These files are maintained by Personnel and may have information or documents related to employees but are not maintained under the employee's name).
 - a. Recruitment Files. Recruitment documents are filed by job classification and recruitment dates. Some recruitment information is kept in an employee's files after that employee is hired, such as the application, resume, and supplemental questionnaire.
 - b. Grievance Files. Grievance files, which include records of grievances and results of grievances, are numbered by year and union representation.
- 5. The laws governing Personnel Files and their content have changed over time. Files for long term employees will be reviewed by Personnel staff, as time allows, to bring them into compliance with the above standards.
- B. Repository: RISK MANAGEMENT
 - 1. Workers' Compensation File. The Risk Management Division of Support Services is the repository for all of the official records maintained in connection with a workers' compensation claim. Medical and litigation records are kept in these files and are not freely accessed by other County departments unless appropriate releases are obtained. The employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, may be consulted regarding the accuracy of information in a report, especially during investigations and regarding work assignment, but does not have free access to these files. These files are kept specific to the individual claimant.
 - 2. Litigation/Claim Files. These records are organized according to the names of individual employees who sue or are sued by the County.
 - 3. Accident Report Files. These files contain documents concerning accidents involving County personnel, real property, or equipment.
- C. Repository: PAYROLL
 - 1. Payroll files maintained on specific employees. Payroll rarely maintains a fileon a specific employee; only when there is an unusual problem that needs special attention is a limited-term working file kept.
 - 2. Payroll subject-specific file.

- a. Typically, all information, data, or documents pertaining to individual employees are kept by Payroll in subject specific files, with employee-specific documents kept alphabetically within those files. Examples of such subject specific files are: requests for garnishments or other levies by outside authorities; tax withholding forms and other forms reflecting compensation, including payroll deductions; PERS health and retirement information; deferred compensation information; IRS 125 plan information; and records reflectingany other deductible items including direct deposit.
- b. Time cards are immediately imaged after the pay period and kept by pay period, alphabetically by department, by employee, and maintained forever. Time sheets summaries are imaged annually, eventually merged into aone-year period and kept alphabetically by department, by employee.
- c. Some copies of PAFs are kept selectively for up to six months and then destroyed.

D. Repository: EMPLOYEE'S DEPARTMENT

- 1. Department Personnel File Non-Official.
 - a. May contain a copy of any document which is placed in the Official Personnel Department Personnel File, including PAFs, performance evaluations, documents regarding disciplinary actions, and other work history and work performance records.
 - b. Documents and records which are not appropriate to be maintained in the Official Personnel File may also be kept in this file or in the Supervisor's File described below. These include counseling statements, "performance log" notes, grievances filed by the employee, commendations, letters of complaints, etc.
- 2. Supervisor's File (Note: Smaller departments might not keep a separate supervisor's file but may instead keep all documents in the "Departmental Personnel File Non-Official"). In addition to those documents listed above under Departmental Personnel File Non-Official, this file may include supervisor's notes during that performance rating period, counseling statements, "log" notes, and other items that may be duplicated from the Non-Official Departmental or Official Personnel File.
- 3. Training Files. These files are optional in most departments; however POST and STC require that law enforcement agencies maintain training files for peace officers.
- 4. Departmental Medical File-Official (Note: The County does not generally wishto be privy to an employee's medical information. However, business necessity may require the County to maintain records regarding an employee's sick leave requests, including medical certifications under the Federal Medical Leave Act and California Family Rights Act. In addition, the County may have records

concerning fitness forduty reports, disability accommodation considerations, and other records related to an employee's work duties.)

- a. The official repository for medical-related documents of employees is the Departmental Medical File, although Personnel may keep some medical-related documents. Any records or documents (such as sick leave requests, disability accommodations, medical certifications, or FMLA requests, for example) related to an employee's sick leave, fitness for duty, or other medical related issues must be kept separately from all other files.
- b. Although the official workers' compensation file is kept at Risk Management, any records or communications received by the department regarding an employee's industrial-related injury or accident should be maintained in the Departmental Medical File.
- 5. Investigatory Files.
 - a. Information received through the background check of the employee should be maintained separately from his/her general personnel files.
 - b. If a complaint is received or for some other reason an employee is investigated by the supervisor or someone else, the investigatory file should bemaintained initially separate from other personnel files pertaining to the individual. If the investigation results in a disciplinary action, the file should be incorporated into records of the disciplinary action and made a part of the employee's Official Personnel File. If no disciplinary action is taken, the records of the investigation should be maintained in a separate investigation personnel file within the department and a cover sheet should be attached giving the outcome of the investigation.

SECTION 35.3. MAINTENANCE AND DISPOSITION OF PERSONNEL FILES.

- A. General Rule. An employee's files should be kept the duration of that employee's employment plus four years following separation. However, only the "official file" must be kept; duplicate records (such as those ordinarily maintained in the Departmental Personnel File or the Supervisor's File) may be destroyed when the employee separates from the department, if the department's records retention policy allows for destruction of those records. The department should send its Official Medical File to Personnel for storage with theOfficial Personnel File.
- B. Personnel files will be destroyed by Personnel four years after the employee's separation, except:
 - 1. Workers' compensation claims files are maintained for seven years after the case is closed, and then the files are imaged and maintained forever.
 - 2. Pension and benefits plan information must be kept the duration of the employee's employment plus six years (per Age Discrimination Employment Act).

- 3. For regular employees, a summary of county employment history ispermanently maintained by Personnel, including dates of positions held and the rate of pay for each position.
- 4. Recruitment files are kept two years after the eligible list is abandoned.
- 5. First aid records of job injuries causing loss of work time must be kept at least five years.
- 6. Chemical and toxic exposure records that refer to any specific employee must be kept the duration of that person's employment plus 30 years.
- 7. If there is any litigation or litigation is foreseeable, records and files must be kept until the end of litigation including any appeal period.
- 8. If there are any agreements (termination, settlement, resignation, or other agreements) pertaining to employment, the file must be maintained at least as required under "general rule" above or for as long as specified in the agreement itself.
- 9. A citizen's complaint made against a peace officer must be kept at least five years.
- C. Removal of Records from Official Personnel File. In accordance with Government Code §26205.1, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, is authorized to destroy certain nonjudicial public records with in the Director's custody. For example, the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, may cause non-permanent records pertaining to discipline contained in the Official Personnel File to be removed pursuant to a settlement agreement or mutual agreement of all parties. Such records shall be either maintained in a separate file by County Counsel or stored. These records will be maintained in accordance with B (Exceptions) 8, above.

SECTION 35.4. ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILES.

- A. General Rule. The employee is guaranteed access to most records and documents generated or maintained by the County which pertain to that employee and could be used by the County to make workplace decisions about that employee.
- B. Exceptions
 - 1. Some files, such as records of a background investigation, are not ordinarily accessible to the employee.
 - 2. Some records are temporarily withheld from the employee. For example, internal investigations of the employee are not freely available to the employee until the employer relies upon them to bring a disciplinary action against that employee. At that time, the employee is entitled to receive copies of those records.
 - 3. Records related to the investigation conducted pursuant to the County's policy against discrimination may not be released without County Counsel approval or a court order.

- 4. Other records not freely available to the employee include files or documents relating to job references, and confidential or privileged materials such as the department's correspondence with attorneys, and pre-litigated workers' compensation files.
- C. Methods of Accessing Files
 - 1. Employees or former employees may request access to their own records which are available to them by requesting to review their records. The keeper of the record must provide reasonable access at a time and place convenient to both. The employee will be required to provide identification and fill out a request form which will be placed in the file the employee wishes to see. The County provides employees access to records under the provisions of Labor Code §1198.5, which permits an employee to inspect personnel records at the location where the employer stores the records, with no loss of compensation to the employee.
 - 2. An employee or former employee may execute an authorization for release of records to a third party to allow that party access to the employee's Official or Departmental Personnel File. The authorization must be clear, complete, and unambiguous and executed properly. The employee or former employee may authorize release of only those documents that he/she would be allowed to access personally.
 - 3. Certain personnel records may be released subject to a valid subpoena for records. A motion to quash will be filed with the Court by County Counsel, when necessary.
 - 4. The Personnel Director, or his/her designee, has access to the Official and Departmental Personnel Files. The employee's appointing authority, or his/her designee, has access to the Official and Departmental Personnel Files. Other Department Head(s), or his/her designee's, employees, or union representatives may only access an employee's Official and Departmental Personnel Files with a signed authorization from the employee. The authorization must be clear, complete, and unambiguous and executed properly.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 36. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAM

SECTION 36.1. PURPOSE.

The Shasta County Employee Recognition Program (SCERP) identifies the superior contributions of exemplary employees; instills pride in public service; and creates a standard of achievement by whichto measure all employees. The desired result is increased dedication and commitment to the organization and exceptional public service.

SECTION 36.2. PUBLIC SERVICE ETHIC.

Our customers are the residents, agencies, and businesses of Shasta County. Each of them is entitled to courteous, efficient, and professional service. We demonstrate this service by our genuine concernfor our customers' wellbeing, the resolution of their problems, and by helping them acquire the services they need. As public employees, we take pride in our work and responsibility for our action. We recognize that how we treat our customers contributes to the faith and trust they have in government.

SECTION 36.3. <u>ELIGIBILITY</u>.

Every employee with at least one year of continuous service with the County of Shasta is eligible to participate in the program.

SECTION 36.4. <u>TYPES OF RECOGNITION</u>.

There are two forms of employee recognition: the Employee of the Month, and the Employee of the Year. Each year there shall be awards for the 12 Employees of the Month and one Employee of the Year chosen from among the monthly recipients.

SECTION 36.5. SELECTION CRITERIA.

To be nominated for an Employee of the Month award, employees must consistently exemplify the bestqualities in public service and in particular meet the recognition standards outlined under the seven selection criteria listed below.

- A. <u>Customer Service</u>
 - 1. Represents the County in a courteous, friendly manner which creates a positive image.
 - 2. Works cooperatively with all customers/clients/citizens/employees to identify problems, develop and implement solutions.
 - 3. Diligently and patiently works to keep the customer informed about the service that is being provided.
 - 4. Consistently attempts to be empathetic with customers to avoid conflict and increase the level of customer satisfaction with the organization.

B. <u>Professionalism</u>

- 1. Possess a high degree of technical competence.
- 2. Constantly strives to improve the level and quality of services.
- 3. Maintains a positive attitude.
- 4. Consistently presents a professional image.
- 5. Constantly strives to improve the knowledge and skill required of his/her position.

C. <u>Ethical Standards</u>

- 1. Is honest and forthright.
- 2. Demonstrates the highest ethical standards and consistently works to promote fairness.

D. Initiative/Innovation

- 1. Encourages and develops more effective and efficient ways of completing his/her work and the work of the County.
- 2. Assumes responsibility for correcting problems even when it requires extra time and effort.
- 3. Exhibits leadership to improve the work product of his/her group or department or theCounty.

E. <u>Team Work</u>

- 1. Works with others in a coordinated manner to achieve common goals.
- 2. Routinely volunteers to help solve problems.

F. <u>Productivity</u>

- 1. Works diligently.
- 2. Is results oriented.
- 3. Manages time efficiently and is willing to work additional hours if necessary, as authorized.
- 4. Consistently follows through on commitments in a timely manner.
- G. Role Model for Other Public Employees
 - 1. Inspires others to reach high levels of performance.

- 2. Encourages loyalty and service to the County.
- 3. Believes in the value of public service and works diligently to retain the public's trust in theCounty.

SECTION 36.6. SELECTION PROCEDURE.

An employee may nominate any employee for an award by another employee by submitting a nomination form to the nominee's Department Head, or his/her designee, who will then screen the nominations. At the Department Head, or his/her designee's, discretion, he/she may incorporate the feedback of other department staff to determine the most deserving employees in that department, provided the feedback is obtained from a representative cross section of department staff including management, non-management, and/or volunteers.

The Department Head, or his/her designee, is responsible to prioritize the departments' nominations. The number of nominations that any Department Head, or his/her designee, may submit each calendaryear is limited to one nomination for each ten full time equivalent (FTE) employees employed by the department on June 30 of each year. A Department Head, or his/her designee, who employs fewer than ten persons may nominate up to one employee per calendar year. A Department Head, or his/herdesignee, is not required to forward the maximum allowable number of nominations, or any nominations, to the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee.

The Department Head, or his/her designee, must submit the department's nomination on an EmployeeRecognition Nomination Form (see Appendix) to Personnel at a date set by the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee. Nominations received after this deadline will be considered for an award during the following quarter.

Once the departmental screening process is completed, the most deserving nominees will be submitted Personnel. The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, will then review each nominee's personnel file to verify that the nominee has had no disciplinary action, letter of reprimand, or below expected standards evaluation during the past five years. The Department Head, or his/her designee, will be notified about any nominations that were rejected due to the above reasons by the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee.

The Director of Support Services, or his/her designee will screen the nominations that were not rejected and submit his or her selection to the Board of Supervisors for recognition by the Board of Supervisors at a regularly scheduled Board meeting.

In making that selection, the Director of Support Services or his/her designee will seek input from persons or organizations with an interest in the performance of County employees, including, but not limited to, exclusively recognized employee organizations, the County Executive Officer, and such other persons or organizations that the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee, determines in the exercise of his/her discretion.

Suggestions for improving the nomination procedure, forms, or Employee Appreciation program shall be forwarded to the Director of Support Services or his/her designee, for possible submittal to the Board of Supervisors.

The entire nomination and selection process shall be confidential and impartial. No weight shall be given to the seniority of employees, their classification, or their level of responsibility in the

organization. All staff and in particular, Department Heads, and designees, shall take appropriate steps to assure that impartiality and fairness govern the entire process.

The selection of award recipients rests in the sole discretion of the Director of Support Services or his/her designee, whose deliberations shall be confidential. Decisions shall be final and are not subject to the County's grievance procedures.

SECTION 36.7. <u>TYPES OF AWARDS</u>.

Employees chosen for the Employee of the Month shall receive a framed certificate of recognition describing the reasons for their selection and their contributions to the County. Each recipient will havehis/her photograph taken and displayed outside the Board of Supervisors Chambers. Each recipient may also receive gift cards or other items of nominal amount made by private donations.

In January of each year, the Board will also present an Employee of the Year award. The recipient of the Employee of the Year award will have his/her photograph taken and displayed outside the Board of Supervisors Chambers. The Employee of the Year will receive a framed certificate of recognition, and may also receive gift cards or other items of nominal amount made by private donations.

SECTION 36.8. DEPARTMENT EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAMS.

This policy is not intended to supersede, but to complement any departmental employee recognition program. Such programs are hereby authorized by the Board of Supervisors pursuant to GovernmentCode section 26206, which provides for the presentation of medals, resolutions, plaques, other materials, or nominal cost items, not to exceed \$150 per employee recognition, to exemplary employees.

CHAPTER 37. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM POLICY

Note: Not all bargaining units are covered by this policy (as of February 2008, UPEC Professional Unit, Deputy Sheriff's Association (DSA) - Deputy/DA Investigator Unit, and DSA/Correctional Officer Unit were not covered by this policy). The employee should check the relevant MOU toconfirm coverage.

SECTION 37.1. POLICY.

- A. It is the policy of Shasta County to assist employees who may have personal problems affecting their job performance by providing an Employee Assistance Program (EAP). Common examples of personal problems include, but are not limited to: family or marital stress, alcohol or drug abuse, legal or financial difficulties, child care concerns, and elder care concerns, as well as psychological or emotional disorders.
- B. The County has no intention of interfering in the private lives of its employees. However, it may properly take action when an employee's job performance is affectedby personal problems developed outside the work environment. In addition, the County recognizes there is no factual justification for the social stigma attached to alcoholism, drug abuse, or other personal problems. An employee who acknowledges any type of personal problem which is affecting job performance and seeks assistanceto improve performance will be supported in these efforts by the County. However, the work performance of a personal problem will not be accepted by the County as justification for lowering the work performance standards expected of an employee or avoiding appropriate disciplinary action. It is the responsibility of each employee to maintain his/her job performance at a satisfactory level.
- C. To assist employees in resolving personal problems, the County has established an EAP. An EAP is not designed to provide ongoing treatment or assistance but typically clarifies issues, helps establish priorities for addressing issues, and finds resources for ongoing treatment or assistance.
- D. An employee may contact the EAP directly for assistance (self-referral), or an employee may be referred to the EAP by his/her supervisor or manager as a result of work performance or behavioral problems (supervisor/manager referral). Employees who utilize the services of the EAP are guaranteed confidentiality.

SECTION 37.2. PROCEDURE.

- A. Self-Referral Voluntary
 - 1. An employee may seek help directly from the EAP to assist with personal problems on a 24 hour a day, seven day a week basis by calling the toll-free number ((800) 932-0034, as of 1/2008)of the provider.
 - 2. Employees seeking assistance on their own ("voluntary self-referral")can arrange to attend scheduled appointments in the same manner as usedwith scheduling other personal business appointments (each department has different parameters for scheduling such appointments; for example, scheduling during non-work hours, flex scheduling, or use of appropriate leave balances).

- 3. A supervisor may also suggest that an employee voluntarily seek assistance from the EAP if the employee asks for guidance for some form of personal distress or if the employee's behavior indicates possible distress even though work performance has not significantly declined. Acceptance by the employee to seek assistance at this point is considered a "voluntary self- referral." Brochures about the EAP will be provided to new employees and available from Payroll or Personnel. The employee bargaining unit representatives and departments also have EAP brochures.
- 4. Medical or other expenses incurred by the employee due to referrals recommended by the EAP provider are the responsibility of the employee and will not be paid for by the County.
- B. Supervisor/Manager Referral Mandatory
 - 1. A supervisor who identifies a work performance or behavior problem on the part of an employee may, in consultation with the Department Head, or his/her designee, or designee, direct the employee to seek counseling orassistance through the County's EAP. Such a mandatory referral by an employee's Department Head, or his/her designee, will be based on documented evidence of job performance or behavioral problems and will be considered to be a direct work order. Prior to issuing the direct order, the department will review the matter with the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. If approved by the Personnel Director or his/her designee, the department may proceed with issuing the direct order. (For employees of the Department of Support Services, the review of the matter and the approval of the mandatory referral will be by the CEO or his/her designee). Failure of the employee to report for the initial meeting with the EAP provider once scheduled by the supervisor may result in informal or formal discipline. While the employee must attend the first meeting with the EAP provider, the decision to participate in any further activities recommended or provided by the EAP provider will be left to the employee.
 - 2. Prior to making a mandatory referral, the supervisor/manager will conduct an interview with the employee to discuss the specific performance or behavior problem, expressing the Department's support for a positive solution to the employee's problem. The supervisor/manager will also explain the services available to the employee through the employee assistance program. If the supervisor/manager believes or the employee indicates that a personal problem is contributing to the performance or behavior problem, thedepartment will schedule an appointment for the employee. The employee will be instructed that the initial meeting with the EAP provider is mandatory and participation in any additional activities recommended by the EAP provider will be the decision of the employee.
 - 3. The supervisor/manager will then complete a Department Referral Form provided by the EAP provider. The Department Referral Form is a confidential document designed to provide the necessary background information to the EAP provider. The form will not become part of the employee's personnel file or record.

- 4. Employees participating in the EAP via a mandatory supervisor/manager referral will be granted paid time off (as provided for under release from duty time provisions in the MOUs and Personnel Rules) for up to three counseling sessions to the EAP. The EAP is a County paid benefit and the EAP will not bill the employee for any of the three sessions.
- 5. All counseling records prepared by the EAP provider for employees participating in the process are kept confidential. EAP counselors will not provide case information to supervisors or management unless specifically authorized to do so at the written request of the employee. In the case of a mandatory referral, the EAP provider will provide the employee=s supervisor with attendance verification information. No medical information, with the exception of physician recommended job restrictions, will be provided to the supervisor or management.
- 6. Medical or other expenses incurred by the employee due to referrals recommended by the EAP provider are the responsibility of the employee and will not be paid for the County.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 38. CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES

SECTION 38.1. <u>PURPOSE</u>. Section 3207 of the Government Code allows the County to establish rules and regulations prohibiting or restricting the political activities of County employees during working hours or on the premises of the local agency. The purpose of this Chapter is to implement, in part, section 3207 so as to maintain the integrity of County operations, discourage discord among employees, and promote efficient public service.

SECTION 38.2. CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES OF COUNTY OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES.

- A. County officers and employees are prohibited from engaging in campaign activities related to County elective offices within County-owned or County-leased premises.
- B. The term premises means a building or other enclosed facility, but does not include the land surrounding a building or enclosed facility, or a parking lot or parking structure.
- C. The term campaign activities means:
 - 1. Communications that advocate the nomination or election of a candidate for a County elective position or the defeat of his/her opponent.
 - 2. Communications that contain references to a candidate's candidacy for elective office, the candidate's election campaign, the candidate's position on issues relative to the elective office sought, or the candidate's qualifications for elective office.
 - 3. Communications soliciting financial contributions or contributions of service on behalf of a candidate or in opposition to his/her opponent.
 - 4. Arranging, coordinating, developing, writing, distributing, preparing, or planningany communication or activity described in clauses 1, 2, or 3 above.
 - 5. Recruiting, or coordinating the campaign activities of, campaign staff on behalf of the candidate.
 - 6. Preparing campaign budgets.
 - 7. Preparing campaign disclosure statements.
 - 8. Communications directed to voters or potential voters as part of activities encouraging or assisting persons to vote if the communication contains express advocacy of the nomination or election of the candidate or the defeatof his/her opponent.
- D. The term communications includes written, oral, and pictorial words or images, including but not limited to literature, posters, campaign buttons, or email or voicemail messages in, from, or to the workplace.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

CHAPTER 39. ELECTED DEPARTMENT HEAD AND BOARD OF SUPERVISOR BENEFITS

SECTION 39.1. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Personnel Rules, this chapter expressly lists those benefits that are allowable to eligible Elected Department Heads and Board of Supervisors and shall be the exclusive statement of such benefits. The term "Elected Department Head" refers to those elected department heads enumerated in Section 6.11 of these Personnel Rules. Elected Department Heads and the Board of Supervisors may be referred to at times in this Chapter collectively as "Elected Officer" or "Elected Officers." To the extent that any of these provisions may be inconsistent or in conflict with any statutes or County ordinances, those statutes or ordinances shall control.

SECTION 39.2. <u>LIFE INSURANCE</u>. The County shall provide a group life and accidental death and dismemberment policy at County expense equal to each Elected Department Head's and each member of the Board of Supervisor's actual base salary. In no event shall such amount be less than \$50,000, nor more than \$80,000. Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisor's shall be allowed to purchase additional insurance in an amount up to three times annual salary at his/her own expense.

SECTION 39.3. <u>EXPENSE ALLOWANCE</u>. Each Elected Department Head shall receive an allowance for legitimate business expenses, in the amount of an additional \$50.00 biweekly stipend for reimbursement of business expenses within the County which are not otherwise claimable under current County policy. The Board of Supervisors are excluded from receiving this expense allowance.

SECTION 39.4. <u>HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS</u>.

- A. 1. Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors.
 - a. Elected Department Heads. The County maximum healthcontribution to the medical, dental, and vision plans for Elected Department Heads shall be the same as for employees represented by the Mid- Management Bargaining Unit (MMBU), including the spouse accommodation benefit provided to employees represented by MMBU (if anElected Officer and his/her spouse or registered domestic partner both workfor the County and both are eligible for County provided health insurance and contributions), unless set otherwise by resolution or ordinance of the Board.
 - b. Members of the Board of Supervisors.
 - i. Commencing on January 7, 2019, the County maximum health contribution to the CalPERS- approved medical insurance will be as follows: The County will pay eighty five percent (85%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost and sixty-five percent (65%) of the Employee plus one and Employee plus family medical premium cost categories of PERS Choice (or equivalent plan), including the spouse accommodation benefit provided to employees represented by MMBU (if an Elected Officer and his/her spouse or registered domestic partner both work for the County and both are eligible for County provided health insurance and

contributions). The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution. Those percentages shall be converted to monthly maximums which dollar amounts shall not be exceeded, unless set otherwise by resolution or ordinance of the Board. Members of the Board ofSupervisors will pay that portion of the premium not contributed by the County. Regardless of whether the PERS Choice plan continues in existence after 2021, these monthly maximum amounts shall continue to be contributed until the pay period beginning February 8, 2022.

- ii. Effective the pay period beginning February 8, 2022 for premiums applied to March 2022 and going forward, the County will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the Employee Only medical premium cost and ninety percent (90%) of the Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family medical premium cost categories of the PERS Gold plan. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution. Members of the Board of Supervisors are responsible for any medical premium costs exceeding the County contribution amount.
- iii. Beginning in December 2022 for premiums applied to January 2023 and going forward, the County will calculate the difference in costs between the previous year's total medical premium costs and the current year's total medical premium costs for Employee Only, Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family categories based upon the PERS Gold plan. The County and the individual Supervisor will split the difference in costs (50%/50%), whether an increase or decrease, and apply that toward their respective employer contribution and employee contribution amounts for all health plans from the previous year to determine the current year's contribution, up to a \$0 contribution. The County contribution includes the PEMHCA minimum contribution.

The County shall contribute an amount equal to at least four percent (4%) of gross salaries to reduce either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded liability. In addition, beginning in 2023, the Auditor-Controller agrees to apply a cumulative amount equal to the 50% increase of the PERS Gold premium amount from the year before, to either the Other Post Employment Benefit unfunded liability and/or the CalPERS Retirement unfunded liability.

- 2. For Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors who either (1) did not have Shasta County service as a County officer or employee prior to assuming elected office or (2) had a separation in excess of seven (7) days between prior Shasta County service as a County officer or employee and the assuming of elected office:
 - a. Eligibility for medical and dental insurance shall begin the first of the month following assumption of office unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s).

- b. County contributions towards medical and dental, as provided above, shall commence the first of the month following six months of service in office unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s). Elected Officers who are otherwise eligible for insurance coverage during their first six months in office and elect such coverage shall pay the insurance premiums through payroll deductions.
- 3. Except as where a separation from County service is required by Government Code section 53227 and other applicable law, for Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors not identified in Section 39.4.A.2. of the Personnel Rules, upon assuming elected office they shall be considered to have had nobreak in service for purposes of continuation of any existing medical, dental, and vision insurance and County contributions thereto.
- B. Retired Elected Department Heads and Board of Supervisors
 - 1. The County shall provide the same County contribution towards each retired Elected Department Head's and member of the Board of Supervisor's premium for the CalPERS medical plan as made for current active Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors in accordance with CalPERS enrollment and premium contribution regulations.
 - 2. For (1) persons who assumed office as an Elected Department Head or asa member of the Board of Supervisors prior to January 1, 2013, and (2) for persons who assumed office as an Elected Department Head or as a member of the Board of Supervisors for the first time on or after January 1, 2013 and (a) had Shasta County serviceas a County officer or management employee prior to January 1, 2013 and (b) had no separation in service in excess of seven (7) days between that prior County service as a County officer or management employee and the assumption of office as an Elected Department Head or as a member of the Board of Supervisors, the following shall apply:
 - a. Unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s), contractual obligation or other law, the County shall provide payment toward each retired Elected Department Head's and member of the Board of Supervisor's medical/dental benefit premiums, provided such Elected Department Head and member of the Board of Supervisors retires from active Shasta County service and remains uninterrupted in the Shasta County medical/dental plan. The percentage amount of County payment shall be based on the following formula.

10 years of County service	25% County payment of premium
15 years of County service	50% County payment of premium
20 years of County service	100% County payment of premium

3. For all persons not identified in Section 39.4.B.2. of the Personnel Rules who assumed office as an Elected Department Head on or after January 1, 2013, the following shall apply.

- a. In accordance with the California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), and unless otherwise required by the insurance provider(s) or contractual obligation or other law, the County shall provide payment toward each such retired Elected Department Head's and member of the Board of Supervisor's medical/dental premiums, provided such Elected Department Head and member of the Board of Supervisor retires from active Shasta County service, and remains uninterrupted in the medical plan provided by the County. Such payment shall equal ten (10) percent of such premium and only apply to retirees having a minimum of ten years of County service. Such County service need not be continuous.
- 4. County service for the purposes of sections 39.4.B.2. and 39.4.B.3. aboveis defined as total time spent in the employment of the County, and need not be continuous. Such time will be totaled as qualifying for this benefit, and will include non-management service time, if any.
- 5. a. The provisions of this section apply to:
 - i. Persons who assumed office as an Elected Department Head or as a member of the Board of Supervisors prior to January 1, 2017; and
 - ii. Persons assuming office as an Elected Department Head oras a member of the Board of Supervisors for the first time on or after January 1, 2017 and (a) had Shasta County service as a County officer or employee prior to assuming elected office on or after January 1, 2017 and (b) had no separation in excess of seven (7) days between that prior Shasta County service as a County officer or employee and the assumption of office as an Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors; and
 - iii. The aforementioned persons have not elected to be covered under Section 39.8 of the Personnel Rules.
 - b. The retiree medical premium for those persons referenced abovewill be paid as follows:
 - i. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS; and
 - ii. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment; and
 - iii. The County will reimburse the retiree the County's contribution amount established under Section 39.4.A. of these Personnel Rules based upon the PERS Gold rates for the coverage in which the employee is enrolled (i.e., Employee Only, Employee plus One, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS.

- 6. a. The provisions of this section apply to:
 - i. Persons assuming office as an Elected Department Head oras a member of the Board of Supervisors on or after January 1, 2017 and not identified in Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules.
 - b. The retiree medical premium for those persons referenced above willbe paid as follows:
 - i. The County will continue to pay the statutory minimum amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 directly to CalPERS; and
 - ii. CalPERS will deduct the balance of the medical premium from the retiree's retirement payment.

SECTION 39.5. <u>VISION CARE</u>. The County shall provide Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors with County-approved vision insurance. Elected Officers may enroll their dependents in the vision plan provided the employee pays any additional cost associated with such enrollment.

SECTION 39.6. <u>LONG-TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM</u>. The County provides a long-term disability program for Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors, whichwill include a 120 day elimination period, a 66.67% of earnings benefit, and a monthly maximum of \$2,500.00.

SECTION 39.7. <u>IRC SECTION 125 BENEFIT PLAN</u>. Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors shall sign appropriate authorization forms to establish or decline participation in payroll deductions of pre-tax earnings for payment by the County of Elected Department Heads' and member of the Board of Supervisors medical and dental insurance premiums and flexible spending accounts (including child and dependent care expenses and unreimbursed medical expenses) in accordance with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code and Board action of November 3, 1998 and subsequent updates.

- A. Beginning January 1, 2017, with respect to any Elected Department Head and member of the Board of Supervisors who is enrolled in CalPERS medical insurance, the County will contribute into the 125 Benefit Plan the percentage amount established under Section 39.4.A. of these Personnel Rules based upon the PERS Choice rates for the coverage in which the Elected Officer is enrolled (i.e., Employee Only, Employee plus One, or Employee plus Family), minus the statutory amount prescribed by Government Code section 22892 paid by the County directly to CalPERS on behalf of that Elected Officer and minus any required amount contributed by the Elected Officer.
- B. In no event will the County's contribution under Government Code section 22892 and Section 39.4.A of the Personnel Rules exceed the actual cost of the benefit. The Elected Officer must authorize a payroll deduction for his or her required contribution, if any. If no authorization is made for a required employee contribution, the County will not make a contribution to the 125 Benefit Plan.

SECTION 39.8 <u>401(A) PLAN</u>. Any Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors identified in Section 39.4.B.6. of these Personnel Rules shall not be eligible to earn or receive the County contribution to retiree medical benefit as described in Section 39.4.B.5. of these Personnel Rules, but shall receive only the County's minimum contribution amounts required under Government Code section 22892 if they elect to continue CalPERS healthcare after retirement.

Any Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors identified in Section 39.4.B.5. of these Personnel Rules, may voluntarily elect to participate in the Section 401(a) Plan in lieu of the benefit provided in Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules. If the Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors voluntarily elects to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules, the County will contribute the minimum contribution required under Government Codesection 22892 under Section 39.4.B.6. of these Personnel Rules. The Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors will receive contributions into the 401(a) Plan as set forth below. The decision to elect to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules into the 401(a) Plan as set forth below. The decision to elect to participate in the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules is the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules is the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules is the 401(a) Plan in lieu of receiving the benefit under Section 39.4.B.5. of the Personnel Rules shall be irrevocable.

The 401(a) Plan will be administered as follows:

- The County shall provide an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) Plan consistent with Α. this Personnel Rule. The County shall contribute into the Section 401(a) Plan an amount on behalf of each covered Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors electing to participate under this Personnel Rule equal to the amount contributed by that Elected Officer from his or her own pre-tax salary into one of the County's Section 457 deferred compensation plans, but not to exceed 3% of the employee's pre-tax salary. Accordingly, if an Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors contributed a total of 1-3% of his or her pre-tax salary to a 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would fully match the Elected Officer's 457 contribution; if an Elected Officer contributed more than 3% of his or her pretax salary to a County 457 plan, then the dollar amount of the County's 401(a) contribution would only be equal to 3% (and not more) of the Elected Officer's pretax salary and would not fully match the Elected Officer's 457 contribution. The Elected Officer may direct the investment of said contributions in accordance with the options or limitationsprovided by the 401(a) Plan. Each such Elected Officer shall vest (that is, earn the right to withdraw) the County's contributions into the 401(a) Plan on their behalf based on years of County service, as set forth below, subject to any of the plan's requirements.
- B. The 401(a) Plan implementing this Personnel Rule shall provide the followingschedule of vesting requirements for any participating Elected Officer to earn and be eligible to withdraw or otherwise receive a portion (or in some cases all) of his or her total account value at the time of termination:

Years of COUNTY Service After 1/1/2017	Portion of Account Value Vested
Less than 1 year	0%
1 year plus 1 day to 2 years	10%
2 years plus 1 day to 3 years	20%
3 years plus 1 day to 4 years	30%

4 years plus 1 day to 5 years	40%
5 years plus 1 day to 6 years	50%
6 years plus 1 day to 7 years	60%
7 years plus 1 day to 8 years	70%
8 years plus 1 day to 9 years	80%
9 years plus 1 day but less than 10 years	90%
10 years	100%

- C. In addition to and notwithstanding the foregoing, Elected Department Heads or members of the Board of Supervisors options for withdrawing, "rolling over," and otherwise using account money (and the tax consequences of such withdrawals and use), shall be subject to any legal requirements or limitations of Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) and any other applicable laws with which the County and the Plan must comply.
- D. If the legal requirements of the Affordable Care Act have an impact on Countyrights and obligations regarding health benefits for County Elected Department Heads or members of the Board of Supervisors, the County obtains the right to make any necessary modifications under this section.

SECTION 39.9. <u>RETIREMENT</u>. CalPERS retirement will continue as adopted in the County's contract with CalPERS, all amendments thereto, and all applicable laws. Beginning with the pay period that includes January 1, 2012, Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors are responsible to pay 100% of the employees' share of retirement.

SECTION 39.10. <u>COMPENSATION FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS</u>. Elected Department Heads receive the equivalent of 40 hours of pay annually in December. Payment shall be made atthe base hourly rate, without add-ons. An Elected Department Head assuming office mid-term to fill the remaining term of office shall receive a pro rata payment based on the date of assumptionof office during the first calendar year of such appointment. An Elected Department Head who leaves office prior to December 31 forfeits all rights to this benefit. The Board of Supervisors are excluded from this benefit.

SECTION 39.11. <u>DEFERRED COMPENSATION</u>. The County will match Elected Department Heads contributions to a qualified deferred compensation plan on a dollar-for-dollar basis up to 50% of the normal base contribution for the calendar year. The Board of Supervisors are excluded from this benefit.

SECTION 39.12. <u>EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)</u>. Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors shall be entitled to utilize the services contained in the EAP plan as offered and paid for by the County.

SECTION 39.13. <u>BAR DUES</u>. The County shall provide payment of the total dues required in order to continue membership in the California Bar Association, providing bar membership is a requirement of the elected position.

SECTION 39.14. <u>CELL PHONE ALLOWANCE</u>. Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors are eligible to receive a cell phone allowance per Policy

ResolutionNo. 2007-03 in recognition of their use of privately owned cell phones to conduct County business.

SECTION 39.15. <u>PEACE OFFICER STANDARDS AND TRAINING (POST) SALARY</u> <u>STIPEND</u>. The Elected Department Head assigned to the class of Sheriff who holds an intermediate P.O.S.T certificate shall receive four and one-half percent (4.5%) above the base salary for his or her class. The Elected Department Head assigned to the class of Sheriff who holds an advanced P.O.S.T certificate shall receive an additional three and one-half percent (3.5%) for a total of eight percent (8%) above the base wage for his or her class. The Elected Department Head assigned to the class of Sheriff who holds a management P.O.S.T certificate shall receive five percent (5%) above the base salary for his or her class. The Elected Department Head assigned to the class of Sheriff who holds P.O.S.T. intermediate, advanced, and management certificates would receive a total of thirteen percent (13%) above base pay for his or her class.

SECTION 39.16. <u>COUNTY VEHICLES</u>. In accordance with Chapter 33 Vehicle Operations Policy, Section 33.8 Take Home Vehicles, with prior approval by the County Executive Officer, an Elected Department Head may be assigned a County vehicle to take home for use in connection with official County business. The Board of Supervisors are excluded from this benefit.

SECTION 39.17. <u>TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT</u>. In accordance with Chapter 20 Travel and Other Expenses–County Charges, Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors shall be reimbursed for their expenses incurred in the course of their work.

SECTION 39.18. <u>PAID LEAVES</u>. In accordance with Section 12.1 and Section 13.1 of the Personnel Rules, Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors are excluded from accruing vacation hours and sick leave hours. In addition to the foregoing, Elected Department Heads and members of the Board of Supervisors shall not be eligible for and shall not accrue any paid leaves otherwise provided by County resolution, policy, ordinance, or agreement. Should an Elected Department Head or member of the Board of Supervisors have accrued leave balances as a result of County service prior to assuming his or her elected office, the Elected Officer shall receive payment for his or her accrued leave balances in accordance with applicable County policies. No leave balances will carry over upon the Elected Officer's assumption of office.

SECTION 39.19. <u>COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS FOR ELECTED DEPRATMENT</u> <u>HEADS</u>. Beginning January 1, 2022, Elected Department Heads shall receive a cost-of-living adjustment at such times that Unrepresented Management employees receive cost-of-living adjustments in the same amount as is received by Unrepresented Management employees.

APPENDIX A. FORMS

Additional copies of the forms in this appendix are available at the Department of Support Services Personnel Division and/or online at the Shasta County Personnel internet (www.co.shasta.ca.us) and intranet (http://intranet/shasta-county) websites.

Request For Consideration Of Work Place Accommodation	233
Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation Statement Notice To Shasta County	235
Order To Cease Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation	237
Employee Appeal Form Order To Cease Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation	239
County Of Shasta Recipient Application Accrued Vacation Donation Program	241
Vacation Donation Program Request For Assignment Of Accrued Vacation Time	243
Position Classification Questionnaire	
Position Classification Appeal Form	
Employee Recognition Award Nomination	259
Shasta County Flexible Work Hours Plan	261
Request For Flex Schedule	263
Performance Evaluation Instructions	
Shasta County Performance Evaluation	
Authorization & Release Of Information	
County-Provided Mobile Data Device Agreement	
Personal Mobile Data Device Agreement	
Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement	
Employee Remote Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form	286

REQUEST FOR CONSIDERATION OF WORK PLACE ACCOMMODATION

Under law, a person has a disability if he/she has a physical or mental impairment that limits a major life activity. A qualified employee with a disability is an employee who is gualified to perform the essential functions of a position with or without reasonable accommodation. Essential functions are primary job duties that are intrinsic to a position.

Instructions: If a qualified employee with a disability wishes to request an accommodation, he/she must complete this form and submit it to the department head. If the individual is unable to complete the form, due to a disability, he/she may request that another party complete it on his/her behalf. The form also requires medical substantiation of disability and information regarding the extent of work task limitations. Review County policy for complete directions and/or employee appeal process.

EMPLOYEE NAME/WORK PHONE # CLASS & DEPARTMENT EMPLOYEE'S ADDRESS

TO BE COMPLETED BY EMPLOYEE:

Describe the Work Place Accommodation that you are requesting and why (attach an additional sheet of paper if you need more space). Attach your physician's statement describing specific work limitations (example: Employee has a permanent lifting restriction: cannot lift more than 20 lbs from floor to waist, and no more than 10 lbs above the waist or overhead). A request that does not provide sufficient information regarding employee's work limitations will not be processed.

EMPLOYEE'S HOME PHONE #

TO BE COMPLETED BY DEPARTMENT HEAD, OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE:

Recommendation (If financial impact is less than \$3,000, describe the accommodation provided.)

Employee Signature/Date Department Head, or his/her designee, Signature/Date

cc: Employee and ADA Coordinator (When form is completed)

Confidential--Personnel Records

OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT/CORPORATE AFFILIATION STATEMENT NOTICE TO SHASTA COUNTY

Name			
Home Address			
Telephone: home	work		
Shasta County Dept. of Employment		Position	
Immediate Supervisor			
Department Head, or his/her designee			

Proposed Outside Employment

Employer address ______ Employer telephone ______

If self-employment, describe

Nature of services or product to be provided

Job description (please attach if the employer has a written job description)_____

Expected hours of employment______ Duration of employment

The relationship, if any, of the outside employment to County approvals or reviews

Other relevant information_____

Proposed Corporate Affiliation

Name and address of corporation:

Does employee procure, draft, negotiate, or monitor contracts for the department? Describe:

Position with corporation:

Describe any compensation from corporation (salary, stipend or reimbursements)?_____

Describe any current or likely contracts between corporation and employee's department:

I certify that I have read the Shasta County Incompatible Outside Employment Policy and I will comply with all of the rules of such policy in pursuing outside employment.

I certify that the foregoing is true and correct.

Dated:		Employee	
Department Head or Review:	his /her designe Signature	eDate:	
FOR OFFICE USE: (ConfidentialF	ile in Personnel Records	Only)
Date received:	Notes:		Initialed

ORDER TO CEASE OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT/CORPORATE AFFILIATION

I,	, Department Head, c	or his/her des	ignee,
hereby order you,	,	employee i	n the
department under my authority, to <u>cease workin</u>	<u>iq</u> at the outside empl	loyment or to	cease
your corporate affiliation, described as follows:			

This order is being issued because that activity is incompatible, inconsistent, or in conflict with your employment with Shasta County for the following reasons:

The following are additional conditions attached to this order relating to your outside employment or corporate affiliation, including terms and conditions relating to suspending such outside employment pending the final determination of this matter:

You have 10 business days from the receipt of this order to appeal this order in writing to the Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation Review Committee or Grievance Board in care of the Personnel Director, or his/her designee. A Notice of Appeal form has been attached to this order for your use. You may be required to submit additional information regarding your outside employment.

Signature_____Date____

Title

EMPLOYEE APPEAL FORM ORDER TO CEASE OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT/CORPORATE AFFILIATION

I,_____, hereby appeal my Department Head's, or his/her designee, order to cease my outside employment or corporate affiliation described as follows:______

I appeal this order on the basis that my outside employment or corporate affiliation is not incompatible, inconsistent or in conflict with my employment with Shasta County as determined by the Shasta County Incompatible Outside Employment/Corporate Affiliation Policy for the following reasons:

I certify that the foregoing is true and correct.

DATED	Signature
	<u> </u>

Print name/Title_____

When complete, submit to the Personnel Director, or his/her designee.

Date received:_____ Initialed: _____

COUNTY OF SHASTA RECIPIENT APPLICATION ACCRUED VACATION DONATION PROGRAM

I hereby make application to access the Accrued Vacation Donation Bank. I understand that in order to qualify as a recipient, I must meet program criteria, submit appropriate medical justification, and receive the approval of the Vacation Donation Review Committee.

I understand the requirement in Personnel Rules Chapter 29, Section 29.3, D #8 which states: Recipients are required to combine payment from the vacation bank with other forms of payment from State Disability Insurance, Workers' Compensation, or any other source in such a manner not to exceed the employee's gross salary.

I have or will have exhausted all of my accrued vacation, appropriate sick leave, CTO or administrative leave, and holiday credits and am eligible for leave without pay beginning _____ (Date).

I believe my circumstances qualify as verifiable long-term illness or injury of self or immediate family member and are described as follows (even though you have attached medical justification, you **must** complete the following section in your own words.):

(Attach additional sheets if necessary)

I have received, read and understand the current Accrued Vacation Donation Policy (dated March 2020) and, in the event I am determined to be eligible as a recipient, I agree to abide by the terms of that Policy. I understand that becoming an eligible recipient does not guarantee that donated vacation time in the Bank will be sufficient to meet my needs. If I am determined to be ineligible, I understand the decision of the Vacation Donation Review Committee is final and therefore not subject to any form of appeal.

By signing this form, I understand that I am signing a medical release authorizing the Vacation Donation Review Committee to have access to pertinent personal medical information. I understand I will be responsible, as requested by the Committee, to provide the required documentation regarding my or my family member's illness or injury. I also understand that the committee will keep that information confidential and will use it only for the purposes of determining benefits under this policy.

Please submit a separate request for leave of absence to the Department Head, or his/her designee. The Leave of Absence must be approved by your Department Head, or his/her designee, before the Vacation Donation Bank Committee can consider your request. You should provide only necessary work-related medical information when you request the Leave of Absence.

Name of Employee (Type/Print)

Signature of Employee

Vacation Donation Review Committee

Department

Action Date

Date_____

Title

NOTE: Attach medical and other relevant documentation verifying and/or clarifying your or your family's disabling illness or injury.

COUNTY OF SHASTA

VACATION DONATION PROGRAM REQUEST FOR ASSIGNMENT OF ACCRUED VACATION TIME

I hereby request that _____hours of vacation time now accrued to me be assigned and credited to:_____

(Employee's Name or General Bank)

I understand that this request must be approved by my appointing authority, and that if this request is granted, the amount of my accrued vacation time will be reduced accordingly.

I hereby represent that the above request is freely made by me and that I will not be compensated for this assignment by any person or entity, including but not limited to the County of Shasta or any employee using donated hours. I hereby release the County of Shastaand all its officers, agents, and employees from any liability to me for the reduction in my accrued vacation time that will result if this request is granted.

I further understand that if this request is granted, the use by the recipient employee of the amount of vacation time donated pursuant to this request will be limited to the period of time the recipient employee remains on leave status. If the recipient employee returns to paidCounty employment status or terminates his/her County employment, any amount of my accrued vacation time assigned to him/her pursuant to this request that is not used by him/herprior to his/her return to paid County employment status or terminates his/her county employment status or terminates him/herprior to his/her return to paid County employment status or termination of County employment will be placed in the general bank for use by other eligible County employees.

Name (Please Print)	County ID Number
Signature of Employee	
I concur with this request:	
Signature of Department Head, or his/her designee	Date
To Payroll Office:	
(Date)	Dept. No.

POSITION CLASSIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE

Shasta County Personnel Unit Department of Support Services Return Original Copy to Personnel

TO EMPLOYEE:

This is a job inventory. The information requested by this questionnaire will be used to evaluate your duties and responsibilities in determining the appropriate classification of your position. You are being asked to complete the form because you are the best person to provide complete information about your job. Please do not request that your position be studied if you are solely concerned about its salary range or other factors that are listed below as outside the scope of this program. You are most welcome to request a study if there have been significant changes in your duties and responsibilities.

This study is not concerned with how well you perform on the job, whether your workload is appropriate, whether your particular function or organization is properly staffed, or whether the salary of the position is appropriate. This questionnaire seeks to gather data of two types: Task data -- information regarding the specific work functions performed by you; and Behavioral data -- information regarding the knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary to adequately perform the duties of your job. This is the method used by the County to see that positions are fairly and consistently classified.

Please write your responses on one copy of the questionnaire as completely and accurately as possible, then give it to your supervisor for review and signature. Your supervisor will give it to your department head for review and signature. It will then be returned to you for signature. <u>You sign it last</u>. Return it to your supervisor who will forward it to the Personnel Office. Be sure to keep a copy for your files.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Your name	Payroll Title
Working Title (if different)	
Department	Division
	Work Phone Number
Address where you report to work	
Length of time in current position	_Hours of workto
Name, title and work phone of immediate supervisor	

1. Has your positions been studied for reclassification in the past? If so, when, and describe what has changed since the last study.

2. Briefly describe what you believe to be the main purpose of your job.

3. Education (circle number of years you have completed):

Elementary/Secondary		2 3 luated:	4 5 Yes	6 No	7 8 GED	9	10	11	12
College/University:	2 uated:		4 No	5	6	+			Major Degree

4. What license, registration or certificate (if any) is required by the County for performance of your job?_____

5. List any machines or equipment you use (including motor vehicles), and check the frequency.

Monthly	Weekly	Daily	All the time

6. If you type regularly, what typing speed is necessary for your position?	WPM
---	-----

7. If you take shorthand, what shorthand speed is necessary for your position? WPM

8. <u>SPECIFIC DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES</u>

This is the most important part of the questionnaire. Describe in detail the regular duties you perform. Begin with the most important duty and list all duties in order of importance, <u>not</u> in order of time spent on each. Fill in the approximate <u>percentage</u> of total time spent performing each duty. The percentage of total time reported must equal 100%, regardless of the number of hours worked. Use additional sheets if necessary.

PERCENT OF TIME	DUTIES PERFORMED

PERCENT OF TIME	DUTIES PERFORMED
	1

- 9. How much and what type of education do you feel is necessary to perform your job?
- 10. How much work experience similar in nature do you feel is necessary to qualify for your job?
- 11. How long do you feel it would take for someone to become familiar with your job and performit satisfactorily?

List the specific knowledge and skills you believe someone must have to successfully perform your 12. job. Please be specific, e.g., knowledge of rules or regulations (by type), knowledge of the activities of your department or work unit, equipment operation skills, supervisory skills, communication skills, etc. 13. List those organizations, if any, with whom you come in contact. List both internal as well as external contacts, and why they are necessary in the course of work. Organization Reason for Contact Frequency of Contact 14. What is the consequence if you make an error in the course of your duties? 15. Describe the most difficult and/or major decisions you make in the course of your duties. 16. Describe the nature of the direction or supervision you receive, and by whom.

17. List those employees under your direct supervision. If none, state so.

<u>Name</u>	<u>P</u>	<u>ayroll Title</u>			
. <u> </u>					
	ibe the nature of your supervioline, work planning, evaluat			ole. Please be spec	cific, e.g.,h
Is the	re a classification that you fe	el is more appro	priate consideri	ng your duties?	
	SICAL DEMANDS - This se cordance with ADA requirem		Illy included in o	order to update jo	b specific
		ime is spent i	n the following	g physical activ	-
in acc	ordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t	ime is spent i	n the following	g physical activ	rities? Sho
in acc	ordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	Fordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t amount of time by checkin	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	Fordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t amount of time by checkin	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	How much on-the-job the amount of time by checking Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger,	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	How much on-the-job t amount of time by checkin Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger, handle or feel	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	How much on-the-job the amount of time by checking Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger,	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	rities? Sho
in acc	How much on-the-job t amount of time by checkin Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger, handle or feel Reach with hands and	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	rities? Sho
in acc	Fordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t amount of time by checking Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger, handle or feel Reach with hands and arms Climb or balance Stoop, kneel, crouch,	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	vities? Sho
in acc	Fordance with ADA requirem How much on-the-job t amount of time by checkin Stand Walk Sit Use hands to finger, handle or feel Reach with hands and arms Climb or balance	ients. ime is spent ing the appropria	n the following te boxes below.	g physical activ	-

	None	Up to 1/3of time	1/3 to 2/3of time	More than 2/30f time
Up to 10 lbs				
Up to 25 lbs				
Up to 50 lbs				
Up to 100 lbs				
More than 100 lbs				

B. Does this job require that weight be lifted or force be exerted? If so, how much andhow often? Check the appropriate box below.

- C. Does this job have any special vision requirements? Check all that apply.
 - [] Close Vision (clear vision at 20 inches or less)
 - [] Distance Vision (clear vision at 20 feet or more)
 - [] Color Vision (ability to identify and distinguish colors)
 - [] Peripheral Vision (ability to observe an area that can be seen up and down or tothe left and right while eyes are fixed on a given point)
 - [] Depth Perception (three-dimensional vision, ability to judge distances and spatial relationships)
 - [] Ability to Adjust Focus (ability to adjust the eye to bring an object into sharpfocus)
 - [] No Special Vision Requirements
- D. Please list any additional comments on specific physical demands required for thisposition.

21. WORK ENVIRONMENT

- A. How much noise is typical for the work environment of this job? Check the appropriate level below.
 - [] Very Quiet (Examples: forest trail, isolation booth for hearing test)[] Quiet (Examples: library, private office)
 - [] Moderate Noise (Examples: office w/typewriters or computer printers, lighttraffic)
 - [] Loud Noise (Examples: metal can manufacturing, large earth movingequipment)
 - [] Very Loud Noise (Examples: jackhammer work, front row at rock concert)
- B. How much exposure to the following environmental conditions does this job require?Show the amount of time by checking the appropriate boxes below.

	None	Up to 1/3 of time	1/3 to 2/3 of time	More than 2/3 of time
Wet, humid conditions (non- weather)				
Work near moving mechanical parts				
Work in high, precarious places				
Fumes or airborne particles				
Toxic or caustic chemicals				
Outdoor weather conditions				
Extreme cold (non-weather)				
Extreme heat (non-weather)				
Risk of electrical shock				
Work with explosives				
Risk of radiation				
Vibration				

C. Please list any additional comments on the specific working conditions encounteredwhile performing the duties of this position.

22. Please provide a summary statement as to why you think it is appropriate for your position to be

reclassified including any significant changes in your duties and responsibilities that have occurred over the past year

This completes the questionnaire. Please submit as stated in the earlier instructions. Thank you foryour cooperation and assistance.

PLEASE SIGN IN ORDER INDICATED:

.

1. <u>CERTIFICATE OF IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR</u>

Does the completed questionnaire accurately reflect the incumbent's duties, responsibilities and other factors relative to the job? Yes No (If no, see comments below)

Are there any special courses or specialized knowledge needed for the position that were notcovered in the questionnaire? If so, what are they?

What is the most responsible/complex aspect of this job?

Comments (use additional sheets if necessary)

	Supervisor's Signature	Date
	Supervisor's Name (Print)	Phone No
2.	CERTIFICATE OF DEPARTMENT HEAD, Of Department Head, his/her designee, complete this advantage of this opportunity to provide relevant I do/ do not concur with the responses of the additional sheets if necessary)	s section. However, he/she is encouraged to tak information)
Depa	artment Head's, or his/her designee, Signature	Date
Depa	artment Head's, or his/her designee, Name (Print)	Phone No
3.	CERTIFICATE OF EMPLOYEE	
	I certify that the responses are my own and to the	best of my knowledge are complete andaccurate
	Date:Employee's Sign	ature

09/13/01

POSITION CLASSIFICATION **APPEAL FORM**

Shasta County Personnel Unit Original

Return Original Copy to Personnel

TO EMPLOYEE

This form is to be submitted only if you desire to formally appeal the recent recommendationmade on how your position should be classified. In order to be considered, it must include asmuch factual information as possible. Use additional sheets if needed.

I agree with the class b	being recommended	for my position.	Yes	_No
--------------------------	-------------------	------------------	-----	-----

I agree with the content of the class specification being recommended for my positions.

Yes __No____

I disagree because

Name_____Current Payroll Title_____

Department Division

Date_____Employee's Signature_____

IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR

I do do not concur with the responses of the employee.

Comments (use additional sheets if needed)

Date:_____ Supervisor Signature:_____

DEPARTMENT HEAD, OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE

I do do not concur with the responses of the employee and the supervisor.

Comments (use additional sheets if needed)_____

Date

Department Head's or his /her designee Signature_____

Employee Recognition Award Nomination

NOMINATION PROCEDURE:

All employees and registered volunteers with a minimum of one year of service are eligible for Employee Recognition Awards. To qualify, an employee must demonstrate exemplary performance and meet the seven eligibility criteria outlined in the Employee Recognition Award Program Policy. These criteria are *customer service, professionalism, ethical standards, initiative/innovation, teamwork, productivity and role model for other public employees* (See Chapter 36 of the Personnel Rules.)

Any employee who meets these criteria may be nominated for an award. All nominations must be made by another county employee and be submitted on this ballot form to the employee's department head.

NOMINEE'S NAME:		
DEPARTMENT		
DIVISION:		
JOB TITLE:		
NOMINATED BY:		

REASONS FOR NOMINATION:

Please attach a narrative description of the reasons for the nomination. Please be as specific as possible. The Employee Recognition Committee considers the following criteria: *customer service, professionalism, ethical standards, initiative/innovation, teamwork, productivity and role model for other public employees* (See Chapter 36 of the Personnel Rules). Note any activities, work projects, incidents or projects that will support your comments and illustrate the criteria listed above. If necessary use additional sheets of paper, but confine your narrative to three pages including this page.

Preparer's Signature

Date

Date

DEPARTMENT HEAD'S RECOMMENDATIONS AND COMMENTS

Department Head, or his/her designee, Signature

SCREENING OF P	ERSONNEL FI	LE BY PERSO	ONNEL DIREC	TOR, OR	HIS/HER DES	IGNEE:	
(review for sustained	ed disciplinary a	ctions, letters	of reprimand or	"below e	xpected standar	ds" evalua	ations
for the past five year	rs):						
	Inclinible						

Eligible _____ Ineligible _____

Note: All nominations must be signed by the department head and submitted to the Personnel Director by the third Friday of each month to be considered for an award the following month.

SHASTA COUNTY FLEXIBLE WORK HOURS PLAN

The Flex Plan is an alternative work schedule that is voluntary and intended as a valuable benefit to employees. The plan is also a benefit to the department because it will result in improved production by allowing employees flex time for personal business without having to use leave balances.

The plan is voluntary for employees and may be modified or discontinued by management at any time.

FLEX SCHEDULE POLICY

The flex schedule program is a privilege to be used to accumulate hours for time off during the same 40hour work period. General County policy requires its personnel to work a full scheduled week, although short workweeks (Labor Day, Thanksgiving, etc.) may be accommodated appropriately. The Flex Schedule Supervisory Control Requirements:

- 1. Flextime will be approved by the supervisor on Monday morning for the current week and will be maintained online for all to view.
- 2. The supervisor must approve any changes requested within the work week.
- 3. There must be adequate personnel available in each work unit during office hours.

How Flex Schedule Works:

- 1. Employees must work 40 hours a week.
- 2. Flextime optional hours will be from 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. with ½ hour option for lunch.
- 3. No more than 9 hours can be worked per day unless approved by management.
- 4. Sick leave cannot exceed 8 hours in one day.
- 5. Employees cannot take less than a one-half hour lunch.
- 6. There will be no carry-over from one week to another.
- 7. Rest breaks will not be adjusted for flextime accumulation.
- 8. Rest breaks cannot be taken in conjunction with flextime.
- 9. Employees may not be at work earlier than 15 minutes prior to scheduled start time and leave no later than 15 minutes after scheduled quit time.
- 10. Flex time worked or taken must be in $\frac{1}{2}$ hour increments.
- 11. Employees may flex from $\frac{1}{2}$ hour up to a maximum of 8 hours per workweek.
- 12. Employee's time card must reflect the actual hours worked and must account for 40 hours each week.
- 13. Upon approval from the supervisor on Monday morning, employees may opt in or out for any week.

Flextime Examples:

No. 1 (Friday afternoon off)

Monday -	7:30 am - 12:30 pm, lunch ½ hour
	1:00 pm - 5:00 pm = 9 hours
Tuesday -	7:30 am - 12:30 pm, lunch ½ hour
	1:00 pm - 5:00 pm = 9 hours
Wednesday -	7:30 am - 12:30 pm, lunch ½ hour
	1:00 pm - 5:00 pm = 9 hours

	Thursday -	7:30 am - 12:30 pm, lunch ½ hour
		1:00 pm - 5:00 pm = 9 hours
4.0	Friday -	7:30 am - 11:30 pm =4 hours Total

Hours = 40

No. 2 (Monday morning off)

Same as No. 1, except that Monday is a 4-hour day, beginning at 1:00 pm and Tuesday through Friday are 9-hour days.

No. 3 (Off every day at 4:00 pm)

Monday - Friday -	7:30 am - 12:30 pm, lunch ½ hour
	1:00 pm - 4:00 pm = 40 hours

No. 4 (Start every day at 9:00 am)

Monday - Friday -	9:00 am - 1:00 pm, lunch ½ hour
	1:30 pm - 5:30 pm = 40 hours

No. 5 (Variable Flex)

Monday - Friday -	7:30 am - 5:00 pm, lunch ½ hour
	5 hours off during mid-day taken in one hour increments
	Total hours $= 40$

Various versions of these examples can be developed to accommodate the needs of the employee and the department.

Employees are expected to be at their workstation and ready to work at the time specified each workday. Once at work, employees are expected to remain diligently at work throughout the day, except during lunch and break periods. If an employee is late, the flex schedule should be adjusted accordingly.

REQUEST FOR FLEX SCHEDULE

Flex Schedule Policy

The flex schedule program is a privilege to be used to accumulate hours for time off during the same 40-hour work period. General County policy requires employees to work a full scheduled week, although short workweeks (Labor Day, Thanksgiving, etc.) may be accommodated appropriately.

Flex Schedule Requirements

- 1. Flextime must be approved by your supervisor on Monday a.m. or prior for that current week's flex schedule.
- 2. There must be adequate personnel available to cover workloads during office hours.
- 3. You must still work 40 hours in a week.
- 4. Sick leave cannot exceed 8 hours in one day.
- 5. You cannot take less than $\frac{1}{2}$ hour for lunch.
- 6. There will be no carry-over from one week to another.
- 7. Rest breaks will not be adjusted for flextime accumulation.
- 8. Rest breaks cannot be taken in conjunction with flextime.
- 9. Flextime worked or taken must be in $\frac{1}{2}$ hour increments.
- 10. Your time card must reflect the actual hours worked and must account for 40 hours each week.

Employee Name

Proposed Flex Schedule dates and times

Reason for Flex Schedule Request

Employee Signature

Supervisor Signature

Date

Date

Date

Department Head, or his/her designee, Signature



GUIDE TO THE SHASTA COUNTY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM

A performance evaluation is required by the Shasta County Personnel Rules for all regular employees, as well as extra help employees who have worked a cumulative total of 2,080 hours. The evaluation is to be discussed with an employee privately in aface-to-face meeting. The attached Performance Evaluation Form is used to summarize and record the employee's performance as well as discussions that are held between a supervisor and an employee during the evaluation period. According to the Personnel Rules (34.2.B.1), because evaluations are part of the process of continual feedback, ratings and narratives should never be a surprise to an employee. An employee must be given a copy of his or her evaluation.

Performance evaluations are given for a variety of reasons. Annual and probationary period evaluations are the most common, but evaluations can also be given during or following lengthy or special projects, as part of a performance improvement process, or at the discretion of the department head. Regardless of the reason for review, supervisors should ensure that category ratings are applied consistently, and are related to job performance.

GENERAL INFORMATION

At the top of the evaluation form, fill in the following information:

- Name: Employee's <u>legal</u> name, as it would appear on their social security card. Do not use alternate names.
- **Dept/Division:** Name of the department and/or division where the employee is working.
- **Employee ID #:** Employee's 5-digit identification number.
- **Position:** Employee's full official job title as it appears in the Personnel Roster. Do not abbreviate.
- **Status:** Check employee's status, either classified or unclassified, depending on the position. Unclassified positions are 'at will' positions.
- **Evaluation Period:** This should reflect the actual evaluation period, regardless of when evaluation is completed.
- **Evaluation Type:** Check appropriate evaluation type. "Annual" should be checked for regular yearly evaluations, which occur after an employee's probationary period has elapsed. "Probationary" is intended for evaluations which takeplace during an employee's probationary period upon appointment to a new position. "Extra Help" is to be checkedupon evaluating extra help employees' performance. "Other" may be used for any interim evaluations such as, Special Project reviews or Performance Improvement Plan reviews.

Performance ratings will be assigned for each skill listed within Categories A, B, and C (if applicable). An employee'sperformance must be rated within one of the following criteria:

• **Exceed Expectations:** An employee is consistently performing above what is normally expected. Since a certain high level of performance is expected of all Shasta County employees, this rating should be used sparingly to indicate exceptional performance.

• **Meets Expectations:** An employee is consistently performing well. An employee at this level is meeting the high level of performance expected of County employees. He or she is consistently meeting the agreed upon expectations for his orher position.

• **Needs Improvement**: An employee must improve his or her performance to achieve a "Meets Expectations" rating. Every employee has strengths and weaknesses in different aspects of his or her job performance, and this rating can be used to indicate a weakness. If a "Needs Improvement" rating has been given, a supervisor must formulate and include a"Performance Improvement Plan."

• **Unsatisfactory:** An employee demonstrates substantial or serious weaknesses in his or her job performance. <u>If a rating of "Unsatisfactory" has been given, a supervisor must formulate a "Performance Improvement Plan."</u>

Not Applicable: This rating should only be used if a skill is not relevant to the employee's position and/or • success inthat position.

Shasta County Personnel Rules (revised 9/2021 265

CATEGORY A: #1 - #8

1. Level of Job Knowledge: Degree of knowledge employee has about the position they hold, its duties, and its expectations.

2. Use of Job Knowledge/Skills: Degree to which employee uses job knowledge to effectively complete tasks.

3. **Quality of Work:** Degree of accuracy/excellence of work completed.

4. **Quantity of Work:** Amount of work completed.

5. **Problem Solving Skills:** Use of critical thinking skills to work through difficult problems to reach solutions.

6. Written Communication: Written correspondence with coworkers, supervisors, County Departments, and/or thepublic, such as emails, letters, and memos.

7. Verbal Communication: Spoken communication with coworkers, supervisors, County Departments, and/or the public.

8. Active Listening Skills: Mindful hearing and attempted comprehension of spoken conversation between employee and coworkers, supervisors, County Departments, and/or the public.

CATEGORY B: #9 - #20

9. **Complies with Assigned Work Schedule:** Consistency with which employee adheres to scheduled work hours.

10. Attendance: How consistently the employee shows up for work when scheduled.

11. **Punctual for Meetings/Events:** Whether employee consistently appears for scheduled meetings and events on time.

12. **Organized and On Task:** Ability to arrange information and/or tasks in order to be able handle them efficiently. Additionally able to maximize efficiency by concentrating and focusing on tasks at hand.

13. Meets Deadlines: Ability to complete projects and/or tasks within requested time frames.

14. **Completes Goals and Objectives:** Whether employee works toward and reaches goals and objectives that have been assigned to them.

15. **Complies with Policies/Procedures:** Consistency with which employee adheres to County and Departmental policies and procedures.

16. **Operation and Care of Resources:** Care with which employee operates County equipment and uses County resources.

17. **Safety and Security Practices:** Whether employee performs job duties safely and follows safety and security protocols.

18. **Ability to Resolve Conflict:** Ability to handle conflict and disagreement tactfully and come to a mutually agreeableresolution.

19. **Customer Service (Internal/External):** Ability to provide assistance to the satisfaction of both internal and externalcustomers.

20. Effective Work Relationships: Ability to build and maintain positive relationships with coworkers and work collaboratively to achieve common goals.

CATEGORY C: #21 - #30

21. **Evaluating Employees:** Completion of Performance Evaluation Forms and application of fair and consistent performance ratings.

22. **Training and Instructing Employees:** Providing consistent feedback and guidance to employees to improve performance and guide them toward success.

23. **Ability to Direct Employees:** Ability to lead employees by assigning tasks, goals, and deadlines.

24. **Career Development of Employees:** Ability to support continuous growth and provide opportunities for development of employees.

25. **Motivates Employees:** Ability to encourage and provide incentive and value to employees to be committed and diligentin their work.

26. **Delegation of Work:** Ability to distribute work and assign tasks to employees as needed.

27. Leadership Skills: Ability to serve as a strong and consistent leader to employees, guiding, directing, and motivatingemployees to achieve goals.

28. **Planning and Organizing Skills:** Ability to arrange information and/or tasks in order to be able handle them efficiently, create and maintain a plan to complete tasks, and achieve goals within specified time frames.

29. Budget Preparation: Prepares reasonable and balanced budget based upon current and previous years' revenues and expenses.

30. **Controls Cost:** Controls and reduces costs, ensuring funds are used appropriately and that they remain within budgetarymeans.

SUMMARY EVALUATION: Overall Performance Rating

Based on the performance ratings assigned to the employee for the skills listed in Categories A, B, and C (if applicable), assign aperformance rating reflective of the employee's overall performance.

SECTION B: Overall Performance Narrative

For each performance category, a supervisor should provide comments and specific examples of conduct and incidents which support the ratings assigned to the employee. You may list the number of the corresponding Category aspect and narrate specific examples accordingly. Ratings of "Needs Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory" must be narrated specifically by listing the number of the corresponding Category aspect and fully explaining the rationale for the rating, supported by examples. This section is extremely important for documenting performance, and details are essential.

SECTION C: Performance Improvement Plan

A Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) is <u>mandatory</u> for an employee who has one or more category ratings of "Unsatisfactory" or "Needs Improvement." For each rating below "Meets Expectations," describe, in clear terms, the performance problem, the standard of performance the supervisor expects the employee to meet, and the deadline for achieving that standard of performance. The PIP will describe all training, assistance, and oversight that will be provided to an employee during the next evaluation period and will set timelines for the employee's next performance review.

SECTION D: Goals and Objectives

This section addresses an employee's development. An employee will benefit most from a development plan if the plan has several concrete ideas on how the employee can enhance his or her performance during the next evaluation period. Goals and objectives should be selected to allow for opportunities for the employee to increase effectiveness in his or her position, as well as assist the department in achieving its mission. These goals and objectives may include (but are not limited to) lengthy or special projects, training, and ways to improve performance (if necessary) and will be evaluated annually under Category B of the evaluation.

SECTION E: Step Increase

Check "Approved" if employee is entitled to a step increase and performance is meeting or exceeding expectations. If employee is due for step increase but is not meeting expectations, check "Denied." If employee is not due for step increase, check "Not Applicable."

SECTION F: Affirmation

During the evaluation meeting, the supervisor will review departmental and County policies and procedures. Additional review topics may be added, however, at a minimum, the County's Policy against Discrimination and Harassment must be discussed. The employee must read the affirmation statement and initial the statement, confirming that they reviewed and understand the policy.

SIGNATURES AND REVIEW

The department head or designee must review the completed evaluation <u>before</u> it is discussed with an employee. The Rater, Program Manager/Division Chief (if applicable), and Department head must all sign and print their names, titles, and the date on the evaluation form. The employee's printed name, signature, and date are also required, but do not indicate agreement with the evaluation; they are intended only to acknowledge that the content of the evaluation has been discussed with the employee. If an employee refuses to sign the Performance Evaluation, the supervisor will write on the performance evaluation signature pagethat the evaluation was reviewed with the employee, and the employee refused to sign; the supervisor dates and signs this comment.



SHASTA COUNTY PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

Name:				Dept/Division:								
Employee ID #:	Position: Status:			Classified Unclassified ("At Will")								
Evaluation Period (mm/dd/yy)	: From: To:											
Evaluation Type: Annual Probationary Extra Help Other												
SECTION A: Performance Ratings – Based Upon Expectations							_					
	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Meets Expectations	Exceed Expectations	Not Applicable			Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Meets Expectations	Exceeds Expectations	Not Applicable
CATEGORY A: #1 - #8						18. Ability to resolve a	conflict					
1. Level of Job Knowledge						19. Customer Service (Internal/External)						
2. Use of Job Knowledge/Skills						20. Effective Work Re	lationships					
3. Quality of Work												
4. Quantity of Work						CATEGORY C: #21 - #30 FOR MANAGERS/SUPERVISORS ONLY						
5. Problem Solving Skills												
6. Written Communication						21. Evaluating Employ						
7. Verbal Communication						22. Training and Instru Employees	icting					
8. Active Listening Skills						23. Ability to Direct E	1 1					
CATEGORY B: #9 - #20				24. Career Developme Employees	nt of							
9. Complies with Assigned Work Schedule						25. Motivates Employe	ees					
10. Attendance						26. Delegation of Wor	k					
11. Punctual for Meetings/Events						27. Leadership Skills						
12. Organized and On Task						28. Planning and Orga Skills	nizing					
13. Meets Deadlines						29. Budget Preparation	1					
14. Completes Goals and Objectives						30. Controls Cost						
15. Complies with Policies/Procedures												
16. Operation and Care of Resources												
17. Safety and Security Practices												
SUMMARY EVALUATION: Overall Performance Rating												

SECTION B: Overall Performance Narrative Category A:	
Category B:	
Category C:	
<u>Overall:</u>	
SECTION C: Performance Improvement Plan. (This is mandatory for every emp "Needs Improvement" or "Unsatisfactory"). Please describe for each category aspect: 1 expectation of the employee; and 3) the deadline for achieving the performance expect assistance and oversight that will be provided to the employee during the next evaluation preview. (Attach additional pages as needed.)) the performance problem; 2) the performance tation. The plan should describe all training,
SECTION D: Goals and objectives for the next performance period.	
SECTION E: Step Increase. Approved Denied Not Applicable	e
SECTION F: Affirmation (departments may wish to place department-specific require As part of the evaluation process, I reviewed and understand the County's pol (including Sexual Harassment) found in the Shasta County Personnel Rules	icy against discrimination and harassment
This evaluation represents my best judgment of the employee's performance.	
RATER:	Date
RATER: Name/Title:	Date
	Date
Name/Title:	Date
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation.	
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. MANAGER:	
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. MANAGER:	
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. MANAGER:	Date
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. MANAGER: Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. DEPARTMENT HEAD:	Date Date In accordance with the <i>Personnel Rules</i> ,
Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. MANAGER: Name/Title: I concur and approve this evaluation. DEPARTMENT HEAD: Name/Title: I understand that my signature acknowledges the receipt of this evaluation only.	Date Date In accordance with the <i>Personnel Rules</i> ,

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

AUTHORIZATION & RELEASE OF INFORMATION

I have applied for a position with Shasta County. I understand that, in connection with the employment decision process, Shasta County may thoroughly investigate my background, including, but not limited to, my references, educational record, work history, certifications, criminal conviction record, records of civil actions, and other public records. I understand that these investigations will be conducted by Shasta County and/or its designated representatives to assist Shasta County in determining my qualifications for the position I am seeking. In order to assist Shasta County in obtaining documents and information to confirm my background, I hereby consent to the release of information as described below.

I authorize and direct all of my former schools and employers, and any other individual or entity that possesses information about my background to release to Shasta County, or its designated representatives, any and all information, whether or not such information is maintained in writing, that they may have concerning my educational record, work history, certifications, criminal convictions, records of civil actions, and other public records. Such information shall include but not be limited to, employment positions held, dates of employment, work achievements, performance, attendance, disciplinary history, salary record, and all of the circumstances surrounding the termination/cessation of my employment with any employer. Such information shall also include whether a former employer would re-hire me.

I direct that such information be released upon the request of any designated representative of Shasta County, regardless of any agreement, instructions, or representations I may have made to the contrary with any school, employer, or other individual or entity that possesses information about my background.

I understand and agree that I will not receive and am not entitled to know the contents of confidential reports received, and I further understand that these reports are privileged. However, I am entitled to receivecopies of any records documenting an arrest, indictment, conviction, civil judicial action, tax lien, or outstanding judgment that may be provided to Shasta County, unless I waive that right by checking the boxbelow and signing where indicated:

> I hereby waive my right to receive a copy of any record documenting an arrest, indictment, conviction, civil judicial action, tax lien, or outstanding judgment that may be provided to Shasta County.

Applicant's Signature Acknowledging Waiver:

I release and hold harmless all schools, all past and present employers, the County of Shasta andits officers and employees, and all other individuals and entities from any and all liability or damage of whatever kind which may at any time result to me because of compliance with this authorization and release of information.

This authorization is a continuing one; if I am hired by Shasta County, it shall remain in effect during the entire period of my employment and may be used by Shasta County at any time it deems appropriate.

A copy of this form may be used in lieu of an original.

_

Applicant's Name:

Applicant's Signature:

Social Security Number:_____

Dated:

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

County-Provided Mobile Data Device Agreement

It is the responsibility of the employee who is connecting to the County network to ensure that all components of his/her connection remain as secure as his/her network access within the County. It is imperative that any wired (via sync cord, for example) or wireless connection, including, but not limited to devices and service, used to conduct County business be utilized appropriately, responsibly, and ethically. Failure to do so will result in immediate suspension of employee's connection to County network. For the purposes of this agreement, Mobile Data Device includes, but is not limited to, devices such as smartphones, iPads, and other tablet devices, hereinafter referred to as 'device'.

The following rules must be observed by employee:

- 1. The types of devices that are allowed to connect to the County network are limited. Pleasecheck with Shasta County Information Technology (County IT) to determine the current devices and software versions that are supported. Prior to initial use for connecting to the County network, employee must execute this agreement and verify with County IT that allhardware, software and related services are compatible with the County network.
- 2. Some devices may require the purchase of a software application (app) to allow the deviceto comply with County IT mandated security requirements. If software applications are required, the department requesting connection of the County provided device will be responsible for making this purchase prior to the device being connected to the County network. The employee's department is responsible for all costs of required software applications. Additionally, it is the employee's department's responsibility to set up the employee's individual calling plan with a cell phone provider and to pay all charges incurred. Any service issues or billing disputes with the carrier or vendor are the sole responsibility and obligation of the employee's department.
- 3. Employees who access, via his/her device, Protected Health Information (PHI), and/or Personally Identifiable Information (PII), and/or any other data deemed by policy or statute to require encryption, are required to maintain the settings on his/her device suchthat data encryption is enabled at all times.
- 4. Employee agrees that he/she has no reasonable expectation of privacy concerning any andall of the information stored on a county provided device. The County reserves the right to review and access at any time any and all of the information stored on

county provided devices, including, but not limited to, wireless devices, which are used to connect to countyresources, such as email. Employee also agrees to and accepts that his/her access and/or connection to the County network may be monitored to record dates, times, duration of access, etc., in order to identify unusual usage patterns or other suspicious activity in order to identify accounts or systems that may have been compromised by external parties. Whenan employee voluntarily accepts a County provided device, the County has the right and the ability to review and access any and all information on that device, including data theemployee may view as personal. Should employee wish to stop using a County provided device, employee shall return the County provided device. Any employee who refuses to surrender a county provided device when requested by his or her supervisor may be subjectto disciplinary action.

- 5. Employees accessing any County network with mobile data devices, are required to knowand adhere to all County policies and guidelines, including policies and procedures concerning the confidentiality of the data being accessed and personal activities during work hours.
- 6. Any and all data obtained via the County network remains the property of the County inperpetuity.
- 7. Passwords and other confidential data are not to be stored on any associated storage devices such as Secure Digital (SD) and Compact Flash (CF) cards, as well as Memory Sticks and related flash-based supplemental storage media.
- 8. Employees who dispose of their device or return it to the vendor must remove all County information from the device before disposing of it or returning it to the vendor. Employeescan contact County IT (245-7575) if he/she needs assistance in removing County information from his/her device.
- 9. Employees must immediately report a missing, replaced, or stolen device to the County IT(245-7575) and to their cell carrier. County IT will send a "KILL" command that will clear<u>ALL</u> data from the device and return the device to the configuration it was in when originally issued from the cell carrier.
- 10. For County provided devices where the department permits the employee to store personal data, settings, media, or applications on the device, it is the employee's responsibility to back up his/her personal data, settings, media, or applications so that he/she can recover his/her personal data in the event the device has to be "KILLED" byCounty IT.
- 11. The device is subject to a remote "KILL" under the following conditions:
 - Lost or stolen device.
 - Six consecutive failed password attempts (assumes the device is no longer in the owner's possession).
 - Employee leaves the employ of the County.
 - Department Head request.
 - County IT determines that any access to the County network is at risk (subject o approval by the Chief Information Officer).
- 12. The employee must abide by all municipal, state and federal laws concerning the use of mobile devices.

13. The County provided device will be forced to comply with complex password policies. This means that to use the device, the employee will have to unlock it by entering the valid password. Additionally, password changes will be required as determined by County IT. Devices will automatically lock (requiring the user to re-enter his/her password) after 10 minutes of inactivity. Employee agrees not to divulge passwords to others (see Section 26.2 Acceptable Use Policy in the Personnel Rules).

14. County IT will charge the employee's department the current IT Professional Service hourly rate for all support of devices connected to the County network. The employeemust follow his/her department's procedures for obtaining services from County IT.

I have read, received a copy, and agree to abide by the foregoing County-Provided Mobile DeviceAgreement and Personnel Rule 26.12, Mobile Data Device Policy. I understand that any failure to comply with this agreement may result in the suspension of any or all remote access privileges.

Employee Name	Employee Signature	Date Department	Employee's
Departm ent Head, or his/her designee	Department Head, or his/her designee, Signature	Date	

Forward completed form to: Chief Information Officer Mail Code IS203A

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

Personal Mobile Data Device Agreement

It is the responsibility of the employee who is connecting to the County network to ensure that all components of his/her connection remain as secure as his/her network access within the County. It is imperative that any wired (via sync cord, for example) or wireless connection, including, but not limited to devices and service, used to conduct County business be utilized appropriately, responsibly, and ethically. Failure to do so will result in immediate suspension of employee's connection to County network. For the purposes of this agreement, Mobile Data Device includes, but is not limited to, devices such as smartphones, iPads, and other tablet devices, hereinafter referred to as 'device'.

The following rules must be observed by employee:

- 1. The types of devices that are allowed to connect to the County network are limited. Pleasecheck with Shasta County Information Technology (County IT) to determine the current devices and software versions that are supported. Prior to initial use for connecting to the County network, employee must execute this agreement and verify with County IT that allhardware, software and related services are compatible with the County network.
- 2. Some devices may require the employee to purchase a software application (app) to allow the device to comply with County IT mandated security requirements. Employee must receive prior approval from County IT before installing any software application in order to ensure software and device comply with County mandated security requirements. Employee is responsible for all costs of required software applications. Additionally, it is the employee's responsibility to set up his/her individual calling plan with his/her cell phone provider and to pay all charges incurred. Any service issues or billing disputes with the employee.
- 3. Employees who access, via his/her device, Protected Health Information (PHI), and/or Personally Identifiable Information (PII), and/or any other data deemed by policy or statute to require encryption, are required to maintain the settings on his/her device suchthat data encryption is enabled at all times.
- 4. By voluntarily connecting a personal device to County resources, Employee agrees that he/ she has no reasonable expectation of privacy concerning any and all of the information stored on his/her device. The County reserves the right to review and accessat any time any and all of the information stored on

personal devices, including, but not limited to, wireless devices, which are used to connect to county resources, such as email. Employee also agrees to and accepts that his/her access and/or connection to the Countynetwork may be monitored to record dates, times, duration of access, etc., in order to identify unusual usage patterns or other suspicious activity in order to identify accounts or systems that may have been compromised by external parties. When an employee voluntarily connects a personal device to County resources, the County has the right and the ability to review and access any and all information on the employee's personal device, including data the employee may view as personal. The County's right and abilityto review and access any and all information on that personal device exists for the entiretime the employee uses the device to connect to County resources. Should employee wish to terminate the connection to County resources, employee shall submit the personal device for access and review by County to ensure that all County related information is

279

removed from the personal device. Any employee who refuses to surrender a personal device connected to County resources when requested by his or her supervisor to accessand review the information on the device may be subject to disciplinary action.

- 5. Employees accessing any County network with personal devices, are required to knowand adhere to all County policies and guidelines, including policies and procedures concerning the confidentiality of the data being accessed and personal activities duringwork hours.
- 6. Any and all data obtained via the County network remains the property of the County inperpetuity.
- 7. Passwords and other confidential data are not to be stored on any associated storage devices such as Secure Digital (SD) and Compact Flash (CF) cards, as well as Memory Sticks and related flash-based supplemental storage media.
- Employees who dispose of their device or return it to the vendor must remove all County information from the device before disposing of it or returning it to the vendor. Employeescan contact County IT (245-7575) if they need assistance in removing County informationfrom the employee's device.
- Employees must immediately report a missing, replaced, or stolen device to the County IT (245-7575) and to their personal cell carrier. County IT will send a "KILL" command thatwill clear <u>ALL</u> data from the device and return the device to the configuration it was in when originally issued from the cell carrier.
- 10. It is the employee's responsibility to back up his/her personal data, setting, media, or applications on the device so that he/she can recover his/her personal data, settings, media, or applications in the event the device has to be "KILLED" by County IT.
- 11. The device is subject to a remote "KILL" under the following conditions:
 - Lost or stolen device.
 - Six consecutive failed password attempts (assumes the device is no longer in the owner's possession).
 - Employee leaves the employ of the County.
 - Department Head request.

- County IT determines that any access to the County network is at risk (subjectto approval by the Chief Technology Officer).
- 12. The employee must abide by all municipal, state and federal laws concerning the use of mobile devices.
- 13. The employee's device will be forced to comply with complex password policies. This means that to use the device, the employee will have to unlock it by entering the valid password. Additionally, password changes will be required as determined by County IT.Devices will automatically lock (requiring the user to re-enter his/her password) after 10 minutes of inactivity. Employee agrees not to divulge passwords to others (see Section 26.2 Acceptable Use Policy in the Personnel Rules).

14. County IT will charge the employee's department the current IT Professional Service hourly rate for all support of personal devices connected to the County network. The employee must follow their department's procedures for obtaining services from CountyIT.

I have read, received a copy, and agree to abide by the foregoing Personal Mobile Device Agreement and Personnel Rule 26.12, Mobile Data Device Policy. I understand that any failure comply with this agreement may result in the suspension of any or all remote access privileges.

Employee Name	Employee Signature	Date Department	Employee's
Departm ent Head, or his/her designee	Department Head, or his/her designee, Signature	Date	

Forward completed form to: Chief Technology Officer Mail Code IS203A

_

APPENDIX B POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS

Additional copies of these documents are available at the Department of Support Services Personnel Division.

Employer-Employee Relations Resolution No. 97-154	323
Policy Resolution No. 2010-02	339
Policy Resolution No. 2021-04	
Policy Resolution No. 2022-008	
Remote Work Policy and Procedure	367

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

RESOLUTION NO. <u>97-154</u> EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONS RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF SHASTA RESCINDING RESOLUTION 71-181, RESOLUTION 72-191, RESOLUTION 76-26, RESOLUTION 76-108, RESOLUTION 81-217 AND RESOLUTION 82-26 AND ADOPTING RULES, POLICIES, AND PROCEDURES REGARDING EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

WHEREAS, it is in the mutual best interests of the County as an employer, County employees, verified, and exclusively recognized employee organizations, and the public to provide an orderly and systematic method for the presentation, consideration, and resolution of appropriate employer-employee relations matters, and

WHEREAS, Section 3507 of the Government Code expressly permits a public agency to adopt reasonable rules and regulations governing employer-employee relations after consultation in good faith with representatives of employee organization(s); and

WHEREAS, the County has consulted in good faith with representatives of verified and exclusively represented employee organizations regarding this Resolution,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta as follows:

ARTICLE I - GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 1. PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this Resolution to establish policies and procedures for determining the representation status, bargaining units, impasse procedures, and the administration of these policies and procedures as they relate to regular fulltime and regular part time employees of the County which fall under the responsibility of the Board of Supervisors for employee relations purposes. However, nothing herein shall be construed to restrict any legal or inherent exclusive County rights with respect to matters of general legislative, management, administrative, and policy setting decisions including but not limited to those enumerated in Article I, Section 3 of this Resolution.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS

As used in this Resolution, the following terms have the meanings indicated:

- a. **Appropriate Unit** means a unit of employee classes and positions, established pursuant to Article II of this Resolution.
- b. **Board** means the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta.

- c. **Certification** means formal recognition by the County that an employee organization is the "exclusively recognized" bargaining representative of an appropriate bargaining unit.
- d. **Confidential Employee** means a non-management employee who, in the course of his or her duties, is regularly privy to management planning, or decision-making regarding the County's administration of employer-employee relations as determined by the Board of Supervisors.
- e. **Consult** means to communicate orally or in writing with verified employee organizations and exclusively recognized employee organizations for the purpose of presenting and obtaining views or advising of intended actions regarding employment; and, is distinguished from meeting and conferring in good faith with an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, in that it doesnot involve an exchange of proposals and counterproposals in order to endeavor to reach agreement in the form of a Memorandum of Understanding or otherwise, nor do the Article IV impasse procedures apply to the consultation process.
- f. **County** means the County of Shasta and, where appropriate herein, refers to the County Board of Supervisors or any Board of Supervisor's duly authorized County representative as herein defined.
- g. Day means calendar day unless expressly stated otherwise.
- h. **Decertification** means the process and the outcome whereby the County formally withdraws the Exclusively Recognized representation status of an employee organization after a vote of the employees in the bargaining unit that the organization had represented as further specified in this Resolution.
- i. **Decertification Petition** means a written document that: 1) includes proof of employee support of at least 30% of the employees who are eligible to vote as described in subsection k. below and 2) complies with the requirements stated in Article II, Section 6 of this Resolution.
- j. Emergency means an unforeseen circumstance requiring immediate action.
- k. **Employee** means a person occupying a regular full time or part time allocated position in County service.
- I. **Employer-Employee Relations** means the relationship between the County of Shasta and its employees on matters of employment.
- m. Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization means an organization which has been formally certified by the County, after a representation election, as the sole employee organization representing the employees in an appropriate unit pursuant to Article II of this Resolution. Exclusively Recognized Employee Organizations have the exclusive right to meet and confer in good faith with County representatives concerning statutorily required subjects pertaining to the unit they represent, and thereby assume the corresponding obligation of fairly representing such employees.
- n. Impasse means that when representatives of either the County or representatives

of an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization declare that they have reached a point in their meeting and conferring in good faith where their differences remain so substantial, or have been so prolonged, that further meeting and conferring would be futile.

- 0. **Management Employee** means an employee having responsibility for formulating, administering or managing the implementation of County policies and programs.
- p. **Mediate or Mediation** means the efforts of an impartial third party, functioning as an intermediary, to assist the representatives of the County and an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization in reaching a voluntary resolution of an impasse through interpretation, suggestion, and advice.
- q. Meet and Confer in Good Faith means the mutual obligation of the designated representative of the County and the designated representatives of an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, personally to meet and confer promptly upon request by either party and continue for a reasonable period of time in order to exchange freely information, opinions, and proposals, and to endeavor to reach agreement on matters within the scope of representation. The County has no duty to meet and confer: 1) as to any topic with any employee organization that does not have exclusively recognized status; or 2) as to matters that are subject to the Full Understanding, Modification, and Waiver article in a current memorandum of understanding between an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization and the County; or 3) as to matters regarding which an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization.
- r. **Peace Officer** means an employee who is defined as a full-time "peace officer" under Chapter 4.5 (commencing with Section 830) of Title 3 of Part 2 of the Penal Code for the purposes of Government Code Sections 3300 et seq.
- s. **Professional Employee** means an employee engaged in work requiring specialized knowledge and skills attained through completion of a recognized course of instruction, usually of a prolonged nature in a post-secondary institution of higher learning or a hospital, including, but not limited to, attorneys, physicians, registered nurses, engineers, architects, teachers, and various types of physical, chemical, and biological scientists.
- t. **Proof of Employee Support** means an authorization card or petition recently signed and dated by an employee who is eligible to vote in a representation election. The phrase "recently signed" means that the employee executed the authorization card or petition within 120 days of the date that the employee organization files its petition.
- u. **Recognition Petition** means a written document that: 1) includes proof of employee support of at least 30% of the employees who are eligible to vote as described in subsection k, above and 2) complies with the requirements stated in Article II, Section 1 of this Resolution.
- v. **Supervisory Employee** means any employee having authority, in the interest of the County, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward, or discipline other employees, or responsibly to direct them, or to adjust their grievances, or effectively to recommend such action if, in connection with the

foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not merely of a routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment.

- w. Unilateral Implementation means an action taken by the County to impose a term or condition of employment after meeting and conferring in good faith with the affected Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, following the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization's rejection of the County's last and final offer, and following the completion of any required or agreed upon impasse procedures.
- x. "Unit" or "Representation Unit" means a group of County job classifications which either the Personnel Director or the County Administrative Officer has determined constitute an appropriate collective bargaining unit under Article II, Section 4 of this Resolution, or Article II, Section 8 of this Resolution, respectively.
- y. Unit Modification means to alter an established unit pursuant to Article II, Section 7 of this Resolution by dividing that single unit into two or more bargaining units, or combining that unit with another established bargaining unit in whole or in part. A unit modification may also be used as a vehicle to add a classification or a group of classifications into an existing unit or to sever a group of classifications from the existing unit.
- z. Unit Modification Petition means a written document that: 1) includes proof of employee support of at least 30% of the employees as described in subsection k. above who are eligible to vote, and 2) complies with the requirements stated in Article II, Section 7 of this Resolution.
- aa. Verified Employee Organization means an employee organization which: 1) includes employees of the County; and 2) has as one of its primary purposes to assist such employees; who wish to seek representation as an exclusively recognized employee organization as specified in Article 1, Section 2, I; and 3) is in full compliance with the verification procedure listed in Article II, Section 1(A).

SECTION 3. COUNTYRIGHTS

Α. It is the exclusive right of the County to make all managerial and administrative decisions, including but not limited to the following: to determine the merits, necessity, and organization of departments, boards, and commissions: to manage and direct its business and personnel; to administer the County merit system; to manage, control, and determine the mission of its departments; to manage and control buildings, and facilities; to create, change, combine or abolish jobs, policies, departments and facilities in whole or in part; to subcontract or discontinue work for economic or operational reasons: to lay off employees; to direct the work force: to increase or decrease the work force and determine the number of employees needed; to hire, assign, transfer, promote, and maintain the discipline and efficiency of its employees; to establish work standards, schedules of operation and reasonable work loads; to specify or assign work requirements and require overtime; to schedule working hours and shifts; to adopt rules of conduct and penalties for violation(s) thereof; to determine the type and scope of work to be performed by County employees and the services to be provided; to classify and reclassify positions; to establish initial salaries of new classifications; and to determine the methods, processes, means, and places of providing services; and to take whatever actions are necessary to prepare for and operate in an emergency.

B. The right and responsibility for final decisions regarding wages, hours, fringe benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment rests solely with the Board of Supervisors

SECTION 4. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

Except as otherwise provided by law, County employees have the right to form, join, and participate in the activities of a verified or exclusively recognized employee organization of their own choosing for the purpose of representation on all matters of employer-employee relations. County employees have the right to refuse to join or participate in the activities of verified or exclusively recognized employee organizations. The right of County employees to represent themselves individually is limited to expressing individual concerns and does not include any right to meet and confer with County representatives regarding the terms and conditions of employment pursuant to California Government Code Section 3503. Employees shall not be interfered with, intimidated, restrained, coerced, or discriminated against because of their exercise of these rights.

ARTICLE II - REPRESENTATION PROCEEDINGS

SECTION 1. PROCEDURE FOR FILING OF RECOGNITION PETITION(S) BY EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATIONS(S)

- A. An employee organization that seeks to be certified as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in a proposed unit or in an existing unrepresented unit must file a petition with the Personnel Director. An employee organization that seeks to be certified as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Representative in an existing unit that is already exclusively represented must also concurrently file a petition that complies with all of the requirements (including the filing period limitations) described in Article II, Section 6 (Decertification) or in Article II, Section 7 (Modification), as applicable. Such petition must contain the following information and documentation:
 - 1. Name and address of the employee organization.
 - 2. Names and titles of its officers.
 - 3. Names of employee organization representatives who are authorized to speak on behalf of its members.
 - 4. A statement that the employee organization has, as one of its primary purposes, the responsibility of representing employees in their employment relations with the County.
 - 5. A statement whether the employee organization is a chapter of, or affiliated with a local, regional, state, national or international organization, and, if so, the name and address of each such other organization.
 - 6. Current copies of the employee organization's constitution and bylaws.

- 7. A designation of those persons, not exceeding two in number, and their addresses, to whom notice sent by regular United States mail will be deemed sufficient notice on the employee organization for any purpose.
- 8. A statement that the employee organization has no restriction on membership based on race, color, ancestry, religious creed, medical status, sex (including pregnancy), marital status, national origin, age, disability, military status, sexual orientation, or any other protected status.
- 9. The job classifications of employees in the unit claimed to be appropriate and the approximate number of employees in those classifications.
- 10. Written Proof of Employee Support, as defined in Article I, Section 2(t), establishes that at least 30% of the employees in the proposed unit whoare eligible to vote have signed a petition or authorization card within the past 120 days that designates the employee organization to represent them in their employment relations with the County. Such written proof must be submitted to the County for verification, and the petition must specify that the proof of support has been so submitted.
- 11. A request that the County certify the petitioning organization as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in the unit claimed to be appropriate for the purpose of meeting and conferring in good faith.
- B. Any request under Section A above, shall be declared to be true, correct and complete, under penalty of perjury, by the duly authorized officer(s) of the employee organization executing it,
- C. If the Personnel Director determines that an employee organization has complied with the requirements specified in this article, the Personnel Director shall notify the organization in writing that it has verified status on an interim basis until any of the following occurs: 1) the employee organization fails to meet and comply with the policy and standards for determination of appropriate bargaining units as specified in Article II, Section 4; or 2) the organization fails to receive a majority vote as specified in Article II, Section 5.

SECTION 2. COUNTYRESPONSE TO RECOGNITION PETITION(S)

- A. Upon receipt of the Petition, the Personnel Director will, within 30 days, determine whether:
 - 1. There has been compliance with the requirements of the Recognition Petition as specified in Article II, Section 1 - Procedures for Filing of Recognition Petition(s) By Employee Organization(s), and
 - 2. The proposed representation unit is an appropriate unit in

accordance with Article II, Section 4 - Policy and Standards for Determination of Appropriate Units.

- B. If the Personnel Director determines that the requirements of Paragraph A of this section have not been met, the Director will inform the petitioning organization in writing of the reasons for the determination and will offer to consult thereon with such petitioning employee organization. The petitioning organization will have 15 days from the date of notice of the determination of the Personnel Director to perfect the petition, provided that this time period will not be used to obtain additional proof of employee support. If the Personnel Director determines that the criteria in Paragraph A of this section are still not met, the Director will inform that organization in writing within 10 days of resubmission (or deadline for the resubmission). Upon receipt of this notice the petitioning employee organization may appeal a negative determination in accordance with Article II, Section 8, of this Resolution. The 15 day appeal deadline, as specified in this section, shall commence upon the date the organization receives the Director's notice.
- C. If the Personnel Director makes an affirmative determination on the two matters set forth in Paragraph A, the Director will inform the petitioning employee organization, will give written notice regarding the filing of the recognition petition to the affected employees in the proposed unit within the initial 30 day period, and will take no action on the petition for 30 days after date of notice.

SECTION 3. OPEN PERIOD FOR FILING CHALLENGING PETITION

- A. Within 30 days after the date the Personnel Director gives written notice to affected employees per Article II, Section 2 that a valid recognition petition for an appropriate unit has been filed, any other employee organization may file a competing request to be formally acknowledged as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization of the employees in the same or in an overlapping unit(one which corresponds with respect to some but not all the classifications set forth in the recognition petition being challenged), by filing a petition and proof of Employee Support in accordance with Article II, Section 1 Procedure for Filing of Recognition Petition(s) by Employee Organization(s). This procedure is only used in response to the initiating petition(s).
- B. The Personnel Director will respond to the challenging petition(s) in accordance with Article II, Section 2 County Response to Recognition Petition(s). If such challenging petition(s) propose an overlapping unit, the Personnel Director will hold a hearing on such overlapping petitions within 15 days of the close of the filling period for the purpose of ascertaining the appropriate unit. The hearing will be informal, and will provide all employee organizations the right to be heard. Thereafter, the Personnel Director within 30 days after the hearing will determine the appropriate unit or units in accordance with the standards in Article 11, Section 4 of this Resolution and provide written notice of the unit determination to all affected employee organizations. The petitioning organizations will have 15 days after the date of the Personnel Director's unit determination to appeal the unit determination pursuant to Article II, Section 8 of this Resolution.

SECTION 4. POLICY AND STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION OF APPROPRIATE UNITS

- A. The standards for determining the appropriateness of units focus upon the effect of a proposed unit on (1) the efficient operations of the County and its compatibility with the primary responsibility of the County and its employees to effectively and economically serve the public, and (2) providing employees with effective representation based on a recognized community of interest. These standards require that the appropriate unit shall be the broadest feasible grouping of positions that share an identifiable community of interest. Factors to be considered include, but are not limited, to the following:
 - 1. Similarity of the general kinds of work performed, types of qualifications required, and the general working conditions.
 - 2. History of representation in the County and similar employment; except however, that no unit shall be deemed to be an appropriate unit solely on the basis of the extent to which employees in the proposed unit have organized.
 - 3. Consistency with the organizational patterns of the County.
 - 4. Whether the unit determination will cause a proliferation of units that will adversely affect the administration of employer-employee relations.
 - 5. Effect on the classification structure and impact on the stability of the employer-employee relationship of dividing a single or related classification among two or more units.
 - 6. The right of professional employees to be represented separately from non-professional employees pursuant to Government Code section 3507.3.
 - 7. The right of full-time peace officers to join or participate in employee organizations which are composed solely of peace officers pursuant to Government Code section 3508.
- B. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, the fact that an employee is a management, supervisory, or confidential employee, as defined in Article I, Section 2, of this Resolution, is a determining factor, hereunder, in establishing appropriate units. Supervisory employees within an employee organization cannot act as stewards or otherwise represent non-supervisory employees in the handling of individual or collective grievances, complaints or appeals. Supervisory employees may, however, serve as officers, board members or bargaining team members in an association which represents both supervisory and non-supervisory bargaining units. Except for units in place as of the adoption date of this Resolution, management, supervisory, and confidential employees may only be included in a unit or units consisting solely of management, supervisory, or confidential employees respectively.

Management and confidential employees may not represent any employee organization which represents other employees who do not have similar management or confidential status, respectively.

SECTION 5. ELECTION PROCEDURE

- A. The Personnel Director must arrange for a secret ballot election to be conducted by the State Mediation and Conciliation Service, as soon as practical after all of the following: 1) the conclusion of the 30 day Open Period for Filing a Challenging Petition(s) set forth in Article II, Section 3; 2) the Personnel Director makes an affirmative determination that the Article II, Section 2, Paragraph A requirements, or the Article II, Section 6 requirements, or the Article II, Section7 requirements, have been met; and 3) the time for unit determination appeals under Article II, Section 8 has run. The Personnel Director may designate another party to conduct the election after consulting about that party with the affected employee organization(s).
- B. The following selections will appear on the ballot: 1) all employee organizations which the County has determined have timely submitted petitions that comply with Article II, Section 2, Paragraph A or Article II, Section 7 requirements; 2) the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, if any; and 3) "no organization." The choice of "no organization" will not appear on a unit modification election ballot unless a modification petition is filed concurrently with a decertification petition. In the case of an election resulting from a decertification petition filed by a group of employees, the ballot will offer the sole choice of whether to retain the incumbent organization or not.
- C. Employees eligible to vote in an election are: 1) those who hold regular full or part time positions within classifications in the unit. Notwithstanding any of the above, no person is eligible to vote unless the person is employed on the last day of the last completed pay period immediately preceding the date the election commences or another date designated by the Personnel Director. Employees eligible to vote include those who did not work during such period because of illness, vacation or other authorized leaves of absence, and who are employed by the County in the same unit on the date of the election.
- D. An employee organization is eligible for status as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization for a proposed unit following an election, or run-off election, if the organization receives a numerical majority of all valid votes cast in the election. A vote is "valid" if it was cast by an eligible voter, it is readily apparent which selection has been made on the ballot, and only one choice is marked in response to each of the question(s) on the ballot, In an election involving three or more choices, when none of the choices receives a majority of the valid votes cast, a run-off election will be conducted between the two choices receiving the largest number of valid votes cast as stipulated in the election agreement and shall be binding on all parties. The rules governing an initial election will be applicable to a runoff election. The Personnel Director will provide a written report to the Board of Supervisors regarding the outcome of such elections. If satisfied as to the validity of the process, the Board shall formally certify the winning

organization, if any, as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization for the contested bargaining unit.

- E. Notwithstanding anything in Article IL Section 6(A) or Section 7(A), the certification of an exclusively recognized employee organization may be revoked only after a period of not less than 12 months following the date of certification.
- F. Costs, if any, of conducting elections, such as for hiring a third party, renting a facility or other agreed upon costs, shall be borne in equal shares by the County and by each employee organization appearing on the ballot.
- G. When an employee organization is formally certified as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, that organization and the County will be bound by all the terms and conditions of any Memorandum of Understanding then in effect for the remainder of its term except for those provisions related to agency shop. When an election results in the decertification of an exclusively recognized employee organization and no other representative is chosen, the unrepresented employees will be covered by all relevant terms and conditions of any MOU then in effect until changed by the employer.

SECTION 6. PROCEDURE FOR DECERTIFICATION OF EXCLUSIVELY RECOGNIZED EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION

A. A decertification petition alleging that the incumbent exclusively recognized employee organization no longer represents a majority of the employees in an established unit may be filed with the Personnel Director.

During the period between 150 and 120 days prior to the original expiration date of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) covering the classifications of the employees in the unit or; 2) between 31 and 32 months after the effective date of the MOU which ever comes first; or 3) any time after an MOU has expired. However, in all instances cited above (1, 2, and 3) at least 12 (twelve) full months must have expired from the date the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization was recognized. The petition for decertification may be filed by a group of employees or their representatives, or a verified employee organization. Those seeking exclusively recognized employee organization status must also concurrently file a petition for modification (Article II, Section 7) or for recognition (Article II, Section 1), as appropriate. The petition for decertification, including all accompanying documents, must be verified in affidavit form or by declaration under penalty of perjury by the person signing it that its contents are true. A decertification petition must contain the following information:

- 1. The name, address and telephone number of the petitioner and a designated representative authorized to receive notices or requests for further information.
- 2. The name of the unit and the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization sought to be decertified.

- 3. An allegation that the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization no longer represents a majority of the employees in the unit, and any other relevant and material facts supporting that allegation.
- 4. Written proof of employee support as defined in Article I, Section 2(s) that at least 30% of the employees in the unit who are eligible to vote and who have signed an authorization card or representation petition within the previous 120 days, have stated their desire not to be represented by the incumbent exclusively recognized employee organization. Such written proof shall be verified by the County.
- B. If the Personnel Director finds that the Petition for decertification contains all of the information specified in Paragraph A above, then the Personnel Director will comply with Article 11, Section 2, Paragraphs B and C, and with Article 11, Section 3, to allow other employee organizations time to file petitions as to the unit subject to decertification.
- C. After the 30 day waiting period, plus any time for appeals, have lapsed, the Personnel Director will arrange for a secret ballot election held in accordance with Article II, Section 5 to determine if the incumbent Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization will retain its status as exclusively recognized representative.
- D. Should the employer at any time be able to demonstrate good faith evidence that an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization has abandoned, or relinquished its duty to represent the employees of a bargaining unit, or is no longer favored by a majority of the members of that unit, it may initiate a Decertification Election to be held under the procedures listed in Article II, Section 5 referenced above.

SECTION 7. PROCEDURE FOR MODIFICATION OF ESTABLISHED APPROPRIATE UNITS

- A. Requests for modification of established appropriate units may be filed with the Personnel Director during the period between 150 and 120 days prior to the original expiration date of a Memorandum of Understanding or between 31 and 32 months after the effective date of the MOU, which ever comes first. A Modification Petition must contain the information specified for "Recognition Petitions" that are identified in Article II, Section 1.
- B. If the Personnel Director finds that the Petition for Modification contains all of the information specified in Article 11, Section 1, and if the modified unit the petition proposes is an appropriate unit pursuant to Article II, Section 4, then the Personnel Director will comply with Article II, Section 3 to allow time for other employee organizations to file challenging petitions. After the 30 day waiting period, plus any time for appeals, has lapsed, the Personnel Director will arrange for a secret ballot election to be held in accordance with Article II, Section 5.
- C. Technical clarifications of established bargaining units such as updating

classification titles where the duties have not changed significantly, deleting classifications no longer in use, or assigning classes where duties have changed will be made by the Personnel Director on an as-needed basis, Such changes do not constitute a "unit modification." Any decision of the Personnel Director which results in the reassignment of a classification(s) from one bargaining unit to another bargaining unit shall be subject to the appeals process referenced in Article II, Section 8.

SECTION 8. APPEALS

- A. An employee organization aggrieved by the unit determination of the Personnel Director under Article II, Section 2, may, within 15 days of notice of the Personnel Director's determination, request in writing the services of the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service to mediate the dispute. If the Mediation and Conciliation Service issues a recommendation for resolving the dispute, it will submit its recommendation to the County Administrative Officer (CAO) for a final decision. The CAO will render a finding as soon as possible after receiving the recommendation.
- B. An employee organization aggrieved by a determination of the Personnel Director that a Recognition Petition (Article II, Section 1); Challenging Petition (per Article II, Section 3); Decertification Petition (per Article II, Section 6); or Modification Petition (per Article II, Section 7) has not been filed in compliance with the applicable provisions of this Resolution may, within 15 days of notice of such determination, appeal in writing to the CAO. The CAO will consider the written materials from the affected parties and the Personnel Director. The CAO will render a written finding within 30 days of receipt of the appeal. The CAO's decision regarding the appeal of the Personnel Director's decision will be final.

ARTICLE III -- ADMINISTRATION

SECTION 1. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS ON BEHALF OF EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATIONS

After the County formally certifies an Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization, the members of such an organization, if such provision is made part of an MOU, may be provided payroll deductions of membership dues and other deductions as provided for in the MOU on forms provided for such deduction by the County. This process will be governed in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Memorandum of Understanding and/or administrative procedures.

SECTION 2. EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION ACTIVITIES -- USE OF RESOURCES

- A. Exclusively recognized employee organizations may have access to County employees at County work sites, utilize County resources, and distribute materials to the extent specified in the current Memorandum of Understanding for each of these organizations.
- B. Verified employee organizations that do not have exclusively recognized status, may:
 - 1. Have access to County employees at County work sites during non-

paid times such as lunch hours and before and after work limited to the following purposes:

- a. to meet with employees who are eligible to participate in the a election;
- b. access to bulletin board or other posting space as provided by the department head; and
- c. distribute materials to employees who are eligible to participate in the election, after the Personnel Director has received a copy of the materials and has approved such distribution.
- Have access to County meeting rooms during non-paid times and only for the purpose of meeting with employees who will be eligible to participate in the election.

SECTION 3. ADMINISTRATIVE RULES AND PROCEDURES

The Personnel Director is hereby authorized to establish such rules and procedures as appropriate to implement and administer the provisions of this Resolution after consultation with affected employee organizations.

ARTICLE IV -- IMPASSE PROCEDURES

SECTION 1. INITIATION OF IMPASSE PROCEDURES

If the meet and confer process with an exclusively recognized employee organization has reached impasse as defined in Article I, section 2 of this Resolution, either party may initiate impasse procedures by filing with the other party a written request for an impasse meeting, together with a statement of its position on all unresolved issues. The Personnel Director will promptly schedule an impasse meeting. The purpose of such meeting will be:

- a. To review the position of the parties in a final effort to resolve such disputed issue or issues or to reach agreement on a Memorandum of Understanding; and
- b. To identify and specify in writing the issue or issues that remain in dispute;
- c. If the impasse is not resolved, to select among the three categories of impasse procedures listed in Article IV, Section 2 of this Resolution.

SECTION 2. IMPASSE PROCEDURES

Impasse procedures are as follows:

- a, If either party proposes to submit the dispute to mediation, the Personnel Director will request a mediator from the California State Mediation and Conciliation Service or another mutually acceptable mediator. All mediation proceedings will be private. The mediator must not make any public recommendations, make any public statements, nor take any public position at any time concerning the issues.
- b. If neither party requests mediation, or having utilized mediation, the impasse has not been resolved, the Personnel Director may submit the matter to the

CountyBoard of Supervisors which must take such action regarding the impasse as it deems appropriate including implementation of terms and conditions of employment for its employees in that bargaining unit, or maintaining the status quo.

c. Any other impasse resolution procedure not identified here to which both parties have agreed upon in writing.

SECTION 3. COSTS OF IMPASSE PROCEDURES

The costs, if any, for the service of any mediator or other form of intervention the parties utilize, and other mutually incurred costs of the impasse procedure, will be borne equally by the County and the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization.

ARTICLE V -- MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 1. CONSTRUCTION

This Resolution must be administered and construed as follows:

- a. Nothing in this Resolution should be constructed to deny to any person, employee, organization, the County, or any authorized officer, body or other representative of the County, the rights, powers and authority granted by federal or state law.
- b. This Resolution should be interpreted so as to carry out its purposes as set forth in Article I.
- c. Nothing in this Resolution will be construed as making the provisions of California Labor Code Section 923 applicable to County employees or employee organizations, or of giving employees or employee organizations the right to participate in, support, cooperate or encourage, directly or indirectly, any strike, sickout or other total or partial stoppage or slowdown of work. In consideration of and as a condition of initial and continued employment by the County, employees recognize that any such actions taken by them are in violation of their conditions of employment except as otherwise provided by legally preemptive state law.

SECTION 2. SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Resolution, or the application of such provision to any persons or circumstance, is determined to be invalid, the remainder of this Resolution, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, will not be affected thereby.

SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Resolution shall be effective on and after the <u>28th</u> day of<u>October</u>, 1997.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED this <u>28th</u> day of <u>October</u>, 1997, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta by the following vote:

AYES: Supervisors Wilson, Clarke, Dickerson, Fust, and Hawes NOES: None ABSENT: None

~~

ATTEST: Carolyn Taylor Clerk of the Board County of Shasta

Βy Deputy

Dick DickERSON, Chairman

Board of Supervisors County of Shasta, State of California

This instrument is a correct copy the original an tile in this office. (SR-051)

ATTEST: OCT 31 1997 Clerk Super BY

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

POLICY RESOLUTION NO. 2010-02

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF SHASTA ADOPTING POLICY ESTABLISHING AND CLARIFYING THE PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES FOR REORGANIZATIONS, RECLASSIFICATIONS, AND SALARY AND BENEFIT CHANGES

WHEREAS, the County has a policy establishing and clarifying the practices and procedures for reorganizations, reclassifications, and salary and benefit changes; and

WHEREAS, an update is needed to change its provisions;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Policy Resolution No. 2008-01 is hereby repealed, and the following is adopted in its place:

1. DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM REORGANIZATIONS

- Purpose: A reorganization is a significant reordering or restructuring of the functions and operations of a department or division of a department requiring a new or different reporting hierarchy, changes in job titles, changes in job descriptions, or a significant change in the mission of the organization. Such reorganizations result from legal requirements, the assumption of new functions or responsibilities, or for improved efficiency or effectiveness. A reorganization differs from a reclassification in that it affects a number of employees and results in organization-wide or program-wide changes, as opposed to working unit or individual classification changes. This process also differs from a reclassification because a reorganization typically involves employee duties that are proposed but not yet assigned.
- Procedure: To propose a reorganization, a department head must prepare a detailed report to the County Administrative Officer (CAO) which includes an explanation of the requested restructure, job duties, and program responsibilities. This report must justify the recommendation, summarize any cost savings, cost increases, program efficiencies, operational advantages, enhanced services, new mandates, or new program requirements. It must also include an updated and detailed organizational chart showing the new reporting relationships and job duties of affected positions.

The proposal will be evaluated on the basis of:

- A. <u>Cost Savings/Revenue Enhancement</u>: Are there financial benefits from a consolidation or expansion of duties, responsibilities, and services? Will such cost savings result in increased productivity? Will the changes generate increased revenues or incur higher operating expenses? Will new revenues offset any increase in expenditures?
- B. <u>Demonstrated or Verifiable Operational Advantages</u>: Does the reorganization enhance services even if it does not

save money or resources? Does the proposal include more expedited or responsive service, or a wider range of services?

- C. <u>Compliance With Mandates</u>: Do state and federal mandates apply to the reorganization? If they do apply, does the reorganization justification include the identification of the source, amount, and time frame for the revenue? Is the mandate unfunded?
- D. <u>Organizational and Management Principles</u>: What is the span of control, the relationship between positions, and how do those relationships and the proposed span of control improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the program? How does the reorganization and proposed restructure compare with other County departments, staffing levels, and salaries?
- E. <u>Budgetary and Internal Service Impact</u>: What is the budgetary impact, the long term funding situation and the need for any supplementary funding or administrative support from the County? What impact will it have on the ability to provide quality services?
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Reorganizations can be proposed during the budget process or at any other time of the year. Typically the analysis, recommendations, and submittal of the report to the Board require 90-120 days.
- **Responsibilities:** The appropriate department head is responsible for preparing the recommendation and supporting documentation for the reorganization and submitting it to the CAO with a copy to Personnel. The CAO, in turn, will assign it to the appropriate analyst, who will assume the lead role in applying the above criteria to analyze the justification and make a recommendation to the CAO. The CAO may recommend that the Board approve or deny the reorganization. Personnel will assist the analyst by reviewing and recommending appropriate job titles and salaries, and assuring that the reorganization does not violate personnel rules or MOU requirements. Personnel will also provide input on any labor relations impacts, recruiting timetables and other preemployment activities if the reorganization is to be considered for approval. Personnel creates any necessary salary resolutions.

2. POSITION RECLASSIFICATIONS

Purpose:

Pursuant to Chapter 4, Section 4.03 of the Shasta County Personnel Manual, when an employee experiences a significant change in duties, the employee or the employee's department head may request that the position be studied for possible reclassification during the timeframes specified in this policy. Typically, a reclassification involves comparing the duties, responsibilities, and scope of work currently being performed by an existing employee with those duties, responsibilities, and scope of work currently assigned to the classification. Reclassification requests made as part of a reorganization or a request for a new position are

discussed in other sections of this document. Positions in Social Services and Child Support Services may be covered by separate Merit System rules.

- Procedure: To initiate a reclassification, an employee or department head must fill out a position reclassification questionnaire. This questionnaire is then considered along with the interviews of the affected employee, his supervisor, and the department head to determine if there has been sufficient change in the duties, responsibilities, and scope of position work of the to justify а reclassification. Reclassifications are recommended for approval to the Board. Employees are notified of Personnel's preliminary recommendation and provided with a justification for the decision. Appeals of recommendations are sent to the Personnel Director. The decision of the Personnel Director can be appealed by the department head of the affected department to the CAO. Based on the study, Personnel may recommend a salary decrease, the addition or deletion of supervisory status, no change, or any other reasonable This process is also known as "Y" rating. (See change. Personnel Manual Section 18.7.C)
 - Timeframes: There are two annual periods for submitting a reclassification October and April. In most Personnel: to cases. reclassification requests will be solicited by Personnel for submission in October. Those reclassifications being recommended by Personnel will be submitted to the Board of Supervisors no later than May of the following year. In unusual circumstances, such as new funding or new mandates that did not occur until after the October reclassification request deadline, a reclassification may be submitted by the department head in March of each year as part of the department's preliminary budget request. The CAO analyst and Personnel will determine whether the circumstances justify consideration of a reclassification at that time. If so, then Personnel will conduct a study and make a recommendation. All reclassification requests forwarded to Personnel in March which are subsequently recommended for approval will be submitted to the Board during final budget hearings in August.
 - Responsibilities: The Board of Supervisors has final approval authority for any reclassification. Personnel is responsible for administering the reclassification program. Personnel performs the analysis, and the Personnel Director handles appeals of the recommendations. The CAO considers any appeals of the Personnel Director's decisions received from department heads and reviews any reclassification recommendations affecting the staff of Support Services. Personnel creates any necessary salary resolutions.

3. SALARY ADJUSTMENTS FOR RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION PURPOSES

Purpose: The recruitment and retention of highly qualified employees is a critical task for the County. Therefore, when a department experiences a recruitment problem or has high turnover in a given position, the problem(s) must be evaluated. A recruitment problem exists when, after two completed recruitments, a department fails to find qualified candidates for a position.

> After the first failed recruitment, Personnel will evaluate the process to assure that the failure is not due to inadequate advertising or marketing of the position. After the second failed recruitment if further analysis shows that Shasta County does not offer a competitive salary, the department head may, with CAO and Personnel's approval, request that the Board of Supervisors increase the salary of the classification to allow for more competitive recruitment. It is anticipated this will be an infrequent occurrence.

> A retention problem exists if a position is subject to excessive turnover in a relatively short period, particularly when such a position has not been historically subject to such turnover. In those situations, the Personnel Director, with the concurrence of the CAO, may recommend to the Board, the approval of a higher salary. In highly unusual circumstances, when Personnel learns that an incumbent in an existing position is contemplating leaving County service due to inadequate compensation, consideration may be given to adjusting the incumbent's pay in order to retain the individual. Such recommendations require CAO approval and will only be made when one or more of the following conditions exist; 1) demonstrated shortage of qualified applicants; 2) other adverse recruiting or job market conditions; 3) severe program impact from continued staff vacancies; and 4) adverse workload conditions.

- Procedure: When a department experiences a recruitment or a retention problem which is proven to be due to inadequate salary, the department head will notify the Personnel Director in writing. This communication will include an explanation of the nature of the position, its impact on the program, and a justification for a higher salary. This request will be reviewed by Personnel, who will then forward a recommendation to the CAO for review and if appropriate, approval. Depending on the specific classification and whether there are employees in the class, the union may be given an opportunity to meet and confer on proposed changes. All requests for a higher salary for a given position require approval by the Board of Supervisors prior to implementation.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Recruitment or retention salary adjustments may be considered any time a prolonged vacancy occurs in an authorized position due to multiple failed recruitments or in highly unusual circumstances when an incumbent declares an intention to resign due to inadequate compensation.
- <u>Responsibilities:</u> Requests for salary adjustments in this situation will be submitted

to Personnel by the department head. Personnel will review them, discuss its findings and recommendations with the appropriate CAO analyst. A copy of any resulting agendized staff report will be forwarded to the affected employees and their unions. If ultimately approved by the CAO, the final staff report and salary resolution will be prepared by and presented to the Board by the department head and or Personnel. The Board of Supervisors has final approval authority for any proposed salary changes. Personnel creates any necessary salary resolutions.

4. <u>ADDITION OF NEW POSITIONS OR DELETION OF VACANT OR UNDERFILLED</u> <u>POSITIONS</u>

<u>Purpose:</u> Due to new or additional funding, loss of funding, changes in mandates, changes in the business needs of the department, or the approval of new budgeted positions, it may become necessary to add or delete one or more positions in a department.

Procedure: When any of the above circumstances arise, a department head may request that positions be added or deleted from the salary resolution. To delete a filled position requires a layoff pursuant to the layoff procedures in Chapter 18 of the Personnel Rules. Requesting the deletion of a filled position and immediately adding a different classification in its place is are classification and must be submitted in accordance with the procedure and timeframes specified in this policy. Departments must send a request to add or delete new or vacant positions to the CAO's office, with a copy to Personnel, to review the justification, identification of funding, and analysis of the budgetary impact. Recommendations along with salary revisions, if approved by the CAO, will be submitted to the Board for consideration.

> All positions that remain vacant for a period in excess of 12 months will be reviewed by the CAO's office, after consultation with the department head and Personnel, to determine if the position is still needed and justified. In addition, all positions underfilled for a period of 12 months will be reviewed by the CAO's office, after consultation with the department head and Personnel, to determine if the position should be reallocated to the lower classification.

- <u>Timeframes:</u> Requests to add or delete a vacant position are usually made during the budget process. However, the request may be presented at any time of the year as circumstances warrant. Review of long vacant or underfilled positions will take place during the preliminary or supplemental budget process.
- <u>Responsibilities:</u> All recommendations approved by the CAO will then be presented to the Board of Supervisors. The CAO's analyst will review the justification, funding, and prepare the appropriate budget documentation. Personnel will determine the appropriate job title and salary. Personnel will also review such requests in light of existing rules and MOU's. Personnel creates any necessary salary resolutions.

5. SALARY PLAN FOOTNOTES

- Purpose: As a result of a negotiated settlement with one or more bargaining units, or changes in the licensure, skill requirements or temporary assignment of a position in a given classification, it may be necessary to add a footnote for that classification in the Salary Plan. Such a footnote may provide for supplemental pay such as a stipend for longevity, Field Training Officer, or an Advanced POST Certificate.
- <u>Procedure:</u> The Board may adopt footnotes as part of a salary resolution when a MOU requires a new or amended footnote, or in other unusual circumstances. Department heads must send a PAF to Personnel to assign pay by referencing the footnote.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Salary footnotes may be approved by the Board at any time, but would normally be included as part of an agreement for a successor, MOU or in extraordinary circumstances could be considered during the final budget process.
- Responsibilities: The creation of salary footnotes may result from a request by Personnel, a department head, or as a result of an MOU. Personnel reviews the request to determine if the duties fall within or extend beyond the scope of the classification. Personnel will consult with the CAO's office, who will assess the financial and organizational impact. Personnel will also provide input on any labor relations impacts. The Board of Supervisors has final approval authority for adding, deleting, or changing a salary footnote. Personnel creates any necessary salary resolutions.

6. SALARY ADJUSTMENTS FOR ALTERNATELY STAFFED ALLOCATIONS

Purpose:

Within some departments approved Position Allocation list are allocations that are alternately staffed. For example, Deputy Probation Officer (DPO) I/II is an alternately staffed position. When the Board adopts a salary resolution which includes alternately staffed positions, the department head is authorized to hire at either level, depending upon the current eligible list and a candidate's specific experience.

Procedure: Department heads who wish to hire a new employee must appoint them to the classification that matches the eligible list. Under extraordinary circumstances, with the approval of Personnel, a department may also hire a candidate who is on an eligible list for a higher, directly related level position (i.e. DPO III) for a lower level position (DPOII), but the reverse is not allowed. Thus, a candidate cannot be hired as a DPO II who is only on a DPO I list. However, when a candidate hired at the lower classification of an alternately staffed position meets the experience and/or training requirements of the higher alternate classification, the department head can process a PAF promoting the employee to the higher alternate classification. No recruitment is necessary at that time. If a department head wishes to hire a new employee from a list that includes all of the alternately staffed positions, (i.e., DPO I/II), the department head may hire the new employee at the appropriate

level for which the candidate qualifies.

<u>Timeframes:</u> The department head can appoint/promote an employee to a higher alternately staffed allocation at any time if he meets the qualifications of the higher level classification.

<u>Responsibilities:</u> Department heads have discretion to appoint/promote to any level of an alternately staffed allocation provided the employee meets the eligibility requirements. Under the recruitment rules Personnel will verify that employees meet the requirements for initial appointment and for promotion to the higher classification.

7. <u>HIGHER SALARY RANGE PLACEMENT</u>

Purpose: Pursuant to Chapter 18, Section 18.1, of the Shasta County Personnel Rules, the Personnel Director may, at the request of a department head, authorize a new employee to be placed at either "B" or "C" steps of an existing salary range if the applicant's experience is equivalent to an employee who is currently at an equivalent salary step. Placement of employees at "D" or "E" or "F" steps shall only be recommended by the Personnel Director and approved by the CAO because of exceptional qualifications and experience equal to an employee who is currently at an equivalent salary step.

> At the request of a department head, the Personnel Director may authorize a new extra-help employee to be placed at either "B" or "C" steps of an existing salary range if the applicant has sufficient experience.

- <u>Procedure:</u> Department heads wishing to place a new employee or extra-help employee at either step "B" or step "C" must submit a written request, which substantiates that the applicant meets the higher level qualification, to the Personnel Director prior to extending a job offer. Department heads wishing to place an employee or extra-help employee at "D", "E", or "F" step must submit a written request to the Personnel Director and the request must be approved by the CAO prior to extending a job offer.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Requests for appointment to fill a vacancy at higher than "A" step can be made at any time prior to making a job offer.
- <u>Responsibilities:</u> Department heads make the request. Personnel approves or denies the request for "B" and "C" steps. For step placement above "C" step, Personnel receives, reviews, and makes recommendations to the CAO for approval or denial.

8. <u>SALARYRANGE PLACEMENT UPON EXTRA-HELP TO REGULAR EMPLOYMENT</u> <u>OR REGULAR EMPLOYMENT TO EXTRA HELP STATUS</u>

<u>Purpose:</u> Extra-help employees at D, E, or F step who have applied for and are offered a regular position, the Personnel Director, at the request of the Department Head, may place the extra help employee at the same step (D, E, or F) in the regular allocation as previously held while in extra help status.

When a regular employee at D, E, or F step leaves regular employment and immediately moves to an extra-help status in the same classification he held as a regular employee, the Personnel Director, at the request of the department head, may place the employee at the same step (D, E, or F). The Personnel Director may approve D, E, or F in a lower, related classification if an employee leaves employment and immediately moves to an extra-help status, when it is not appropriate to retain the employee in the higher classification. Such may be the case if the employee was a department head or supervisor whose duties as extra help would not require use of the current classification. After initial appointment to extra-help, the department head may request to appoint the employee to another related classification at D, E, or F step under the same conditions, if there is a change in assignment.

- <u>Procedure:</u> Department heads must submit a written request to the Personnel Director.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Requests for appointment at D, E, or F steps must be submitted by the department head to the Personnel Director prior to making a job offer.
- <u>Responsibilities:</u> Departments heads make the request. Personnel reviews the request to verify that employees meet the requirements for placement at D, E, or F steps.

9. SALARY STEP ADVANCES

<u>Purpose:</u> Pursuant to Chapter 19, Sections 19.00 through 19.07 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules, employees on a salary range may be considered for merit step advances in accordance with their original starting salary and service time with the County.

- <u>Procedure:</u> Step advances are activated following submission of a Personnel Action Form (PAF) to Personnel on the salary anniversary date of the employee, provided the employee's job performance as reflected in his most recent performance evaluation meets expected standards or above.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Regular full-time and part-time employees (except those represented by the Deputy Sheriff's Association) hired at "A" step who meet performance standards, as reflected in the performance evaluation advancement to "B" step after six months of full time employment. (See the DSA MOU for specific merit step increase timeframes.) Employees hired at "B" through "E" steps are entitled to advancement to the next step after one year of full time equivalent service provided their performance meets expected standards. Subsequent step advances will occur in one year increments until the employee reaches "F" step.

The salary anniversary date may change for many reasons, including promotion, demotion, suspension, performance evaluations of less than "meets expected standards," and leaves

of absence.

Extra help employees hired at step "A" who have worked at least 2,080 hours over a period of time are eligible for advancement to step "B." If they have worked a minimum of 2,080 hours at "B" step, they are eligible for advancement to step "C." Additional salary step advances each require an additional 2,080 hours of work and requests are routed to the Personnel Director. In all cases, the department head must have completed a performance evaluation which shows the employee is performing the full duties of the class and is meeting accepted standards. Again, all step increases assume the employees written performance evaluation shows they meet expected standards.

<u>Responsibilities:</u> The Board sets the salary ranges by approving a salary resolution. Personnel is responsible for reminding departments of the anniversary dates for step advancements for regular employees. Department heads are responsible for completing performance evaluations, preparing and transmitting the PAF's, and tracking extra help hours.

10. <u>MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDING</u>

- Purpose: Pursuant to the Meyers Milias Brown Act (California Government Code Sections 3500 et. seq.) and Shasta County's Employer/Employee Relations Resolution #97-154, the County has an obligation to meet and confer with employee organizations on wages and terms and conditions of employment.
- <u>Procedure:</u> Employee salaries may be changed as a result of an agreement reached during this process which is ratified by the union and approved by the Board of Supervisors. This agreement will be documented in a MOU.
- <u>Timeframes:</u> Such a salary changes could occur at any time and may be effective over several years as specified in a given MOU.
- Responsibilities: The Board of Supervisors has ultimate negotiations authority for the County. The CAO is the County's "Chief Negotiator." The CAO may delegate this responsibility to the Personnel Director. The CAO and the Personnel Director recommend negotiation parameters to the Board of Supervisors. The Personnel Director, in conjunction with Personnel staff, will consult with County Counsel and may utilize contract labor negotiators and attorneys.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the above action shall be effective on and after the 6th day of April, 2010.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED this 6thday of April, 2010, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta by the following vote:

AYES:	SupervisorsHartman, Baugh, Kehoe, Moty, and Hawes
NOES:	None
ABSENT:	None

ABSTAIN: None RECUSE: None 7 au DAVID A. KEHOE, CHAIRMAN Board of Supervisors County of Shasta State of California ATTEST:

LAWRENCE G. LEES Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

Jayne accetta) Deputy By:

THIS INSTRUMENT IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL ON FILE IN THIS OFFICE

ATTEST APR 0 7 2010

CLERK OF THE BOARD Supervisors of the County of Shesta, State of California BY: Geographic and a state

POLICY RESOLUTION NO. 2021-04

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF SHASTA AMEN DING THE SHASTA COUNTY PERSONNEL RULES, APP ENDIX B. POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS, AND IMPLEMENTING THE PROVISIONS THERE OF

WHEREAS, periodically the Board of Supervisors, upon the recommendation of staff, amends the provisions of the Personnel Rules, to up date various provisions to ensure compliance with Shasta County Code, state and federal laws, to confirm to actual County practice, or to address new business needs; and

WHEREAS, the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) has issued an order dated July 26, 2021, establishing requirements for individuals working in high-risk congregate and health care's ettings to either o bain a full COVID-19 vaccination or submit to COVID-19 testing weekly; and

W HE REAS, the CDPH has issued an order dated August 5, 2021, establishing vaccination requirements for employees in certain health clare settings; and

WHEREAS, County staff recommends the adoption of policies and procedures to implement the July 26, 2021, and A ugust 5, 2021, CDPHo rders.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of the County of S has ta amends the Shasta County Personnel Rules, Appendix B. *Policies and Resolutions*, to include the policies implementing the July 26, 2021, and A ugit (5, 2021, CDP Horders, as attached here to.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Director of Support Services is graned authority to remove these policies from the Shasta County Personnel Rules, Appendix B, *Policies and Resolutions*, ats uch time as CDPH or another governing authority establishes that the CDP flor dets dated July 26, 2021, and A (gist 5, 2021, are no longer in effect.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors hereby ratifies the prior actions of the County Executive Officer to issue such policies and procedures prior to October 5, 2021, based on urgency and his authority under Shasta County Code section 2.12.080(C) to administer employee relations.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLV ED that all other sections of the ShastaC ounty Personnel Rules remain unchanged.

DU LY PASS ED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of October, 2021, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of S hast a by the following vor:

AYES:Supervisors Chimenti, Moty, and RickertNOES:Supervisors Baugh and JonesABSENT:NoneABSTAIN:NoneRECUSE:None

JOE CHIMENTI, CHAIRMAN Board of Supervisors County of Shasta State of California

ATTEST:

MA TTHEW P. PON TES Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

BV Ma Deputy

THIS INSTRUMENT IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL ON FILE IN THIS OFFICE

ATTEST OCT 0 6 2021

CLERK OF THE BOARD of California County of S Simerviso

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

County of Shasta

Policy and Procedures for Employee Noncompliance with CDPH July 26, 2021 COVID-19 Vaccine Mandate/Testing Orders

Introduction and July 26, 2021 CDPH Order

The County of Shasta provides this policy and procedures as applied to its obligation to comply with the California Department of Public Health's ("CDPH") July 26, 2021 order requiring that County employees who work in High-Risk Congregate and Health Care facilities either obtain a full COVID-19 vaccination or submit to COVID-19 testing weekly by August 23, 2021:

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/Pages/COVID-19/Order-of-the-State-Public-Health-Officer-Unvaccinated-Workers-In-High-Risk-Settings.aspx

This policy and procedures apply to all County employees covered by the July 26, 2021 CDPH Order. To the extent other CDPH orders supersede the provisions of this order, any such additional provisions will apply. This includes the August 5, 2021 CDPH order that applies to County employees in Health Care facilities effective September 30, 2021 and that is covered under a separate County policy and procedures.

This July 26, 2021 CDPH Order applies to any County facility that is a "High Risk Congregate Setting" or "Other Health Care Setting", which the County has identified as:

- County Jail
- County Juvenile Rehabilitation Facility (JRF)
- HHSA, Adult Services Behavioral Health Clinics
- HHSA, Children's Services Behavioral Health Clinics
- HHSA, Opportunity Center
- HHSA, Public Health Clinic

As of August 23, 2021, County employees who work in these facilities, including County employees from the Information Technology (IT) and Public Works departments who are assigned projects in such facilities, are not permitted to enter the facility unless they satisfy one of the following requirements:

- 1. Be fully vaccinated for COVID-19. "Fully vaccinated" is defined as being two weeks or more since the employee received either:
 - The second dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech, Moderna, or other vaccine authorized by the World Health Organization; or
 - The single dose of the Johnson & Johnson/Janssen vaccine; OR

2. If unvaccinated or incompletely vaccinated, the employee must undergo diagnostic COVID-19 testing at least once weekly and observe all masking requirements while in the facility.

Affected job classifications of County employees who work in these facilities covered by the July 26, 2021 CDPH order, including job classifications of employees who may be assigned to these facilities, are attached as Exhibit "A" to this policy.

Impact of Employee Noncompliance with July 26, 2021 CDPH Order on or after August 23, 2021

The County is required by state law to implement the above-referenced COVID-19 mandatory vaccination or COVID-19 testing orders for employees who work in the identified facilities by August 23, 2021. The County will respond to affected employees who do not fully comply with the conditions of the CDPH Orders on or after August 23, 2021 as follows:

- <u>"Noncompliance" Definition</u>
 - An employee who cannot confirm they are "fully vaccinated" and is not willing to submit to weekly COVID-19 testing as required in the July 26, 2021 CDPH order.
- Initial Status of Employee in "Noncompliance"
 - An employee who meets the above-referenced definition of "Noncompliance" on or after August 23, 2021 will not be allowed into their assigned work facility in accordance with the applicable CDPH order and will be placed on a temporary paid administrative leave or will be provided temporary modified duty pending review of vacant job positions or separation of employment in accordance with this policy.
- <u>Review of Vacant Job Positions</u>
 - Because an employee who is in "Noncompliance" with the applicable CDPH order is not able to undertake the essential job duties of their existing job position, the County will review open job vacancies with the employee as follows:
 - <u>Within Department</u>:
 - If the employee meets the minimum qualifications for a vacant equivalent or lesser job position within their current Department that is not impacted by an applicable CDPH order, the employee will be offered the vacant position.
 - If there is more than one employee in "Noncompliance" who meets the minimum qualifications, the position will be first offered to the employee with

the most seniority as defined in Chapter 17 ("Layoff") of the Shasta County Personnel Rules.

- Outside Department:
 - If the employee meets the minimum qualifications for a vacant equivalent or lesser position outside their existing Department that is not impacted by an applicable CDPH order, the employee may be offered the vacant position per Department Head approval.
- If the employee seeks a vacant higher job position that is not impacted by an applicable CDPH order, the employee would be subject to the County's existing hiring procedures.
- An employee's acceptance of a vacant job position in accordance with this policy is completely voluntary on the part of the employee and will result in the employee being placed in the job position on an on-going basis, subject to the terms and conditions of that job position, including compensation. Placement in the vacant job position is not a temporary job assignment and the employee is not guaranteed a right to reinstatement to their former job position impacted by an applicable CDPH order.

• <u>Separation of Employment</u>

If there are no vacant job positions available or any vacant positions offered are not accepted, an employee who is in "Noncompliance" will be separated from their County employment based on an inability to meet the essential job functions of their job position per the applicable CDPH order. The separation of employment will be processed in accordance with the Disciplinary Action policy of the employee's applicable Memorandum of Understanding or the Shasta County Personnel Rules. However, for purposes of reinstatement noted below, the County will not consider the separation of employment to be disciplinary in nature and instead be deemed a separation of County employment in good standing.

• <u>Reinstatement to County Employment</u>

• An employee who is in "Noncompliance" and who resigns or is separated from employment based on an inability to meet the essential job functions of their job position per the applicable CDPH order is eligible for appointment to their former job position, where qualified, in accordance with Section 6.7 ("Reinstatement") of the Shasta County Personnel Rules: SECTION 6.7. REINSTATEMENT. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Chapter and without complying with the foregoing requirements for appointment, an appointing authority may appoint to a vacant position a former employee who separated from the County's employment in good standing within three years of separation, if the employee held permanent status in the classification to which appointment is being made. Salary step placement upon reinstatement may be to the same salary step to which the former employee was assigned at the time of separation. Upon reinstatement, the employee's vacation accrual rate, maximum vacation accumulation (per section 12.2), and seniority in the event of a layoff will be based on prior service excluding absences from County employment. In all other respects, benefits and terms of employment will be as in the case of new employment.

EXHIBIT "A" Affected County Job Classifications by Facility/Department for CDPH July 26, 2021 Order

LOCATION	POSITION	BARGAINING UNIT
County Jail		
	Correctional Officer I/II	DSA-CO
	Correctional Sergeants	DSA-CO
	Correctional Lieutenants	SAA
	Captain	SAA
	Public Safety Services Officers	UPEC
	Adult Custody Cooks	Teamsters
	Plant Manager	MMBU
	Agency Staff Services Analyst I/II	UPEC General
County Juvenile Rehabilitation Facility (JRF)		
	Juvenile Detention Officer I/II/III	РРОА
	Supervising Juvenile Detention Officer	РРОА
	Cook II	Teamsters
	Mental Health Clinician I/II	UPEC Professional
	Deputy Probation Officer I/II/III	РРОА
	Supervising Probation Officer	РРОА
	Legal Process Clerk I/II	UPEC General
HHSA - Adult Services Behavioral Health Clinics		
	HHSA Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
	Deputy Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
	Public Health Nurse I/II	UPEC General
	Staff Nurse I/II	UPEC Professional
	Nurse Practitioner I/II	UPEC Professional
	Clinical Division Chief	MMBU
	Social Worker Supervisor I	SCEA
	Mental Health Clinician I/II/III	UPEC Professional
	Assistant Social Worker	UPEC General
	Social Worker	UPEC General
	Senior Social Worker	UPEC General
	Community Mental Health Worker	UPEC General
	Licensed Vocational Nurse	UPEC Professional
	Registered Nurse	UPEC Professional

LOCATION	POSITION	BARGAINING UNIT
HHSA - Adult Services		
Behavioral Health Clinics		
(Cont'd)		
	Driver	UPEC General
	HHSA Program Manager	ММВИ
	Office Assistant Supervisor	SCEA
	Community Development Coordinator	SCEA
	Peer Support Specialist I/II	UPEC General
	Clinical Program Coordinator	SCEA
	Office Assistant III	UPEC General
	Community Health Advocate	UPEC General
	Clinical Psychologist I/II/III	UPEC Professional
	Patients' Right Advocate	UPEC General
	Deputy Public Guardian	UPEC General
	Chief Deputy Public Guardian	SCEA
HHSA - Children's		
Services Behavioral		
Health Clinics		
	Community Mental Health Worker	UPEC General
	Mental Health Clinician I/II/III	UPEC Professional
	Alcohol & Drug Counselors I/II	UPEC Professional
	Peer Support Specialists	UPEC General
	Registered Nurse	UPEC Professional
	Social Worker	UPEC General
	Office Assistant I/II/III	UPEC General
	Office Assistant Supervisor	SCEA
	Clinical Program Coordinators	SCEA
	Clinical Division Chief	MMBU
	Social Service Aide	UPEC General
	HHSA Program Manager	MMBU
	HHSA Deputy Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
	HHSA Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
HHSA - Opportunity		
Center		
	Employment Services Instr I/II/III	UPEC General
	Employment Services Supervisor	SCEA
	HHSA Program Manager	MMBU
	Job Developer	UPEC General
	Office Assistant I/II/III	UPEC General

LOCATION	POSITION	BARGAINING UNIT
HHSA - Opportunity		
Center (Cont'd)		
	Staff Services Analyst I	UPEC General
	Senior Staff Services Analyst	SCEA
	Vocational Instructor II	UPEC General
HHSA - Public Health Clinic		
	HHSA Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
	Deputy Branch Director	Unrepresented Mgmt
	Public Health Nurse I/II/III	UPEC Professional
	Supervising Public Health Nurse	SCEA
	Licensed Vocational Nurse	UPEC Professional
	Staff Nurse I/II	UPEC Professional
	Registered Nurse	UPEC Professional
	Community Development Coordinator	SCEA
	Medical Services Clerk	UPEC General
	Senior Public Health Assistant	UPEC General
	Office Assistant I/II/III	UPEC General
	Disease Investigation Specialist	UPEC General
	Community Health Advocate	UPEC General
	Public Health Program Manager	MMBU
	Community Education Specialist I/II	UPEC General
	Public Health Clinic Services Coordinator	SCEA
	Public Health Assistant	UPEC General
	Supervising Community Education Specialist	SCEA
	Public Health Lab Director	MGMT
	Public Health Microbiologist I/II/III	UPEC Professional
	Public Health Laboratory Technician	UPEC Professional
	Health Officer	MGMT
	Senior Staff Services Analyst	SCEA
	Staff Services Analyst I/II	UPEC General
	Executive Assistant – Conf	Confidential
Information Technology (IT)		
	Cabling Technician	Teamsters
	Technician	UPEC General
	Telephone Communications Tech	Teamsters

LOCATION	POSITION	BARGAINING UNIT
Information Technology (IT) (Cont'd)		
	Infrastructure Support Engineer I/II	UPEC General
	Desktop Support Engineer I/II	UPEC General
	IT Appl Support Analyst	UPEC General
	IT Technician	UPEC General
	IT Network Architect	UPEC General
	IT Computer Systems Specialist	UPEC General
	Senior IT Analyst	UPEC General
	Associate IT Analyst	UPEC General
	Desktop Support Assistant	UPEC General
Public Works		
	Custodian II	Teamsters
	Grounds Maintenance Worker II	Teamsters
	Lead Grounds Maintenance Worker	Teamsters
	Associate Engineer	UPEC Professional
	Assistant Engineer	UPEC Professional
	Engineering Technician II/III	UPEC General

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-008

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF SHASTA AMENDING THE SHASTA COUNTY PERSONNEL RULES, APPENDIX B, POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS, ADOPTING A RECRUITMENT AWARD PROGRAM AND IMPLEMENTING THE PROVISIONS THEREOF

WHEREAS, periodically the Board of Supervisors, upon the recommendation of staff, amends the provisions of the Personnel Rules, to update various provisions to ensure compliance with Shasta County Code, state and federal laws, to conform to actual County practice, or to address new business needs; and

WHEREAS, in September 2007, the Board of Supervisors approved a pilot Recruitment Award Program which provides full-time employees of the Sheriff's Office with an award if they recruit a Lateral Deputy Sheriff who is hired and a second award once the new hire successfully passes probation; and

WHEREAS, the Department of Support Services and the Sheriff's Office have identified a critical need to attract and hire qualified individuals for the Deputy Sheriff and Correctional Officer – Deputy Sheriff positions; and

WHEREAS, the Department of Support Services and the Sheriff's Office are recommending the expansion of the original pilot program to provide all regular employees of Shasta County with an award if they recruit a Lateral Deputy Sheriff or Lateral Correctional Officer II – Deputy Sheriff who is hired by the County and a second award once the new hire successfully passes probation.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta amends the Shasta County Personnel Rules Appendix B *Policies and Resolutions* to include the policies implementing the expansion of the Recruitment Award Program – Pilot Project, as attached hereto.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all other sections of the Shasta County Personnel Rules remain unchanged.

DULY PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of January, 2022, by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Shasta by the following vote:

AYES:Supervisors Rickert, Jones, Baugh, Chimenti, and Moty
NOES:NOES:NoneABSENT:NoneABSTAIN:NoneRECUSE:None

LEONARD MOTY, CHAIR Board of Supervisors County of Shasta State of California

ATTEST:

MATTHEW P. PONTES Clerk of the Board of Supervisors

By Mm Deputy

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

County of Shasta Procedure and Policy for the Expansion of the Recruitment Award Program- Pilot Project

Introduction of the Recruitment Award Program - Pilot Project

In September 2007, the Shasta County Board of Supervisors implemented a pilot program to pay full time Sheriff's Office employees an award if they recruit a Deputy Sheriff – Lateral/Journey Level. Employees of the Sheriff's Office who successfully recruited a Deputy Sheriff – Lateral/Journey Level received \$500 upon the hiring of the candidate and an additional \$500 upon the candidate's successful completion of probation, for up to a total of \$1000.

Due to the high volume of vacancies in the Deputy Sheriff and Correctional Officer classifications and an extremely competitive job market for safety positions, the pilot project is being expanded, effective January 18, 2022, to include referrals for successful hires of Deputy Sheriffs – Lateral/Journey Level and Correctional Officers II – Deputy Sheriff and that all County employees are eligible to receive the recruitment award.

I. <u>PURPOSE</u>

In an effort to boost the recruitment of qualified candidates into the employ of the Shasta County Sheriff's Office in an ever-shrinking labor pool environment, the Recruitment Award Program has been created to engender a competitive interest toward the attraction of those who will be well suited for law enforcement service with the Sheriff's Office. Due to the highly competitive job market for safety positions, it is necessary to expand our recruitment tactics to include one-on-one engagement of prospective candidates with current county employees.

II. <u>TIMEFRAME FOR PILOT PROJECT EXPANSION</u>

The pilot term for the Recruitment Award Program – Pilot Project Expansion will only apply to qualified employees hired into the above-referenced job classifications from January 18, 2022 through June 30, 2023. Upon the written approval of the County Executive Officer and after written notification to the appropriate bargaining unit(s), this Pilot Program may be extended to apply to all eligible County employees who refer qualified candidates hired into the above-referenced job classifications through June 30, 2024. However, the County reserves the right to discontinue this Pilot Program during any fiscal year and the continuation of this Pilot Program is contingent on the County's Board of Supervisors appropriating funds for this program in the County's budget for that fiscal year.

III. DEFINITIONS

A. <u>Lateral Deputy Sheriff:</u> "Lateral transfer" or "Lateral hire" shall have the same definition as "Lateral entry" in P.O.S.T. regulations and shall also meet the following

requirements. In addition to possession of a current, valid Basic Law Enforcement Academy Certificate of Completion awarded by P.O.S.T. and an appropriate California Driver's license, individuals considered for lateral transfer must have successfully completed one and one-half years of active service in a law enforcement agency with general law enforcement duties, and possess the following knowledge: Laws pertaining to search and seizure, arrest and interrogation of suspects; rules of evidence and basic criminal law; law enforcement vehicular and foot patrol techniques; techniques of criminal investigation; court procedures in criminal and civil cases. In the Shasta County Salary Schedule, the official classification name of a Lateral Deputy Sheriff is "Deputy Sheriff – Lateral/Journey Level."

B. Lateral Correctional Officer: In addition to possessing at least one year of experience as a Correctional Officer in an adult correctional facility, individuals considered for lateral transfer must also have completed the arrest and firearms training required for peace officers pursuant to subdivision (a) of Penal Code section 832, the training required by the Board of Corrections for custodial personnel pursuant to Penal Code Section 6035, and the training required for custodial personnel of local detention facilities pursuant to Division 1 (commencing with Section 100) of Title 15 of the California Code of Regulations; and successfully completed the Sheriff's Office firearms qualification course. In the Shasta County Salary Schedule, the official classification name of a Lateral Correctional Officer is "Correctional Officer II -Deputy Sheriff."

IV. PROCEDURE

A. ELIGIBILITY

All regular full-time and part-time employees of Shasta County are eligible, except the following. This program excludes from receipt of the referral reward Sheriff Office staff assigned to the recruitment team, Lieutenants, Captains, and Sheriff Administration staff including the Sheriff, Undersheriff, and Sheriff's Office Deputy Director of Administration, as well as staff in Support Services assigned to the Personnel Recruitment Team and all management staff in Support Services-Personnel Unit and Support Services Administrative Management. Employees that are called upon on occasion to serve as interview panel members are eligible.

B. AWARD AMOUNT

For those that recruit a Lateral Deputy Sheriff or a Lateral Correctional Officer (as defined above), an award of \$500 will be paid to the referring employee after the date of hire and an additional \$500 will be awarded upon the successful completion of the Lateral's probationary period after the Lateral's successful completion of probation, Additional information regarding the payment process is detailed in C below.

C. PAYMENT AND PROCESS

- 1. An employee who has referred an applicant to apply for a Lateral Deputy Sheriff or Lateral Correctional Officer position will notify Personnel using the Recruitment Award Information Form.
- 2. Personnel staff will attach the Recruitment Award Information Form to the appropriate application.
- 3. The assigned background investigator will receive a copy of the applicant's application and Recruitment Award Information Form during the normal preemployment background investigation process and will verify eligibility for the reward, which includes confirming which employee(s) was responsible for the referral that resulted in the candidate's decision to become a member of the Shasta County Sheriff's Office.
 - a. Should it be determined that more than one employee was responsible for the referral, the award will be divided equally between the referring employees.
- 4. Upon completion of the background investigation, the background investigator will complete the appropriate portion of the Recruitment Award Information Form confirming eligibility for the reward and forward the completed form to the Sheriff, or designee.
- 5. After the candidate is hired, the Sheriff or designee will complete the appropriate portion of the Recruitment Award Information Form approving the reward and forward the form to the Director of Support Services or designee for processing.
- 6. The Director of Support Services or designee will then complete the appropriate portion of the Recruitment Award Information Form approving the reward and forward the request to the Payroll Department for the initial award payment.
- 7. The Director of Support Services, or designee, will track the successful completion of probation by the Lateral Deputy Sheriff or Lateral Correctional Officer. Upon successful completion of probation by the Lateral Deputy Sheriff or Lateral Correctional Officer, the Director of Support Services or designee will forward the Recruitment Award Information Form along with a Personnel Action Form confirming the successful completion of probation to the Payroll Department to initiate the payment process for the second award.
- 8. The award is taxable income for purposes of payment and will not be subject to any other form of compensation calculation.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

Remote Work Policy and Procedure

A) Purpose

1) The purpose of this Remote Work Policy and Procedure (Policy) is to establish guidelines and criteria for Remote Work Assignments for employees of the County of Shasta.

B) Definitions

- 1) **Standard Work Location (SWL):** The Standard Work Location for all employees is their designated Shasta County work location, facility, building, office, or workspace, according to the personnel record. Every Shasta County employee has a designated SWL.
- 2) **Assignment**: The approved Work Location (SWL or AWL) where the employee maintains a workspace according to their established schedule.
- 3) Alternative Work Location (AWL): An Alternative Work Location is any approved location where an employee conducts work during regularly scheduled hours other than the employee's designated SWL. A Shasta County employee may or may not have an AWL. Subject to approval, typical AWLs include onsite County locations, such as a County facility, building, office, or workspace, as well as home office workspaces. Out-of-State and public environments such as coffee shops are not suitable AWLs. Types of AWL Assignments may include:
 - a) **Fixed AWL** A Fixed AWL assignment consists of the employee working all scheduled hours at an established AWL, except when work at the SWL or other approved onsite is appropriate or necessary due to business need or other reasons determined by the department, supervisor, or manager.
 - b) **Flexible AWL** A Flexible AWL assignment consists of the employee working some regularly scheduled hours at an AWL and some regularly scheduled hours onsite at their SWL.
- 4) **Casual Remote Access:** Casual remote access remains subject to department and supervisor approval on a case-by-case basis. Temporary or Intermittent AWLs are not subject to the processes described in this policy and remain subject to Section 26.7 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules regarding Casual Remote Access.
- 5) **Remote Work:** For the purposes of this Policy, Remote Work means conducted by an employee at an approved AWL assignment, which may be Fixed or Flexible, depending on the arrangement. Remote Work typically includes the use of County and/or department resources and equipment to perform all or some of their job functions. Remote Work may also be referred to as telework, telecommuting, working from home, working remotely, etc.

C) Forms/Attachments

- 1) Exhibit A: Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement
- 2) Exhibit B: Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form

D) Policy

1) **General:** Shasta County's Remote Work Policy and Procedure is a program is for selected employees and positions that meet specific work standards and expectations described in this Policy.

Remote Work is a voluntary work arrangement, not an employee entitlement or right. Remote Work is also an optional management strategy for meeting the business and operational needs of the department.

- 2) **Guiding Principles:** Departments may exercise discretion in granting or denying Remote Work assignments. This policy establishes certain limitations to assure the safety of personnel, effective customer service, and operating efficiency. In considering approval of Remote Work assignments, departments must ensure that each approved SWL and AWL Assignment adheres to the following Guiding Principles:
 - a) Meets the business needs of the department;
 - b) Ensures employees are able to provide the same level of customer service as SWL assignments;
 - c) Does not negatively impact employee or department productivity, goals, functions, objectives, performance, ability to meet deadlines, service provision, or employee engagement;
 - d) Does not increase overtime and/or comp-time earned; and
 - e) Does not result in insufficient or inadequate onsite coverage during business hours, inclusive of leaves and position vacancies.

Departments may establish additional criteria for the approval of Remote Work assignments so long as the circumstances and business needs reasonably allow, but the criteria must be consistently applied to ensure fairness and equity in the process.

- 3) **Terms and Conditions:** Each Remote Work assignment shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - a) Remote Work assignments are not a viable option for every department nor for every employee in every position.
 - (i) In determining eligibility of positions, job duties, and employees for Remote Work, departments should consider the federal, state, and local laws and regulations that may be implicated by a Remote Work program.
 - b) A Remote Work arrangement is an arrangement between the department, the supervisor, and the employee and requires approval from the Information Technology (IT) Department and the Department of Support Services. Remote Work is not an entitlement or employee benefit.
 - c) Compared to work at an SWL, Remote Work does not change an employee's salary, job responsibilities, duties, benefits or County-sponsored insurance coverages, or other basic terms and conditions of employment with the County. Remote Work is not a substitution for appropriate leave usage, and the decision to approve Remote Work Assignments is solely at the discretion of the County. Requirements such as schedule adherence, performance measures, and productivity standards for employees who engage in a Remote Work assignment will remain consistent with and unchanged from those of a SWL assignment and as established in the arrangement noted in D.3.b, above. While flexibility, individual lifestyle considerations, and improved work-life balance are anticipated benefits of Remote Work, it is not intended as a replacement for otherwise required child or dependent care. Employees are required to make arrangements for dependent care and remove any distractions from the workplace to ensure they remain focused and on task during work hours.
 - d) Employees are expected to wear appropriate attire as determined by the department when participating in virtual meetings.
 - e) Employees attending virtual meetings should attend and participate in the virtual meeting, with the camera on when feasible so that the employee is visible to other virtual meeting attendees.

- f) The Department Head or their designee may review, revise, revoke or terminate an employee's Remote Work assignment. Except in cases of emergency, the Department Head or their designee will provide an employee with 14 days advance notice of a permanent change to a Remote Work assignment or 12 hours advance notice of a temporary change. The employee must provide the Department Head with 14 days advance notice of the employee's desire to return to the SWL. These timeframes can be modified by mutual agreement of the Department Head, or their designee, and the employee, subject to the respective department's business needs and the discretion of the Department Head.
- g) No provisions of this Remote Work Policy or any Remote Work assignment shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- h) The Department Head or supervisor has authority to require an employee to make a temporary variance to their Remote Work assignment based on the needs of the department. The supervisor will attempt to provide advance notice of such need whenever possible. Any employee-initiated temporary variance to an approved AWL must be pre-approved by the supervisor.
- i) All County employees are obligated to serve as Disaster Service Workers per California Government Code Section 3100-3109 and pursuant to County policy. In the event of an exigent situation such as the implementation of a public health order or other emergency, the County or department may direct staff to work at an AWL, effectively instituting a temporary Remote Work assignment or require staff with an existing approved Remote Work assignment to work at their SWL or other location with as little as two hours advance notice. In such circumstances, emergency procedures will be utilized, and policy provisions may be held in abeyance.
- j) Employees with Remote Work assignments agree to protect County assets, information, and information systems and must adhere to County and department policies, in particular those which govern privacy and security requirements, confidentiality, technology, and communications, and those that address permissible uses, prohibited uses, and access and disclosure of equipment, resources and information. Employees shall have no expectation of privacy when using County systems.
- k) Remote Work assignments are not transferrable when an employee voluntarily or involuntarily transfers or is promoted to another work unit, division, branch, or department, or in the event of another job change.
- 4) **Eligible Employees:** Employees interested in Remote Work must meet the following criteria for eligibility:
 - a) Be employed with the County for a minimum of at least one year and have successfully completed a probationary period in the current position held, unless an exception is approved by the Department Head or his/her designee (i.e. to attract and retain newly hired employees for job positions where Remote Work is a suitable arrangement);
 - b) Receive a rating of at least "Meets Expected Standards" on the most recent performance evaluation with no documented performance deficiencies, unless an exception is approved by the Department Head or his/her designee;
 - c) Demonstrate the ability to work independently and successfully meet job-related measurable goals and objectives;
 - d) Establish and maintain an approved Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement (see Section E Procedure);

- e) Agree to remain in compliance with all MOU, County, and department policies and procedures regardless of assigned work location; and
- f) Agree to maintain their AWL in the State of California.

5) Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification

- a) Each employee who requests or is offered a non-County location as an AWL (e.g., a home office workspace) must complete the Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form, which is to be submitted as an attachment to the Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement, and will certify and agrees that:
 - (i) The AWL contains adequate space dedicated exclusively for work purposes during working hours.
 - (ii) The AWL is conducive to the employee performing their assigned duties, conducting professional virtual meetings, and maintaining the confidentiality of all protected and privileged information.
 - (iii) In no event shall clients, customers, members of the public, or any other person or entity meet, be served, or receive services in person at the employee's place of residence. The County shall not be held liable for injuries to any third parties, including but not limited to members of the employee's family, friends, visitors, guests, or trespassers on the premises. The County is not liable for damage of any kind to the employee's real or personal property.
 - (iv) A clear understanding of tax implications and responsibility for tax liability relating to AWL is the sole responsibility of the employee.
 - (v) Employees requesting Remote Work assignments including AWLs outside of Shasta County are responsible for ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations, County and/or department policies and procedures, and health and safety requirements.
 - (vi) A visual worksite verification and inspection of a non-County AWL may be required (through methods including in-person, virtual, video, or photographic means) for approval of Remote Work assignment. Inspections may recur as often as deemed appropriate for safety and compliance with this Policy. Inspections will take place upon 24-hour advance notice and will be conducted by a County-designated representative. Suspected lack of compliance with this Policy, unsafe working conditions, safety concerns, or failure to comply with verification and inspections may result in non-approval of a Remote Work assignment, or revision, revocation, or termination of an existing Assignment.
 - (vii) A work-related injury sustained by employees while working remotely in accordance with this Policy is subject to Worker's Compensation law and rules. An employee must notify his/her supervisor immediately and complete all necessary and/or County requested documents regarding the injury in the same manner and subject to the same laws, rules, policies, and requirements applicable to a work-related injury at an SWL, non-AWL, or performing work non-remotely.
- 6) **Equipment and Supplies:** At the discretion of the Department Head and subject to the County Information Officer's approval, employees approved for a Remote Work assignment at an AWL shall be provided with the necessary equipment and supplies for their position to the same extent and degree as would be necessary at a County office location or SWL. VPN access to the County environment and systems will only be authorized for and provided to County equipment. The County Information Officer, or his/her designee, maintains the right in his sole discretion to determine exceptions from this requirement in unique or exceptional circumstances on a case-by-case basis.

- a) If the employee's work location is an AWL (e.g., home office workspace), the employee will utilize an available workstation when working onsite.
- b) County-issued equipment to be supplied for the AWL shall be documented on the Request Form. Acquisition and delivery of said equipment will be done at the discretion of the department.
- c) County Equipment, such as a laptop computer, may travel with the employee to an approved AWL as needed to perform the employee's job duties.
- d) An employee's AWL assignment shall not start until all equipment needs have been met and the home office workspace has been inspected and approved by County IT.

7) Use of County Provided Equipment and Supplies

- a) Departments have several options in assisting Remote Workers with equipment that may include but are not limited to: a) providing County laptop/tablet computers for remote workers to use; b) providing County cell phones or Mobile Data Devices for employees who must be reached immediately or by telephone; and/or c) providing all County equipment needed. Providing a laptop/tablet, will in most cases, facilitate the ease in which the Information Technology Department can provide support for this function. Departments should consult with IT early in the process when considering a Remote Work arrangement that requires the use of computer equipment.
- b) Any County supplied equipment or supplies are to be used for County purposes only.
- c) All software copyright laws will be adhered to, and only properly registered software will be used for County work. In no instance whatsoever will employees make unauthorized copies of County-owned or proprietary software.
- d) In the event that equipment provided becomes broken or non-functional, employees will be assigned other work and/or will resume work at their SWL until a remedy is in place. In the event of equipment malfunction, the employee must notify their supervisor immediately.
- e) If an employee encounters outages to the telephone, e-mail, or Internet, he/she is expected to contact their immediate supervisor or manager to report the problem immediately. The supervisor or manager will determine if the staff member can continue to be productive at home or if they should report to the office.
- f) Employees are expected to have general computer trouble-shooting skills while working from an AWL. If problems persist, the employee should first communicate with the supervisor regarding connection problems to see if others are experiencing the same or similar problem. Employees are expected to contact Information Technology Help Desk when they experience computer issues they are unable to trouble-shoot themselves. The employee will contact the direct supervisor immediately to discuss the situation, including estimated timeframe for resolution. The supervisor will provide direction in regard to work location assignments in such situations.
- g) Repairs to employee-owned equipment is the responsibility of the employee. IT will not troubleshoot or remote into non-County equipment.
- h) Departments are responsible to maintain a current inventory of all County-owned hardware, software, and other equipment used by remote workers. Release and "loan" forms must be signed by the employee and supervisor for all supplies and equipment used at home.
- i) Employees who separate from employment with the County or discontinue a remote work assignment are required to return such assets per the direction of the department. Failure to comply with return of County supplied equipment as requested may lead to disciplinary and/or civil punitive action. In the event the employee fails to return County-owned equipment and legal

action ensues, the employee agrees to pay all incurred costs, which includes, but is not limited to attorney fees, should County prevail. Employee agrees to maintain any County-issued equipment in operating condition; to operate it safely; and to return the equipment to the supervisor within 24 hours once the remote work agreement is terminated.

j) Ownership of all data and files will be retained by the County and the employee must adhere to the Electronic Assets Policy and other related County policies.

8) Employee Expenses

- a) Subject to applicable County and department policies and procedures, and Chapter 20 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules, employees who are required by the supervisor to travel to a work location that is different from their SWL or AWL, and are not able to utilize County vehicles, are eligible for mileage reimbursement. This is not inclusive of an employee's travel to or from their SWL or AWL.
- b) Employees must use their own time for commuting to and from the office for a portion of the workday that would otherwise be a remote work day. Travel time is not paid time.
- c) Telephone charges will not be reimbursed. If regular phone access is required while working remotely, Departments should issue a County cell phone to the employee for the purposes of conducting County business. Alternatively, classifications determined eligible to a cell-phone stipend by Memorandum of Understanding or Resolution of the Board of Supervisors may elect to use their personal cell phone and complete the process to receive a stipend.
- d) Regardless of whether County or personal equipment is used for Remote Work, the employee is responsible to cover all utility costs incurred while working at the approved designated location. Shasta County is not responsible for the payment of utilities (heat, electricity, internet, etc.) nor home maintenance costs.

E. Procedure

- 1) **Requesting Remote Work Assignments:** Eligible employees may request Remote Work assignments in the following manner:
 - a) An employee shall complete an Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement to initiate consideration of a Remote Work assignment. The completed request form shall be submitted to the employee's supervisor for timely review, revision, denial or recommendation of approval.
 - b) If approval of the application is recommended, with or without modifications, the supervisor shall also indicate the budget impact, if any, for AWL equipment, supplies, employee expenses, etc., then forward the request to the Department Head or their designee for consideration, revision if applicable, and approval or denial.
 - (i) If the Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement indicates the proposed Remote Work schedule is a new or modified alternate work schedule (as compared to the employee's current work schedule), the Department Head, or his/her designee, is responsible to obtain approval from the County Executive Officer for the alternate work schedule in accordance with the Shasta County Personnel Rules and applicable Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) prior to forwarding the Remote Work request to the Chief Information Officer or designee.
 - c) If approval of the application is recommended by the Department Head, or their designee, the Department Head or designee will forward the request to the Chief Information Officer or designee for consideration, revision if applicable, and approval or denial.
 - d) The Chief Information Officer or designee must pre-approve all arrangements for the use and installation of County computer or phone equipment and access to software, the County network,

and other County systems. All requests for equipment and supplies must be approved by the supervisor and Department Head or designee responsible for the Remote Work arrangement.

- (i) <u>County Provided Equipment Utilized for Remote Work:</u> Use of County equipment and supplies is limited to authorized persons for purposes relating to County business. The employee is responsible for ensuring that equipment is used properly. The County will provide for repairs to County equipment. The Department is responsible for making arrangements with Information Technology for the repair of equipment. Information Technology staff will not travel to AWLs (e.g., home office locations) to provide technology support.
- (ii) <u>Personal Equipment Utilized for Remote Work:</u> If approved for the employee to use his/her own equipment for Remote Work, the employee is responsible for maintenance and repair of that equipment. Information Technology must pre-approve all arrangements for the use or installation of County software or access to other County systems. IT will not approve the use of personal equipment for any Remote Work which requires VPN access.
- e) The Chief Information Officer or their designee shall designate an IT Representative to inspect the AWL remotely using the Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form. The IT Representative will provide the employee with the Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form for completion. Once the employee has completed the form, the designated IT Representative will complete their inspection, and forward a copy of the completed form to the Chief Information Officer or their designee for consideration.
- f) Following the AWL inspection, the Chief Information Officer or their designee approves the AWL assignment with or without modifications, the Chief Information Officer or their designee will forward the request along with the Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form to the Director of Support Services or their designee for consideration, revision if applicable, and approval or denial.
 - (i) The Director of Support Services or their designee will send a copy of the final Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement, along with the Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form, to the Employee, Supervisor, Department Head or designee, and Chief Information Officer or designee.
 - (ii) A complete copy of the request, the approval or denial of the request, and all supporting documents, will be placed in the employee's personnel file.

2) Initiating and Monitoring Remote Work Assignments

- a) Regardless of the date of approval, an employee may not begin working a Remote Work assignment until after the associated AWL has been approved, inclusive of all necessary supplies, equipment, inspections, and verifications.
- b) Any approved Remote Work assignment shall be discussed between the employee and the supervisor at the time of the initial request, and shall be reviewed at least annually, in the event of a major job change, whenever the employee or supervisor positions change, and upon any change to the employee's schedule or work location that affects the existing arrangement.
- c) The employee and the supervisor shall determine an appropriate means for reporting work assignments that are completed while working remotely. Supervisors shall be responsible for maintaining program evaluation and performance measurement information for each employee.
- 3) **Changes to a Remote Work Assignment:** An employee requesting a change to an existing Remote Work assignment, including termination, shall submit an updated Employee Remote Work Request

Form and Agreement including appropriate information and following the applicable process outlined in sections E.1. and E.2. above.

4) Termination of a Remote Work Assignment

- a) The Department Head or their designee, may terminate an employee's Remote Work assignment at any time as may be necessary and appropriate or as otherwise detailed in section D.3 above.
- b) A Remote Work assignment may be terminated for many reasons, including but not limited to the reasons below:
 - (i) A change in business needs of the department
 - (ii) Discipline received in the last 12 months where a Remote Work assignment may impact an employee's ability to perform
 - (iii) A "Needs Improvement" or "Unacceptable" rating on a performance evaluation where the Remote Work assignment may impact an employee's ability to perform
 - (iv) Unapproved absences or other attendance issues
 - (v) Being placed on a Performance Improvement Plan
- c) At the termination of a Remote Work assignment, the return of all provided equipment and supplies shall occur as directed by the department.

5) Reapplying for a Remote Work Assignment following Termination of a Remote Work Assignment

a) An employee whose Remote Work assignment was terminated in accordance with this policy may reapply after at least one year (12 months) from the effective date of the disciplinary action, provided however that nothing contained herein will remove the discretion of the Department Head or his/her designee to initiate a Remote Work assignment prior to one year (12 months).

Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement

Use this form to request, renew, modify or discontinue a Remote Work assignment at an alternative work location. It is important to know that Remote Work assignments are not a viable option for every department nor for every employee in every position. An approved Remote Work assignment is an arrangement between the department, the supervisor, and the employee. After discussing your options with your supervisor, complete the following form to request approval.

Request Purpose:	\Box New	\Box Reapplication	\Box Change	🗆 Discontinue
-------------------------	------------	----------------------	---------------	---------------

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION						
Date:	Departm	ent:				
Employee Name:		·				
Job Class/Title:	County E	mail:				
Contact Phone:	Supervis	or Name:				
Current Standard W	ork Location (SWL) Address:					
Current Alternative Work Location (AWL) Address, if applicable:						

PROPOSED ALTERNATIVE WORK LOCATION

Instructions: Complete the following section regarding your proposed AWL.

Proposed Alternative Work Location (AWL) Address:

□ A complete *Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form* is attached.

TECHNOLOGY, EQUIPMENT, AND SUPPLIES					
Instructions: Complete the following section to ide needed for your proposed AWL.	ntify the technology, equipment, and supplies				
Telecom Needs					
\Box County issued mobile device	\Box Headset/Hands-free Device				
□ County desk phone	□ Other:				
Personal device					
Computer Equipment Needs					
Desktop Computer					
🗆 Laptop					
\Box Monitor(s)					
\Box Cords, Connectors, etc. (specify below)					
□ Other Accessories (microphone, speakers, m below)	ouse, keyboard, assistance devices, etc. (specify				
Software (specify below) County software cannot be	installed on non-County owned equipment.				
Hardware, e.g. scanner, printer, tablet, machine,	etc. (specify below)				
Network Access Needs					
□ VPN/Remote Desktop					
□ Office 365					
U Work Offline					
□ Other:					
Workspace Needs					
□ Desk	□ Secure Storage				
□ Sit/Stand Workstation	□ Other:				
🗆 Desk Chair					
Any other needs required for your AWL					
Describe the acquisition and delivery method for any identified needs.					

PROPOSED SCHEDULE

Instructions: Fill out the section below identifying your proposed Remote Work assignment for a 2week pay period. Complete only what is necessary to reflect your AWL type. For Split-Day AWL assignments, additional location and schedule blocks have been provided. Use the "Comments/Notes" section to add details or further explain. Total hours worked and daily start/end times must match your approved work schedule.

AWL Type: \Box Fixed \Box Flexible

	WEEK 1 SCHEDULE						
	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Lunch							
Break:							
Total							
Hours:							
	Week 1 Total Hours Worked:						

	WEEK 2 SCHEDULE						
	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Location:							
Start Time:							
End Time:							
Lunch							
Break:							
Total							
Hours:							
	Week 2 Total Hours Worked:						

Comments / Notes:

REMOTE WORK AGREEMENT

Instructions: Review and initial each of the following statements. Discuss with your supervisor any questions or concerns you may have and refer to the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure for full details.

Initial	I have reviewed and understand the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure on: (Enter date reviewed)
Initial	My proposed Remote Work assignment adheres to the guiding principles outlined in the Remote Work Policy and Procedure.
Initial	I understand that any Remote Work assignment is subject to the terms and conditions outlined in the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure. I agree to establish security procedures with household members to safeguard and secure County data.
Initial	I have reviewed and will comply with Chapter 26 of the Shasta County Personnel Rules, Electronic Assets and Information Security, including access procedures.
Initial	I agree to transport documents and materials to and from my AWL in a safe, secure and confidential manner. Files, materials and equipment will not be left unattended in vehicles. Household members and home visitors will not have access to confidential records.
Initial	Adequate use of virus protection or prevention techniques will be used to ensure that viruses are not transmitted to the County's network system and that County data is not lost due to virus infection.
Initial	I am eligible for a Remote Work assignment as outlined in the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure, in addition to any department specific criteria / business needs.
Initial	If applicable, an Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form has been completed and attached to this request, and I will comply with all rules and safety requirements.
Initial	I have discussed this Remote Work assignment with my supervisor and understand that this form and agreement shall be reviewed at least annually, and in the event of a job, location, or schedule change that affects the existing assignment.
Initial	I understand that my supervisor and I shall determine the appropriate means for communication and reporting work assignments that are completed while working remotely.
Initial Initial	I understand that I cannot work outside of California.
Initial	I understand that I will not be reimbursed mileage between my AWL and SWL. I understand that the County is not responsible to pay for and I do not expect to, nor will I receive reimbursement of any utility, internet, home maintenance, or other costs incurred at the AWL. I also agree and understand that the County is not responsible for any damages, if any, to personal property caused by my use of County equipment or that otherwise arises out of Remote Work.
Initial	I agree to return all County-provided equipment to the Department within 24 hours of the termination of Remote Work agreement in substantially similar condition as when the equipment was initially provided to me, with the exception of reasonable, normal wear and tear. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action or civil remedy.
Initial	I understand that the Remote Work agreement can be terminated at any time, including for the reasons outlined in the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure or as may otherwise be necessary or required by County.

OTHER FORMS / ATTACHMENTS / ADDENDUMS

- \Box Employee Remote Work Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form
- \Box Ergonomic Checklist for AWL
- □ Department Specific Addendums (list):

REMOTE WORK AGREEMENT CERTIFICATION PAGES AND SIGNATURES

EMPLOYEE CERTIFICATION

I certify that I have read, understand, agree with, and will abide by the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure, as well as this Agreement.

Signature:

Date:_____

Next step: Submit signed request form to your supervisor for review and discussion.					
SUPERVISOR CERTIFICATION					
Approved: 🗆 Yes 🛛 No					
Comments:					
Signature:	Date:				
Next step: Ensure form is complete including any applicable attachmer Sign and submit approved Employee Remote Work Request Form and					
Head or designee.					
DEPARTMENT HEAD CERTIFICATIO	N				
Approved: 🗆 Yes 🛛 No					
Comments, including Budget Impact information:					
Signature:	Date:				
Next step: Sign and submit approved Employee Remote Work Request Form and Agreement to the Chief					
Information Officer or designee.					

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CERTI	INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY CERTIFICATION					
AWL Approval and Safety Checklist Completed? \Box Yes \Box	No					
Approved: 🗆 Yes 🔅 🗆 No						
Comments:						
Signature:	Date:					
Next step: Sign and submit approved Employee Remote Work Director of Support Services or designee.	Request Form and Agreement to the					
SUPPORT SERVICES CERTIFICA	TION					
Approved: Yes No						
Comments:						
Signature:	Date:					
Final steps: Sign and submit complete Remote Work Request Form Attachments, to Employee, Supervisor, Department Head or desig designee. Ensure copy of Remote Work Request Form and Agreen placed in Employee Personnel File.	nee, and Chief Information Officer or					

Employee Remote Alternative Work Location Approval and Safety Verification Form

Use this form to establish and certify that the proposed AWL meets all requirements outlined in the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure. After Remote Work equipment is installed and ready for use (but <u>before the Remote Work assignment begins</u>), complete the Employee sections below. Route completed form to the Designated Representative for Information Technology for review.

	EMPLOYEE AND PROPO	SED AWL INFORMA	ΓΙΟΝ
Proposed AWL Add	ress:		
Employee Name:		Department:	
Job Class / Title:		County Email:	
Contact Phone:		Supervisor Name:	
	PROPOSED AWL ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS AND RE	VIEW
Instructions: The em AWL may be subject	nployee requesting to Remote t to inspection.	Work must complete see	ction below. Your proposed
	AWL space in which Remote		
 Which Internet Wireless Do you have a F Is the economic of the fill of the fil	Services Provider (ISP) are y s, Cellular, or hard wired? Firewall/ Router/ WiFi? quipment owned by you or your rewall Enabled? WiFi: rypted, and password protect vel of encryption is used? the speed of your connection?	rou using? (AT&T, Chart our ISP?	er, etc.)

		Yes	No
•	Will County equipment be secured in your home when you are not on site?		
•	Will any personal devices ever be connected to your County computer and/or docking station? If yes, describe.		
•	Do you take home and/or store physical copies of documents containing confidential information?		
•	Is your computer screen(s) visible or can it otherwise be observed by unauthorized individuals when working with confidential information?		
•	Can conversations involving confidential information be heard by anyone other than yourself while you work?		
•	Do you understand and agree to be responsible for ensuring compliance with applicable laws, regulations, County and/or department policies and procedures, and health and safety requirements as it pertains to the proposed AWL?		
•	Because work related injuries sustained while working remotely may be subject to worker's compensation law and rules, do you agree to: In the event of a life-threatening injury call 911; and/or Notify your supervisor immediately and complete all necessary and/or County requested documents regarding the injury? 		
•	 Do you acknowledge and agree to a visual worksite verification and inspection of a non-County AWL (through methods including in person, virtual, video, and/or photographic means) for approval of a Remote Work assignment? Further, do you understand that: Inspections may recur as often as deemed appropriate to ensure compliance; and Inspections will take place with at least 24 hours advance notice and will be conducted by a County-designated representative; and Suspected lack of compliance / safety, or failure to comply with verifications and inspections may result in non-approval of a requested Remote Work assignment? 		

EMPLOYEE SELF-CERTIFICATION OF AWL INSPECTION

Instructions: Use the checklist below to confirm that your workplace meets the requirements for approval as an AWL. Check the box next to each statement to certify it as true and attach pictures or video support as described below.

Emergency Preparedness Evaluation:

□ A first aid kit is appropriately stocked, easily accessible and replenished as needed.

□ Portable fire extinguishers are easily accessible and in proper working condition.

□ Emergency escape plan is appropriate, practiced, and posted.

Ergonomic Evaluation:

□ Desk, chair, computer, and other equipment are adequate and ergonomically correct for your use and do not place undue strain any part of your body.

Workspace Evaluation:

□ Employee has a separate, clearly defined workspace that is kept clean and orderly, and is not used for other purposes.

□ The work area is adequately illuminated.

□ Exits are free of obstructions and there is adequate clearance for safe egress to exits.

□ Supplies and equipment (both departmental and employee-owned) are in good condition.

 $\hfill\square$ The work area is well ventilated and heated and cooled.

□ Storage is organized to minimize the risks of fire and spontaneous combustion, overhead storage and falling objects, and does not interfere with fire suppression systems or egress.

□ All extension cords have a grounding conductor and are not used in a 'daisy chain'.

□ Exposed or frayed wiring and cords are repaired or replaced immediately upon detection.

□ Electrical enclosures (switches, outlets, receptacles, and junction boxes) have tight fitting covers or plates.

□ IT approved surge protectors are used for computers, fax machine, printers, and any other County supplied or connected equipment.

□ Heavy items are securely placed on sturdy stands close to walls.

□ Computer components are kept out of direct sunlight and away from heaters.

Comments:

Visual Workplace Inspection – Attach Files:

Attach image or video files of your AWL workplace and the immediate surrounding area. Be sure to show all the following items, if applicable.

- Your Desk and Chair
- Computer/ Laptop
- Monitors/ Screens
- Other Equipment/ Hardware

EMPLOYEE CERTIFICATION

I certify that I have read, understand, and will abide by the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure, in addition to those set forth in this form and any attachments.

Signature:_____

COUNTY-DESIGNATED IT REPRESENTATIVE CERTIFICATION

Date:_____

Date of Review:

Date of Neview.
Inspection Method (e.g. in person, virtual, video, photographic, etc.):
Comments / Findings / Recommendations:
I acknowledge that I conducted the inspection of this AWL as part of the Shasta County Remote Work Policy and Procedure requirement and initiated appropriate corrective actions for any deficiencies identified, if applicable.
Signature: Date:
Name/Title:
Next Step: Submit a copy of this form to the Chief Information Officer or designee.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

APPENDIX C MISCELLANEOUS

Additional copies of these documents are available at the Department of Support Services Personnel Unit.

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

MERIT SYSTEM PRINCIPLES

Shasta County Personnel operates under <u>merit system principles</u>, which are designed to assure that employees are appointed and promoted based on merit. The merit system principles assist the County in attaining its Mission, which is **"To recruit and retain competent, committed staff and to provide professional personnel support to all departments in order to maximize the return of investment in human resources for Shasta County."**

The merit system and its governing principles are adapted from the statutory language that appears in section 2301(b) of title 5, United States Code, which states that agencies operating under this system will:

- Recruit qualified individuals from all segments of society and select and advance employees on the basis of merit after fair and open competition.
- Treat employees and applicants fairly and equitably, without regard to political affiliation, race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age, or handicapping condition.
- Provide equal pay for equal work and reward excellent performance.
- Maintain high standards of integrity, conduct, and concern for public interest.
- Manage employees efficiently and effectively.
- Retain or separate employees on the basis of their performance.
- Educate and train employees when it will result in better organizational or individual performance.
- Protect employees from improper political influence.
- Protect employees against reprisal for the lawful disclosure of information in "whistleblower" situations (i.e., protect people who report things like illegal and/or wasteful activities).

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

INDEX

A	
ALCOHOL AND DRUG FREE	
WORKPLACE POLICY	
TESTING	155
ALCOHOL FREE AND DRUG FREE	
WORKPLACE POLICY	153
APPOINTMENT OF RELATIVES	26
ASSIGNMENT OF POSITIONS	11
 B	
-	
<u>BEREAVEMENT LEAVE</u>	50
С	
CAMPAIGN ACTIVITIES	199
CLASSES OF POSITIONS	15
COLLATERAL ALLOCATION	24
CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES	79
CONFIDENTIAL DIFFERENTIAL	79
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	79
	10
D	
DEPARTMENT HEADS	24
DIRECT DEPOSIT	11
DISABILITIES AND NONDISCRIMINAT	ION
& ACCOMMODATION POLICY AND	
COMPLIANCE PROGRAM	
REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION	119
DISABILITIES AND	
NONDISCRIMINATION&	
ACCOMMODATION POLICY AND	
COMPLIANCE PROGRAM	
COMPLAINT PROCEDURE	123
DISABILITIES NONDISCRIMINATION &	<u>k</u>
ACCOMMODATION POLICY AND	
COMPLIANCE PROGRAM	117
DISCIPLINARY ACTION	29
APPEAL PROCEDURES	31
BASIS FOR	29
BASIS FOR OTHER TERMINATION	
FOR CAUSE	30
RIGHT TO REPRESENTATION	32
TYPES OF	30
DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT	107
COMPLAINT PROCEDURE	110
EMPLOYEE ACTION	109
FALSE COMPLAINT	112
PROHIBITED CONDUCT	107
DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING FOR	
POSITIONS REQUIRING A	
COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE	159

FOLLOW UP TESTING	166
POST-ACCIDENT TESTING PRE EMPLOYMENT/TRANSFER	165
TESTING PROHIBITED ACTS	163 162
RANDOM TESTING	163
REASONABLE SUSPICION TESTIN	G 164
REFUSAL TO CONSENT	167
RETURN TO DUTY	166
	70
EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 80, 195	78,
EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION POLICY SELECTION PROCEDURE	193
TYPES OF AWARDS	193 194
EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAM	M 191
DEPARTMENT PROGRAMS	191 194
ELIGIBILITY SELECTION CRITERIA	191 191
EXPECTATIONS OF PRIVACY	139
EXTRA HELP EMPLOYEES STANDBY FOR MENTAL HEALTH	91 93
F	55
FILES POLICY	185
ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILES	189
EMPLOYEE'S DEPARTMENT MAINTENANCE AND DISPOSITION	187 OF
METHODS OF ACCESSING FILES	188 189
PAYROLL	186
PERSONNEL RISK MANAGEMENT	185
G	186
GRIEVANCE	37
COMPLAINT PROCEDURE	39
FORMAL PROCESS STEP 1	38 38
STEP 2	38
STEP 3	38
H	4-
HOLIDAYS ACCRUAL REGULAR FULL-TIME	45
EMPLOYEES	45
ACCRUAL REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	46

Shasta County Personnel Rules (revised 5/2009)

EQUIVALENT TIME OFF OR PAY F	OR
HOLIDAYS	45
	45
TIME OFF OR PAY FOR	46
Ι	
INDUSTRIAL LEAVE	49
INDUSTRIAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE	53
INFORMATION SECURITY	125
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTABLE USE	125
CASUAL REMOTE ACCESS	134
PASSWORD POLICY	132
REMOTE ACCESS POLICY	133
SOFTWARE COPYRIGHTS AND	
LICENSING POLICY	136
TRAINING, AND EDUCATION POLI	
USE OF ELECTRONIC MAIL	135 130
VOICE MAIL POLICY	137
	107
LAYOFF APPEAL PROCEDURE	81 85
COMPUTATION OF SENIORITY	82
NOTICE OF	83
ORDER OF BY STATUS	81
PERFORMANCE POINTS	83
RECALL PERIOD	84
TOTAL SENIORITY VOLUNTARY	82 81
LEAVE OF ABSENCE	01
LEAVE FOR SPOUSES AND	
REGISTERED DOMESTIC	
PARTNERS OF PERSONS SERV	
	70
MILITARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE RELEASE FROM DUTY	65 53
RETURN FROM LEAVE	71
M	• •
	70
MANAGEMENT BENEFITS ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE	73 74
COMPENSATION FOR ELECTED	74
OFFICIALS	77
DEFERRED COMPENSATION	77
EXPENSE ALLOWANCE	75
	74
PAY DIFFERENTIAL RETIRED MANAGERS	77 76
RETIREMENT	76
SALARIED STATUS	74
SICK LEAVE RETENTION INCENTI	

	73
VACATION ACCRUAL	76
0	
OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT/CORPORAT	E
AFFILIATION	
APPEAL	144
DISCIPLINARY ACTION	144 143
NOTICE REQUIREMENTS ORDER TO CEASE	143
PROHIBITED	142
OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT/CORPORAT	E
AFFILIATION	141
Р	
PAYMENT ON BIWEEKLY BASIS	11
PRE-EMPLOYMENT DRUG AND	
ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY	149
	152
SAMPLE COLLECTION AND TESTI	NG 150
PROBATIONARY PERIOD	150
EXTENSION OF PROBATIONARY	
PERIOD	27
INITIAL PROBATION	26
ON RECLASSIFICATION	27
R	
RECRUITMENT PROCEDURES	19
CONTINUOUS RECRUITMENT	22
ELIGIBLE LISTS REINSTATEMENT	21 23
SCREENING OF APPLICATIONS	23 20
REFERENCE CHECKING	23
REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	91
RETIREMENT SYSTEM	105
ROSTER OF EMPLOYEES	17
S	
SALARY PLAN	87
ADJUSTMENT ON SALARY	
ANNIVERSARY DATE INCREASES WITHIN RANGE	90 87
SALARY ON DEMOTION	87 89
SALARY ON POSITION	00
RECLASSIFICATION	89
SALARY ON PROMOTION	88
SALARY ON RANGE CHANGE	89

Shasta County Personnel Rules (revised 5/2009)

SALARY ON TRANSFER

EARNED ACCRUAL RATE

SICK LEAVE

USAGE

EXCEPTIONS

89 49

49 50

49

VERIFICATION OF ILLNESS STATE DISABILITY/PAID FAMILY LEA BENEFITS	49 <u>VE</u> 50
Τ	
TELECOMMUTING TRAVEL POLICY AUTHORITY FOR AUTOMATION MIGRATION PROJEC ALLOWANCE CLAIMS PROCEDURE FOR PROFESSIONAL RECRUITME REIMBURSEMENT TRAVEL TIME AS COMPENSABLE	103 102
TIME WORKED	102
V	
VACATION ACCRUAL SCHEDULE PAYMENT IN LIEU TIMES AND CONDITIONS OF TAKIN	47 48 NG 47
VACATION DONATION ADMINISTRATION OF DONATION TO VEHICLE OPERATION ACCIDENT REPORTING APPLICANT QUALIFICATIONS DEFENSIVE DRIVER TRAINING	145 146 146 169 175 169 173

DRIVER'S RESPONSIBILITIES	174
DRIVING RECORD CRITERIA	170
EMPLOYEE DRIVER QUALIFICATIO	PINC
EMILEOTEE DRIVER GOAEI TOATIC	-
	170
MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENT	172
PASSENGERS	174
PRIVATELY-OWNED VEHICLES	172
PULL PROGRAM	173
REPAIR	176
	-
TAKE-HOME VEHICLES	172
TRAFFIC AND PARKING CITATION	S
	176
VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE POL	ICY
	113
VOLUNTARY TIME OFF WITHOUT PA	
	115
W	
WORK OUT OF CLASS	12
	•
WORK PERIOD	41
ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE EMPLOY	EES
	42
MINIMUM REPORTING TIME AND	
CALLBACK	43
	-
OVERTIME	43
REST PERIODS	42
WORK PLAN	
FLEXIBLE WORK HOURS PLAN	41

This page intentionally left blank for duplex printing purposes.

Change Log	
Version 2/5/08	These Personnel Rules were updated and adopted in their entirety. The change log with the previous version of these Rules (2007) reflects changes made up to this date.
Version 4/1/08	Page 79-80, Section 18.4–Add language to allow placement of an employee at a step higher than A when demotion is for reasons other than disciplinary.
Version 11/18/08	Page 65, Section 15.6.C.–Change manager's payment language to current hourly rate (which may include stipends). Add paragraph allowing for administrative leave sellback to appointed executive management employees (department heads) and unrepresented non-executive managers. Page 68, Section 15.22.–Add specific detail language for Longevity Stipend for executive (department heads) and non-executive unrepresented managers. Pages 277, 278, 279–Update Index.
Version 3/10/09	These Personnel Rules were updated and adopted in their entirety. Chapter 6 Recruitments and Appointments: The "Rule of Five" was changed to the "Rule of Ten." Also, requirements regarding submission of typing certificates were changed to allow the candidate more time to provide the document.
	Chapter 19 Regular Part-Time and Extra-Help Employees: Clarification was made regarding theeligibility of CalPERS retirees' extra-help appointments.
	Chapter 29 Vacation Donation Policy: References made to specific illnesses were deleted and replaced with the phrase, "serious in nature."
	Chapter 34 Performance Evaluation Policy: Miscellaneous changes were made to the Performance Evaluation Policy language to provide clarity to the procedures.
	Appendix A Forms: Evaluation Forms for Management and Non-management position were updated. Detailed instructions were also added.
	Miscellaneous Changes: References to "he," "him," "his," were changed to "he/she," "him/her." References to "husband" or "wife" were changed to "spouse."
Version 5/19/09	Chapter 14 Leaves of Absence: Revised so as to comply with recent changes to the Federal FamilyMedical Leave Act (FMLA) regulations. Appendix A Forms: FMLA/CFRA/PDL Notice and Forms were updated.

<u>Change Log</u>

Version 6/30/09	Pages 93-94 , Section 19.2–Add specific detail language for Extra Help classifications for Chief of Psychiatry and Senior Psychiatrist.
Version 12/4/2009	Page 54, Section 14.4 C. Reasons for Leave - Revised so as to comply with recent changes to the California Family Rights Act (CFRA). Pages 57-59, Section 14.4 K Servicemember Family and Medical Leave - Addlanguage to comply with recent changes that expands military leave rights under the Federal Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). It includes broadening the definition of "covered active duty" and making allowances for veterans under certain circumstances.
Version 2/9/2010	Page 181, Correct error in lettering Section 34.2.E, change 34.2.E.2 to 34.2.F. Page 182, re-letter rest of section 34.2.
Version 4/6/2010	Page 87, Section 18.1.A.–Revised language to allow appointment of employees at salary steps above C step upon recommendation of the Personnel Director and approval by the County Administrative Officer (CAO).
	Appendix B Policies and Resolutions: Pages 299–308 Policy Resolution No. 2008-01 repealed and replaced by Policy Resolution No. 2010-02 to revise Section 7, Higher Salary Range Placement, to conform to the revisions of Section 18.1 of the Personnel Rules.
Version 6/15/2010	Page 80, Section 16.13–Revised language concerning pension contributions for Confidential Employees.
Version 11/9/2010	Page 70, Section 14.6.1–Revised language concerning supplementing military pay for employees called to active duty under certain circumstances fromits previous sunset date of July 1, 2010 to July 1, 2012.
Version 3/8/2011	Page 91, Section 19.2-Revised sections A-E regarding CalPERS requirements for Extra HelpEmployees. Pages 77 and 78, Sections 15.15 and 15.22 regarding changes to retirement contributions and cumulative service.
Version 5/8/2011	Page 77, Section 15.15-Revise language for retirement formula for new employees effective 5/8/2011. Page 80, Section 16.13-Revise language for retirement formula for new employees effective 5/8/2011. Page 106, Section 21.3–Revise language for retirement formula for new employees effective 5/8/2011.

Version 6/28/11	Page 99, Section 20.5.A.5.C–Add "taxable meal benefits" language to this section. Page 100-103, various sections– Add reference to 20.5.A.5.C where applicable. Page 101, Section 20.5.B–Delete section B, which refers to allowances for temporary schoolingor fieldwork away from established headquarters. Page 103, Section 20.9.A and B–Clarify compensable time worked for business travel. Section C–Add language that employee may drive personal vehicle with depthead approval, but may be compensated based on time employee would have spent using public transportation. Page 140-142, Section 26.11– Add newly adopted policy on removable storage devices. Page 142-146–Add newly adopted policy on mobile data devices. Page 209–Update Forms index. Page 291– Add form for County-Provided Mobile Data Device Agreement. Page 295–Add form for Personal Mobile Data Device Agreement.
Version 9/25/11	Page 25, Section 6.11.E-Delete title of Director of Public Health, and add note to Director of Mental Health Services which says this title is only applicable when HHSA Director does not possess qualifications required by law for that position.
Version 5/11/12	Page 25, Section 6.1-Clarification of the County Executive Officer's role as the "County Executive Officer," changing the title of the "County Administrative Officer" to the "County Executive Officer " delegating the County Executive Officer the authority to appoint the following department heads without requiring subsequent ratification of the appointments by the Board of Supervisors: (1) Director of Housing & Community Action Programs, (2) Veterans Service Officer, (3) Inter-Mountain Fair Manager, (4) Director of Support Services, and (5) Chief Technology Officer.
Version 2/10/13	Pages 21-22, Section 6.3-Add "Veteran's Preference Points" language to this section, effective 2/5/2013.
Version 6/25/13	Pages 83 and 85, deletion of Section 15.19 Leave Balance Payout on retirement–401(A) Plan andSection 16.14 401(A) Plan, effective 2/26/2013.
	Pages 184-193, Chapter 33–Revise languagefor Vehicle Operations Policy, effective 6/18/2013.
Version 7/1/13	Pages 103-112, revise language for Travel andOther Expenses–County Charges, effective 7/1/2013.

<u>Change Log</u>

Version 7/23/13	Page 88, Section 17.13–Revise language for Notice of Layoff, effective 7/23/2013.
Version 11/5/13	His/her designee was added throughout document immediately after all references to a Department Head, County Administrative Officer was changed to reflect County Executive Officer all throughout the document, Chief Technology Officer was changed to reflect Chief Information Officer all throughout the document, reference to Policy Resolution No. 2008-1 was changed to Policy Resolution No. 2010-2; Section 15.10 was modified to address the requirements of Government Code section7522.40.
Version 2/23/14	Updated Section 12.1, Vacation Accrual, effective 2/23/2014.
Version 3/6/14	Updated Section 6.11.E and 6.11.G to reflectchanges to Chief Probation Officer appointment. No longer appointed by the Superior Court Judge; now appointed by the Board of Supervisors upon recommendation from the County Executive Officer.
Version 6/23/15	Updated Section 17.13 Notice Of Layoff to extend the days of Notice from 15 days to 21 days.
Version 05/17/2016	Updated Chapter 15, removing benefits and stipends regarding Elected Department Heads and Board of Supervisors. Created Chapter 39 Elected Department Heads and Board of Supervisors.
Version 06/21/2016	Updated Chapter 15 Management Benefits and Chapter 16 Confidential Employees adding the 401(a) Information into both chapters.
Version 12/6/2017	Updated Chapter 10 Working Hours, Workweek and Overtime, Chapter 12 Vacation, Chapter 15 Management Benefits with the leave cash out provision changes. Corrected minor formatting errors in Chapter 16 Confidential Employees.

<u>Change Log</u>

Version 1/29/2018	Updated Chapter 6, Recruitments and Appointments to include background check requirements per AB 1008 and PUB 1075, eliminate references to the Merit System, and change to require typing certificates to be provided upon closing of the recruitment, unless otherwise specified. Corrected formatting errors. Updated Chapter 39, Elected Department Head and Board of Supervisor Benefits, relating to the County's contributions to employee health care insurance premiums.
Version 3/13/2018	Updated Chapter 14, Leaves of Absence to align with the provisions of 2 CCR Section 11044 and updated Appendix A, Forms, to remove forms which are now available online.
Version 5/24/2018	Updated Chapter 20, Travel and Other Expenses- County Charges.
Version 10/25/2018	Updated Chapters 1, Definitions, and 19, Regular, Part-Time and Extra Help, to reflect regulatory changes related to Extra Help Employment. Updated Chapter 4 to reflect ability to receive final pay as direct deposit.
Version 12/14/2018	Updated Chapter 5, Classification Plan, to reflect the current reclassification process.
Version 5/21/2019	Updated Chapter 12, Vacation, and Chapter 13, Sick Leave and Bereavement Leave, to allow for employees initially hired to a management position after May 26, 2019, "an equivalent days per year" based on the employees continuous service with a county or public entity prior to employment with Shasta County to determine the amount of vacation time immediately available for use as well as an immediate sick leave balance of five days upon hire.
Version 10/25/2019	Updated Chapter 20, Travel and Other Expenses- County Charges to allow reimbursement for relocation expenses for professional recruitments with approval of the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee.
Version 3/10/2020	Updated Chapter 15, Management Benefits, and Chapter 16, Confidential Employees with benefit changes (cost sharing of the employer contribution to CalPERS retirement account and two-part formula for calculating contributions to Employee Plus One and Employee Plus Family health insurance plans).

Change Log

Version 3/24/2020	Updated Chapter 29, Vacation Donation Policy, and Chapter 36, Employee Recognition Program to align with provisions of the Brown Act in regards to the voting structure of these programs.
Version 9/15/2020	Updated Chapter 25, Disabilities Nondiscrimination & Accommodation Policy and Compliance Program to include lactation accommodation information as well as the current process updates.
Version 12/16/2020	Updated Chapter 14, Leaves of Absence, to allow the Personnel Director, or his/her designee, to extend Release from Duty with pay for up to 12 months should the circumstances warrant additional leave.
Version 1/28/2021	Updated Chapter 6, Recruitments and Appointments, to allow the Director of Support Services, or his/her designee,to approve extended time periods for collateral allocations for specialized classifications. Updated Chapter 14, Leavesof Absence, to incorporate new provisions of the CFRA based upon Senate Bill 1383.
Version 9/9/2021	Updated Appendix A, Forms, to replace the Performance Evaluation Form Guide and the Performance Evaluation Form.
Version 10/5/2021	Updated Chapters 15, <i>Management Benefits</i> , and 16, <i>Confidential Employees</i> , relating to the County's contributions to employee health care insurance premiums.
	Updated Appendix B to add Policy Resolution No. 2021-04, which establishes the policy and procedure for implementing CDPH orders of July 26 and August 5, 2021.
Version 11/16/2021	Updated Chapter 39, <i>Elected Department Head and Board of Supervisor Benefits</i> , relating to the County's contributions to employee health care insurance premiums.
Version 12/07/2021	Updated Chapter 15, <i>Management Benefits</i> , to consider up to five years of service with another county or public entity when calculating longevity stipend. Updated Chapter 39, <i>Elected Department Head and Board of Supervisors Benefits</i> , to implement cost-of-living adjustments for Elected Department Heads and to also increase Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) stipend for a Sheriff who holds a POST Management Certificate.
Version 01/14/2022	Updated Appendix A., <i>Forms</i> , to replace the Authorization & Release of Information Form.

Version 01/18/2022	Updated Appendix B, <i>Policies and Resolutions</i> , to add Policy Resolution No. 2022-008, which implements the Procedure and Policy for the expansion of the Recruitment Award Program - Pilot Project.
Version 02/28/2022	Updated Appendix B, <i>Policies and Resolutions</i> , to remove the August 5, 2021 CDPH Non Compliance Policy. The July 26, 2021 CDPH Non Compliance Policy from Policy Resolution No. 2021-04 remains in effect.
Version 08/08/2022	Updated Appendix A, Forms, to replace the Vacation Donation Recipient Application and Vacation Donation Program Form
Version 12/14/2022	Updated Chapter 6, Recruitments and Appointments, to remove the Director of Mental Health Services classification from the list of Department Heads.
	Updated Chapter 10, Working Hours, Workweek, and Overtime concerning remote work.
	Updated Appendix B, Policies and Resolutions, to remove the Telecommuting Handbook and replace it with a new Remote Work Policy and Procedure.
Version 12/14/2022	Updated Chapter 6, Recruitments and Appointments, to remove the Veterans Service Officer classification from the list of Department Heads.
Version 01/13/2023	Updated Chapter 6, Recruitments and Appointments, to remove the Veterans Service Officer classification from the list of Department Heads.
Version 01/15/2023	Updated Chapter 12, Vacations, to include the changes to Chapters 15, Management Benefits, Chapter 16, Confidential Employees, and Chapter 39, Elected Department Head or Board of Supervisors Benefits.
	Updated Chapter 15, Management Benefits to update sections for Sick Leave Usage, Life Insurance, Annual Leave Buyout, and Longevity Stipends, and add sections for Vacation Leave Usage and Floating Holiday Hours.
	Updated Chapter 16, Confidential Employees, to update sections for Sick Leave Usage, Life Insurance, Annual Leave Buyout, and Longevity Stipends, and add sections for Vacation Leave Usage and Floating Holiday Hours.